
■   High customer activity in turbulent financial  
markets and deteriorating real economy

■  Increased integration and efficiency

■   High rankings and increased market shares  
in many areas

■  Operating profit SEK 12,471m (17,018)

■  Earnings per share SEK 14.66 (19.97)

■  Return on equity 13.1 (19.3)
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2008 in brief

Result and proposed dividend
  Operating profi t decreased by 27 per cent, 
to seK 12,471m. 

  Net profi t amounted to seK 10,050m, or 
seK 14.66 per share. 

  The credit loss level was 0.30 per cent (0.11).

  Return on equity was 13.1 per cent. 

  In conjunction with other capital measures, 
the board proposes no dividend for 2008 
(seK 6.50 for 2007).

The board of seb believes it to be prudent and in the best 
interest of all stakeholders to proactively strengthen seb’s 
capital base. As a result, the board proposes to strenghten 
the capital base by seK 15bn and not to pay any dividend 
for the fi nancial year 2008. These measures will have a 
combined positive effect on the Group’s capital base of 
seK 19.5bn and give seb a strong capital buffer to meet 
the impact of an uncertain economic environment. 

The proposed capital measures should be seen in the light 
of today’s turbulent markets. The capital measures will pro-
vide a comfortable buffer well above the board’s increased 
long-term Tier 1 capital target ratio of 10 per cent, which is 
essential in the effort to maintain prudent capital manage-
ment in the current market environment. Calculated on the 
accounts for 2008, the capital measures would increase 
seb’s Tier I capital ratio to 12.1 per cent and total capital 
ratio to 14.6 per cent.

Key fi gures
2008 2007

Return on equity, % 13.1 19.3
basic earnings per share, seK 14.66 19.97
Cost/income ratio 0.62 0.57
Credit loss level, % 0.30 0.11

Total capital ratio, % 1) 10.62 11.04
Core capital ratio, % 1) 8.36 8.63
Risk-weighted assets, seKbn 1) 986 842

Number of full time equivalents, average 21,291 19,506

Assets under management, seKbn 1,201 1,370
Total assets, seKbn 2,511 2,344

1) basel II (Legal reporting with transitional fl oor).

For further information on the seb share, please see page 20.

2008

2007
Retail 

banking

Wealth
Management

Life

Merchant 
banking

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 10,0008,000

Operating profi t per division
seKm

Earnings per SEB share
seK

20

15

10

5

0

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

 2007
 2008

Capital measures to strengthen seb



2  seb ANNUAL RePORT 2008

Our ability to manage today’s challenges  
lays the basis for tomorrow’s prosperity 

Chairman’s statement

Many dramatic headlines have been used to describe the financial 
turbulence, its possible causes and conceivable consequences.  
At some point in time, this crisis, as other economic crises before 
it, will subside and be replaced by a more normal and stable 
phase. When this eventually happens it is also likely that, the 
competitive landscape, the regulatory conditions and the busi-
ness model in many areas will be fundamentally different. 

Uncertainty and lack of trust in institutions and market par-
ticipants are not only an effect of the financial crisis, but also to a 
high extent a cause of it. Not least when it comes to uncertainties 
regarding how banks and other financial institutions can perse-
vere in times of challenges and hardship. 

During the accelerated turbulence of 2008 SEB has continued 
to run a strong and profitable business. The Bank has worked 
close to its customers and benefited from the strengthening of the 
balance sheet, which took place during the years leading up to the 
turmoil. In spite of that, SEB experienced the same uncertainty, 
including a sharply lower share price, as most participants in the 
banking industry. 

Restoring trust in the markets
Many international financial institutions have been hit by large 
losses, subject to restructuring or taken over by their governments. 
Others have received considerable shareholder or governmental 
capital injections and guarantees. These initiatives have started 
the process of restoring trust in capital markets, but have also 
raised the bar for what is considered a strong and safe capital 
base. 

It is in the light of this development that the Board’s proposed 
capital measures should be considered. The measures should pri-
marily be seen as a precautionary step, aiming to enhance a capital 
base in excess of regulatory requirements by a comfortable margin. 
In the Board’s view, the capital measures will substantially improve 
SEB’s ability to resist even some extreme downturn scenarios. But 
it has also an effect on our ability to borrow at good terms and 
hence support our customers with sound credits. 

Most of all, however, it is an important act of building trust 
and confidence in a nervous market. It is extremely important 
that all parties, including customers and governments, can rely 
on SEB as a bank to trust, even in the stormiest waters. It is also 
the best guarantee for continued long-term value creation for our 
shareholders. 

A strong risk culture
The continuous monitoring of the Bank’s liquidity and capital 
 situation remains a top priority for the Board. In addition, the 

 development of the Bank’s Risk Control and Compliance func-
tions has continued to be central to the Board. These areas together 
constitute, in our opinion, the very core of sound banking, and 
their  importance will be proven and tested in times like this. 

Sound banking is also based on the professionalism of the 
Bank’s staff and its management. Jointly, they have achieved 
good results during a difficult year. On behalf of the Board, I 
would like to thank the President, the Group Executive Commit-
tee and the SEB staff for their dedicated work to support our 
 customers and build our bank for the future. We know for certain, 
that the financial landscape of tomorrow will be formed by those 
who are best equipped to face the challenges of today. 

Stockholm in February 2009

Marcus Wallenberg
Chairman of the board

The measures should primarily be seen as a 
precautionary step, aiming to enhance a 
capital base in excess of regulatory require-
ments by a comfortable margin.
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President’s statement

The past year was a year of unprecedented financial turbulence 
on a global scale, exacerbated by the downward spiral of faltering 
confidence that followed on the Lehman Brothers’ default in Sep-
tember. In this extremely difficult environment, SEB maintained 
income growth and reached an operating result of SEK 12.5bn.
The rapid development of events and increased uncertainty, has 
created substantial challenges for the organisation. I am proud of 
the commitment of SEB’s staff and the way in which we have in-
teracted with our customers during a trying year. 

A new financial landscape
A year ago there were still expectations that the world economy 
would be more resilient to a downturn, triggered by the U.S. sub-
prime default. However, during 2008 the interdependencies of the 
financial system, and towards the real economy, became evident. 
Hopes of a decoupling scenario were put down. 

The functioning of global credit markets has been severely 
impaired, the supply of credit has been reduced, funding costs 
have increased and asset prices have fallen significantly. These 
factors have put significant strain on the banking sector. Several 
major international banks have been rescued, in some cases 
through government interventions, resulting in a crisis of confi-
dence among market participants and customers. 

Despite massive efforts from central banks and governments 
to remedy the effects, the global economic outlook has turned into 
a prolonged recessionary mode. We are entering uncharted terri-
tories, where the divergence of opinion among experts on where 
the world economy is heading is unusually broad.

Northern Europe, SEB’s core market, has also been affected. 
GDP-growth in the Nordic countries has come to a halt. In the 
 Baltic countries, the macro-economic outlook markedly worsened 
towards the end of the year. Latvia was granted support of EUR 
7.5bn in an IMF led bail-out. Our view is that there will be a pro-
tracted period of declining GDP in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania 
over the next few years. 

Strong customer relations generated income growth 
All through the turbulent year SEB’s underlying business was 
 robust. Business activity was high overall despite partly dysfunc-
tional capital markets. 

This was evident particularly within Merchant Banking. With 
its diverse business-mix Merchant Banking could balance a sub-
dued year within corporate finance and fixed income with record 
high customer activity in areas such as foreign exchange and cash 
management. 

Within Retail Banking, income held up well, especially in 
Sweden. However, due to the sharply deteriorated economic out-
look, we continued to increase provisions for credit losses in the 
Baltic countries. We have also continued to proactively address 
asset quality through joint local and Group work-out teams. 

In the long-term savings area business was affected by lower 
equity values, but activity remained high with net inflows into 
Wealth Management and higher premium income in the Life 
 division compared to last year. 

Capital measures to further enhance necessary buffers
SEB entered this downturn as a more integrated bank with a diver-
sified business mix. Maintaining a robust capital adequacy has been 
a principal priority for SEB. 

In the new financial landscape, it will be even more important 
for a bank to be strong. The market standard for what is considered 
an adequate capitalisation has been reset. The proposed capital 
measures of SEK 19.5bn will give us the necessary buffer to cope 
with the severe downturn that lies ahead. The measures will 
 further enhance SEB’s ability to be a strong long-term business 
partner for our customers and counterparties. 

A robust platform and business model 
I am confident that we are well prepared for a more challenging 
economic environment. 

We have a proven robust platform with a business mix based 
on long-term customer relationships and product excellence. Our 
strategy to reach leadership in terms of customer satisfaction and 
financial performance long-term remains. For the next few years it 
will imply increased efforts to enhance efficiency and to strengthen 
relationships even more with our existing customer base. 
 
Stockholm in February 2009

Annika Falkengren
President and Chief Executive Officer

We are well prepared for a more challenging 
economic environment. In the next few 
years we will strenghten relationships even 
more with our exisiting customers. 

Customer relationships key in new 
financial landscape 
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SEB today

A focused stategy in uncertain times 

This is seb
SEB is the leading bank for Nordic large companies and financial 
institutions. This reflects the Bank’s core areas of strength, which 
are built upon long-term and solid relationships with large com-
panies and financially active private individuals. Thus, SEB has a 
leading position within wholesale and investment banking as well 
as within private banking in the Nordic area. SEB is furthermore a 
leading Nordic unit-linked insurance company and card provider.

The Bank serves 2,500 large corporate and institutional cus-
tomers, 400,000 small and medium-sized companies and more 
than five million private individuals. In Sweden, Estonia, Latvia, 
Lithuania and Germany SEB offers universal banking services.  
In Denmark, Finland and Norway SEB focuses on wholesale 
banking, investment banking and wealth management. Further-
more, SEB offers life insurance services in Sweden, Denmark and 
the Baltic countries. Through its international network in an addi-
tional ten countries, SEB has a strategic presence to support and 
service its large corporate and institutional customers. 

At year-end 2008, SEB had some 660 branch offices: 172 in 
Sweden, 61 in Estonia, 63 in Latvia, 77 in Lithuania, 174 in Germa-
ny and 109 in Ukraine. More than half of SEB’s approximately 
21,000 employees are located outside Sweden. 

SEB’s business purpose 
SEB provides financial services and manages financial risks and 
transactions in order to help its stakeholders to realise their full 
potential – customers achieving their objectives, shareholders 
earning a competitive return, employees performing with pride – 
and to make SEB a good corporate citizen of society.

SEB’s vision and goals
SEB’s long-term objective is to be the leading bank in Northern 
Europe in terms of financial performance and customer satisfac-
tion within chosen segments. Leadership in financial performance 
is defined as achieving a higher return on equity compared to rel-
evant Nordic and European peers over the business cycle, while 
attaining sustainable and profitable growth. It is SEB’s target to 
achieve a AA rating.

The Board has decided on a new long-termTier I capital ratio 
target of 10 per cent for SEB, when the Basel II is fully implemented 
without transitional floors.

seb’s strategy 
In order to reach its long-term targets, SEB has laid out a roadmap 
– “Road to Excellence”. Key priorities include a strong commit-
ment to reach superior productivity and quality, increased inte-
gration of SEB, intensified activity with its attractive customer 
base and focused growth within core areas of strength; primarily 
corporate and investment banking, wealth management and 
unit-linked insurance. SEB focuses on such segments, products 
and markets where it clearly can add value to its customers, such 
as capital markets and corporate advisory service, cash manage-
ment, foreign exchange, private banking and alternative invest-
ment products. Retail Banking plays an important role through 
its wide distribution network.

Given the current economic downturn in SEB’s home markets 
as well as internationally, the long-term strategy is complemented 
by a number of short-to-medium term priorities: 

  Grow revenue with existing customers through high 
interaction and increased share of wallet.

  Continue to focus on cost efficiency-enhancing measures and 
savings in areas not directly related to customer interaction.

  Support customers’ long-term financial needs while 
maintaining sound risk management. 

  Take actions in order to maintain its strong capital and 
liquidity position.

Nevertheless, the long-term strategy continues to follow the Road 
to Excellence along its three major themes – operational excellence, 
customer satisfaction and balanced growth. 

Operational excellence
One SEB
SEB continues to work with the integration of the Group in order 
to increase cross-selling and extract cost synergies through a more 
efficient use of common resources. This also includes creating a 
group-common IT infrastructure. An integrated organisation is 
crucial to enable SEB not only to increase productivity but also to 
leverage the knowledge and expertise throughout the Group for 
the benefit of the customers. 

The co-operation and knowledge-sharing between divisions 
have improved since the introduction of the new organisation on 
1 January 2007. For example, by using Merchant Banking’s exper-
tise from large companies, Retail Banking in Sweden can now 
 offer an improved service to small and medium sized enterprises. 

seb provides financial services to corporate customers, institutions and private individuals. 
The long-term goal is to have the most satisfied customers and to be leading in terms of finan-
cial performance among its peers in Northern europe. Key priorities include intensified activity 
with seb’s attractive customer base, offering an extensive range of top-rated services based 
on seb’s increased focus on productivity, quality and integration.



seb ANNUAL RePORT 2008 5

SEB today

Risk Management
SEB has continuously developed its risk management practices 
and professionals. Risk management is proactive and forms an 
 integral part of conducting business. Actions taken to further 
 enhance risk management in 2008 include an increased match-
funding liquidity requirement and the raising, early in the year, of 
SEK 160 bn in long-term funds (see further pp 37). Measures to 
address asset quality also include reinforcement of experienced 
workout teams. 

Cost Management 
In 2007, SEB initiated a cost improvement programme to reduce 
costs by SEK 1.5–2.0bn, excluding incremental investments, dur-
ing 2007–2009. Cost synergies have been achieved through the 
centralisation and consolidation of staff and support functions 
and through the guiding principle of ”one function, one solu-
tion”. With realised savings of more than SEK 1bn in 2007–2008, 
SEB is on track to achieve this target. The efforts to streamline 
processes and co-ordinate different functions continue in order to 
achieve scale advantages and improve best practice sharing, thus 
further enhancing cost effi ciency. SEB will reduce the number of 
full time equivalents (FTE) in Sweden by 5 per cent during 2009, 
corresponding to a net reduction of 500 employees. 

SEB Way
SEB Way is a Group-wide programme, targeted to increase opera-
tional effi ciency by streamlining processes so that resources are 
freed-up and applied more productively to generate further busi-
ness. Thus this is a fundamental change process in order to create a 
culture of continuous improvement, meeting increased quality de-
mands from customers and productivity pressure in the banking 
industry. The programme is now utilised within all parts of the 
Group, with a proven track-record both for sales and support func-
tions. For example, the number of transactions increased by 30 per 
cent - from 1.75 million payment transactions a month to over 2.6 
million. At the same time SEB increased productivity (transaction 
per FTE) by 34 per cent, while keeping staff number unchanged. 

By year-end 2008, more than 60 per cent of all of SEB’s 
 employees have been included in the overall diagnosis and the 

freed-up time to date was equivalent to around 7 per cent, or 
1,500 FTE’s of the work force. 

 
Increasing customer satisfaction 
In order to realise its vision of being the leading bank in Northern 
Europe, SEB strives to improve service levels and increase activi-
ties with respect to customers. Customer offerings and customer 
acquisition are strengthened through joint product development 
in the divisions and better usage of best practice procedures 
throughout the Group.

In recent years SEB has strengthened its position in the seg-
ment for large and medium-sized corporations in Denmark, 
 Finland, Norway and Germany. SEB has top customer rankings 
within for example cash management, currency trading, invest-
ment banking, custody and private banking, as shown in the 
ranking list on page 6. During 2008, large companies and institu-
tions accounted for approximately 40 per cent of SEB’s income.

SEB’s small and medium-sized corporate customers, mainly 
in Sweden and the Baltic countries, can benefi t from the know-
ledge and competence that SEB has built up in co-operation with 
large companies and adapted to the needs of small companies. 
In Sweden, SEB was awarded best SME-bank. During 2008, small 
and medium-sized companies accounted for approximately 
25 per cent of SEB’s income. 

In Sweden, SEB has a leading position and high rankings 
within private banking, mutual funds and unit-linked insurance. 

Financial targets and outcome

Return on equity
Per cent

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

25

20

15

10

5

0

Target: Highest among it’s peers
  Peer average (excl. seb)

Net profi t growth
seKbn

15

12

9

6

3

0

Target: sustainable profit growth

Tier I capital ratio
Per cent

10

8

6

4

2

0

  Target: At least 7 % until 2008

1) basel II transitional rules applied.
2) basel I.

Dividend
Per cent of earnings per share

50

40

30

20

10

0

  Policy: 40 % of net profit per 
share over a business cycle

1) No dividend is proposed for 2008.

Share of income 2008
Per cent

Large companies and institutions 40

small and medium-sized companies 25

Private individuals 35

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 20042) 20052) 20062) 20071) 2008 1) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 1)



6  seb ANNUAL RePORT 2008

SEB today

Within its retail business, SEB takes continuous steps to move 
closer to its goal of being leading in terms of customer satisfaction. 
In the Baltic countries, SEB ranks No. 2 in the retail segment. In 
Germany, SEB has received higher marks from the private cus-
tomers than the market average over the last six years. During 
2008, private individuals accounted for approximately 35 per cent 
of SEB’s income, of which the Swedish business represented 10 
per cent.

Balanced growth
SEB prioritises balanced growth across the business areas in order 
to increase resilience in times of uncertainty. 

Merchant Banking sees further opportunities to expand its core 
franchise by selling additional products to existing customers and 
to increase its market share in its main markets outside Sweden, 
not least through intensifi ed activities aimed at medium-sized 
corporations and fi nancial institutions in the Nordic countries. 
This will be achieved by pursuing the division’s proven strategy 
of providing internationally recognised high-quality products 
and value-added fi nancial solutions. Outside its main markets, 
Merchant Banking integrates the operations in the Baltic countries 
and makes selective investments in its operations outside its 
home markets, targeting primarily Nordic and German clients. 

Retail Banking will strengthen its sales culture and enhance its 
customer offerings with attractive and accessible products. Each 
market has its own specifi c priorities. In Sweden, focus is on im-
proving the overall customer experience and on further strength-
ening the position in customer segments such as mass affl uent 
and small and medium-sized enterprises. In Estonia, Latvia and 
Lithuania, the near- to medium-term focus is to ensure asset quali-
ty and continued long-term sustainable growth in light of the 
challenging macroeconomic development and to grow further 

within the savings market. The work to identify potential credit 
losses at an early stage and when necessary engage work-out 
teams continues. Long-term focus is set on establishing market 
leadership to capture the attractive structural growth opportunities 

seb’s rankings 
Area Rank 2008 Rank 2007 Organisation / publication etc

best bank in sweden 1 1 euromoney, Global Finance Magazine
bank of the Year in estonia and Lithuania 1 1 The banker
best bank in Latvia 1 1 euromoney, Global Finance Magazine
best bank in Lithuania 1 1 Global Finance Magazine
best stockbroker in the Nordic region 1 1 Prospera
best cash management in the Nordic and baltic regions 1 1 euromoney 
Overall Customer satisfaction regarding cash management, globally 1 1 euromoney
best Overall bank for Cash Management 2009 in the Nordic region 1 1 Global Finance Magazine
best real estate commercial bank in the Nordic and baltic regions 1 1 euromoney
best research house in the Nordic contries 1 1 extel survey, Thomson Reuters
best bank for risk management in the Nordic region 1 1 Global Finance Magazine
best in corporate fi nance in the Nordic region  biannual 1 Prospera
best M&A house in sweden and the baltic region 1 1 euromoney
best global commercial bank in real estate 3 3 euromoney 
best equity house in the Nordic and baltic regions 1 1 euromoney
best trade bank in Northern europe and scandinavia 1 Trade Forfaiting
best trade fi nance bank in the Nordic region 1 1 Global Finance Magazine 
best derivatives dealer in sweden 1 1 Risk Magazine
Custodian of the Year in the Nordic region 1 1 International Custody and Fund Administration
sub-custodian of the Year in the Nordic region 1 1 International Custody and Fund Administration
best asset manager in sweden 1 N/a Thomson Reuter
Nordic asset management fi rm of the Year 1 1 Financial News
best private bank in sweden 1 3 euromoney
best agent bank in the Nordic region and eastern europe 1 Global Custodian
best equity research in the Nordic region 1 1 extel survey Thomson Reuters
FX-research, globally N/a 1 FX Week/Reuters
sMe bank of the Year in sweden 1 N/a Privata Affärer

Customer satisfaction, Retail customers
Private customers and small and medium-sized corporate customers 
(sMe’s) KNIX index

SEB 2008
Market 

average seb 2007
Market 

average

Sweden
Private 65 73 n/a n/a
sMe 63 72 n/a n/a

Estonia
Private 75 74 76 74
sMe 78 64 80 82

Latvia
Private 62 63 67 69
sMe 65 64 56 65

Lithuania
Private 56 54 66 62
sMe 59 64 61 64

Germany
Private 70 64 72 66

In sweden, seb ranks No 4 both within private and sMe-segment. In estonia, 
seb ranks No 1 both within private and sMe sector. In Latvia and Lithuania 
seb is No. 2 within the private customer segment and No.3 in the sMe market.

In Germany, seb has received higher marks from private customers than the 
market average over the last six years.

The corresponding customer satisfaction survey results for large companies 
and institutions are not offi cial.
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SEB today

in the region once the economies turn around. In Germany, focus 
continues to be on improved profitability. The Card business is 
f ocused on accelerating organic growth and product development 
whilst reducing unit cost per transaction.

Wealth Management strives to offer enhanced advisory servic-
es, a broader range of alternative and absolute return-focused 
products. The division aims to shorten time-to-market for new, 
value-added products as well as to improve investment manage-
ment performance further. In Sweden, SEB has a strong market 
 position and leading customer offerings both within private 

banking and asset management. Building on this franchise and 
knowledge, the division continues to grow outside Sweden, 
 primarily in the Nordic and Baltic countries and Germany. 

Life’s business concept is focused on unit-linked insurance.  
In Sweden and Denmark, the main growth opportunities are within 
the corporate pension and care areas. Maintaining quality leader-
ship in Sweden and continuing the transition towards unit-linked 
solutions in Denmark are top priorities. Furthermore, the division 
is investing to establish a leading position in the emerging life in-
surance markets in the Baltic countries early on.
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The global credit crisis and rapid weakening of the real economy 
in SEB’s core markets in Northern Europe during 2008 did of 
course take its toll, especially in the previously fast growing, 
overheated Baltic economies. However, within most areas SEB 
maintained a high activity level and the underlying business was 
strong. During the year, SEB gained approximately 125,000 new 
customers, of which 107,000 were private individuals and 17,000 
corporate customers. 

In the market for large corporations and fi nancial institutions 
SEB traditionally meets tough competition, not only from the large 
Nordic banks but also from international fi nancial groups. During 
2008, however, many of those have withdrawn from the Nordic 
scene as a consequence of the fi nancial turmoil. The changed fi nan-
cial landscape facilitated the return to more lender-oriented cove-
nant structures and a more realigned risk-based policy, after years 
of liquidity-driven volume expansion in the fi nancial markets. 

In the market for small and medium-sized companies, the 
competitors are mostly domestic or regional banks, like Swedbank 
in the Baltic countries and Nordea, Handelsbanken, Swedbank 
and Danske Bank in the Nordic region. 

In the private market, local banks account for most of the 
competition, but various niche players are also competing for 
 investors and depositors.

Sweden 
The economic situation in Sweden, SEB’s single largest market with 
approximately 1.9 million private and 200,000 corporate customers, 
deteriorated faster than expected in 2008. SEB’s income dropped 
within equity-related markets, while volume development and 
sales were strong within foreign exchange, cash management, 
mutual funds and life insurance, for example. With SEK 8,344m in 
operating profi t, the Swedish market accounted for 65 per cent of 
the Group’s profi t for 2008. SEB has approximately 8,400 employ-
ees in Sweden.

In Sweden, SEB occupies a leading position among large cor-
porations and private banking customers, with substantial mar-
ket shares of foreign exchange trading, equities trading, cash 
management, asset management, unit-linked insurance and 
cards, for example. For several years, SEB has been ranked the 
best foreign exchange bank in Swedish krona trading on a global 
basis. In 2008, SEB was once again the largest broker, not only on 
the Stockholm stock exchange but also on the Nordic exchanges

In the household market for deposit and lending SEB is No. 4 , 
while it is No. 2 in volume on the corporate market. During 2008, 
SEB’s market share of deposits from the public increased to 20.7 
per cent, while its share of lending was virtually unchanged at 
14.9 per cent. SEB’s market share of household lending (including 
mortgages) was 12.2 per cent (12.6). 

Customer segmentation, Nordic banks 
share of total income, per cent
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Markets, competition and customers

Underlying strong business 
In spite of the fi nancial turbulence and the rapid deterioration of the real economy in the 
North european markets during 2008, seb consolidated its position within most areas. 
Activities were intensive, volumes increased and market shares and rankings were high.

seb’s commission income traditionally weighs heavier than that of other 
Nordic banks due to the Group’s specialisation on advisory services and 
more transaction-intensive activities with large companies and demanding 
private customers.

Income distribution, Nordic banks 
share of total income, per cent
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In the total Swedish household savings market (excluding directly 
owned shares), the Group was the largest player as per 30 Septem-
ber 2008, with a share of 14.8 per cent (14.6). 

SEB has a strong market position within the asset management 
and private banking areas. In 2008, SEB’s mutual funds had a net 
infl ow of SEK 6.5bn, while the total Swedish market experienced 
an outfl ow of SEK 17.5bn. 

Within life insurance, SEB is the second largest player in 
 Sweden , measured by premium income, with a market share of 
12.5 per cent in 2008. As regards new sales of unit-linked insur-
ance, SEB is No 1, with a market share of 24.4 per cent.

Other Nordic countries 
In Denmark, Norway and Finland, SEB’s operations are concen-
trated on the Group’s core areas of strength: wholesale and invest-
ment banking as well as wealth management. SEB’s position is also 
strong within unit-linked insurance in Denmark as well as within 
card operations in all Nordic countries. In total, SEB has more than 
1.3 million customers in Denmark, Norway and Finland. 

Denmark 
In Denmark, SEB’s customer offering comprises wholesale and 

investment banking, life insurance, wealth management and 
cards (Eurocard, Diners Club and MasterCard). At year-end 2008, 
SEB Denmark had approximately 700 employees and more than 
600,000 customers, accounting for SEK 556m, or 4 per cent of the 
Group’s operating profi t for 2008. 

Denmark was the fi rst country within EU to fall into recession 
as early as in the late 2007. The continued downturn during 2008 
was largely related to lower domestic demand and the property 
market. 

SEB holds a market leading position within corporate fi nance 
in Denmark and ranked among the three top players within all 
major equity and capital market products in 2008. The relation-
ship-driven wholesale business, corporate banking and foreign 
exchange continued to broaden the penetration and improved the 
results accordingly. The securities trading areas also improved 
the client facilitation, however in total showed lower income due 
to negative mark-to-market evaluations on trading portfolios.

Within the wealth management area, SEB partly managed to 
balance the negative market impact on assets under management 
with net new sales. At year-end, SEB held SEK 162bn in assets un-
der management , defending its position as one of the leading in-
vestment managers in the Danish market. In the spring of 2008, 

Markets, competition and customers

Assets under management
seKbn

Market shares of total savings, Sweden 1)

Per cent

seb is number one on the swedish private savings market.

1) As per 30 september 2008.

seb 14.8 (14.3)

swedbank 14.8 (15.2)

Alecta 9.7 (9.8)

skandia 9.7 (9.9)

Nordea 8.7 (8.5)

sHb 7.6 (7.5)

AMF 7.4 (7.3)

LF 4.6 (4.8)

Folksam 4.3 (3.5)

Governm. 3.5 (3.5)

sPP/storebr. 3.4 (3.6)

Other 11.5 (12.0)
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SEB’s Danish Equity fund won the Morningstar Fund Award 
2008 based on a five year performance. 

SEB Pension is Denmark´s fourth-largest private pension 
company (second largest within the unit-linked segment), with 
300,000 customers and assets of SEK 96bn. With corporate pen-
sion sales as the main growth area, representing approximately 
80 per cent of total sales in 2008, SEB Pension continues to gain 
market share in this customer segment. 

Norway 
SEB in Norway offers wholesale and investment banking services, 
wealth management and cards (Eurocard, MasterCard and Diners 
Club). SEB has 550 employees and close to 600,000 customers in 
Norway. In 2008, Norway accounted for 9 per cent, or SEK 
1,172m, of SEB’s operating profit. 

In spite of the global financial turmoil the various units of SEB 
managed well in relative terms. Merchant Banking’s business in-
creased its income compared with 2007, simultaneously attracting 
new customers and introducing additional financial solutions in 
the market. SEB maintained its position as one of the four highest- 
ranking banks for large and medium-sized corporations.

SEB also secured its position as the market leader within in-
vestment banking and was No. 1 on the Oslo Stock Exchange for 

the second consecutive year, with a market share of 8.1 per cent in 
2008. For the third consecutive year SEB was ranked clear number 
one for private and institutional clients on the Norwegian market 
in Prospera’s annual survey for 2008.

SEB’s Card business kept its position as a leading provider in 
the corporate market.

Finland 
SEB in Finland comprises Merchant Banking, card operations 
(Diners Club, Eurocard and MasterCard) and wealth management 
(via the subsidiary SEB Gyllenberg). Close to 350 employees serve 
more than 100,000 customers in total.

In 2008, SEB in Finland accounted for SEK 554m, or 4 per cent, 
of SEB’s operating profit. In addition, business volumes from 
Finnish customers with SEB units in other countries experienced 
double digit growth and accounted for substantial volumes.

In Finland, Merchant Banking reported a very strong year 
both in business volume and operating profit. In 2008, the entity 
succeeded to take much better advantage of the strength of the 
entire Merchant Banking division than before in its relations with 
the large corporate clients in Finland.

Growth areas include Trading and Capital Markets, with a 
strong advisory culture, structured leasing business, Commercial 
Real Estate, cash management, custody services and investment 
banking.

SEB Gyllenberg has a top position in the institutional asset 
management market and is one of the leading providers of private 
banking services in Finland.

SEB’s market share of the Finnish mutual fund market, where 
the subsidiary SEB Gyllenberg is one of the largest players, was 
10 per cent in 2008.

The Card business are has successfully expanded its base. The 
total growth for private cards was 13 per cent. In 2008, Card 
launched Eurocard in Finland and Latvia with success.

Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania 
SEB’s operations in the Baltic countries include a network of around 
200 branch offices, employing some 5,400 people servicing 2.8 
million customers, of whom 190,000 are corporate customers. The 
universal banking offering includes retail banking, wholesale and 
investment banking, private banking, leasing, venture capital, life 
insurance and asset management. 

During 2008 the economic situation in the Baltic countries 

Market shares

Per cent 2008 2007 2006

Deposits from general public
sweden 20.7 20.2  20.5
  deposits from households 11.7 12.4 12.2
  deposits from companies 27.8 26.1 25.8
estonia 24.2 25.7 27.1
Latvia 1) 19.9 23.7 23.1
Lithuania 27.0 27.4 29.2

Lending to general public
sweden 14.9 15.0 14.4
  lending to households 12.2 12.6 12.5
  lending to companies 16.9 16.8 16.0
estonia 24.3 26.3 29.1
Latvia 14.4 15.5 18.3
Lithuania 30.1 31.3 34.4

Mutual funds, new business
sweden N/a 2) 70.3 26.1
Finland N/a 2) 11.2 4.4

Mutual funds, total volumes 3)

sweden 19.5 17.9 16.6
Finland 10.0 5.7 5.5
estonia 22.2 21.5 22.2
Germany 4) 8.5 9.1 8.2

Unit-linked insurance, new business
sweden 24.4 22.1 29.1

Life insurance, premium income 
sweden 12.5 12.8 16.5
Denmark N/a 10.0 10.0

Equity trading
stockholm 12.3 9.8 10.1
Oslo 8.1 8.5 7.6
Helsinki 4.4 4.3 3.5
Copenhagen 7.9 8.1 5.9

 1) Resident deposit market only.

 2) In 2008, total new business in mutual funds markets was negative. 

 3) excluding third-party funds. 

 4) Real estate funds. 
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 deteriorated very fast. In Estonia and Latvia, negative GDP 
growth is a certainty and is expected to last during the next years. 
Also Lithuania is experiencing a gradual domestic slowdown. As 
a consequence, SEB has increased its provisions for credit losses in 
all three countries. The combined result for 2008 at SEK 1,417m 
corresponded to 11 per cent of SEB’s total operating profi t. 

SEB has increasingly paid more attention to higher value added 
services, not least within the savings area. SEB’s market shares are 
generally high within these product areas.

Despite the economic downturn, SEB maintains its long-term 
commitment in the Baltic region.

Estonia
The economic slowdown in Estonia started in mid-2007, with a 
gradual price deterioration in the real estate sector. In the second 
quarter of 2008 the country slid into recession. The negative GDP 
growth is expected to continue in 2009.

SEB is the second largest bank in Estonia with a market share 
of lending of 24 per cent compared with 34 per cent at the end of 
2005. In 2008, SEB in Estonia accounted for 2.9 per cent of the 
Group’s total credit exposure. 

In 2008, SEB successfully launched a packaged solution cov-
ering private individuals’ daily needs. The offering attracted 

more than 30,000 customers, of whom half were new to the Bank. 
In terms of customer satisfaction, SEB was ranked No. 1 in the 

private as well as the corporate market according to KNIX, SEB’s 
customer satisfaction survey.

Latvia
After three years of double-digit GDP growth, Latvia now experi-
ences plummeting domestic demand. GDP is certain to be nega-
tive during the next years. Due to the global fi nancial turmoil and 
Latvia’s large foreign debt, the country will face a tightened fi -
nancing situation.

Due to the economic decline and the specifi c problems in the 
local bank Parex, the Government of Latvia entered into discus-
sions with the IMF and the European Union in order to secure 
long-term stability. The Latvian Government and Parliament 
have agreed on far-reaching economic reforms in line with these 
discussions. This should be viewed as positive and as a stabilising 
factor for the economy.

SEB is the second largest bank in Latvia. The continued con-
trolled slowdown of credit growth has resulted in a decrease of 
SEB’s market share for lending, to 14.4 per cent, compared with 
22 per cent at the end of 2005. SEB’s Latvian operations accounted 
for 2.6 per cent of the Group’s total credit exposure in 2008. Oper-
ating income was virtually fl at, while costs and provisions increased 
substantially; the share of SEB’s total operating profi t for the year 
was SEK 391m, or 3 per cent.

In 2008, SEB once again was awarded “Best bank” in Latvia 
by Euromoney. In terms of customer satisfaction, SEB was ranked 
No. 3 in the private market and No. 2 in the corporate market, 
 according to KNIX.

Lithuania
The Lithuanian economy was still growing in the fi rst half of 
2008. However, growth plummeted in the second half, mainly as 
a result of dampened domestic demand.

SEB is the largest bank in Lithuania and has a leading position 
among large corporations. SEB’s market share for lending in Lith-
uania decreased in 2008. Credit exposure related to Lithuania now 
amounts to 5 per cent of SEB’s total credit exposure. Operating 
 income continued to grow, while provisions for lending losses in-
creased; SEB in Lithuania accounted for SEK 717m or 6 per cent of 
the Group’s operating profi t 2008.

SEB’s has received a string of top rankings in 2007 and 2008, 
 including “Best bank” by Global Finance Magazine, “Bank of the 
year” by The Banker and “Best consumer internet bank” by Glob-
al Finance Magazine. In terms of customer satisfaction, SEB was 
ranked No. 3 in the private market and No. 1 in the corporate 
market, according to KNIX.

Germany
In Germany, SEB has a nation-wide network of branch offi ces. 
The bank is focused on wholesale banking activities, commercial 
real  estate fi nancing, asset management and retail banking (mainly 
private customers). SEB has approximately 3,400 employees and 
close to one million customers in Germany. SEB’s operations in 
 Germany accounted for SEK 754m, or 6 per cent, of the Group’s 
 operating profi t in 2008. Credit losses were lower than in 2007. 

In September 2008, announced the organisational separation 
of Retail Banking from its other operations in Germany in order 
to create fl exibility to benefi t from the changing banking market. 

The retail business operations were affected by lower custom-
er activities, especially within the securities business, as result of 

Market share, deposits, the Baltic countries
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Already in the beginning of 2006, seb’s lending policy became more 
cautious. As a consequence, the banks lending market shares have 
decreased in the three countries.
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the financial crisis. Despite all turbulence, the co-operation with 
AXA insurance group developed successfully; insurance sales 
 increased by 34 per cent between 2006 and 2008. Also mortgage 
sales and consumer loans developed favourably. SEB’s customer 
satisfaction remained one of the highest in Germany, according to 
KNIX .

Merchant Banking in Germany continued to expand its busi-
ness, especially in the area of structured finance, trade finance and 
large corporate customers. Trading & Capital Markets reported a 
significant increase. SEB’s wholesale banking services in Germany 
were once again ranked at the very top, particularly for its cash 
management offering. 

Despite the difficult and challenging market environment the 
Commercial Real Estate business remained stable. The business 
area once again asserted its strong position in the German com-
mercial real estate market, remaining a strong and reliable part-
ner for the clients.

Asset Management reported a solid result despite market 
 turbulences. Investment funds recorded a net capital inflow of 
119.3 million euro.

Poland, Ukraine and Russia 
In Poland and Russia, SEB’s operations are primarily supporting 
Nordic corporate customers, while SEB in Ukraine is also a local 
bank.

SEB’s operations in Poland comprise a branch, a wholly-owned 
mutual fund company, SEB TFI, a leasing subsidiary and the fac-
toring company GMAC Commercial Finance, acquired in 2008. 

In 2008, SEB continued to integrate its two banks in Ukraine – 
SEB Bank and Factorial Bank acquired in 2007. In total, SEB serves 
approximately 15,000 corporate and 90,000 private customers 
throughout the country. In 2008 SEB opened 24 new branch 
 offices in Ukraine, increasing the total number to 109 at year-end 
2008.

SEB Bank in Russia (formerly PetroEnergoBank) has two 
branch offices in S:t Petersburg. The Group’s other operations in 
Russia include a representative office in Moscow and a leasing 
company in St Petersburg. 

Other international locations 
SEB has operations at strategically important locations in such 
 financial centres as London, New York, Singapore and Shanghai 
to serve corporate customers with international operations. 

Nordic and German private customers living outside their 
home countries make use of these offices, too and are also served 
via private banking units in Luxembourg, Zurich and Marbella, 
for  example.

At the beginning of 2008, SEB opened a representative office 
in New Delhi in order to support corporate customers in their 
business with India.
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seb’s distribution channels
SEB’s ambition is to offer individual, active and rewarding rela-
tions whenever and wherever the customers so desire. 

SEB’s customers can stay in contact with SEB via some 660 
branch offi ces, the Internet and personal telephone service. In 
Sweden, the call centre is able to assist customers in 22 different 
languages. Approximately 90 per cent of the number of customer 
contacts takes place via the Internet and telephone. Over the past 
three years, SEB’s retail customer contacts have increased by 
30–35 per cent, not only in the Bank’s “remote” channels but also 
in the branch offi ce network. The branches are particularly impor-
tant for advisory services.

During 2008, the number of card transactions with card issued 
by SEB amounted to 526 million, of which around 70 per cent in the 
Nordic region. 

Large corporations and institutions are served internationally 
by 18 branches and representative offi ces – from New York and Sao 
Paolo to Shanghai and Singapore. 

Approximately 1,250 persons – client executives and other 
sales teams – assist the large corporations and fi nancial institu-
tions. In addition, approximately 750 product experts, analysts, 
traders etc have frequent interactions with the customers.

Private banking customers, mainly from the Nordic area, living 
outside their home countries are served via branches in twelve 
countries, for example Luxembourg, Spain and Switzerland. 

Within the life insurance area, SEB co-operates with approxi-
mately 2,000 insurance intermediaries, brokers and agents in Swe-
den, Denmark and the Baltic countries. The own sales force counts 
some 350 persons, of which 150 in Sweden, 70 in Denmark and 120 
in the Baltic countries. In Germany, SEB has an agreement with the 
insurance company AXA. 

Number of users of the Bank’s Internet services
Thousands

  The baltic 
region 

 Germany
 sweden

Today, seb’s Internet banks are used by approximately 3.2 million private 
customers and small companies in seven countries. In Denmark and Ukraine 
seb has approximately 3,000 internet customers in each country.

In addition, the Group offers specialist services via the Internet such 
as foreign exchange and interest trading, mainly to large companies. 
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Branch offi ces

since the end of the 1990s, seb 
has more than doubled its branch 
offi ce network, mainly through 
acquisitions in eastern europe. 
In 2008, 24 new branches were 
opened in Ukraine.
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Automatic bank service machines 
include ATM’s, machines for cash 
deposits, transfers, foreign 
exchange and recharging cards.
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In sweden, Germany and the baltic 
countries, seb’s customers are 
offered personal service, in sweden 
and estonia around the clock – and 
in sweden in 22 different languages. 
In addition to the 5.7 million phone 
calls, seb’s call centres answered 
635,000 e-mails in 2008.

Personal telephone service
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In the last two years the number of 
card transactions have increased 
by 60 per cent to 526 million 
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SEB aims to be the best employer in the � nancial sector through 
attracting and developing skilled people, and setting clear and 
 inspiring goals that are measured, followed up and rewarded. 
A passion for performance in product development, customer in-
teraction and execution is a key prerequisite for reaching SEB’s 
 vision of being the leading bank in Northern Europe. How well 
SEB employees adhere to the Group’s core values – Commitment, 
Continuity, Mutual Respect and Professionalism – is equally 
 important.

Performance Management
In SEB, every leader makes sure that the strategic goals are broken 
down and communicated to the employees as individual targets 
that are clearly linked to SEB’s business plan. The targets are fol-
lowed up and evaluated through regular follow-up meetings 
with each employee, where individual feedback and coaching is 
given. This creates employee commitment and ability to deliver 
both short and long-term value.

Talent Management 
The right people with the right competence, in the right place, are 
prerequisites for SEB’s ability to achieve its business goals. SEB 
proactively works with attracting, recruiting, identifying and 
 developing talented people. SEB shall be in the forefront, ahead 
of its competitors, when it comes to � nding and making use of 
talents that in the long run will contribute to successful business 
results and customer satisfaction.

During 2008 SEB conducted a Global Talent Review, assessing 
a large number of employees and leaders at all levels within the 
Group. Talents are identi� ed as people who have performed at a 
very high level and demonstrated a promising potential to go fur-
ther. They constitute SEB’s Global Talent Pool, which provides a 
good overview of the Group’s leaders and their ability to take on 

larger roles in different areas, allowing SEB to work actively with 
individual career plans. The solid Global Talent Review ensures 
that the right competence is available, re� ecting SEB’s needs as 
identi� ed in the business plan. It also ensures that SEB invests in 
the right development activities.

Leadership & Competence Development
In order to build a performance-driven culture, developing leader-
ship and competence is crucial. During the year, much work has 
been devoted to clarifying the demands and expectations that 
SEB has on its leaders. A total of SEK 245m (240) was invested in 
competence development. Almost all employees participated in 
some form of training and 1,700 leaders took part in the Group’s 
various internal and external leadership programmes. Internal 
training comprises everything from professional competence 
courses to the Group’s own leadership programmes, like the 
 Wallenberg Institute and International Business Seminar. Besides 
developing leadership skills, the purpose of the leadership pro-
grammes is, to encourage net-working across the divisions and 
countries in order to leverage business opportunities and offer 
the best solutions to the Bank’s customers.

A performance culture
SEB actively works to build a culture that measures and rewards performance, in order to 
reach the Bank’s strategic goals. At SEB, performance is not only a matter of the results that 
are delivered but also of how results are achieved.

Educational level
Percent

University > 3 years 43

University < 3 years 11

Upper secondary school 31

Compulsory school 8

Other/unspecifi ed 7

 Women
 Men

No of employees
Distributed by age and gender

7,000

6,000

5,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

0

–29 30–39 40–49 50–

Employees
Geographical distribution, per cent

Sweden 40 (39)

The Baltic countries 26 (26)

Germany 16 (16)

Rest of Europe 10 (10)

Rest of the Nordic countries 1) 7 (8)

Rest of the world 1 (1)

1) Denmark, Norway and Finland.
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SEB – an attractive employer
SEB’s goal is to be the most attractive employer within the � nancial 
sector. The Bank works actively to attract young professionals – 
young graduates with a couple of years’ work experience. SEB 
reaches this target group by participating in employer fairs ar-
ranged by different universities and by positioning itself on vari-
ous student and job sites. 

In 2008 an employer branding survey showed that SEB was the 
preferred bank among young business and � nance graduates in 
Sweden. Also within such other categories as IT, law, technology, 
graduate engineering and humanities SEB came up top on the list 
among the banks. Among all companies, SEB was ranked number 
six as the most attractive employer. In Lithuania SEB has been in 
the top three positions the last two years in the “The most attrac-
tive employer” survey, organised by an established research � rm.

SEB continues to run its international trainee programme. The 
programme builds a broad platform for the 24 trainees graduating 
every year. In 2008, a Swedish leading business paper ranked the 
programme as one of the top trainee programmes in Sweden.

Performance in a long-term perspective
SEB constantly strives towards an open and honest dialogue on 
key issues. This is a matter of following up leadership, motivation 
and Group performance compared with the market benchmark. 

Every second year, the employee survey Voice is carried out. 
The survey is a strategic tool to identify areas of improvement 
and to decide on appropriate actions. The latest survey, made in 
2007, showed that competence, motivation and accountability 
were perceived as high by the Group’s employees. Customer 
 focus is a prioritised area within SEB and the employee survey 
showed that this is an area for further improvement. Next survey 
will be carried out in 2009. 

Diversity is a success factor
Regardless of sex, nationality, ethnic origin, age, sexual inclination 
or faith, every SEB employee has the same opportunities to devel-
op and make a career within the Group. According to the Group’s 
diversity plan, the long-term goal is an equal distribution between 
men and women so that each sex shall be represented by at least 
40 per cent at each level. 

During 2008, 44 per cent (40) of the Group’s managers were 
women. The share for group and customer service managers was 
54 per cent (46), while it was 36 per cent (36) for department and 
branch of� ce heads. At higher levels, the share of women was 
25 per cent (25).

Salaries and compensation
Also in terms of remuneration, SEB targets a pay for performance 
culture. The SEB Group’s overall remuneration structure consists 
of the following components: base salary, short-term compensa-
tion, long-term incentive compensation to senior leaders and oth-
er key employees, pension and bene� ts.

Each employee has a base salary depending on job complexi-
ty, experience, competence, work performance and individual 
 responsibility. Most SEB employees are eligible for short-term 
 incentive compensation, which is based upon achievement of 
pre-determined goals. In 2008, the total short-term incentive 
 compensation, including social charges, accounted for 16 per cent 
(21) of the Group’s total staff costs.

During the year, a share savings programme was launched to 
encourage the staff to become SEB shareholders, thus increasing 
employee commitment and strengthening the alignment between 
SEB’s staff and shareholders. According to this scheme, each 
 employee can save maximum 5 per cent of his/her annual gross 
salary to buy shares for the corresponding amount. After three 
years, employees will receive one share for each share purchased 
for the saved amount. 7,000, or 33 per cent of the SEB Group’s 
staff, have started saving under this programme.

During 2008 approximately 500 senior of� cers and other key 
employees were granted long-term incentive compensation in the 
form of so-called performance shares. The purpose of this form of 
compensation is to stimulate senior leaders and other key staff to 
increased efforts by aligning their interests and perspectives with 
those of the shareholders. (See further on page 60 and Note 9 for 
information about SEB’s long-term incentive compensation pro-
gramme.)

Short-term incentive (STI) compensation
In relation to staff costs (incl. social charges), per cent

Employee turnover
Heads 

average         Starters      Leavers       Retired

2003 19,411 643 3.3% –1,069 –5.5% –108 –0.6%
2004 19,108 784 4.1% –789 –4.1% –189 –1.0%
2005 19,862 2,029 10.2% –1,183 –6.0% –109 –0.5%
2006 20,692 2,249 10.9% –2,012 –9.7% –228 –1.1%
2007 21,523 3,124 14.5% –2,275 –10.6% –335 –1.6%
2008 22,310 3,463 15.5% –2,948 –13.2% –152 –0.7%
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Corporate responsibility

SEB’s core values – Commitment, Continuity, Mutual Respect 
and Professionalism – form the basis for the Group’s approach 
to corporate responsibility. To be considered a good corporate 
 citizen is part of SEB’s mission statement.
 The Corporate Responsibility committee, comprising mem-
bers from each division and key support functions, steers corpo-
rate responsibility efforts and reports to the Group Executive 
Committee. 
 SEB has since 2007 implemented internationally agreed prin-
ciples for corporate responsibility accounting and measurement 
and reports its results in accordance with the GRI G3 Guidelines. 
Priority areas include the establishment of a governance structure 
for corporate responsibility that can be externally audited, and 
de� ning the targets for corporate responsibility improvements. 

SEB’s ambition is to meet the foremost international standards 
within corporate responsibility. Reducing the Group’s carbon 
footprint is a major priority, through further reductions in energy 
consumption, increased use of renewable sources and improved 
processes.

SEB’s role in society
As a leading bank in the Nordic and Baltic countries, SEB plays an 
important role for the development of enterprises, the fostering of 
trade and the functioning of � nancial systems in these countries. 
SEB is a universal bank that provides a wide range of � nancial 

services to corporate customers, institutions and households, 
with leading positions in areas including corporate and private 
lending, equities trading, asset management and investment 
banking. 
 The Group has a particularly strong position as a facilitator of 
international trade, providing among others cash management 
services to the majority of the largest Nordic companies and oper-
ating one of the world’s largest foreign exchange desks.

Responsibilities and impact 
SEB is fully committed to the view that organisations must take 
responsibility for the long-term impact of their activities on its 
various stakeholders. 

The Group’s foremost responsibility is to assist its customers – 
400,000 corporate and institutional clients and � ve million private 
customers – in reaching their business objectives and � nancial 
goals. Building and maintaining strong customer relationships re-
quires a long-term approach, a genuine understanding of custom-
er needs and constant work to maintain and improve customer 
satisfaction. In its role as a provider of � nancing and as investment 
manager, the Group’s indirect sustainability impact is important. 

Responsibility for SEB also entails being an employer that 
provides equal opportunities for professional development and 
family-work life balance, and which actively encourages ethnic 
diversity. The goal is to be the most attractive employer in the 

A trusted partner and corporate citizen
As a major provider of credit, payment systems and other fi nancial services, SEB plays 
an  important role in society. Corporate responsibility efforts are increasingly integrated in the 
Group’s day-to-day business.

Commitment to ethics
Priorities:

  Emphasising core values (Commitment, Continuity, Mutual 
 Respect, Professionalism). 

  Ensuring a strong compliance framework.
  Integrating ethics in management training.

Commitment to customers
Priorities:

  Achieving and maintaining top rank in customer satisfaction.
  Providing products and solutions adapted to our customers 
 different needs.

Commitment to employees
Priorities:

  Having the most motivated employees in relation to our peer group.
  Achieving diversity in our workforce.
  Providing our employees with opportunities for career development, 
learning and work-life balance.

Commitment to shareholders
Priorities:

  Leading our peer group in terms of fi nancial performance.
  Maintaining our position as a leader in governance reporting.

Commitment to the environment
Priorities:

  Ensuring compliance of SEB’s environmental standards in all parts 
of our operations.

  Engaging with our suppliers on environmental issues.
  Developing new products that live up to the environmental 
 preferences of our customers.

 Reducing SEB’s carbon footprint.
   
Commitment to society
Priorities:

  Contributing to economic development in the societies where we 
operate.         

  Engaging in projects to support entrepreneurship.
  Promoting fi nancial and economic understanding.

Corporate Responsibility at SEB – Commitments and Priorities 
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 � nancial sector. Further information on SEB’s employees is found 
on pp 14–15 and Note 9.

Providing a competitive return to shareholders and address-
ing the challenges posed by climate change are other important 
aspects of the Group’s corporate responsibility efforts. Not least, 
it is important that SEB ful� ls its role as an active corporate citizen.

SEB closely monitors its direct impact on sustainability and 
further progress was made in 2008. The Group’s total energy con-
sumption in buildings was reduced by 14 per cent, while air trav-
el decreased and train travel increased, the latter by 40 per cent. 
Indicators related to human resources also improved, as shown 
by the reduced sick leave rate and the improved health index. 
The share of female managers rose to 44 per cent.  

The Group’s indirect impact is addressed in a number of ways, 
and involves adherence to internal policies and guidelines as well 
as international standards and principles for sustainability. For 
example, SEB is a member of the United Nations Global Compact 
and supports the OECD guidelines for Multinational Enterprises. 
As signatory to the UN Global Compact, SEB has made a commit-
ment to human rights, anti-corruption and sustainable develop-
ment, and is required to communicate its progress in corporate 
 responsibility on a yearly basis. 

Achievements 2008
  SEB published its � rst comprehensive Corporate Responsibility 
Report, in compliance with GRI G3 Guidelines.  

  SEB adopted the United Nations Principles for Responsible 
 Investments (PRI) within the category Investment Manager. 
The Group views this commitment as an important step in 
contributing to the United Nations efforts to promote good 
corporate citizenship and to build a more stable, sustainable 
and inclusive global economy. The adoption of PRI means 
 additional emphasis on environmental, social, and corporate 
governance issues in the Group’s ownership policies and 
 practices.

  SEB assisted the World Bank in issuing its � rst Green Bond 
(see box).  

Code of Business Conduct
SEB believes that high ethical standards are of fundamental 
 importance to sustainable banking. 
 The Group’s ethical standards are expressed in its Code of 
Business Conduct, which has been adopted by the Board of Direc-
tors. The Code is a guideline that expresses the values that drive 
SEB’s behaviour and how the Group conducts its business. All 
employees at SEB are expected to live by these values and each 
 individual is personally accountable for acting ethically. 

The Code, which has been developed through participation by 
employees from across the Group, aims to achieve the following 
main objectives:

  to describe to employees the responsibilities that come with 
employment at SEB;

  to describe SEB’s standards of business conduct;
  to guide employees on how to resolve potentially dif� cult 
 situations;

  to set out procedures for reporting issues relating to the Code.

The Code is available in eleven languages and has also been 
 developed into a customised e-learning tool. It can be found on 
www.sebgroup.com.

Responsibility in lending
As a major provider of � nancing to corporate clients, the Group 
is continuously required to recognize sustainability aspects in 
lending. Environmental criteria have been included in the Group’s 
credit policy since 1997. In 2004, the perspective was broadened 
to include other aspects of corporate responsibility such as 
human rights, international labour standards and reputational 
risk. A special section of the credit policy emphasizes SEB’s social 
responsibility, beyond issues such as con� dence in the customer, 
the credit purpose and environmental matters.

SEB was the � rst Nordic bank to adopt the Equator Principles 
(EP) on project � nancing, a framework for the � nancial industry 
to manage social and environmental issues in project � nancing. All 
SEB employees involved in transactions with existing or potential 
EP implications have the training and understanding required to 
apply the Principles. SEB’s project � nance activities above the EP 
threshold amounted to 5 transactions in 2008. 

Responsibility in investments
As an investment manager, SEB seeks to promote sound princi-
ples for corporate governance and corporate responsibility. The 
Group has adopted the United Nations Principles for Responsible 
Investments (PRI) within the category Investment Manager. 

The Group’s view is that a well thought-out corporate respon-
sibility strategy builds long-term competitiveness and enhances a 
company’s ability to deliver attractive investment returns. The 
Group expects each company in which SEB holds ownership 
stakes to abide by local law and international conventions and 
agreements, placing particular emphasis on the following inter-
national principles:

  The United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights.
  The International Labour Organization’s Fundamental 
 Conventions.

  The OECD guidelines for Multinational Enterprises.
  The United Nations Code of Global Compact. 

If SEB discovers that a company may have violated these principles, 
this can potentially lead to a sale of the investment stake. 

Ethical funds
SEB offers a broad range of asset management products that apply 
ethical or social responsibility investment criterias. These products 

In 2008, the World Bank issued its fi rst Green Bond to raise funds 
for “green” projects, i.e. projects that seek to mitigate climate 
change or help affected people adapt to it. With SEB as the sole 
lead manager, the bond issue has raised SEK 2.7 billion from sev-
eral key Scandinavian institutional investors as well as the United 
Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund. The bonds are denominated in 
Swedish kronor (SEK) with a maturity of six years.

The Green Bond offering is the fi rst time that the World Bank has 
 offered bonds to raise funds targeted to a specifi c World Bank pro-
gram. The bond issue is one example of the kind of innovation the 
World Bank is trying to encourage within its “Strategic Framework for 
Development and Climate Change”, launched in 2008 to help stimu-
late and coordinate public- and private-sector activity in this area. 

SEB arranges fi rst Green Bond 
for the World Bank
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have been designed to meet a variety of concerns and responsible 
investment preferences among SEB’s customers. Three categories 
of ethical funds are currently offered: funds that exclude companies 
according to negative screening criteria (such as weapons and 
gambling), funds that apply the Global Ethical Standard screening 
criteria (excludes companies that have violated international stan-
dards for human rights and corruption, for example) and funds 
that only invest in companies that are leaders in corporate respon-
sibility (positive screening). In total, SEB manages SEK 3.3bn in 
ethical funds and SEK 2.8bn in institutional portfolios with an 
 ethical pro� le. 

Commitment to shareholders 
SEB’s overriding goal is to create long-term shareholder value, 
whilst also meeting the expectations of other stakeholders. Key to 
achieving this objective is a strong focus on � nancial performance 
and risk management/internal control, combined with excellence 
in corporate governance and reporting. The Group’s risk manage-
ment processes and internal audit, compliance and risk control 
functions are presented in the sections on Corporate Governance 
on pp 52 – 60 and Risk and Capital Management on pp 36 – 51. 

Providing accurate and timely information to SEB’s share-
holders and the investor community at large is important. All 
press releases, � nancial reports, presentations and other relevant 
information are published on the Group’s website. Extensive 
 investor communication is performed at investor road-shows, in 
one-on-one meetings and through participation in � nancial mar-
ket conferences. The Group’s communication policy, which is 
 reviewed annually, is based on the disclosure rules of the OMX 
Nordic Exchange and other relevant rules and recommendations. 

Environmental impact
SEB strives to reduce the negative impact its operations may have 
on the environment. This applies to the direct impact of the 
Group’s daily business activities as well as to the indirect effects 
of lending and asset management operations. SEB is a signatory 
of the International Chamber of Commerce Business Charter for 
Sustainable Development since 1996 and supports the United 
Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative.

Direct impact 
SEB’s environmental management system is governed by an 
 Environmental Policy adopted by the President and CEO. Heads 
of all divisional and business areas are responsible for day-to-day 
implementation of the Policy. The SEB Corporate Responsibility 
Committee oversees the work. This includes quarterly reporting 
and analysis of a range of environmental performance indicators. 
The Group’s key performance indicators are presented on p. 19. 

Indirect impact 
SEB strives to increase awareness of the indirect effects and 
responsibilities that the Group’s credit-granting activities have 
on the environment and on sustainable development. Assessment 
of environmental risks, and its potential impact on a customer’s 
creditworthiness, is integrated into the Group’s Credit Policy. 
Broader sustainability aspects also in� uence the credit decision, 
such as possible negative environmental and social impact. 

However, SEB’s potential indirect impact on environmental 
sustainability is larger on the positive side – as a provider of � -
nancial solutions for environmentally-friendly development and 
investments – than on the negative. The Green Car Loan, which 
offers attractive credit � nancing for environmentally friendly 
cars, and a range of responsible investment funds, can illustrate 
SEB’s ambition to offer products speci� cally tailored for sustain-
able investment. 

Social commitment
SEB is dedicated to making a positive contribution to local 
communities. The Group is engaged in a number of selected social 
partnership activities, in addition to its contributions to programs 
such as the United Nations Global Compact mentioned above. 

Two types of projects are supported. The � rst group include 
projects that are tightly linked to SEB’s business and whose pur-
pose is to build and strengthen relationships with present and 
 potential customers. These projects mainly focus on entrepreneur-
ship. Examples include SEB’s support for the Founders  Alliance 
and Entrepreneur of the Year award in Sweden and the Business 
Plan Tournament in Lithuania.

The second group is geared to the key themes of youth, edu-
cation, gender equality, ethnic diversity, sports and culture. Ex-
amples include the Mentor program in Sweden, Lithuania and 
Germany and the SEB Next Generation program in partnership 
with the Swedish Tennis Federation. The latter is an effort to sup-
port young tennis talents and is the largest Swedish youth tennis 
program ever launched. 

SEB’s � nancial support for social projects amounted to SEK 
18.3m in 2008. In addition, SEB employees are actively involved 
in many of the projects, sharing their experience and knowledge.

Promoting economic understanding and fi nancial awareness
As a large � nancial institution, it is natural for SEB to share its 
expertise to enhance economic understanding and promote 
� nancial awareness. The Group’s economists and strategists 
actively participate in the economic policy debate and regularly 
appear in the media; other Group specialists provide advice and 
analysis to assist entrepreneurs wishing to set up a business and 
help households make informed decisions. As part of SEB’s 
efforts to inform customers and the general public on economic 
issues, the Group produces macroeconomic and � nancial reviews 
that are widely distributed and frequently referred to by media.

Equator Principles: social responsibility 
in project fi nancing
The highly specialized fi eld of project fi nance plays an important 
role in fi nancing development throughout the world. Typically, proj-
ect fi nancing is used for large, complex and expensive installations 
such as power plants, refi neries, waste treatment plants and trans-
portation infrastructure. The lender looks primarily to the revenues 
generated by a single project both as the source of repayment and 
as security for the exposure.

To ensure that the projects SEB fi nances are developed in a so-
cially responsible manner and refl ect sound environmental manage-
ment practices, the Group has adopted the Equator Principles (EP), 
a voluntary set of fi nancial industry guidelines to determine, assess 
and manage environmental and social risks in project fi nancing. 
 Approximately 70 fi nancial institutions from nearly 30 countries 
have signed the principles. As of 2008, all of the Group’s project fi -
nancings reported under EP had been undertaken in OECD countries.

For more information about corporate responsibility at SEB, please 
 consult the Corporate Responsibility Report at www.sebgroup.com
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SEB expands Mentor project
Since 1997, SEB has co-operated with Mentor Sweden, a non-profi t 
foundation engaged in anti-violence and drug-prevention activities 
among youth. The organization, which was founded in 1994, is active 
in Sweden, Germany, the UK and the US, and several other countries.

Mentor focuses on the role of adults in youth formation and advance-
ment. The organization’s programmes enables participating youths to 
meet with adult role models in a variety of situations. The co-operation 
provides SEB employees with an opportunity for both personal devel-
opment and for making a social contribution. 

Mentor offers three principal programmes:
  The Mentorship Programme creates pairs of high school students 
and active adults, who meet twice a month for a period of one year. 
The pairs meet individually and are given a number of assignments 
to work with during the year. In 2008, 28 SEB employees were 
mentors, a considerable increase from 2007. 

  The Parental Programme is designed to give parents the tools they 
need in order to develop and support their children prior to and 
throughout their teens, focusing on communications and dealing 
with confl icts, among others. SEB offers all its employees to take 
part in the course, which runs over 10 weeks and fi ve sessions. 
200 SEB employees participated during 2008.

  During 2008, SEB in Sweden and Mentor developed a new pro-
gramme, Mentor Motivator, focused on increasing the motivation 
for higher education. This programme involves having youths and 
adults meet at the workplace on three occasions, with the specifi c 
purpose of solving a work-related task. A pilot project engaging a 

group of SEB employees was performed in late 2008, with a view 
to expand the programme during 2009. The knowledge about the 
 fi nancial industry increased among the participating students and 
gave them a broader understanding of life after school. 

In Lithuania, the Group’s Mentor support was expanded with both the 
Mentoring Programme and Parenting Programme. 20 SEB employees 
participated in the Mentoring Programme. In addition, the SEB President 
& CEO was engaged as a speaker at a seminar about motivation and 
goals in life at a school in Stockholm.

To date, the Mentorship Programme has given 350 young people in 
Sweden and Lithuania support by a mentor from SEB. 

Promotion of UNICEF campaigns to SEB customers
To use the Internet as a fund-raising tool is increasingly important to 
UNICEF’s global aid contribution in support of exposed children and 
youths. As an affi liate to UNICEF, SEB promotes UNICEF’s campaigns 
via the Group’s Swedish retail customer service on the Internet.

Over the past three years, the collaboration has helped to generate 
SEK 1.4m for the world organization. This makes SEB’s site the highest 
revenue-generating affi liated web site of Swedish UNICEF.

In 2008, more than SEK 0.5m in donations were generated through 
the web site. The largest donations were made in respect of UNICEF’s 
campaigns for children and families in Burma. 

SEB also made donations directly to UNICEF in the form of School-
in-a-Box kits. A School-in-a-Box kit supports a classroom of 80 students 
in any setting.

In support of children’s rights and youth advancement

Key performance indicators
2008 2007 2006

Human resources related indicators 
Sick leave rate, share of ordinary working hours 3.5% 3.9% 4.2%
Health index, share of staff with >5 days sick leave in past 12 months 54.8% 57.0% 59.2%
Diversity index, share of female managers 44.0% 40.1% 38.3%
Number of full-time equivalents (FTE) 21,291 19,506 19,597
Environmentally certifi ed cars, share of company car fl eet 22.0% 13.0% 10.0%

Total paper consumption
Graphic paper (kg) 805,360 609,796 697,201
Supplies paper (kg) 887,811 842,956 872,849
Total (kg) 1,693,171 1,452,752 1,570,050
   - where of environmentally labelled (kg) 1,058,798 589,317 623,124

Real estate-related indicators
Total energy consumption in buildings, MWh 98,437 114,569 128,840
CO2 emissions from buildings, kg 21,490,586 n/a n/a
Waste consumption, kg 2,150,108 1,908,699 1,460,075
    - whereof recycled, kg 729,344 869,482 662,080
Total water consumption in buildings, m3 196,925 n/a n/a
Facilities, number of m2 360,472 324,726 339,178

Travel-related indicators
Air travel, km 51,527,157 54,490,216 45,148,074
Train travel, km 4,338,610 3,089,600 2,169,130
CO2 emissions from travel, kg 7,584,796 8,020,960 7,042,942

Social commitments
Financial support of social projects, SEKm 18.3 18.2 18.0
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Share capital
The SEB share is listed on the Nasdaq OMX Stockholm Stock Ex-
change. The share capital amounts to SEK 6,872m, distributed on 
687.2 million shares. The Class A share entitles to one vote and the 
Class C share to 1/10 of a vote.

Stock Exchange trading
2008 was the weakest year to date on the Nasdaq OMX Stockholm 
Stock Exchange and the Swedish OMX General Index went down 
by 42 per cent. The value of the SEB share decreased by 63 per cent, 
while the European Banking Index fell by 64 per cent. During the 
year, the total turnover in SEB shares amounted to SEK 190bn. 
SEB thus remained one of the most traded companies on the 
Stockholm Stock Exchange. Market capitalisation by year-end 
was SEK 41.6bn.

Dividend policy
The size of the dividend in SEB is determined by the economic en-
vironment as well as the � nancial position and growth potential 
of the Group. SEB strives to achieve a long-term growth based 
upon the capital base for the � nancial group of undertakings. SEB 
has traditionally had the objective that the annual dividend per 
share shall, over a business cycle, correspond to around 40 per 
cent of earnings per share. 

SEB maintains this long-term dividend policy, although future 
dividends will be assessed in the light of prevailing economic 
conditions and the Bank’s earnings and capital position.

SEB’s Class C shares
To facilitate foreign ownership the Class C share was introduced 
at the end of the 1980s. The trading volumes of the Class C share 
are very limited and the number of Class C shares only consti-
tutes 3.5 per cent of the share capital of the Bank. Due to this, the 
prerequisites for creating only one class of shares, thus giving the 
Class C shares the same rights as the Class A shares, have been 
 examined. The examination has shown that there are signi� cant 
practical dif� culties to implement such a structure.

According to the Swedish Companies Act, a proposal that the 
Class C shares should carry the same rights as the Class A shares 
requires that the proposal is supported by shareholders repre-
senting at least 2/3 of the votes cast and shares represented at a 
General Meeting of Shareholders as well as by 9/10 of the Class A 
shares represented at the General Meeting. Furthermore, approval 
from a majority of all Class A shareholders is required. The reason 
for this is that a resolution to this effect would lead to a certain 
 dilution for the Class A shareholders. Since the number of share-
holders in SEB is large, obtaining such approval would be a drawn- 
out and complicated procedure.

The SEB share development in 2008
In 2008 the SEB Class A share dropped by 63 per cent. Earnings per share were 
SEK 14.66 (19.97). The Board proposes no dividend for 2008 (SEK 6.50 in 2007).
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Basic and diluted earnings
Per SEB share, SEK

Dividend
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1)  The Board proposes no 
dividend for 2008.

SEB share
Data per share 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Basic earnings, SEK 14.66 19.97 18.72 12.58 10.83
Diluted earnings, SEK 14.65 19.88 18.53 12.47 10.82
Shareholders’ equity, SEK 121.96 111.97 98.98 84.84 77.31
Adjusted shareholders’ equity 134.10 127.24 112.66 96.44 85.66
Net worth, SEK 135.00 127.44 115.90 102.19 89.50
Cash fl ow, SEK –28.97 177.15 6.32 21.07 4.95
Dividend per A and 
C share, SEK 0.00 6.50 6.00 4.75 4.35
Year-end market price
     per Class A share, SEK 60.75 165.50 217.50 163.50 128.50
     per Class C share, SEK 55.00 154.00 209.00 158.00 124.50
Highest price paid during 
the year
     per Class A share, SEK 171.00 250.50 220.00 165.50 131.00
     per Class C share, SEK 159.50 240.00 212.50 159.50 126.50
Lowest price paid during 
the year
     per Class A share, SEK 51.00 156.50 152.50 122.50 99.50
     per Class C share, SEK 51.00 147.00 145.50 118.00 92.50
Dividend as a percentage of 
result for the year, % 0.00 32.6 32.0 37.8 40.2
Yield, % 0.00 3.9 2.8 2.9 3.4
P/E 4.1 8.3 11.6 13.0 11.9
Number of issued 
shares, million
     average 684.8 682.0 673.3 667.8 679.8
     at year-end 685.0 683.5 678.3 668.8 668.5

Share capital, December 31, 2008

Share series
Number

of shares
Number
of votes capital votes

A 663,004,123 663,004,123 96.5 99.6
C 24,152,508 2,415,251 3.5 0.4

687,156,631 665,419,374 100 100

The SEB share on the Stockholm Stock Exchange

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Year-end market 
capitalisation, SEKm 41,606 113,447 149,251 115,026 90,382
Volume of shares  
traded, SEKm 190,011 252,303 162,707 104,372 86,293

Percentage of

Each Series A-share entitles to one vote and each Series C-share to 1/10 of a vote.

Change in share capital
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken’s share capital has changed 
as follows since the Bank was started in 1972:

Year Transaction SEK
Change in no. 

of shares
Accumulated 
no. of shares

Share 
capital 
SEKm

1972 5,430,900    543
1975 Rights issue 1:5 125 1,086,180 6,517,080    652
1976 Rights issue 1:6 140 1,086,180 7,603,260    760
1977 Split 2:1 7,603,260 15,206,520    760
1981 Rights issue 1B:10 110 1,520,652 16,727,172    837
1982 Bonus issue 1A:5 3,345,434 20,072,606 1,004
1983 Rights issue 1A:5 160 4,014,521 24,087,127 1,204
1984 Split 5:1 96,348,508 120,435,635 1,204
1986 Rights issue 1A:15 90 8,029,042 128,464,677 1,2841)

1989 Bonus issue 9A+1C:10 128,464,677 256,929,354  2,569
1990 Directed issue2) 88.42 6,530,310 263,459,664  2,635
1993 Rights issue 1:1 20 263,459,664 526,919,328 5,269
1994 Conversion 59,001 526,978,329 5,270
1997 Non-cash issue 91.30 61,267,733 588,246,062  5,882
1999 Rights Issue3) 35 116,311,618 704,557,680 7,046
2005 Reduction of 

  the share capital –17,401,049 687,156,631 6,872

1)  The recorded share capital at 31 December, 1986 was still SEK 1,204m, since the 
proceeds from the rights issue were not paid in full until early 1987. 

2)  The issue was directed at the member-banks of Scandinavian Banking Partners. Through splits in 1977 
(2:1) and 1984 (5:1), the nominal value of the shares has been changed from SEK 100 to SEK 10.

3)  According to the instructions of the Financial Supervisory Authority, subscribed shares that have 
been paid will not be registered as share capital in the balance sheet until the rights issue has been 
 registered (which took place in January, 2000).

Distribution of shares by size of holding

Size of holding
No. of 
shares Per cent

No. of 
shareholders

1 – 500 35,954,112 5.2 233,338
501 – 1,000 18,800,773 2.7 25,369
1,001 – 2000 18,404,405 2.7 12,828
2,001 – 5,000 21,203,936 3.1 6,802
5,001 – 10,000 11,720,197 1.7 1,640
10,001 – 20,000 8,456,798 1.2 601
20,001 – 50,000 11,110,797 1.6 359
50,001 – 100,000 11,188,818 1.6 153
100,001 – 550,316,795 80.1 311

687,156,631 100.0 281,401

41,606

Source: VPC / SiS Ägarservice.
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Report of the Directors 

Financial review of the Group

SEB’s underlying performance remained strong throughout 2008, 
with intense customer activities, higher business volumes and 
 increased market shares. Operating income improved by 2 per 
cent and the operating pro� t was the third largest to date. 

SEB’s 2008 result was negatively affected by the extreme dis-
ruption in the global � nancial markets and the sharp deterioration 
of the real economy in the second half of the year. The worsened 
economic conditions in the countries where SEB operates led to 
 increased provisions for credit losses, especially in the Baltic coun-
tries. Net � nancial income decreased due to lower income from 
capital market-related debt instruments, including a loss of SEK 
0.5bn in connection with the bankruptcy of Lehman Holdings, Inc. 
Overall lower activities on the capital markets and falling values on 
equities led to a decrease in net commission income. 

2008 was a year of few organisational changes: 
  In January 2008, the acquisition of the KAM Group (Key Asset 
Management) was � nalised. 

  In the summer of 2008, SEB acquired GMAC Commercial Fi-
nance, the largest independent factoring company in Poland. 
During 2008 SEB’s 24.8 per cent share of NSCD (VPC) and 41.5 
per cent share of PKK (Pankade Kaardikeskus) were divested.

  During the autumn of 2008 SEB initiated an organisational 
change in its German operations. Retail Banking is separated 
from Merchant Banking within the legal entity SEB AG, there-
by creating � exibility and better opportunities for bene� ting 
from the changing German banking market. 

Result and profi tability
SEB’s operating pro� t for 2008 amounted to SEK 12,471m (17,018), a 
decrease of 27 per cent compared with 2007. Net pro� t decreased 
by 26 per cent, to SEK 10,050m (13,642).

Income
Total operating income increased to SEK 41,140m (40,440). A 
weaker Swedish krona affected income positively by SEK 509m. 

Net interest income improved by 17 per cent, to SEK 18,710m 
(15,998). Higher volumes contributed SEK 1,699m, or 60 per cent, 
of the increase; average deposit volumes grew by 9 per cent and 

average lending volumes to the public by 11 per cent compared 
with 2007. The net effect of lending and deposit margins was an 
increase in net interest income by SEK 217m. Falling interest rates 
during the last quarter of the year impacted deposit margins neg-
atively, while lending margins increased. Customer-driven net in-
terest income grew by 13 per cent compared with 2007. The lower 
short-term rates at the end of the year, higher resets of coupons on 
the bond investment portfolio and higher net interest on equity 
contributed positively to net interest income, by SEK 796m.

Net fee and commission income decreased by 11 per cent, to SEK 
15,254m (17,051), mostly due to declining income from advisory 
services and securities transactions both within the retail and in-
stitutional business. Payment-related income increased. Perfor-
mance fees related to the asset management business increased to 
SEK 655m (555).

Net � nancial income decreased to SEK 2,970m (3,239), due to 
lower income from capital market-related debt instruments, 
 including a SEK 540m loss in connection with the bankruptcy of 
Lehman Brothers. Valuation losses on the � xed-income invest-
ment portfolio amounted to SEK 1,069m (1,769). Net � nancial 
 income from SEB’s foreign exchange business grew by 43 per 
cent, to SEK 3,086m, due to high customer activity.

Net life insurance income decreased by 19 per cent, to SEK 
2,375m (2,933). Positive sales growth could not compensate for 
decreased unit-linked values and provision for guarantees for 
Nya Liv. The provision is mainly market value-related and recov-
erable, if future investment returns are adequate to meet guaran-
teed bonus levels over time. A complete description of Life’s 
 operations, including changes in surplus values, is found in 
“ Additional information” on www.sebgroup.com.

Net other income rose to SEK 1,831m (1,219) due to a capital 
gain of SEK 780m from the sale of NSCD (VPC), bringing the total 
‘one off’ capital gain to SEK 839m (110) including the sale of PKK.

Expenses
Total operating expenses amounted to SEK 25,407m (23,194). On a 
comparable basis operating expenses were up by 2 per cent, i.e. 
excluding the net increased effects from redundancy costs , at 
SEK 768m, pension provisions, SEK 374m, investments in One IT 
Roadmap, SEK 318m, and acquisitions, SEK 246m. If also the SEK 
293m negative effect from the weaker Swedish krona is consid-
ered, operating expenses were � at compared with 2007. The cost-
ef� ciency gains during 2008 amounted to SEK 483m, resulting in 
an accumulated gain of SEK 1,029m from the start of the cost-
management programme in 2007. 

Operating profi t – divisional distribution
Per cent1)

Report of the directors

Operating profi t – geographical distribution

 Per cent1)  SEKm

Sweden 65  8,344
Norway 9  1,172
Denmark 4  556
Finland 4  554
Germany 6  754
Estonia 3  309
Latvia 3  391
Lithuania 6  717

Merchant Banking 53  (40)

Retail Banking 27 (35)

Wealth Management 13 (15)

Life 7 (10)

1) Excluding other and eliminations.
1) Excluding other and eliminations.
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Staff costs rose by 9 per cent, to SEK 16,241m (14,921). This was 
mainly due to salary adjustments, an increased number of em-
ployees and higher pension costs arising from falling return on 
plan assets and changed actuarial assumptions regarding longev-
ity. Redundancy costs during the year amounted to SEK 1,050m 
(281), of which SEK 600m for the net reduction of 500 full time 
equivalents (FTE) in 2009. The costs of SEK 71m for the long-term 
incentive programmes in 2007 turned into a gain of SEK 67m for 
2008. Short-term incentive remuneration (including social bene� t 
charges) was reduced by 30 per cent, to SEK 2,235m (3,172). The 
average number of FTE’s increased by 1,785 to 21,291 (19,506), of 
whom more than 1,000 following acquisitions consolidated dur-
ing 2008.

Other expenses increased by 10 per cent, to SEK 7,642m (6,919), 

mostly due to higher IT costs including investments in One IT 
Roadmap and ef� ciency projects as well as costs for premises, 
 following the divestment of SEB’s of� ce premises in the Baltic 
countries at the end of 2007. 

Credit losses
The Group’s net credit losses, including changes in the value of assets 
taken over – in reality to a high degree provisions rather than 
write-offs – amounted to SEK 3,268m (1,016). The credit loss level 
rose to 0.30 per cent (0.11)

Provisions for credit losses in the Baltic countries rose to SEK 
1,775m (354) as SEB continued to increase the collective reserves 
in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. The net credit loss level in the 
Baltic countries was 1.28 per cent (0.43). 

Income statement on quarterly basis – SEB Group 
SEKm 2008:4 2008:3 2008:2 2008:1 2007:4

Net interest income 5,513 4,553 4,421 4,223 4,375
Net fee and commission income 3,790 3,754 3,909 3,801 4,129
Net fi nancial income 1,723 247 1,161 –161 420
Net life insurance income 516 504 642 713 766
Net other income 1,172 163 270 226 345

Total operating income 12,714 9,221 10,403 8,802 10,035

Staff costs –4,597 –3,752 –3,993 –3,899 –3,787
Other expenses –1,968 –1,820 –2,098 –1,756 –1,782
Depreciation of assets –400 –398 –354 –372 –359

Total operating expenses –6,965 –5,970 –6,445 –6,027 –5,928

Gains less losses from tangible and intangible assets 2 1 3 787
Net credit losses incl. changes in value of seized assets  –1,723 –725 –452 –368 –313

Operating profi t 4,028 2,526 3,507 2,410 4,581

Income tax expense –519 –641 –699 –562 –824

Net profi t 3,507 1,886 2,809 1,848 3,757

Attributable to minority interests 1 4 3 1 5
Attributable to equity holders 1) 3,506 1,882 2,806 1,847 3,752

1) Basic earnings per share, SEK 5.12 2.75 4.10 2.70 5.49
     Diluted earnings per share, SEK 5.12 2.74 4.09 2.69 5.48

Key fi gures
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Return on equity, % 13.1 19.3 20.8 15.8 14.7
Return on total assets, % 0.42 0.63 0.64 0.48 0.51
Return on risk-weighted assets, % 1.13 1.68 1.71 1.31 1.32

Basic earnings per share, SEK 14.66 19.97 18.72 12.58 10.83
Diluted earnings per share, SEK 14.65 19.88 18.53 12.47 10.82

Cost/income ratio 0.62 0.57 0.58 0.65 0.65

Credit loss level, % 0.30 0.11 0.08 0.11 0.10
Reserve ratio for impaired loans, % 66.3 76.1 75.1 77.7 72.2
Level of doubtful loans, % 0.35 0.18 0.22 0.22 0.31

Total capital ratio, incl net profi t, % 1) 10.62 11.04 11.47 10.83 10.29
Tier I capital ratio, incl net profi t, % 1) 8.36 8.63 8.19 7.53 7.76
Risk-weighted assets, SEKbn 1) 986 842 741 705 570

Number of full time equivalents, average 21,291 19,506 19,672 18,948 17,772
Number of e-banking customers, thousands 3,190 2,911 2,597 2,299 1,953

Assets under custody, SEKbn 3,891 5,314 5,234 4,194 2,583
Assets under management, SEKbn 1,201 1,370 1,262 1,118 886

1) Basel II (Legal reporting with transitional fl oor).
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Provisions in Merchant Banking were SEK 904m (326), including 
the provision for Lehman Brothers’ bankruptcy � ling of SEK 137m. 
Provisions in the Card business increased to SEK 401m (134). 

Impaired loans increased during the year and amounted to 
SEK 13,911m (8,391), corresponding to a level of impaired loans of 
net 0.35 per cent and gross 0.84 per cent. The total reserve ratio 
was 66 per cent (76). The level of impaired loans in the Baltic coun-
tries was net 1.33 per cent and gross 3.05 per cent.

Tax costs
Total tax amounted to SEK 2,421 (3,376). The relatively low total 
tax rate of 19.4 per cent was due to tax free capital gains and one-
time effects following the reduced Swedish corporate tax rate, to 
26.3 per cent from 28.0 per cent.

Cost-management programme, accumulated SEK 1,029m
2008 vs. 2007, SEKm

Improved C/I ahead of the downturn

KI

KI
0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0

200420042004200420041999 2005 2006 2007 2008

Excluding portfolio losses cost/income ratio would 
have been 0.60 in 2008 (0.55 ).

The cost-efficiency gains during 2008 amount-
ed to SEK 483m. On a comparable basis – i.e. 
excluding the net effects from redundancy costs, 
pension provisions, investment in ”One IT 
Roadmap” and acquisitions – total expenses 
increased by 2 per cent.

The cost-efficiency gain since the 
programme started in 2007 was 1,029m.

Income distribution
SEB Group, SEKm
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Financial structure

The balance sheet totaled SEK 2,511bn (2,344) as per 31 December 
2008. Net of currency effects of SEK 209bn, the balance sheet de-
creased to SEK 2,302bn. Lending to the public increased by 21 per 
cent and deposits from the by public by 12 per cent. 

Assets
The most important asset item on the balance sheet consists of 
loans to the public, which rose to SEK 1,297bn (1,067) during the 
year. Loans to credit institutions increased to SEK 266bn (263).

Total credit exposure, including contingent liabilities and de-
rivatives contracts, was SEK 1,934bn (1,552) (see further pp. 38–43 
in the Risk and Capital Management section and Note 44).

Financial assets within insurance operations are classi� ed as 
� nancial assets at fair value. Investment contracts, where the in-
surance policyholders carry the risk (unit-linked insurance), 
amounted to SEK 114.4bn (135.9). Insurance contracts (traditional 
insurance operations) amounted to SEK 94.8bn (88.0).

Fixed-income securities portfolios
On 31 December 2008, SEB held total net positions in � xed-in-
come securities of SEK 355bn (331) for investment, treasury and 
client trading purposes. Holdings consist mainly of covered bonds, 
bonds issued by � nancial institutions and asset-backed securities.

 The market value of the trading securities of the SEB Group, 
classi� ed as � nancial assets at fair value, was SEK 161.6bn (348.9). 
These portfolios mainly consist of liquid and pledgeable securi-
ties in SEK, EUR, USD and other major currencies. The change 
during 2008 was affected by the reclassi� cation of Held-for-Trad-
ing securities of SEK 15bn and Available- for-Sale securities of 
SEK 92bn to Loans and Receivables.

Deposits from the public
SEKbn

Lending to the public
SEKbn
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Reclassifi cation disclosure, fi xed-income securities 
portfolios
Effective as of 1 July 2008, SEB decided to reclassify fi nancial assets 
in the Held-for-Trading and Available-for-Sale categories as Loans and 
Receivables. Assets held for trading, no longer held for the purpose of 
selling in the near term, were reclassifi ed based on the Group’s view 
that the deterioration of the world’s fi nancial markets during the third 
quarter of 2008 represented the rare circumstance required for such a 
reclassifi cation. The Group had the intention and ability to hold reclassi-
fi ed available for sale assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

The carrying amount of the reclassifi ed assets, excluding accrued 
coupon interest, was SEK 95bn upon reclassifi cation on 1 July and 
SEK 99bn as of 30 September. As of 31 December, the carrying 
amount was SEK 107bn. The changes in carrying amount between 
July and December are mainly due to currency effects.   

The fair value of the reclassifi ed assets, excluding accrued coupon 
interest, was SEK 95bn upon reclassifi cation on 1 July and SEK 100bn 
on 31 December. Reclassifi cation was not permitted during 2007.

The effects of the asset transfers, based on the fair values of the 
reclassifi ed assets as of 1 July, are presented in the table below.

The Group’s estimate of the principal amounts (undiscounted cash 
fl ows) expected to be recovered from the reclassifi ed fi nancial assets 
is presented in the table below. The expected cash fl ows are to a large 
extent foreign currency-denominated, principally in euros (EUR 6bn) 
and US-dollar (USD 3.6bn). In addition to the principal amounts, SEB 
expects all interest payments to be paid in full. Of the SEK 95bn in fi nan-
cial assets reclassifi ed as of July 1, SEK 89bn had fl oating rate and 
SEK 6bn had fi xed rate coupons. The effective interest rate spreads 

for fl oating rate fi nancial assets were between 0.25 and 1.90 per cent 
above interbank offered rates (based on the fair value of the reclassifi ed 
instruments). The effective interest rates on fi xed-coupon reclassifi ed 
fi nancial assets were between 3.0 and 6.0 per cent. 

The table below shows the Group’s recognition of gains, losses, 
 income and expenses in the income statement in respect of the reclas-
sifi ed fi nancial assets. The interest income is gross and excludes port-
folio funding costs. The effect from foreign exchange does not take 
into account the off-setting effect from fi nancing the portfolio.

The accumulated fair value loss that the Group, upon reclassifi cation, 
had recognised in the revaluation reserve in equity on Available-for-
Sale assets amounted to SEK 1,967m. 

If the Group had not reclassifi ed fi nancial assets during the year, fair 
value losses amounting to SEK 1,623m would have been recognised 
in profi t or loss, of which SEK 460m in the third quarter and SEK 1,163m 
in the fourth quarter. SEK 5,252m would have been recognised in the 
revaluation reserve in equity, of which SEK 1,499m in the third quarter 
and SEK 3,753m in the fourth quarter. 

Reclassifi cation values

SEKm
Loans and 

receivables
Available 
for sale

Held for 
trading

Structured credits 49,029 –43,412 –5,617
Financial institutions 40,458 –35,333 –5,125
Covered bonds, other 5,758 –4,087 –1,671

95,245 –82,832 –12,413

Expected cash fl ows
SEKm <1 year 1– 2 years 2–5 years >5 years 

Structured credits 3,628 3,789 12,330 32,027
Financial institutions 4,913 32,331 4,463
Covered bonds, other 40 4,110 1,724

Profi t or loss effect

SEKm
 2008  

After reclassifi cation
 2008  

Before reclassifi cation
2007

Net interest income 1,959 1,811 3,900
Fair value change –800 –1,344
Foreign exchange 13,699 8,176 837
Impairment – – –
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The SEK 133bn investment portfolio of Merchant Banking remained 
negatively affected by the dislocations in the credit markets. The 
valuation losses in 2008 amounted to SEK 3,976m (2,467), of which 
SEK 1,069m (1,769) was taken over income and SEK 2,907m (698) 
was taken over equity. SEK 2,530m (1,682) of the mark-to-market 
loss referred to holdings in asset-backed securities and SEK 1,446m 
(785) to other � nancial instruments, mainly bonds issued by � nan-
cial institutions. See further box on page 25 and the Risk and Cap-
ital Management section on pp 36-51.

Derivatives
At year-end 2008, the notional amount of the Group’s derivatives 
contracts totalled SEK 9,007bn (7,145). The volumes are primarily 
driven by offering clients derivatives products for management 
of their � nancial exposures. The Group manages the resulting 
 positions by entering offsetting contracts in the market place. As a 
consequence, the mix of derivatives as detailed in Note 45 largely 
re� ects the demand of the Group’s customer base. The customer 
and market making transactions form part of the trading book 
and are valued at market on a continuous basis.

The Group also uses derivatives for the purpose of protecting 
the cash-� ows and fair value of its � nancial assets and liabilities 
from interest rate � uctuations. Also these contracts are accounted 
for at market value.

The major portion of the Group’s derivatives engagements is 
related to contracts with short maturity, which are dominated by 
interest- and currency-related forwards. A minor portion consists 
of exchange-traded derivatives contracts, where pro� ts and losses 
are continuously settled on a cash basis.

Positive market values imply a counterparty risk; to re� ect 
also future uncertainty in market conditions, a credit risk equiva-
lent is calculated. Depending upon the type of contract, currency 
and remaining maturity, an add-on to the current market price is 
calculated. The credit risk equivalent values are included in the 
Group’s overall credit exposure.

Close-out netting agreements (giving the ability to offset posi-
tive market values against negative market values) are disregard-
ed in accounting, but form a very important part of the Group’s 
credit risk mitigation strategy. In order to reduce the counterparty 
exposure in event of default, SEB strives to enter into close-out 
netting agreements as well as collateral agreements with all major 
derivatives counterparties. The counterparties are mainly Swed-
ish and international banks of very high quality. On a net basis, 
the total credit risk equivalent at year-end was SEK 130.4bn (74.6). 
Further details on exposures by industry are found in Note 44.

 Intangible fi xed assets, including goodwill
At year-end 2008 intangible assets totalled SEK 19.4bn (16.9), the 
majority consisting of goodwill.

The most important goodwill items were related to the fol-
lowing: The acquisition of the Trygg-Hansa group in 1997 (SEK 
5.7bn), the Group’s investments in banking activities in the Baltic 
countries (SEK 2.3bn), Ukraine (SEK 0.5bn) and Russia (SEK 0.1bn) 
and investments in the credit card business in Norway and Den-
mark, SEK (1.2bn). Goodwill items are not amortised, but are 
 subject to a yearly impairment test. 

Deferred acquisition costs in insurance operations amounted 
to SEK 3.4bn (3.0).

Further information is found in Note 27.

Deposits and borrowing
The � nancing of the Group consists of deposits from the public 
(households, companies etc.), loans from Swedish, German and 
other � nancial institutions and issues of money market instru-
ments, covered bonds, other types of bonds and subordinated 
debt.

Deposits and borrowing from the public increased by SEK 91bn, 
to SEK 841bn (750). Deposits by credit institutions increased by 
SEK 8bn, to SEK429bn (421).

Liabilities in insurance operations
At year end, liabilities in insurance operations amounted to 
SEK 211.1bn (225.9). Out of this, SEK 115,1bn (135.9) was related 
to investment contracts (unit-linked insurance) and SEK 96.0bn 
(90.0bn) to insurance contracts (traditional insurance).

Total equity
Total equity at the opening of 2008 amounted to SEK 76.7bn. In 
accordance with a resolution of the Annual General Meeting in 
April 2008, SEK 4,451m (4,079) of this was used for dividend 
 purposes including dividend on repurchased shares. At year-end 
2008, total equity amounted to SEK 83.7bn.

Capital adequacy 
The SEB Group is a � nancial group that comprises banking, � nance, 
securities and insurance companies. The capital adequacy rules 
apply to each individual Group company that has a licence to car-
ry on banking, � nance or securities operations as well as to the 
consolidated � nancial group of undertakings. Similarly, Group 
companies that carry on insurance operations have to comply 
with capital solvency requirements.

The consolidated SEB Group should also comply with capital 
requirements concerning combined banking and insurance groups 
(“� nancial conglomerates”).

Total
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Capital adequacy
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Composition of capital base
The capital base of the � nancial group of undertakings was 
SEK 104.7bn (93.0) at year-end 2008. Tier I capital amounted to 
SEK 82.5bn (72.7).

Tier I capital consists of total equity plus minority interests, 
after deduction for intangible assets (mainly acquisition good-
will), deferred tax claims and the dividend proposed by the Board. 
Adjustments should be made where capital adequacy regulation 
differs from how the balance sheet is prepared, speci� cally as 
concerns hedge accounting and surplus values in Available-for-
Sale portfolios. Certain subordinated debt issues can be included 
as core capital contribution, within regulatory-de� ned limits. SEB 
could include SEK 12.4bn (10.9) of such debt in the Tier I capital.

In addition to Tier I capital, the capital base may include sub-
ordinated debt up to maximum 100 per cent of Tier I capital. 

Investments in insurance companies made before 20 July 2006 
(such as the acquisition of the Trygg-Hansa group in 1997 and the 
acquisition of Codan Pension in 2004, totalling SEK 10.6bn) are de-
ducted from the capital base. A further deduction of SEK 0.2bn for 
investments in other companies outside the � nancial group of un-
dertakings was made in equal parts from Tier I and Tier II capital. 

Provisions and value adjustments for credit exposures reported 
by SEB according to the Basel II Internal Rating Based approach 
fall short of expected losses on these exposures, and the difference 
of SEK 2.3bn is deducted in equal parts from Tier I and Tier II cap-
ital. A corresponding excess would, up to a certain limit, be added 
to the Tier II capital.

A deduction from the capital base of SEK 0.9bn (0.8) is also 
made for pension surplus values, except for such indemni� cation 
as prescribed in the Swedish Act on safeguarding of pension under-
takings.

Capital position
As per 31 December 2008, Basel II risk-weighted assets (RWA) 
amounted to SEK 818bn, which would represent a Tier I capital 
ratio of 10.1 per cent and a total capital ratio of 12.8 per cent. 

Adjusted for the supervisory transitional rules during the � rst 
Basel II years, SEB reported RWA of SEK 986bn (842), a Tier I capi-
tal ratio of 8.4 per cent (8.6) and a total capital ratio of 10.6 per cent 
(11.0). The lowering in 2008 of Basel II implementation � oors (from 
95 to 90 per cent of previous requirements) is re� ected in these 
 ratios.

RWA calculated according to the previous (Basel I) regulation 
would give capital ratios of 7.3 and 9.3 per cent, respectively. Risk-
weighted assets (Basel I) have grown by 26 per cent, or SEK 235bn. 
Currency effects contributed SEK 80bn. 

The combined capital requirements for the SEB � nancial con-
glomerate were SEK 88,3bn (75.9), while the capital resources 
amounted to SEK 117.3bn (104.4).

Further information about capital adequacy and capital base 
is found in the Risk and Capital Management section on pages 
36–51 and in Note 49.

New capital target
The Board has decided on a new Tier I capital ratio target of 10 per 
cent for SEB, when the Basel II framework is fully implemented 
without transitional � oors. 

Rating
In December 2008, Moody’s changed its outlook from stable to 
negative, but reaf� rmed SEB’s long-term Aa2 rating in February. 
In February 2009, Fitch Ratings af� rmed its A+ rating for SEB, 
with maintained stable outlook. Standard & Poor’s lowered its 
long-term rating for SEB to A, but with a stable outlook. DBRS 
rates SEB’s long-term rating at AA (low) with a stable outlook.

The table shows the current ratings of SEB (February 2009).

Dividend
The size of SEB’s dividend is determined by the economic environ-
ment as well as the � nancial position and growth possibilities of 
the Group. SEB strives to achieve long-term growth based on a 
capital base for the � nancial group of undertakings supporting a 
core capital ratio of minimum 10 per cent, without transition 
rules. Over a business cycle, the dividend per share shall corre-
spond to around 40 per cent of earnings per share. 

In order to further improve SEB’s capital position the Board 
proposes that no dividend shall be paid for 2008. The proposal 
should be seen together with the proposed capital measures as 
announced on 5 February, 2009. For 2007 the total dividend 
amounted to SEK 4,451m or 33 per cent of earnings per share.

Rating

Moody’s
Outlook Negative

(Feb. 2009)

Standard &
Poor’s

Outlook Stable
(Feb. 2009)

Fitch
Outlook Stable

(Feb. 2009)

DBRS
Outlook Stable

(Feb. 2009)
Short Long Short Long Short Long Short Long

P–1 Aaa A–1+ AAA F1+ AAA R–1 
(high) AAA

P–2 Aa1 A–1 AA+ F1 AA+ R–1
(middle) 

AA
(high)

P–3 Aa2 A–2 AA F2 AA R–1 
(low) AA

Aa3 A–3 AA– F3 AA– R–2 
(high)

AA
(low)

A1 A+ A+ R–2 
(middle) A

A2 A A R–2 
(low) BBB 

A3 A– A– R–3 BB

Baa1 BBB+ BBB+ R–4 B

Baa2 BBB BBB R–5 CCC
CC C

Baa3 BBB– BBB– D D
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Income and operating profi t the highest to date 
Merchant Banking recorded its highest to date operating pro� t and 
highest ever income during 2008. Despite tumultuous � nancial 
markets and challenging economic conditions, clients remained 
active. Together with market share gains and weakened competi-
tors, this supported strong income generation, increasing 12 per 
cent from 2007, to SEK 16.8bn. 

Revenues were particularly strong in the second half of the year, 
driven by � nancing activities, high FX revenues and improved 
� xed income performance. Lower investment banking activity 
 reduced income at Nordic sites, where Merchant Banking’s fran-
chise is more focused on these activities; nevertheless, double 
digit growth in corporate banking activities was recorded in each 
of these markets. 

Costs were 3 per cent lower than 2007 and declined consider-
ably in the second half. 

Credit loss provisions rose, albeit from a very low level. Aver-
age risk classes in the credit portfolios improved during the year 
and asset quality remained good. This re� ects increased � nancing 
in support of strong counterparts. However, the weaker economic 
outlook justi� es a continued conservative approach to loss provi-
sioning. 

 Operating pro� t increased by 22 per cent, to SEK 8,350m. 

Reclassifi cation of the investment portfolio
In line with revised accounting guidelines, the division re-classi-
� ed a number of holdings in the � xed income investment portfo-
lio. As a result,valuation losses were lower in the latter half of the 
year amounting to SEK –131m, compared to SEK –938m during 
the � rst six months (see further page 25).

Strong business volumes and customer demand
Trading and Capital Markets
Within Trading and Capital Markets, all major business units per-
formed well. Volumes within equities and commissions were 
down, although declines were less than for the market as a whole 
as SEB Enskilda increased its Nordic market share to 9.2 per cent 
(7.5). FX units performed particularly well, with highly active 
customers and favourable conditions for market making. 

Corporate Banking
Corporate banking pro� ts decreased, as the volume and revenue 
growth in lending not fully offset lower advisory and acquisition 
� nance income. Growth in interest income in this area primarily 
re� ects increased bilateral � nancing of core blue chip corporate 
clients. This shift from capital markets � nancing to bank � nanc-
ing for many highly rated large corporates was also re� ected in 
the development of the average counterparty rating, which im-
proved during 2008 despite the challenging market environment. 
Reduced activities of international banks within SEB’s main mar-
kets ensured strong demand and more appropriate pricing of 
credit as well as a normalisation of the risk-reward relationship 
for credits. 

Global Transaction Services
Pro� ts were stable within Global Transaction Services. Further 
 in� ow of new customers, particularly subsidiaries of existing 
cash management clients offset negative effects from lower asset 
valuations. At year-end, assets under custody were SEK 3,891bn 
(5,314). 
 

The Merchant Banking division has overall responsibility for servicing 
large and medium-sized companies, fi nancial institutions, banks, and 
commercial real estate clients. It operates in 17 countries. 

Merchant Banking offers its clients integrated investment and cor-
porate banking solutions, including the investment banking activities 
under the brand name SEB Enskilda. Merchant Banking’s main areas 
of activity include:

  Lending and debt capital markets
  Trading in equities, currencies, fi xed income, derivatives and 
 futures

  Advisory services, brokerage, research and trading strategies 
within equity, fi xed income and foreign exchange markets 

  Prime brokerage and securities related fi nancing solutions
  Export, project and trade fi nance 
  Corporate fi nance
  Acquisition fi nance
  Venture capital
  Cash management, liquidity management and payment services.
  Custody and fund services
  Leasing and factoring products
  Management of the SEB Group’s liquidity portfolio.

Merchant Banking is continuously strengthening its presence and wid-
ening its range of products in SEB’s markets outside Sweden, primarily 
Norway, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Poland and the Baltic countries.

Merchant Banking
2008 2007

Percentage of SEB’s total income 41 37
Percentage of SEB’s operating profi t 67 40
Percentage of SEB’s staff 13 13

Profi t and loss account

SEKm 2008 2007
Change 
per cent

Net interest income 7,414 5,610 32
Net fee and commission income 5,248 5,945 –12
Net fi nancial income 3,625 2,613 39
Net other income 541 839 –36

Total operating income 16,828 15,007 12
Staff costs –3,890 –4,246 –8
Other expenses –3,594 –3,489 3
Depreciation of assets –95 –85 12

Total operating expenses –7,579 –7,820 –3
Profi t before credit losses etc 9,249 7,187 29
Gains less losses on assets 5 2 150
Net credit losses 1) –904 –326 177

Operating profi t 8,350 6,863 22

Cost/Income ratio 0.45 0.52
Business equity, SEKbn 27.0 26.4
Return on equity, % 22.3 18.7
Number of full time equivalents, average 2,721 2,566

1) Including change in value of seized assets
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Opportunities to strengthen core franchise
The 2008 � nancial crisis has altered the complexion of the com-
petitive landscape in Merchant Banking’s core markets, at least 
for the medium term. A number of competitors have disappeared 
and others have reduced activities in the region. With cutting 
edge products and proven commitment to serving customers, 
even in the most challenging of markets, the division is well 
placed to increase its activities with the region’s leading compa-
nies and � nancial institutions as a stable and credible partner. 

Merchant Banking’s operating profi t 
per business area
Per cent

Operating income
Geographical distribution 2008, per cent

Trading and Capital Markets 51  (33)

Corporate Banking 32  (46)

Global Transaction Services 17  (21)

Sweden 65  (49)

Germany 17   (15)

Norway 11  (14)

Denmark  2  (6)

Finland 5  (5)

Rest of the world 0   (11)
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Profi t before losses in line with 2007
 Net interest income developed strongly and increased gradually 
quarter by quarter. Deposit and lending volumes increased 
throughout the year, to some extent as a result of exchange rate 
changes. Net fee and commission income recovered slightly in 
the fourth quarter, but decreased by 9 per cent on a twelve months 
basis. Full year result before losses was in line with 2007. 

Deteriorated economic conditions resulted in increased pro-
visioning for credit losses, particularly in the Baltic countries. The 
development accelerated as the economic slowdown sharpened 
during the fourth quarter.

Higher volumes and 10,000 new SME customers in Sweden
In Sweden, net interest income grew by 15 per cent. This develop-
ment was supported both by higher deposits and by higher lend-
ing volumes. Mortgage loans to Swedish households, which ac-
count for approximately 40 per cent of the division’s total lending 
volume, increased by 8 per cent during the year. Unlike other 
lending, where growth slowed during the year, growth in mort-
gage loans corresponds well to that in previous years. Following 
a gradual decline in recent years, margins on Swedish mortgage 
loans stabilised in 2008. 

The position within Swedish households total savings (exclud-
ing directly owned shares) was strengthened further. According 
to SEB’s Savings Barometer SEB is now the largest player 
amongst Swedish banks. 

The improved offer to small and medium-sized companies, 
exempli� ed by concepts such as Enkla Firman, continued to gen-
erate growth. During 2008 SEB attracted more than 10,000 new 
corporate cash management clients. 

Costs increased by 5 per cent during 2008, affected by higher 
 pension costs.

Worsened conditions in the Baltic countries
For Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania the global economic slowdown 
combined with local imbalances led to increasingly challenging 
market conditions. As seen also in most other markets, this devel-
opment gained momentum in the fourth quarter, resulting in sig-
ni� cantly increased provisions for credit losses. As a consequence 
of its more conservative lending, SEB’s market share has de-
creased consistently since 2005, particularly within corporate 
lending. Annual credit growth, measured in local currencies, was 
–2, +5 and +8 per cent in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, respective-
ly. These growth rates decreased during the year, especially in 
Lithuania. Deposit volumes remained stable in Estonia and Latvia 
during the fourth quarter, while deposits decreased slightly in 
Lithuania. Within the area of long-term savings SEB has strong 
 local positions and although the share of lending has decreased, 
market shares in life insurance and investment funds remain very 
strong. 

Costs increased during the year as a result of currency effects, 
rental cost increases following the divestment of real estate and 
cost in� ation. In relation to the full year, the rate of cost increase 
was signi� cantly lower in the last quarter. The number of full 
time equivalents was reduced by more than 100 during the fourth 
quarter.

Low profi tability in Germany
In Germany, securities-related income continued to be affected by 
lower market activity. Despite increased sales of consumer lending, 

The Retail Banking division serves fi ve million private customers and 
400,000 small and medium-sized corporate customers in Sweden, 
Germany and the Baltic countries. Customers have access to SEB’s 
complete range of fi nancial services through close to 550 branch 
 offi ces, telephone and e-banking services.

The business areas are
  Sweden with a network of 172 branch offi ces servicing 1.7 million 
customers, of whom 1 million use internet services and 143,000 
are small and medium-sized companies.

  Estonia with a network of 61 branch offi ces servicing 800,000 
customers, of whom 540,000 use internet services and 71,000 
are small and medium-sized companies.

  Latvia with a network of 63 branch offi ces servicing 900,000 cus-
tomers, of whom 480,000 use internet services and 66,000 are 
small and medium-sized companies.

  Lithuania with a network of 77 branch offi ces servicing 1 million 
customers, of whom 800,000 use internet services and 63,000 
are small and medium-sized companies.

  Germany with a network of 174 branch offi ces servicing 1 million 
customers, of whom 360,000 use internet services and 23,000 
are small and medium-sized companies.

  Card with 3,3 million charge, credit, debit and co-branded cards. The 
business area operates in Sweden, Denmark, Norway and Finland 
and includes trade marks like Eurocard and Diners Club. Card also 
has acquiring agreements with more than 200,000 retailers.

Retail Banking
2008 2007

Percentage of SEB’s total income 41 41
Percentage of SEB’s operating profi t 34 35
Percentage of SEB’s staff 43 45

Profi t and loss account

SEKm 2008 2007
Change 
per cent

Net interest income 10,750 9,698 11
Net fee and commission income 5,641 6,219 –9
Net fi nancial income 397 482 –18
Net other income 244 159 53

Total operating income 17,032 16,558 3
Staff costs –4,632 –4,235 9
Other expenses –5,449 –5,286 3
Depreciation of assets –311 –318 –2

Total operating expenses –10,392 –9,839 6
Profi t before credit losses etc 6,640 6,719 –1
Gains less losses on assets 2 4 –50
Net credit losses1) –2,380 –715

Operating profi t 4,262 6,008 –29

Cost/Income ratio 0.61 0.59
Business equity, SEKbn 25.3 24.8
Return on equity, % 12.7 18.8
Number of full time equivalents, average 9,084 8,802

1) Including change in value of seized assets
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Operating profi t by business area
2008, per cent of total

Lending volume by business area
2008, mortgages and other lending, per cent of total   

Sweden 56 (40)

Cards 17 (14)

Lithuania 13 (21)

Estonia 7 (11)

Latvia 4 (14) 

Germany 3 (4)

Sweden 53

Germany 16

Lithuania 13

Estonia 8

Latvia 7 

Cards 3
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mortgages and insurance as well as growing net interest income 
pro� tability deteriorated further. Credit losses in 2008 were lower 
than in 2007.

Card’s profi t affected by increased credit losses
The Card business area reported a continued income growth of 
8 per cent compared with 2007. Pro� t was affected by increased 
credit losses, including frauds, and decreased by 15 per cent. The 
cost/income ratio improved during the year. 

Growth in credit exposure in the Baltic countries
Local currency, per cent
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Operating profi t negatively affected by lower asset values 
The division’s operating income dropped by 8 per cent compared 
with last year, re� ecting the sharp fall of global stock markets by 
some 40 per cent. High net sales, increased net interest income 
and performance fees balanced lower net fee and commission in-
come due to falling asset values and lower brokerage fees. Perfor-
mance and transaction fees for 2008 amounted to SEK 655m (555). 

Operating expenses during the year increased by 9 per cent, 
of which 6 per cent was related to the acquisition of Key Asset 
Management. Excluding this acquisition, costs increased by 3 per 
cent due to the expansion of Private Banking and Institutional 
Sales as well as alternative investment product development. 
 Operating pro� t decreased by 24 per cent, to SEK 2,011m.

Increased market share of the Swedish mutual fund market
Net sales were substantial considering the market turbulence, 
and amounted to SEK 33bn (55). This partly offset the impact of 
declining equity markets on assets under management, which 
 decreased by 11 per cent, to SEK 1,142bn, from year-end 2007.

SEB continued to capture volumes on the Swedish mutual 
fund market. Total net sales amounted to SEK 6.5bn (14) for the 
year on a market experiencing total net out� ows of SEK –17.5bn 
(+19). Alternative investments alone attracted net sales totaling 
SEK 8.6bn (6.7). During the year investment appetite shifted from 
equities to alternative investments and � xed income. SEB record-
ed the largest net sales of all players in the Swedish mutual fund 
market during 2008 and kept its No. 1 position and increased its 
market share further.

Strong net sales within both Private Banking and Institutional 
Clients
Private Banking generated net sales of SEK 19bn (13) despite the 
adverse market conditions. This was a result of high sales activity 
and close co-operation with the Retail Banking division, thereby 
gaining market share.

Institutional Clients generated net sales of SEK 17bn (46) and 
showed strong positive sales in Sweden, and out� ows in some 
other markets due to clients shifting their investment strategy. 
The business area has gained market shares in its core markets, 
such as the Swedish mutual fund market and institutional clients.

Investment performance deteriorated in 2008 due to the severe 
market turmoil and was unsatisfactory, with 34 per cent (49) of 
the portfolios and 33 per cent (54) of assets under management 
ahead of their respective benchmarks.

Wealth Management continued to implement SEB Way 
throughout the division and intensi� ed the programme during 
the year, focusing on improved sales e.g. within Private Banking.

Opportunities to further strengthen market position 
The strengthened market position from the previous year within 
both Private Banking and Institutional Clients will provide a solid 
base. The division plans to further improve its product range in-
cluding absolute return products, launch a new holistic customer 
offering in Private Banking, strengthen its sales efforts towards 
large institutions and develop customer solutions together with 
its clients. 

The Wealth Management division has two business areas:
  Institutional Clients – which provides asset management services 
to institutions, foundations and life insurance companies and is 
 responsible for the investment management, marketing and sales 
of SEB’s mutual funds.

  Private Banking – which serves the higher end of the private 
 individual segment with wealth management services and advisory 
services. 

The division offers a full spectrum of asset management and advisory 
services and its product range includes equity and fi xed income, pri-
vate equity, real estate and hedge fund management. Wealth Manage-
ment has around 1,100 employees and manages approximately 
SEK 1,150bn of assets. Wealth Management has offi ces in the Nordic 
and Baltic countries, Luxembourg, Germany, the United Kingdom, 
 Singapore, Switzerland, Poland, France and Spain. The division distrib-
utes its services mainly through its institutional client sales force, 
SEB’s retail network, its own private banking units and through third 
party distributors. 

Wealth Management
2008 2007

Percentage of SEB’s total income 11 13
Percentage of SEB’s operating profi t 16 15
Percentage of SEB’s staff 5 6

Profi t and loss account

SEKm 2008 2007
Change 
per cent

Net interest income 891 843 6
Net fee and commission income 3,681 4,077 –10
Net fi nancial income 67 79 –15
Net other income 48 86 –44

Total operating income 4,687 5,085 –8
Staff costs –1,427 –1,340 6
Other expenses –1 132 –1 040 9
Depreciation of assets –100 –60 67

Total operating expenses –2,659 –2,440 9
Profi t before credit losses etc 2,028 2,645 –23
Gains less losses on assets –1 –100
Net credit losses 1) –17 –7 143

Operating profi t 2,011 2,637 –24

Cost/Income ratio 0.57 0.48
Business equity, SEKbn 6.6 5.5
Return on equity, % 21.9 34.5
Number of full time equivalents, average 1,133 1,074

1) Including change in value of seized assets
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Total net sales per year and country 
Total amount SEK 33bn in 2008

SEB share of net sales on Swedish mutual fund market
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1) N/a. SEB’s net sales increased while market net sales decreased
Source: Svensk Fondstatistik.

Sweden Finland Denmark Germany

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 20081) 

Baltic
countries

Other1)

Institutional Clients 79 (76)

Private Banking 21 (24)

Equity funds 27 (43)

Fixed income funds 28 (24)

Balanced funds 14 (12)

Alternative funds 31 (21)

Mutual funds per product type  
Per cent of total (SEK 444m)

Operating result per business area
Per cent of total

Assets under management
Per country – the Wealth Management division
Per cent of total (SEK 1,142bn)

Sweden 58 (63)

Denmark 14 (13)

Germany 14 (11)

Finland 8 (9)

Other 1) 6 (4)

1) Norway, Luxembourg, the Baltic countries and other 
smaller markets.
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Lower operating profit mainly due to falling asset values
The Life division’s operating profit for 2008 decreased by 41 per 
cent compared with last year. Unit-linked income dropped, main-
ly as a result of falling equity values and customers’ increased 
risk awareness. Customers increasingly reallocated from equity 
exposures to fixed income alternatives. The traditional insurance 
portfolios in Denmark and Sweden have also been negatively 
 affected by the deteriorating value of equities and fixed income 
investments. Falling long-term interest rates during the second 
half of the year affected the insurance liabilities negatively. The 
market value-related effects mainly represented unrealised loss-
es, recoverable in a more normal market or, in the case of bonds,  
if held to maturity. The result for risk products, such as sickness 
insurance and care products, were higher than last year. 

Operating expenses increased due to higher sales and invest-
ments in new markets. The number of staff remained stable during 
the past year, except for additions in the Baltic countries and 
Ukraine. A reduction of staff was made during the fourth quarter.

Guarantee provision in the Nya Liv portfolio
A provision of SEK 353m has been made to cover potential future 
guarantees related to the traditional life portfolio transferred from 
Nya Liv in 2007. The provision is mainly market value-related 
and recoverable if future investment returns are adequate to meet 
guaranteed bonus levels over time. 

Increased sales 
Unit-linked insurance remains the major product group, represent-
ing 75 per cent (80) of total sales. The share of sales of corporate 
pension decreased to 69 per cent (72) as a result of strong growth 
in the demand for Portfolio Bond and endowment policies in 
Sweden. 

Total sales, weighted volume, rose by 10 per cent compared 

The Life division is responsible for all of seb’s life insurance operations 
and is one of the leading Nordic life insurance groups. It consists of 
the business areas:

  seb Trygg Liv (sweden). 
  seb Pension (Denmark). 
  seb Life & Pension International. 

The operations comprise insurance products within the area of invest
ments and social security for private individuals and companies. The 
division has 1.8 million customers and is active in sweden, Denmark, 
Finland, Ireland, Luxembourg, estonia, Latvia, Lithuania and Ukraine.

The main part of the traditional life insurance operations in sweden 
is conducted through the mutually operated insurance company Gamla 
Livförsäkringsaktiebolaget seb Trygg Liv and therefore not consolidat
ed with seb Trygg Liv’s result. Gamla Liv is closed for new business. 
The traditional insurance business conducted in Nya Livförsäkrings
aktiebolaget seb Trygg Liv (Nya Liv) was merged with the unitlinked 
company Fondförsäkringsaktiebolaget seb Trygg Liv in 2007. After 
the merger, the result of this business – with respect to investment 
 income and insurance risk – is still allocated to the policyholders. 
 However, seb Trygg Liv guarantees the contractual benefits to the 
 policyholders in this business.

Life

Sales volume
seKbn

Operating profit
seKm

2008 2007

Percentage of seb’s total income 8 10
Percentage of seb’s operating profit 9 11
Percentage of seb’s staff 6 6

Profit and loss account

seKm 2008 2007
Change  
per cent

Net interest income –36 –28 29
Net life insurance income 3,296 3,958 –17

Total operating income 3,260 3,930 –17
staff costs –1 105 –1 050 5
Other expenses –523 –530 –1
Depreciation of assets –569 –548 4

Total operating expenses –2,197 –2,128 3
Operating profit 1,063 1,802 –41
Change in surplus values, net 989 1,273 –22

Business result 2,052 3,075 –33
Change in assumptions –139 53
Financial effects of shortterm  
   market fluctuations –3 826 –62

Total result –1,913 3,066 –162

Cost/Income ratio 0.67 0.54
business equity, seKbn 7.5 7.5
Return on equity, %
   based on operating profit 12.5 21.1
   based on business result 24.1 36.1
Number of full time equivalents, average 1,233 1,201
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with last year. The share of regular premium contracts remained 
stable around 80 per cent. Price pressure continues to be an issue 
in the corporate markets in Sweden and Denmark, which com-
bined with a higher volume of investment related products had a 
negative effect on margins. The sales margin dropped to 18.6 per 
cent compared with 23.7 per cent in 2007. 

In Sweden, sales increased by 8 per cent. In Denmark, sales 
rose by 10 per cent while premium income increased by 9 per 
cent. Sales in the Baltic countries were 20 per cent lower than last 
year, while sales of the Portfolio Bond product in Sweden through 
SEB Life & Pension International increased by 68 per cent. 

Total premium income increased by 10 per cent, to SEK 28.9bn 
compared with SEK 26.4bn in 2007. The total value of unit-linked 
funds decreased by 15 per cent, to SEK 115bn compared with  
SEK 136bn at year-end 2007. Total assets under management (net 
assets) decreased by 13 per cent, to SEK 354bn. 

SEB Trygg Liv, Sweden
The operating profit of SEB Trygg Liv, including central functions, 
declined by SEK 604m, to SEK 510m. The main reasons were the 
decline in unit-linked income and the provisions related to Nya 
Liv. The expenses were virtually unchanged.

SEB Pension, Denmark 
Operating profit of SEB Pension increased by SEK 12m, to  
SEK 484m. The improvement was mainly due to a strong return 
in the investment portfolio for own account. The expenses were 
positively affected by some one-off items during the fourth 
 quarter.

SEB Life & Pension International
Operating profit of International declined by SEK 147m to SEK 69m. 
The decrease was mainly income-related with negative valuation 
effects in investment assets of some SEK 90m in the Baltic insur-
ance companies. Operating expenses increased by 21 per cent.

Traditional insurance in Sweden 
Traditional insurance business is run by Gamla Livförsäkrings-
aktiebolaget SEB Trygg Liv (”Gamla Liv”). The entity is operated 
according to mutual principles and is not consolidated in SEB 
Trygg Liv’s result. Gamla Liv is closed for new business. 

Unit-linked insurance in Sweden, new business
Per cent

seb Trygg Liv 24.4 (22.5) 

skandia 14.1 (14.4)

Länsförsäkringar 10.8 (11.0)

swedbank 9.8 (10.4)

Moderna 9.2 (13.7)

Nordea 8.6 (4.1)

Folksam 8.0 (7.9) 

sHb 4.3 (4.5)

Other 10.8 (11.5)

source: The swedish Insurance Federation statistics.

Volumes
2008 2007

Sales volume (weighted), SEKm
Traditional life and sickness/health insurance 12,185 8,923
Unitlinked insurance 36,638 35,416

Total 48,823 44,339

Premium income, SEKm
Traditional life and sickness/health insurance 8,789 8,129
Unitlinked insurance 20,139 18,241

Total 28,928 26,370

Assets under management  
(net assets), SEKbn
Traditional life and sickness/health insurance 239.3 272.2
Unitlinked insurance 115.1 136.2

Total 354.4 408.4

Sales margin
seKm 2008 2007

sales volume weighted  
   (regular + single/10) 3,858 3,689
Present value of new sales  
   (7.5 % discount rate 2008, 8.0 % 2007) 1,598 1,775
sales expenses –879 –901

Profit from new business 719 874

Sales margin 18.6% 23.7%

Gamla Livförsäkringsaktiebolaget SEB Trygg Liv
Traditional life insurance in sweden

2008 2007

Assets under management, net assets, seKm 141,512 181,183
Result for the period, seKm –53,344 8,356
Premium income, seKm 1,884 2,121
Collective consolidation ratio 1)  
   retrospective reserve, % 89 114
bonus rate, average,% 5.1 10.9
solvency ratio 2) , % 148 230
Capital base, seKm 45,556 95,044
Required solvency margin, seKm 3,987 3,573
solvency quota 3 11.4 26.6
Total return, % –15.8 2.7
share of equities/equity exposure, % 31 43
share of fixed income, % 48 42
share of hedgefunds, % 7 3
share of real estate, % 14 12

1)  The collective consolidation ratio shows the company’s assets in relation to its commitments  
to policyholders. The commitments include both guaranteed and nonguaranteed values.  

2)  The company’s net assets (including equity and subordinated debts) in relation to the  
guaranteed commitments in the form of technical provisions.  

3) Quota capital base / required solvency margin.  



36  SEB ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Report of the Directors 

Risk management objectives 
Managing risk is a core activity in a bank. In providing its custom-
ers with � nancial solutions and products SEB assumes various 
risks, mainly credit risk. Risk is closely related to business activi-
ties and business development and, therefore, to customer needs. 

SEB’s pro� tability is directly dependent upon its ability to eval-
uate, manage and price the risks encountered, while maintaining 
an adequate capitalization to meet unforeseen events. To secure the 
Group’s � nancial stability, risk and capital-related issues are identi-
� ed, monitored and managed at an early stage. They also form an 
integral part of the long-term strategic planning and operational 
business planning processes performed throughout the Group.

The Group applies a modern framework for its risk manage-
ment, having long since established independent risk control, 
credit analysis and credit approval functions. Board supervision, 
an explicit decision-making structure, a high level of risk aware-

ness among staff, common de� nitions and principles, controlled 
risk-taking within established limits and a high degree of trans-
parency in external disclosures are the cornerstones of SEB’s risk 
and capital management. 

Risk 
management

Risk oversight 
and control

Internal 
Audit

Risk and Capital Management
Comprehensive risk management is fundamental to the long-term profi tability 
and  stability of the SEB Group. Properly executed, it reduces earnings  volatility 
and creates a solid platform for development of shareholder value.

Risk defi nitions

  Risk – The possibility of a negative deviation from an expected 
fi nancial outcome.

  Risk management – All activities related to risk-taking, risk 
 mitigation, risk analysis, risk control and follow-up.

  Risk controI – Identifi cation, measurement, monitoring, stress 
testing, analysis, reporting and follow-up.

SEB Risk Management and Control

Board of Directors

Risk & Capital Committee Audit & Compliance Committee        

Divisions and support functions

Merchant Banking Retail Banking Wealth Mgmt Life

Group Treasury Group Operations Group IT

Divisional risk organisations

Divisions and support functions

Risk/credit organisation and control functions

Group Risk Control Group Credits Group Compliance

Internal Audit is directly subordinated 
to the Board. The main responsibility is 
to evaluate risk management, control 
and governance processes. 

The President & CEO is responsible 
for managing the risks of the Bank in 
accordance with the policies and 
intentions of the Board. 

The primary responsibility for the 
practical application of the Board’s intent 
regarding risk management and risk 
control lies with the Group Asset & 
Liability Committee and the Group 
Credit Committee, both chaired by 
the President & CEO.

The Board of Directors has the ultimate 
responsibility for risk organisation and 
internal control.

Divisions and support functions are 
responsible for day-to-day risk manage-
ment. Divisional risk organisations 
support business areas and business 
units in their risk management.  

Independent risk and credit 
organisation and control functions 
advise divisions and perform control. 

Internal Audit    

Group Internal Audit

Divisions and support functionsPresident & CEO
Group Asset & Liability Committee Group Credit Committee
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Risk policy and mandate
The Board of Directors has the ultimate responsibility for the risk 
organisation and for the maintenance of satisfactory internal con-
trol. The Board establishes the overall risk and capital policies and 
monitors the development of risk exposure. The Board’s Risk and 
Capital Committee works to ensure that all risks inherent in the 
Group’s activities are identi� ed, de� ned, measured, monitored 
and controlled in accordance with external and internal rules. The 
Board’s risk policies are supplemented by instructions issued by 
the Group Risk Control function. Speci� c risk mandates are estab-
lished by the Board and further allocated by board committees 
and executive management committees.

The President and CEO has the overall responsibility for man-
aging SEB’s risks, in accordance with the policies and intentions 
of the Board. The President and CEO shall ensure that the organi-
sation and administration of SEB are appropriate and that activi-
ties undertaken are in compliance with law. In particular, the 
President and CEO shall present any essential risk information 
regarding SEB to the Board, including the utilisation of limits.

The primary responsibility for ensuring that the Board’s intent 
regarding risk management and risk control is practically applied 
in SEB lies with the Group Asset and Liability Committee and the 
Group Credit Committee. Both committees are chaired by the 
President and CEO. These committees shall adopt risk policies 
which in further detail describe how such implementation is to be 
carried out, as well as management, control and follow-up. The 
Group Credit Committee is the highest credit-granting body 
within SEB. However, certain matters are reserved for the Risk 
and Capital Committee of the Board of Directors. The Group 
 Asset and Liability Committee deals with issues related to the 
overall risk level of the Group and its various divisions, and decides 
on risk limits and risk-measuring methods and capital manage-
ment, among other matters.

Group Risk Control is the unit responsible for monitoring the 
Group’s risks, primarily credit risk, market risk, operational risk 
and liquidity risk. It is a function that is deeply embedded in, yet 
independent from, business operations at the divisional level.

Responsibility for day-to-day risk management within the 

Group rests with the divisions, Group Treasury and support func-
tions, as outlined in the relevant policies and instructions, includ-
ing the responsibility to take necessary actions to address risk 
problems. Each of these have dedicated risk organisations or, in 
the case of certain support functions, a dedicated risk manager.

Group Treasury is responsible for analysis and management 
of SEB’s balance sheet, including the management of structural 
market risk and liquidity risk as well as the funding of balance 
sheet assets. For further information about the Group’s risk or-
ganisation and its responsibilities, see the Corporate Governance 
section on pp 52–59.

Risk management 2008
2008 was a year of continued exceptional turbulence on the � nan-
cial markets, culminating in the third and fourth quarters with the 
aftermaths of the Lehman Brothers default. Following the actions 
taken by governments and central banks around the world, the 
situation in the � nancial markets appeared to begin to stabilise 
 towards the end of the year. However, risk levels remain elevated 
and the normal functioning of capital markets has not resumed. 
Moreover, the � nancial crisis has instigated a rapidly evolving and 
globally synchronised economic downturn of proportions not 
 encountered for many decades. The economic outlook for 2009 is 
highly uncertain. 

The stress on the � nancial markets reached extreme levels on 
several occasions during 2008 and many markets were affected 
by a drying-up of liquidity. The year was also characterized by a 
loss of market con� dence in bank disclosures and in previously 
established capitalisation benchmarks. Credit spreads rose signif-
icantly towards the end of the year, as illustrated below.

In this challenging climate, SEB maintained a stable � nancial 
position, supported by its actions to raise SEK 160 billion in long-
term funds, including SEK 100 billion in covered bonds and the 
remainder in unsecured senior debt, and a net in� ow of SEK 90 
billion in deposits and borrowings from the public. Throughout 
the year, SEB maintained good access to the capital markets for its 
short-term � nancing needs, while the market for long-term � -
nancing was severely disrupted following the Lehman Brothers 
default in mid-September. During the � rst three quarters, the 
Group maintained a match funding requirement with respect to 
net cash in� ows and out� ows of 12 months. Due to the standstill 
in long-term funding markets, the matching was 6–8 months by 
year-end.

SEB took a number of steps to proactively address the in-
creased credit risk in its markets, with a particular focus on the 

Risks at SEB

  Credit risk – Risk of loss due to an obligor’s inability to fulfi l its 
obligations towards SEB.

  Market risk – Risk of loss or reduced future income due to 
price changes in fi nancial markets.

  Liquidity risk – The risk that the Group cannot fi nance existing 
assets or meet its payment obligations, or can only do this at 
high cost.

  Operational risk – Risk of loss due to external events or 
internal factors.

  Insurance risk – Risk of loss or higher costs in life insurance 
 operations. 

  Business risk – Risk of lower revenues due to reduced volumes, 
price pressure or competition.

  Political risk – Risk of loss caused by changes in a country’s politi-
cal structure or policies, or events related to political instability.

       For overall risk quantifi cation purposes SEB’s Economic Capital frame-
work establishes a uniform measure, as further described below.

Credit spreads for 5-year senior debt, European fi nancials
2008, basis points
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Baltic markets. This included the establishment of a management 
forum that focuses exclusively on work-out and/or restructuring 
matters, and Special Credits Management, a new function with 
Group-wide responsibility for managing problem credits. The 
Group decided to set up speci� c entities in the Baltic countries 
charged with work-out of distressed assets. 

By year-end, the deteriorating economic climate had not 
 materially impacted impaired loan levels in the Group’s Nordic 
operations, while impaired loan levels rose signi� cantly in the 
Baltic countries because of the macroeconomic slowdown. 

The sharp decline in prices on � xed-income securities reduced 
the value of SEB’s holdings and led to signi� cant mark-to-market 
losses during 2008. With effect from the third quarter, a substan-
tial part of the Group’s investment portfolio was reclassi� ed, to 
better re� ect the long-term holding horizon and to avoid short-
term mark-to-market volatility in income and equity. The effects 
on the Group’s pro� t and loss account and equity are treated in 
the Financial Review section on pp 25–26. Portfolio information is 
found on page 45. SEB expects to ultimately be able to recover the 
mark-to-market losses. 

Several measures were taken to strengthen the Group’s Mar-
ket Risk Control unit. The number and seniority of staff was in-
creased and a global head was recruited. Group-wide market risk 
control work was increasingly standardised and centralised, in 
order to enhance measurement and management of market risks 
in the more volatile environment. 

To a large degree, SEB uses internally developed risk models 
to determine capital requirements under Basel II regulatory re-
quirements. Drawing on the modelling platform established for 
Sweden and Germany in 2007, SEB in 2008, as the � rst bank in both 
Latvia and Lithuania, received approval for IRB reporting of the 
non-retail and retail portfolios. 

SEB also became the � rst Nordic bank approved for using the 
Advanced Measurement Approach for determining the capital 
requirement for operational risk.

Credit risk
Defi nition

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of an obligor 
to ful� l its obligations towards SEB. The de� nition also en-
compasses counterparty risk in the trading operations, 
country risk and settlement risk. Credit risk refers to all 
claims and potential claims on companies, banks, public 
 institutions and private individuals.
 

The credit portfolio consists of all loans, leasing agreements, con-
tingent liabilities such as credit commitments, letters of credit, 
guarantees and counterparty risks arising in derivatives contracts, 
but excluding the Group’s � xed income portfolio and repos. The 
credit portfolio, which is presented before provisions for credit 
losses, amounted to SEK 1,934 bn (1,552). 

Credit policy
The overriding principle of SEB’s credit granting is that all lending 
is based on credit analysis and is proportionate to the customer’s 
repayment capacity. The customer shall be known to the Group in 
order for both the customer’s character and repayment capacity to 
be evaluated. Depending on the creditworthiness of the customer, 

as well as the nature and complexity of the transaction, collateral 
and netting agreements can be used to a varying extent.

Credit approval process
Credit approval is based on an evaluation of the customer’s credit-
worthiness and the type of credit proposed. Relevant factors 

Credit portfolio – by industry
Share of total (SEK 1,934bn)

Corporates 40 % (37)

Households 25 % (28)

Banks 15 % (16)

Property management 14 % (13)

Public administration 6 % (6)

Credit portfolio
SEKbn 2008 2007 2006

Banks 285.6 247.6 168.7

Corporates 781.7 570.6 484.1
Nordic countries 502.3 373.8 316.6
Germany 120.3 71.9 65.2
Baltic countries 94.5 82.8 68.7
Other 64.5 42.1 33.5

Property Management 262.3 212.1 191.7
Nordic countries 126.1 99.8 85.7
Germany 103.7 86.6 85.7
Baltic countries 31.7 25.7 20.3
Other 0.8 0.1 0.0

Public Administration 118.9 87.6 96.6

Households 485.7 434.0 374.3
Nordic countries 309.0 288.4 251.6
Germany 104.4 87.2 82.4
Baltic countries 67.5 54.6 37.4
Other 4.8 3.8 2.8

Total credit portfolio 1,934.2 1,551.8 1,315.3

The credit portfolio consists of all loans, leasing agreements, contingent liabilities such as credit 
 commitments, letters of credit, guarantees, and counterparty risks arising in derivatives and 
foreign exchange contracts, but excluding the Group’s fi xed income portfolio and repos. 
The exposure is presented before provisions for credit losses.

The geographical distribution is based on SEB’s operations.    

Credit portfolio – geographical distribution
Share of total (SEK 1,934bn)

 By SEB By obligor
 operations1) country2)

Sweden 50 % 40 %

Germany 25 % 22 %

The Baltic countries 11 % 11 %

Other Nordic 10 % 11 %

Other Europe 3 % 9 %

Other 1 % 7 %

1) Geographical distribution by SEB operations (chart).

2) Geographical distribution according to obligor’s country of domicile.   
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 include the current and future projected � nancial position of the 
customer, as well as the protection provided by covenants, collat-
eral etc. The credit approval gives consideration both to the trans-
action proposed and to the customer’s total engagement. 

The approval process differs depending on the type of customer 
(for instance, retail, corporate or institution), the assessed risk level 
of the customer, and the size and type of transaction.

Independent and professional credit analysis is particularly 
 important for large corporate customers. The Merchant Banking 
 division has a credit analysis function that provides independent 
analysis and credit opinions to the divisions’ business units as well 
as to the credit committees.

Credit risk classifi cation – non-retail customers
SEB has an internal risk classi� cation system for banks, corporate 
customers and public entities re� ecting the risk of default on pay-
ment obligations. There are 16 risk classes, with 1 representing the 
lowest default risk and 16 representing the highest default risk. 
Risk classes 1–7 are considered “investment grade”, while 13–16 
are classi� ed as “watch list”. 

Risk classes are used as important parameters in the credit 
policies and the credit approval process (including decisions on 
credit limits), and for monitoring, managing and reporting the 
credit portfolio. The risk classi� cation system is based on credit 
analysis, covering business and � nancial risk. Financial ratios and 
peer group comparison are used in the risk assessment.

Credit risk classifi cation – retail customers
For private individuals and small enterprises, SEB applies a credit 
scoring system to assess risk. The scoring system is primarily based 
on payment behavior.

Limits and monitoring
In order to manage the credit risk on each individual customer 
or customer group, a total limit is established, re� ecting the 
maximum exposure that SEB currently is willing to accept on 
the customer. Limits are also established for total exposure on 
countries in certain risk classes and for settlement risks in trading 
operations.

All total limits and risk classes are subject to a minimum of one 
review annually by a credit approval authority (a credit committee 
or bank of� cer as authorized by the SEB Group Credit Instruction, 
adopted by the Board). High-risk exposures (risk classes 13–16) 
are subject to more frequent reviews. The objective is to identify, 
at an early stage, credit exposures with increased risk for loss, and 

to work together with the customer towards a constructive solution 
that enables SEB to reduce or avoid credit losses.
 In its home markets, SEB maintains permanent national work-
out teams engaged in problem exposures. As a response to the 
 deteriorating economic climate, SEB decided in late 2007 that the 
national work-out organisations should be supplemented by a 
new Group function, Special Credits Management, with global 
responsibility for managing problem exposures. This function 
was operational by early 2008. 

Credit risk mitigation 
SEB reduces risk in its credit portfolio through the use of a number 
of credit risk mitigation techniques. The particular technique chosen 
is selected based on its suitability for the product and customer in 
question, its legal enforceability and on the organisation’s experi-
ence and capacity to manage and control the particular technique. 
The most important credit risk mitigation techniques are pledges, 
guarantees and netting agreements. The most common types of 
pledges are real estate mortgages and � nancial securities. In the 
trading operations, daily margin arrangements are frequently 
used to mitigate the net open counterparty exposure at any point 
in time. 

For large corporate customers, credit risk is commonly miti-
gated through the use of covenants. 

Counterparty risk in derivatives contracts 
SEB enters into derivatives contracts primarily to offer clients 

Total, excluding households Households 2)

Category Risk class PD Range
Moody's 
/ S&P1) Banks Corporates

Property 
Management

Public 
Administration Total PD Range

Household 
mortgages

Investment grade 1–4 0–0.08% Aaa to A3 / AAA to A-  92.5% 20.3% 13.5% 94.8% 39.4% 0–0.2% 43.8%
5–7 0.08–0.32% Baa / BBB 4.4% 26.0% 20.4% 4.3% 18.9% 0.2–0.4% 30.7%

0.4–0.6% 7.5%

Ongoing business 8–10 0.32–1.61% Ba / BB 2.1% 45.3% 55.8% 0.8% 35.0% 0.6–1.0% 6.0%
11–12 1.61–5.16% B1,B2 / B+,B 0.5% 5.6% 5.2% 0.1% 4.1% 1.0–5.0% 8.9%

5.0–10.0% 1.6%

Watch list 13–16 5.16–100% B3 to C / B- to D 0.4% 2.9% 5.1% 0.0% 2.5% 10.0–30.0% 0.9%
30.0–50.0% 0.3%

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 50.0–100.0% 0.3%
  Total 100.0%

1) Approximate relation to rating agency scales. 2) In Sweden

Credit portfolio by risk class

13-16

11-12

8-10

5-7

1-4

”200620072008

 13–16
 11–12
 8–10
 5–7
 1–4

Credit portfolio – by risk class, excluding households
Per cent (2008: SEK 1,449bn)

100

80

60

40

20

0

20062008 2007



40  SEB ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Report of the Directors 

products for management of their � nancial exposures, and then 
manages the resulting positions by entering offsetting contracts 
in the market place. The Group also uses derivatives for the pur-
pose of protecting the cash-� ows and fair value of � nancial assets 
and liabilities on its own book from interest rate � uctuations.
 In order to reduce the exposure towards single derivatives 
counterparties, close-out netting agreements are used with a large 
majority of the counterparties. This allows SEB to net positive and 
negative replacements values in the event of default of the counter-
party. For � nancial counterparties, collateral management arrange-
ments are comprehensively applied in order to further mitigate 
the counterparty risk. Information on SEB’s derivatives instruments 
is found in Note 45.  

Credit portfolio monitoring
The aggregate credit portfolio is reviewed regularly and assessed 
based on industry, geography, risk class, product type, size and 
other parameters. In addition, speci� c analyses and stress tests 
are made when market developments require a more careful ex-
amination of certain sectors.

The credit portfolio is analysed for risk concentrations in geo-
graphical and industry sectors and on large single names, both in 
respect of direct exposures and indirect exposure through issuers 
of collateral, guarantees and credit derivatives. 
 
Impaired loans 
Impairment provisions are made for probable credit losses on 
 individual loans or groups of loans. 

Individually appraised loans
A speci� c provision should be made for the probable credit loss 
on an identi� ed impaired loan. A loan is classi� ed as impaired 
if there is objective evidence that one or several loss events have 
occurred and if the effects of those events impact estimated future 
cash � ows (for instance, if the customer is in signi� cant � nancial 
dif� culty or defaults on the payment of interest or principal). 
Loans are not classi� ed as impaired if the value of the collateral 
covers principal and interest with a satisfactory margin.

 All customers with loans that the Bank considers impaired 
belong to risk class 16. The impairment affects all the customer’s 
loans in the Bank, unless speci� c circumstances call for a different 

evaluation. One example would be speci� cally pledged collateral 
covering both principal and interest. 
 A collective provision or reserve is made on loans that have 
not been deemed to be impaired on an individual basis, that is, 
impairments which are incurred but not yet identi� ed (IBNI). 
Loans with similar credit risk characteristics are grouped together 
and assessed collectively for impairment. SEB’s internal risk clas-
si� cation system constitutes one of the components forming the 
basis for determining the total amount of the collective provision. 
Collective provisions represent an interim step, pending the iden-
ti� cation of speci� c losses on individual loans. 

Loans appraised on a portfolio basis
Valuations of loans to private individuals and small enterprises 
are in certain cases made on a portfolio basis. Different models are 
then applied to different loan categories, where the individual 
loans are of limited value and share similar risk characteristics. 
Examples of such categories are credit card exposures, retail 
mortgage loans and consumer loans. The collective provisions for 
portfolio appraised loans are based on historical lending loss ex-
perience and on an assessment of probable lending loss for the 
group of loans in question. 

Credit portfolio development 
By year-end, SEB’s credit portfolio amounted to SEK 1,934 bn 
(1,552). The growth was primarily attributable to the corporate 
 sectors in the Nordic countries and in Germany. Currency effects 
increased SEB’s credit exposure by approximately SEK 130 bn. 

The Group’s corporate credit portfolio grew to SEK 782 bn (571), 
primarily driven by growth in credit volumes to Nordic clients. 
 Exposures were distributed on a wide range of industry sectors, the 
largest being manufacturing and business & household services. 

Exposure in the property management category was SEK 
262 bn (213), of which SEK 93 bn was attributed to multi-family 
property. The growth in credit volumes was primarily related to 
Nordic clients. Property lending also increased in Germany, how-
ever this was principally explained by currency effects.
 The weighted average risk class for the Group, excluding house-
holds and banks, improved during 2008, from a weighted average 
of 6.95 in 2007 to 6.81 in 2008. The improvement was driven by an in-
creased lending to core clients with solid ratings, which outweighed 
a moderate deterioration of risk classes in the existing portfolio.

Impaired loans gross
Share of credit portfolio excluding banks, per cent
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”Nordic”

”Baltics”

”Germany”
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Corporate credit portfolio – by size of exposure1)
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Credit portfolio by industry and geography 1) 
2008

SEKbn Sweden Denmark Norway Finland Estonia Latvia Lithuania Germany Other Total

Banks 174.9 10.9 10.7 2.6 0.2 1.1 0.6 68.1 16.5 285.6

Corporates 391.4 18.6 58.7 33.6 22.8 25.3 46.4 120.3 64.6 781.7
Finance and insurance 55.9 2.1 1.5 1.7 0.2 1.2 0.5 16.0 14.1 93.2
Wholesale and retail 32.8 1.4 1.6 0.5 5.2 7.2 14.2 17.1 6.7 86.7
Transportation 21.9 1.9 3.5 0.6 2.0 2.8 6.7 3.0 0.4 42.8
Shipping 10.7 2.3 10.6 0.1 1.1 0.3 0.4 0.0 12.7 38.2
Agriculture, forestry and fi shing 3.9 0.4 0.0 0.0 1.5 2.7 0.9 0.2 0.1 9.7
Mining 6.6 1.1 10.4 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.7 0.8 20.0
Electricity, gas, water supply 21.2 1.4 2.9 10.3 2.2 1.4 2.8 6.0 0.6 48.8
Business & household services 81.5 1.4 13.1 3.3 3.0 2.4 4.4 36.1 3.4 148.6
Construction 8.4 0.1 0.7 0.5 2.0 2.9 3.3 4.1 0.4 22.4
Manufacturing 117.6 5.4 10.7 16.1 5.2 3.7 12.4 31.8 18.0 220.9
Other 30.9 1.1 3.7 0.3 0.4 0.6 0.7 5.3 7.4 50.4

Property Management 105.0 0.3 11.9 8.9 8.5 7.1 16.1 103.7 0.8 262.3
Commercial 46.6 0.3 11.9 8.9 8.5 4.6 16.1 71.7 0.8 169.4
Multi-family 58.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.5 0.0 32.0 0.0 93.0

Public Administration 31.7 0.1 0.3 0.4 2.4 0.4 3.2 78.9 1.5 118.9

Households 269.1 6.9 31.2 1.7 22.7 15.9 28.9 104.4 4.8 485.7
Household mortgages 230.3 0.0 3.7 0.0 18.3 11.7 25.5 79.4 1.8 370.6
Other 38.8 6.9 27.5 1.7 4.4 4.3 3.4 25.0 3.0 115.0

Credit portfolio 972.1 36.8 112.9 47.2 56.6 49.8 95.2 475.4 88.3 1,934.2

Impaired loans gross by industry and geography 1)

2008

SEKm Sweden Denmark Norway Finland Estonia Latvia Lithuania Germany Other Total

Banks 320 6 326

Corporates 710 189 245 10 493 571 1,521 1,451 246 5,436
Finance and insurance 5 33 38
Wholesale and retail 327 87 19 223 421 1,077
Transportation 6 33 12 93 14 159
Shipping 11 1 11
Agriculture, forestry and fi shing 1 4 53 3 5 66
Mining 0
Electricity, gas, water supply 45 13 58
Business & household services 30 143 15 35 662 133 1,018
Construction 3 38 84 49 157 331
Manufacturing 151 209 154 411 458 209 1,591
Other 181 45 245 5 106 169 80 218 37 1,087

Property Management 110 305 151 855 3,462 10 4,894
Commercial 16 305 139 855 2,848 10 4,174
Multi-family 94 12 614 720

Public Administration 0

Households 448 249 115 55 488 624 490 787 3,255
Household mortgages 15 27 435 419 362 651 1,909
Other 433 249 88 55 53 205 128 136 1,346

Total 1,588 438 360 65 1,286 1,346 2,867 5,706 256 13,911

1) The geographical distribution is based on SEB’s operations.

1) The geographical distribution is based on SEB’s operations.

SEB’s risk classi� cation system is based on an assessment of the 
default risk through-the-cycle, in order to promote a long-term 
view in risk classi� cations. Observed default frequencies show 
that SEB risk classes historically have demonstrated differentiated 
patterns for default, with higher risk classes displaying higher 
default ratios than lower risk classes.
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SEB exposure in the Baltic countries

Background
Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania have formed part of SEB’s home 
markets since the late 1990s. SEB has a strategic and long-term 
commitment to the region. 

SEB entered the Baltic markets through acquisitions of minority 
stakes in three local banks in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania towards 
the end of the 1990s. By year-end 2000, these banks were wholly-
owned. SEB’s Baltic operations constitute business areas within 
the Group’s divisional structure, but mainly reside in the Retail 
Banking operations. They all operate under Group policies and 
instructions. 

Aggregated operating pro� ts during 2001-2008, including 
credit losses, amounted to SEK 13.1 bn. 

Credit portfolio 
By year-end 2008, SEB’s credit exposure to the Baltic countries 
amounted to SEK 201.6 bn (169.0). The increase in credit exposure 
was partly explained by currency effects; annual credit growth 
measured in local currencies decreased by 2 per cent in Estonia 
while it increased by 5 and 8 per cent, respectively, in Latvia and 
Lithuania. These � gures compare with annual growth rates in 
2007 of 17 per cent in Estonia, 18 per cent in Latvia and 30 per cent 
in Lithuania. 

Lithuania accounts for 47 per cent of the Group’s credit expo-
sure in the Baltic countries, while Estonia and Latvia accounts for 
28 and 25 per cent, respectively. The majority of the portfolio, 63 
per cent, relates to corporate clients, including property manage-
ment, while households account for 33 per cent. 

As outlined in the table on page 43, the majority of the Group’s 
lending in the Baltic countries is denominated in foreign curren-
cies. The distribution does not materially deviate from the overall 
market situation in these countries. 

Proactive risk management
In preparation for a possible overheating of the Baltic economies, 
SEB tightened its credit policy and began a controlled slowdown 
of credit growth in 2006. The process has continued during 2008. 
Increased restrictions on granting new credits and more stringent 
requirements for repayment capacity, particularly for euro-
denominated loans, has been implemented. As a result, SEB has 
gradually reduced its market share, particularily in Estonia and 
Latvia. Market shares in Estonia dropped from 31 to 24 percent and 
in Latvia from 23 to 15 percent between early 2006 and late 2008. 

SEB has reinforced its efforts to manage the effects of the eco-
nomic downturn in the Baltic economies. In early 2008, the local 
work-out teams in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania were supple-
mented by a new Group function, established to lead and coordi-
nate the Group’s management of weak counterparties and dis-
tressed debts. The Group also decided to set up speci� c entities in 
the Baltic countries charged with work-out of distressed assets.  

Individual country approach
All the Group’s activities to mitigate credit losses are performed 
on a country-by-country and case-by-case basis, in collaboration 
between Group and local work-out teams. Actions undertaken 
are based on the Group’s collective know-how and experiences 
from work-out situations, particularly with regard to the Group’s 
experiences in handling the Swedish banking crisis in the early 
1990s and senior Swedish staff is closely involved.

Credit portfolio, impaired loans and reserves
2008

SEKm Estonia Latvia Lithuania Total

Credit portfolio 
Banks 194 1,102 579 1,875
Corporates 22,828 25,257 46,432 94,517
Property Management 8,522 7,093 16,132 31,747
Public Administration 2,365 364 3,192 5,922
Households 22,705 15,938 28,877 67,520

Total credit portfolio 56,614 49,755 95,213 201,581

Impaired loans, gross
Banks 0 0 0 0
Corporates 493 571 1,522 2,586
Property Management 305 151 855 1,312
Public Administration 0 0 0 0
Households 488 624 490 1,602

Total 1,287 1,346 2,867 5,499

Reserves
Specifi c reserves 380 174 791 1,345
Collective reserves 546 603 612 1,761
Off balance reserves 0 0 0 0

Total 926 776 1,404 3,105

Reserve ratio for 
impaired loans 71.9% 57.7% 49.0% 56.5%

Credit portfolio, the Baltic countries

SEKbn Loans
Contingent

liabilities
Derivatives

instruments Total

Banks 1.8 0.0 0.1 1.9
Corporates 72.1 21.9 0.5 94.5
Property Management 29.7 1.9 0.2 31.8
Public Administration 5.1 0.9 0.0 6.0
Households 63.7 3.9 0.0 67.5

Total 172.4 28.6 0.8 201.6

Impaired loans gross, the Baltic countries
Share of credit portfolio excluding banks, per cent
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Level of net credit losses
Per cent of lending

Currency profi le in the Baltic loan portfolios
2008

Per cent Estonia Latvia Lithuania

Corporates, incl. Property Mgmt.
EUR 69 83 64
Local currency 29 15 32
USD 2 2 4

Households
EUR 79 85 63
Local currency 21 13 37
USD / Other 0 2 0

Quantifi cation of credit risk 

The SEB methodology for credit risk quantifi cation is based on the eco-
nomic capital framework. It is aligned with the Basel II framework for 
credit risk and addresses the following components:

Probability of default (PD)
For each risk class, SEB makes one-year, through the cycle, PD esti-
mates using ten years’ internal history of defaults. The estimates are 
aligned against the scales of international rating agencies and their 
published default frequencies. For private individuals and small enter-
prises, a scoring method is used to assign loans to pools of similar 
transaction type and sharing similar likelihood of default. Conservative-
ly adjusted historical default data are then used to make the PD esti-
mates for each pool.

Statistical analysis confi rm that SEB risk classes historically have 
demonstrated differentiated patterns for default, e.g. higher risk class-
es have had higher default ratios than lower risk classes. 

Size of exposure in the event of a default (EAD)
Exposure is measured in nominal terms (e.g. in the case of loans, 
bonds and leasing contracts), as a percentage of committed amounts 

(credit lines, letters of credit, guarantees and other off-balance-sheet 
exposures) and through current market values plus an amount for pos-
sibly increased exposure in the future, net of any eligible collateral (in 
the case of derivative contracts, repos and securities lending).

Loss given default (LGD)
Evaluation of potential loss on an outstanding claim in case of default, 
considering collateral provided etc. Evaluations are based upon internal 
and external historical experience and the specifi c details of each rele-
vant transaction. The LGD estimates are set conservatively, to refl ect 
the conditions in a severe economic downturn.

Portfolio model
The components above (PD, EAD and LGD) are combined and used in 
a portfolio model, taking into account industry and geographic diversi-
fi cation as well as large-name concentrations, when the credit risks are 
aggregated. 

SEB’s Baltic lending relative to the market 1)
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Market risk

Defi nition

Market risk is the risk of loss or reduction of future net income 
following changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, 
 equity prices and commodity prices, including price risk in 
connection with the sale of assets or closing of positions. 

A particular distinction is made between trading activity related 
market risks, i.e. trading book risks, and structural market risks 
and net interest income risks, i.e. banking book risks.

Market risks in the trading book arise from the Group’s cus-
tomer-driven trading activity, where SEB acts as a market maker 
for trading in the international foreign exchange, equity and capi-
tal markets. The risks reside primarily within Merchant Banking 
and are managed at the different trading locations within a com-
prehensive set of risk limits. 

Market risks in the Group’s banking book arise because of 
mismatches in currencies, interest rate terms and periods on the 
balance sheet. Group Treasury has the overall responsibility for 
managing these risks, which are consolidated centrally through 
the internal funds transfer pricing system. 

Risk mandate
The level of market risk that the Group accepts is de� ned by the 
Board. The Group Asset and Liability Committee allocates the 
market risk mandate set by the Board to each division which, in 
turn, further allocates the limits obtained among its business 
units. The use of limits ensures timely reporting and proper man-
agement of loss positions and risk exposures.

Market risk control
The Market Risk Control unit is responsible for controlling SEB’s 
market risks. Measurement, monitoring and management report-
ing is done on a daily basis on a Group, divisional and business 
unit level. The unit is also charged with ensuring independence 
in the valuation process of traded positions. The daily control 
framework relies on statistical models, such as Value-at-Risk, as 
well as more traditional risk measures such as nominal exposures 
and sensitivity measures. Key market and liquidity risks are re-
ported at least monthly to the Asset and Liability Committee and 
the Risk and Capital Committee of the Board. 

Risk measurement
When assessing market risk exposures it is important to distinguish 
among measures that seek to estimate losses under normal market 
conditions and those that focus on extreme market situations. The 
latter class of tools consists of stress tests and scenario analysis.

The Board has decided upon four major risk measures to 
quantify and limit the Group’s total market risk exposure under 
normal market conditions: Value-at-Risk; Delta 1 per cent; Single 
and Aggregated FX. These are further described below. Any risk 
measure has strengths and weaknesses, but this can be mitigated 
through combining them with each other. 

Value-at-Risk (VaR)
To measure and limit the Group’s aggregated risk level across 
market risk types, SEB uses a Value at Risk (VaR) approach based 
on an internally developed model. This statistical method ex-
presses the maximum potential loss that can arise with a certain 
degree of probability during a certain period of time. The Group 
has chosen a probability level of 99 per cent and a ten-day period 
for reporting VaR in the trading book and for reporting and moni-
toring VaR in the banking book. In the day-to-day risk manage-
ment of trading positions, SEB follows up limits with a 1-day time 

Value-at-Risk, Banking book

SEKm Min Max
31 Dec 

2008
Average 

2008
Average 

2007

Interest rate risk 189 592 592 323 251
Currency risk 1 109 109 24 25
Equity risk 1 137 53 54 47
Diversifi cation –146 –83 –63

Total 174 608 608 318 260

Value-at-Risk 2008
SEKm (VaR vs. theoretical profit and loss, 99% confidence interval and 1 day holding period)

-UnwVaR adj
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Value-at-Risk, Trading book

SEKm Min Max
31 Dec 

2008
Average 

2008
Average 

2007

Interest rate risk 57 282 203 145 64
Currency risk 4 165 132 34 21
Equity risk 18 230 41 75 75
Diversifi cation 0 0 –111 –103 –68

Total 69 332 265 151 92
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horizon. Due to its larger size, the banking book carries most of 
SEB’s VaR. Since 2001, SEB holds a supervisory approval to use its 
internal VaR model for calculating capital requirements for the 
majority of the general market risks in the Bank’s trading book. 

Back testing of the VaR model is done on a daily basis, to control 
and assure its accuracy and to verify that losses have not exceed-
ed the VaR level signi� cantly more than 1 per cent of the trading 
days. During the market turmoil in 2007 and 2008, the Group 
found that its VaR model, on average, underestimated the 99th 
percentile by 23 per cent looking at historical data. As a conse-
quence, a 23 per cent add-on has been introduced (and superviso-
ry approval was provided in May 2008). The graph on page 44 
shows VaR compared to theoretical pro� t and loss.

VaR for the trading book was affected by the turbulence in the 
� nancial markets, which caused high volatility throughout the 
year. Even though the Group reduced trading book exposures, 
average trading VaR during 2008 was 65 per cent higher than in 
2007 Banking book VaR was also affected by the higher market 
volatility, and rose by 22 per cent compared to 2007. VaR for the 
banking book is calculated using unweighted market data, and 
thus shows a more protracted reaction to changes in volatility.

Sensitivity and position measures
As supplemental analytical tools, the Group uses sensitivity and 
position measures. Sensitivity measures such as gamma, vega and 
rho are used to handle the risk posed by non-linear instruments. 
In certain cases, these measures are combined with stress tests for 
large price shifts and volatility changes in the underlying price 
process.

Stress tests and scenario analysis
Scenario analyses and stress tests are conducted on a regular basis 
as a complement to the above described risk measurements. This 
type of analysis provides management with a view on the poten-
tial impact that large market moves in individual risk factors, as 
well as broader market scenarios, could have on a portfolio and 
thus attempt to estimate the size of potential losses due to the 
stress events. Both historical and hypothetical scenarios are used 
to estimate potential losses. 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk of loss or reduction of future net in-
come following changes in interest rates, including price risk in 

SEB fi xed-income securities portfolios

For investment, treasury and client trading purposes, SEB maintains 
portfolios of fi xed income securities, mainly government bonds, cov-
ered bonds, bonds issued by fi nancial institutions and asset-backed 
securities. The total net position of the Group’s bond portfolios was 
SEK 355 bn by year-end. Portfolios held for client-derived trading and 
treasury purposes amounted to SEK 222 bn. 

SEK 133 bn was related to the Group’s investment portfolio. The 
purpose of this portfolio is to have a liquidity reserve of highly rated 
fi xed income products, pledgeable with central banks. The portfolio 
comprises structured credits, fi xed income securities issued by fi nan-
cial institutions and covered bonds. 

Accounting for the investment portfolio assets are dependent upon 
the type of exposure and the intended holding period. The assets are 
classifi ed as Available-for-Sale (Mark-to-market losses/gains affect 
 equity), Held-for-Trading (MTM losses/gains affect income) or Loans & 
Receivables.

The widening of credit spreads in 2007 and 2008, a refl ection of 
reduced market liquidity and the increased risk for issuer default as 
perceived by global credit markets, negatively affected SEB’s invest-
ment portfolio assets (see page 25 for further information). 

A large part of the losses is related to the Group’s structured credits 
portfolio, a diversifi ed portfolio of asset-backed securities including resi-
dential mortgage-backed securities, collateralised loan obligations and 
collateralised mortgage obligations. 

By year-end, this portfolio included 655 positions, with an average 
remaining maturity of approximately 3.5 years. 93.0 percent of the 
portfolio was AAA/Aaa-rated; 1.7 per cent had a sub-investment grade 
rating. There are no ‘level 3’ assets.

Following reclassifi cation in 2008, the majority of the Group’s invest-
ment portfolio has been classifi ed as Loans & Receivables, refl ecting 
the Group’s intention to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or 
until maturity. The reclassifi cation also serves to avoid short-term MTM 
volatility in income and equity. The Held-for-Trading and Available-for-
Sale holdings decreased to SEK 8bn (72) and SEK 24bn (60), respec-
tively, while securities classifi ed as Loans and Receivables increased 
to SEK 101bn (0).

SEB views a default in the investment portfolio holdings as unlikely 

and ultimately expects to recover the MTM losses. By year-end, all of 
the assets were performing as regards amortisations and interest pay-
ments.

Fixed-income securities portfolios
2008, SEK 355bn

  Trading and 
Treasury, SEK 222bn

  Investment portfolio,  
SEK 133bn

Holdings, SEKbn
Covered bonds 13
Financial institutions 52
Structured credits 68
Total 133

Classifi cation & valuation, %
Loans & Receivables 76
Available-for-Sale, MTM 1) over equity 18
Held-for-Trading, MTM over income 6
Total 100

1)  Mark-to-market.

Structured credits portfolio
Asset distribution (SEK 68bn), per cent

US 35
Pan-Europe 22
UK 16
Netherlands 7

Geographical distribution, per cent

Spain 7
Denmark 6
Italy 5
Other  2

Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities 33

Collateralised Loan Obligations  19

Other underlying assets 16

Collateralised Mortgage Obligations 13

Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities 7

Collateralised Debt Obligations  7

RMBS Non-prime 5
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connection with the sale of assets or closing of positions. To measure 
and limit interest rate risk SEB uses the VaR method, supplement-
ed with the methods described below. 

Delta 1 per cent
The Interest Rate Risk measure of Delta 1 per cent is calculated for 
all interest rate based products and is de� ned as the change in 
market value arising from an adverse one percentage unit parallel 
shift in all interest rates in each currency. 

Net interest income (NII) 
The NII risk depends on the overall business pro� le, especially 
mismatches between interest-bearing assets and liabilities in 
terms of volumes and repricing periods. The NII is also exposed 
to a so called “� oor” risk. Asymmetries in pricing of products, 
create a margin squeeze in times of low interest rates, making it 
relevant to analyse both up- and downward changes. SEB 
monitors NII risk but it is not assigned a speci� c limit in terms o 
market risk exposure. Further information is found in Note 43, 
which shows repricing periods for SEB’s assets and liabilities.

Credit spread risk
Credit spread risk is the risk that the value of an investment will 
change due to moves in credit spreads. As opposed to credit risk, 
which is valid for all credit exposures, only assets that are marked-
to-market are exposed to credit spread risk. This risk materialised 
for SEB during 2008 (see box “SEB bond portfolios” on p 45). For 
capital adequacy reporting, the credit spread risk is reported as 
market risk, but it is classi� ed as part of credit risk in SEB’s eco-
nomic capital framework. 

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk arises both through the Bank’s foreign ex-
change trading in international market places and because the 
Group’s activities are carried out in various currencies. While for-
eign exchange trading positions are measured and managed 
within the overall VaR framework, the Group measures and man-
ages the structural foreign exchange risk inherent in the structure 
of the balance sheet and earnings separately. The largest structural 
foreign exchange risk is related to the Group’s subsidiaries in the 
Baltic countries.

Single and Aggregated FX
As a complement to VaR, foreign exchange risk is also measured 
by Single and Aggregated FX. Single FX represents the single largest 
net position, short or long, in non-SEK currencies. Aggregated FX 
is arrived at by calculating the sum of all short non-SEK positions 
and the sum of all long non-SEK positions. Aggregated FX is the 
largest of these two absolute values. 

 
Equity price risk
Equity price risk arises within market making and trading in equi-
ties and related instruments. VaR is the most important risk and 
limit measurement for equity risks. In addition, equity risk mea-
surements de� ned by the Swedish capital adequacy rules are 
used both for limits and follow-up.

Commodity risk
For instruments and derivatives with commodities as the underly-
ing asset there is an inherent risk for changes in commodity prices. 
During 2008, SEB’s exposure to commodity risk was limited, as 
the Group’s business offering did not include directional trading. 

Liquidity risks

Defi nition

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group, over a speci� c time 
horizon, is unable to re� nance its existing assets or is unable 
to meet the demand for additional liquidity. Liquidity risk 
also entails the risk that the Group is forced to borrow at 
unfavourable rates or is forced to sell assets at a loss in order 
to meet its payment commitments. 

Liquidity risk management and reporting
The purpose of SEB’s liquidity management is to ensure that the 
Group has a controlled liquidity risk situation, with adequate 
cash or cash-equivalents in all relevant currencies to timely meet 
its liquidity requirements in all foreseeable circumstances without 
incurring substantial additional cost. The liquidity risk-taking is 
governed by limits established by the Board and further allocated 
by the Group Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO). Liquidity 
limits are set for both the Group and speci� c legal entities as well 
as for exposures in certain de� ned currencies. 

SEB maintains suf� cient liquidity to meet current payment ob-
ligations, while keeping contingency reserves to meet any market 
disruptions. 

SEB has adopted a comprehensive framework for the manage-
ment of short- and long-term liquidity requirements. Liquidity is 
managed centrally by Group Treasury, supported by local treasury 
centres in the Group’s major markets. Market Risk Control regu-
larly measures and reports limit utilisation as well as stress tests to 
ALCO and the Risk and Capital Committee of the Board.

The Group reduces liquidity risk through diversi� cation of 
funding sources in instruments, currencies and by tapping differ-
ent geographical markets. Deposits from households and corpo-
rate customers constitute the most important funding source of 
the Group. 

Liquidity risk measurement 
Liquidity risk is measured using a range of customised 
measurement tools, as no single method comprehensively can 
quantify this type of risk. The methods applied by SEB include 
short-term pledging capacity, analysis of future cash � ows, 
scenario analyses and balance sheet key ratios. 

Liquidity gaps are identi� ed by calculating cumulative net 
cash � ows arising from the assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet 

Funding structure, SEB Group, December 2008
Per cent (SEK 1,787bn)

Deposits – General public  42
Deposits – Financial institutions  15
Mortgage covered bonds Sweden  10
Commercial paper/Certifi cates of deposit 8
Deposits – Central banks  7
Public covered bonds Germany  7
Schuldscheins and Registered bonds  3
Subordinated debt  3
Mortgage covered bonds Germany  3
Senior debt  2

Over collateral within cover pools SEK 48bn, which may be used for 
further covered bond issuance or pledged for central bank borrowing.
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positions of the Group in various time bands through one year. This 
requires certain assumptions to be made regarding the maturity 
of some products, such as demand deposits and mortgages, and 
their projected behaviour over time or upon contractual maturity. 
The quality of the liquidity reserve (see below) is analysed in order 
to assess its potential to be used as collateral, providing secured 
funding in stressed conditions. 

Beyond one year, a core gap ratio is measured. The ratio mea-
sures the extent to which the Group is funding illiquid assets with 
stable long-term funds. The stable liabilities (including equity) 
should always be above 70 per cent of illiquid assets; the average 
level during the year was 108 per cent. As of year-end, the level 
was 102 per cent.

Stress testing is conducted on a regular basis to identify sources 
of potential liquidity strain and to ensure that current exposures 
remain within the established liquidity risk tolerance. The tests 
estimate the liquidity risk in various scenarios, including both 
Group-speci� c and general market crises. 

Liquidity reserve requirement
The liquidity reserve, consisting of securities that can be used as 
collateral for loans or repurchase transactions and thus transformed 
into liquid funds with immediate effect, forms an important part 
of the Group’s volume of liquid assets. The size of the liquidity 
 reserve indicates to what extent the Group has a stable volume of 
unencumbered, high-quality liquid assets held as insurance against 
a range of liquidity stress scenarios. The liquidity reserve should 
always be equivalent to at least 5 per cent of total assets.

2008 liquidity situation
Drawing on its diversi� ed funding network, SEB maintained its 
ability to � nance its on-going business, in spite of the turbulence 
in funding markets during 2008. The Group had good access to the 
short-term capital markets throughout the year, while the market 
for long-term � nancing was severely disrupted from the end of 
the third quarter. The Group’s funding position bene� tted from 
the raising of SEK 160 bn in long-term funds, including SEK 100 bn 
in covered bonds and the remainder in unsecured senior debt, and a 
net in� ow of SEK 90 bn in deposits and borrowings from the public. 
By year-end, the deposits to loans ratio was 65 per cent. The pool 
of unutilized eligible assets in SEB’s liquidity reserve that could 
be pledged with central banks was SEK 123 bn by year-end.

Operational risk

Defi nition

Operational risk is the risk of loss due to internal factors 
(breakdown of IT systems, mistakes, fraud, non-compli-
ance with external and internal rules, other de� ciencies in 
internal controls) or external events (e.g. natural disasters, 
external crime, etc)

New product approval process
During 2008, SEB strengthened the framework for examining and 
approving the introduction of new and/or amended products, 
systems and processes. All control and support functions, togeth-
er with the relevant business division, participate in the assessment 
processes. The purpose is to ensure that approval is made in a 
systematic way, to secure a sound operational risk environment.

Advanced Measurement Approach
During 2008, the Group received supervisory approval to use the 
Advanced Measurement Approach (AMA) to calculate regulatory 
capital for operational risk. The approval is an acknowledgement 
of the Group’s experience and expertise in operational risk man-
agement, including incident reporting, operational loss reporting, 
capital modelling, and quality assessment of processes. The model 
is also used to calculate economic capital for operational risk, albeit 
on a higher con� dence level and with the inclusion of loss events 
relevant for life insurance operations. 

Capital for operational risk is quanti� ed with a Loss Distribu-
tion approach, using internal data and external statistics about 
 actual operational losses in the global � nancial sector. The calcu-
lation of expected losses takes into account the Group’s internal 
loss statistics while unexpected losses are calculated based on 
 statistics of external losses over a certain threshold.  

The Group’s AMA-derived capital requirement for operational 
risk is not affected by any insurance agreement to reduce or trans-
fer the impact of operational risk losses. 
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All staff required to register incidents 
SEB uses an IT-based infrastructure for management of operational 
risk, security and compliance. All staff shall register risk-related 
issues and management at all levels shall identify, assess, monitor 
and mitigate risks. This facilitates management of operational 
risk exposures.

Insurance risk
Defi nitions

Life insurance surplus value risk is the risk that estimated 
surplus values cannot be realised, due to slower than ex-
pected asset growth, cancellations or unfavourable price/
cost development. The surplus value risk level is closely 
 associated with the aggregate savings volume. 

Furthermore, life insurance operations are exposed to the risk of 
shifts in mortality rates. Lower rates lead to more long-term pen-
sion commitments, whereas higher rates result in higher death 
claims. Guaranteed-bene� t life insurance portfolios give rise to a 
mismatch risk between assets and insurance liabilities.

Life insurance liability risk is the risk that growth in assets held 
to secure future payments is insuf� cient to meet policyholder 
claims. The insurance liability risk is negligible in unit-linked port-
folios, while it is more pronounced in SEB Pension’s operations.

Business profi le
Within life operations SEB’s sales focus is on unit-linked, which 
represented approximately 75 per cent of total sales in 2008. This 
means that the market risk stays with the policyholder. There are, 
however, certain elements of risk in economical terms for the 
Bank as regards future surplus values elimination. The value con-
tribution from life insurance operations is analysed in terms of 
surplus values (see Note 51) – i.e. the present value of future net 
income on previously written insurance. 

Insurance risk mitigation
Surplus values and � nancial risks that are regularly reported by 
the division form the basis of risk measurement. Life insurance 
risks are controlled with the help of actuarial analysis and stress 
tests of the existing insurance portfolio. Mortality and morbidity 
risks are reinsured against large individual claims or against sev-
eral claims caused by the same event. The risks in guaranteed-
bene� t products are mitigated through standard market-risk 
techniques and monitored through scenario analyses. 

The Group also operates, on a run-off basis, a reinsurance non-life 
business with a limited risk to SEB’s shareholders. 

During 2008, a provision of SEK 353m was made to cover 
 potential future guarantees related to the traditional life portfolio 
which was transferred from Nya Liv in 2007. The provision is 
mainly market value-related and recoverable if future investment 
returns are adequate to meet guaranteed bonus levels over time. 

The Swedish FSA uses a “Traf� c Light System”, focusing on 
the mismatch risk between assets and liabilities. A similar system 
has been in use in Denmark for several years, thus affecting SEB’s 
Danish operations. These systems constitute supervisory tools to 
identify those insurance companies for which a closer analysis of 
assets versus liabilities is needed. None of SEB’s Swedish and 
Danish companies has been identi� ed for such analysis, according 
to the supervisory de� ned measures for life insurance companies.

Business and strategic risk
Defi nition

Business risk is the risk of lower revenues due to reduced 
volumes, price pressure or competition. SEB measures 
business risk as the variability in income and cost that is not 
directly attributable to other types of risk. Quanti� cation of 
business risk is based on an assessment of the volatility in 
operating pro� t, net of credit losses and trading result. 

Business risk also includes reputational risk, the risk that revenues 
drop due to external rumours about either SEB or the industry in 
general. A speci� c case of business risk is venture risk, related to 
undertakings such as acquisitions, large IT projects etc. 

Strategic risk is close in nature to business risk, but focuses on 
large-scale structural risk factors. SEB de� nes strategic risk as the 
risk of loss due to adverse business decisions, improper imple-
mentation of decisions, or lack of responsiveness to political, 
 regulatory and industry changes.

Components of life insurance surplus value risk in SEB
Per cent, 2008 (2007)

Asset growth risk 38  (43)

Expense risk 30 (24)

Persistency risk 21 (21)

Mortality risk 7 (8)

Morbidity risk 4 (4)

SEB operating profi t, net of trading result and credit losses
Quarterly 2001–2008, SEKm
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Capital management

The Group’s capital management seeks to balance shareholders’ 
demand for return with the � nancial stability requirements of 
regulators, debt investors, business counterparties and other 
market participants, including rating agencies. 

The Group’s capitalisation shall be risk-based and built on an 
assessment of all risks incurred in the Group’s business, forward-
looking and aligned with short- and long-term business plans as 
well as with expected macroeconomic developments. 

Capital governance 
The Group’s capital policy de� nes how capital management 
should support the business goals. The capital policy, which also 
sets out the dividend policy and the rating targets of the Group, is 
established by the Board of Directors. 

The Board establishes the Capital Policy, based on recommen-
dations from the Group Asset and Liability Committee and the Risk 
and Capital Committee of the Board. The policy is reviewed yearly. 

The Chief Financial Of� cer is responsible for the process to as-
sess capital requirements in relation to the Group’s risk pro� le, and 
for proposing a strategy for maintaining the capital levels. This pro-
cess, the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), is 
integrated with the Group’s business planning and is part of the in-
ternal governance framework and its internal control systems. 

Together with continuous monitoring and reporting of the 
capital adequacy to the Board this ensures that the relationships 
between shareholders’ equity, economic capital, regulatory and 
rating-based requirements are managed in such a way that SEB 
does not jeopardise the pro� tability of the business and the � nan-
cial strength of the Group. 

Capital management
Capital is managed centrally, meeting also local requirements as 
regards statutory and internal capital. The Group’s capital policy 
de� nes how capital management should support the business 
goals. Shareholders’ return requirements shall be balanced against 
the capital requirements of the regulators, the expectations of debt 
investors and other counterparties as regards SEB’s rating, and 
the economic capital that represents the total risk of the Group. 
The phased implementation of Basel II, with Basel I based RWA 
(Risk-Weighted Assets) � oors during 2007–2009, necessitates 
monitoring, targeting and reporting capital ratios according to 
both regulatory frameworks. As a matter of practice, SEB may 
buy back outstanding issues of subordinated debt, including call 
options utilization, to optimize the capital structure.

Basel II rollout 
Basel II capital adequacy rules were implemented in Sweden on 
1 February 2007. During 2007, the Group used a mixed approach 
for reporting, whereby SEB AB, SEB AG and SEB Gyllenberg re-
ported according to Basel II, while Basel I reporting was used for 
the remainder of the Group. From 2008, all the Group’s reporting 
follows Basel II. 

SEB has received regulatory approval to apply the Internal 
Ratings Based (IRB) approach for approximately 80 per cent of its 
credit portfolio (based on exposure volume). The Group reports 
according to IRB Advanced for virtually all retail mortgage port-
folios and to IRB Foundation for most corporate and inter-bank 
portfolios. A number of retail portfolios are in the process of IRB 

Capital base vs internal and external requirements 
SEKbn 
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Capital requirements
SEKm 2008 2007 

Credit risk IRB reported capital requirements
Institutions 4,472 4,506
Corporates 37,158 21,420
Securitisation positions 572 174
Retail mortgages 4,627 3,409
Other exposure classes 559

Total for credit risk, IRB approach 47,388 29,509

Other Basel II reported capital requirements
Credit risk, Standardised approach 11,610 6,227
Operational risk, Basic Indicator approach 3,723
Operational risk, Advanced Measurement approach 3,080
Foreign exchange rate risk 570 580
Trading book risk 2,775 4,010

Total, reporting according to Basel II 65,423 44,049

Reporting according to Basel I 
Credit risk 14,859
Foreign exchange rate risk 0
Trading book risk 41

Total, reporting according to Basel I 14,900

Summary 
Credit risk 58,998 50,595
Operational risk 3,080 3,723

Market risk 3,345 4,631
Total 65,423 58,949

Adjustment for fl ooring rules 
Additional requirement for transitional fl oor 13,460 8,409

Total reported 78,883 67,358

18%

42%

20%

6%

13%
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implementation. The Group’s ultimate target is to be approved 
for IRB Advanced for all portfolios, except for exposures to public 
entities and a small number of insigni� cant portfolios. For these 
exposures, the Standardised approach will be used.

Following supervisory approval, the Group reports opera-
tional risk according to the Advanced Measurement Approach 
from the second quarter of 2008. For market risk, the Group has 
been approved to use its internal VaR model for calculating capi-
tal requirements for general market risks in the parent company 
since 2001.

Dividends
The size of the dividend in SEB is determined by the economic 
environment as well as the � nancial position and growth potential 
of the Group. SEB has traditionally had the objective that the annual 
dividend per share shall, over a business cycle, correspond to 
around 40 per cent of earnings per share.

Capitalisation targets
SEB’s capitalisation targets in relation to capital management are 
set for two principal purposes: 1) to ensure that the Group’s capi-
tal strength is suf� cient to uphold the decided business strategy, 
maintaining capital ratios above the minimum levels established 
by the regulators even in less favourable economic circumstances, 
and 2) to ensure that the capital strength is suf� cient to protect se-
nior debt holders, given the Group’s chosen risk appetite (AA rat-
ing target). 
 SEB’s long-term Tier I capital ratio target is 10 per cent, based 
on the Basel II framework applied without transition rules. 

Capital requirements – Basel II framework
The regulatory capital requirement with transitional � oor was 
SEK 78.9 bn (67.4), based on RWA of SEK 986.0 bn (842.0). Currency 
effects accounted for SEK 72 bn of the RWA increase. Information 
regarding the calculation of SEB’s RWA and regulatory capital 
requirements is found in the “Capital Adequacy and Risk Manage-
ment Report (pillar 3 )” on www.sebgroup.com.

Capital base 
The Group’s Tier I capital amounted to SEK 82.5 bn (72.7) at year-
end 2008, with a reported Tier I capital ratio of 8.4 per cent (8.6). 
The total capital base was SEK 104.7 bn (93.0), with a reported 
total capital ratio of 10.6 per cent (11.0). 

Economic Capital 
For internal capital assessment and performance evaluation, SEB 
uses an Economic Capital framework based on a Capital at Risk 
(CAR) model. This internal framework bears strong similarities to 
the regulatory framework for capital adequacy, Basel II, in that 
many of the underlying risk drivers are the same. The calculation 
of Economic Capital is based on a con� dence level of 99.97 per 
cent, representative of an AA-rating.

At the end of 2008, the internal capital requirement for the 
Group, calculated as Economic Capital, was SEK 76.6 bn (66.6), with 
credit risk and insurance risk being the largest risk components 

Capital adequacy 
SEKm 2008 2007 

Capital resources
Tier I capital 82,463 72,702
Capital base 104,723 92,973

Without transitional fl oor (Basel II) 
Capital requirement 65,423 58,949
Expressed as Risk-weighted assets 817,788 736,864
Tier I capital ratio 10.1 9.9%
Total capital ratio 12.8 12.6%
Capital adequacy quotient (capital base/
capital requirement) 1.60 1.58

With transitional fl oor (Basel II) 
– as legally reported  
Transition fl oor applied 90% 95%
Capital requirement 78,883 67,358
Expressed as Risk-weighted assets 986,034 841,974
Tier I capital ratio 8.4% 8.6%
Total capital ratio 10.6% 11.0%
Capital adequacy quotient (capital base/
capital requirement) 1.33 1.38

With risk weighting according to Basel I 
Capital requirement 90,164 71,398
Expressed as Risk-weighted assets 1,127,054 892,473
Tier I capital ratio 7.3% 8.1%
Total capital ratio 9.3% 10.4%
Capital adequacy quotient (capital base/
capital requirement) 1.16 1.30

Capital adequacy
SEB Group, per cent

Total capital ratio

Core capital ratio
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   Total capital ratio        Tier I capital ratio

1) Basel II without transitional fl oor.

Capital base – summary
SEKm 2008 2007

Equity 83,729 76,719
Deduction for dividends 0 –4,442
Goodwill in banking operations –7,305 –6,079
IRB excess/shortfall –1,133 –235
Deductions for non-banking operations –2,954 –3,056
Other adjustments –2,245 –1,112
Tier I capital contribution 12,371 10,907

Tier I capital 82,463 72,702

Tier II debt 33,731 31,512
IRB excess/shortfall –1,133 –235
Deductions for non-banking operations –10,696 –10,673
Other adjustments 358 –333

Capital base 104,723 92,973

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 20071) 20081) Target1)
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(insurance surplus values are included in the Group’s overall loss 
absorption capacity and are therefore included in the calculation 
of economic capital). Due to diversi� cation effects when risks are 
aggregated across divisions, the capital requirement is consider-
ably lower than if the divisions had been independent legal units.

Allocation of capital to divisions is also based on the Economic 
Capital framework. Pro� tability is measured by relating reported 
result to allocated capital, which makes it possible to benchmark 
the risk-adjusted return of the Group and its divisions.

 
Stress testing
SEB views the macroeconomic environment as the major driver of 
risk to the Group’s earnings and � nancial stability. To arrive at an 
appropriate and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s � nancial 
strength, both the expected development of the economy as well 
as stressed scenarios representing more severe conditions must 
be taken into consideration. Stress scenario testing is used to assess 
an extra safety margin over and above the formal capital model 
requirements – covering e.g. the potential of a sharp decline in the 
macroeconomic environment.

Using recession scenarios and contrasting them with the base 
scenario underlying the established � nancial plan, the stress test-
ing framework projects the risk level in the Group in relation to 
available capital resources. In the stressed scenarios projected 
earnings for future years are lowered, credit losses are augmented 

(both for outright defaults and for increased collective provisions), 
and average risk weights in credit portfolios are increased due to 
risk class migration. The testing framework uses historical experi-
ence and internal statistics to quantify the level of stress that the 
base scenario should be exposed to.

The Group typically works with stress test scenarios designed 
to be a one in 10 year event and a one in 50 year event. In a one in 
10 year event, equity prices remain unchanged for three consecu-
tive years. Industrial productivity decreases in years one and two, 
followed by a modest increase in year three. A one in 50 year 
event sees equity prices falling by 20–25 percent annually for 
three years. Industrial productivity decreases by 5, 2.5 and 2 per 
cent annually, for three years.

Performing stress tests constitutes an important part of SEB’s 
capital assessment process over the long-term planning horizon. 
Available and required capital numbers are computed, contingent 
on the stressed environment, for each year in the scenarios. This 
makes it possible to assess the Group’s � nancial strength under 
even worse conditions than assumed in the � nancial plans.

 

Economic Capital, by risk type
SEKm 2008 2007 2006

Credit risk 63,500 55,300 42,300
Market risk 4,800 2,800 3,000
Insurance risk 17,900 15,100 14,800
Operational risk 8,100 6,000 3,500
Business risk 8,600 8,800 7,100
Diversifi cation –26,300 –21,400 –17,900

Total Economic Capital 76,600 66,600 52,800

SEB risk taxonomy

Regulatory capital Economic capital

Credit risk

Counterparty risk
Credit concentration risk

Liquidity riskTrading market risk Non-trading market risk

Reputational risk
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Capital assessment Group-wide
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Corporate Governance within SEB
Swedish Code of Corporate Governance
SEB follows the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance (Bo-
lagsstyrningskoden). No deviations were made from the provi-
sions of the Code during 2008.

The Corporate Governance Report has not been reviewed by 
the auditors.

Clear distribution of responsibilities
The ability to maintain confi dence among customers, sharehold-
ers and other stakeholders is of vital importance for SEB. An es-
sential factor in this context is a clear and effective structure for 
responsibility distribution and governance, thus avoiding e.g. 
confl icts of interest. SEB attaches great importance to the creation 
of clearly defi ned roles for offi cers and decision-making bodies 
within credit-granting, corporate fi nance activities, asset manage-
ment and insurance operations, for example.

The structure of responsibility distribution and governance 
comprises:

  Annual General Meeting (AGM).
  Board of Directors.
  President/Chief Executive Offi cer.
  Divisions, business areas and business units.
  Staff and Support functions.
  Internal Audit, Compliance and Risk Control.

The Board of Directors and the President perform their governing 
and controlling roles through several policies and instructions, 
the purpose of which is to clearly defi ne the distribution of re-
sponsibility. The Group’s Credit Instruction, Instruction for han-
dling of Confl icts of Interest, Ethics Policy, Risk Policy, Instruction 
for procedures against Money Laundering and Financing of 

 Terrorism, Code of Business Conduct and the Corporate Respon-
sibility Policy are of special importance.

Annual General Meeting
Shareholders’ infl uence is exercised at the Annual General Meet-
ing (AGM), which is the highest decision-making body of the 
Bank. All shareholders, registered in the Shareholders’ Register 
and having notifi ed their attendance properly, have the right to 
participate in the Meeting and to vote for the full number of their 
respective shares. A shareholder who cannot participate in the 
Meeting can be represented by proxy.

Amongst other things the AGM decides on changes in the 
 Articles of Association and on the allocation of the Bank’s profi t, 
appoints Board members, decides on the discharge from liability 
for the Board members and the President, decides on remunera-
tion for the Board and approves the principles for remuneration 
to the President and Group Executive Committee.

SEB’s major shareholders and shareholder structure as per 31 
December, 2008, appear from the tables on page 53.

Nomination Committee
According to a decision of the 2008 AGM, the members of the 
 Nomination Committee for the 2009 AGM were appointed during 
the autumn of 2008. Four of the Bank’s major shareholders have ap-
pointed one representative each who, together with the Chairman 
of the Board, forms the Nomination Committee. These four repre-
sentatives are: Petra Hedengran, appointed by Investor, Chairman 
of the Nomination Committee, Hans Mertzig, appointed by Trygg 
Foundation, Staffan Grefbäck, appointed byAlecta and Maj-Char-
lotte Wallin, appointed by AFA Försäkring. The composition of the 
Nomination Committee was announced on 24 September 2008. 

President and Chief Executive Officer

Risk & Capital
Committee

Head of Group
Compliance

Head of Group 
Internal Audit 

Remuneration & HR 
Committee

Audit & Compliance 
Committee

Group Credit
Committe

Group Executive 
Committee

Asset & Liability
Committee

Board of Directors

Head of
Group Risk Control

Appointed by

Reporting to/informing

Group Credit
Officer

seb’s activities are managed, controlled and followed up in accordance with policies and instructions established by the board and the President (CeO).

Corporate Governance structure
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The task of the committee is to prepare proposals for Chairman of 
the AGM, for the number of Board members, for remuneration to 
the Board of Directors and the auditors, for Board members and 
Chairman of the Board, for the distribution of the remu neration 
between the Board members, as well as for committee work and 
for decision on a Nomination Committee for the AGM 2010, to be 
presented at the AGM for decision. 

The size and composition of the Board of Directors should be 
such as to serve the Bank in the best possible way. This means that 
the Directors’ broad experience from, and knowledge about, the 
fi nancial and other sectors, their international experience and 
strong network of contacts should meet the demands that the 
Bank’s position and future orientation call for. The result of the in-
ternal evaluation of the Board of Directors and its members forms 
part of the material used by the Nomination Committee. If neces-
sary, the Nomination Committee will use external advisors. 

Since the 2008 AGM the Nomination Committee has held four 
meetings and been in contact between the meetings. The propos-
als from the Nomination Committeee and comments to the pro-
posal on Board members are found on the website of the Bank 
and an account for the way in which the Nomination Committee 
has performed its work will be presented at the 2009 AGM. No 
special compensation has been paid to the members of the Nomi-
nation Committee.

Board of Directors
The Board members are appointed by the shareholders at the AGM 
for a term of offi ce of one year, until the next AGM. In accordance 
with the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance, the Chairman 
of the Board was also appointed by the 2008 AGM for a term of 
 offi ce until the end of the next AGM.

During 2008, the Board of Directors has consisted of ten mem-
bers, without any deputies, elected by the AGM and of two mem-
bers and two deputies appointed by the employees. In order for the 
Board to form a quorum, more than half of the members must be 

present. The President is the only Board member elected by the 
AGM who is equally an employee of the Bank. All other Board 
members elected by the AGM are considered to be independent in 
relation to the Bank and its Management. With the exception of 
Marcus Wallenberg and Jacob Wallenberg, who are not considered 
to be independent in relation to the shareholder Investor AB, all 
Board members are considered to be independent in relation to 
 major owners. Independent Board members are defi ned as those 
who have no essential connections with the Bank, its Management 
or major shareholders (holding 10 per cent or more of the shares or 
votes) besides being Board members. The composition of the Board 
of Directors as from the 2008 AGM appears from the table on page 
54 and information on the members is found on pages 134–135. 

The Board of Directors has adopted Rules of Procedure that 
regulate the role and working forms of the Board as well as spe-
cial instructions for the committees of the Board. The Board has 
the overall responsibility for the activities carried out within the 
Bank and the Group and thus decides on the nature, direction, 
strategy and framework of the activities and sets the objectives 
for the activities. The Board regularly follows up and evaluates 
the operations in relation to the objectives and guidelines estab-
lished by the Board. Furthermore, the Board has the responsibility 
to ensure that the activities are organised in such a way that the 
accounts, management of funds and fi nancial conditions in all 
other respects are controlled in a satisfactory manner and that the 
risks inherent in the activities are identifi ed, defi ned, measured, 
monitored and controlled in accordance with external and inter-
nal rules, including the Articles of Association of the Bank. 

Corporate Governance

The largest shareholders 1)

December 31, 2008 No. of shares
Of which 

series C shares shares votes

Investor Ab 142,527,895 2,725,000 20.7 21.1
Trygg Foundation 65,677,962 9.6 9.9
Alecta 36,148,611 733,611 5.3 5.4
swedbank/Robur Funds 26,151,625 3.8 3.9
AFA Insurance 18,758,325 875,560 2.7 2.7
seb Funds 13,137,692 1.9 2.0
Fourth swedish National 
Pension Fund 12,728,700 1.9 1.9
AMF Pension 11,000,000 1.6 1.7
Wallenberg foundations 10,330,389 5,871,173 1.5 0.8
sHb Funds 9,476,321 1.4 1.4
skandia Life Insurance 8,892,926 3,452,219 1.3 0.9
Nordea Funds 8,184,736 1.2 1.2
Capital Group Funds 7,560,000 1.1 1.1
second swedish National 
Pension Fund 7,263,531 1.1 1.1
First swedish National 
Pension Fund 6,427,046 0.9 1.0

Foreign shareholders 127,867,255 1,132,651 18.6 19.1

Per cent of 
number of all

1)  excluding seb as shareholder through repurchased shares to hedge 
seb’s long-term incentive programme and for capital management.  

source: VPC/sIs Ägarservice.

Shareholder structure
Percentage holdings of equity on 31 December 2008

Swedish shareholders  81.4

Institutions and foundations  53.0

Private persons     12.4

Mutual funds     15.9

Foreign shareholders     18.6

The majority of the bank’s approximately 280,000 shareholders 
are private individuals with small holdings.

source: VPC/sIs Ägarservice

Ownership concentration
Largest owners’ share of capital and votes, per cent
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The Board appoints and dismisses the President and his/her 
Deputy as well as the Executive Vice Presidents, the Group Credit 
Offi cer, the members of the Group Executive Committee and the 
Head of Group Internal Audit.

The Chairman of the Board organises and manages the work of 
the Board by convening Board meetings, deciding on the agenda 
and preparing the matters to be discussed at the meetings, after 
consulting the President, among other things.

The Board members receive regular information about and, if 
necessary, training in changes in rules concerning the activities of 
the Bank and listed company directors’ responsibilities, among 
other things. They are regularly offered the opportunity of dis-
cussing with the Chairman of the Board, the President and the 
Secretary to the Board of Directors.

The President takes part in all Board meetings, except in mat-
ters where the President has an interest that may confl ict with the 
interest of the Bank such as those during which the work of the 
President is evaluated. Other members of the executive manage-
ment of the Bank participate whenever required for purposes of 
informing the Board or upon request by the Board or the Presi-
dent. During 2008, the Board has held discussions without the 
President or any other member of the executive management of 
the Bank being present. The General Legal Counsel of the Bank 
and the Group is the Secretary to the Board of Directors.

The work of the Board follows a yearly plan. During 2008, 
15 Board meetings were held. External audit representatives were 
present at two of these meetings. The decisions of the Board are 
made after open and constructive discussions. Essential matters 
dealt with during the year included the following:

  Strategic direction of Group activities (nature and scope).
  Overall long-term goals for the activities.
  Policies and instructions, including an annual review and 
 revision.

  Business plans, fi nancial plans and forecasts.
  The instability on the fi nancial markets.
  Group risk position, including development of credit portfolio 
and liquidity situation.

  Capital and fi nancing issues, including risk limits. 

   Thorough penetration of business and market segments 
 including the Baltic countries.

  Major investments and business acquisitions/divestments.
  Short and long-term incentives, succession planning and top 
management review process.

  Interim reports and annual report.
  Internal operational and cost-effi ciency processes.
  IT structure and strategy.
  Evaluation of the Bank’s internal control functioning.
  Follow-up of external and internal audit activities and Group 
compliance activities.

  Evaluation of the work of the Board of Directors, the President 
and the Group Executive Committee.

The overall responsibility of the Board cannot be delegated. 
 However, the Board has established committees, pursuant to the 
Board’s instructions, to handle certain defi ned issues and to pre-
pare such issues for decision by the Board of Directors. At present, 
there are three committees within the Board of Directors: the Risk 
and Capital Committee, the Audit and Compliance Committee 
and the Remuneration and Human Resources Committee. Min-
utes are kept of each committee meeting and communicated to 
the other Board members promptly after the meetings. The com-
mittees report regularly to the Board of Directors. Committee 
members are appointed for a period of one year at a time. It is an 
important principle that as many Board members as possible 
shall participate in the committee work, also as committee chair-
men. Although the Chairman of the Board is a member of all three 
committees, he is not chairing any of them. Neither the President 
nor any other offi cer of the Bank is a member of the Audit and 
Compliance Committee or the Remuneration and Human Re-
sources Committee. The President is a member of the Risk and 
Capital Committee. The work of the Board committees is regulat-
ed through instructions adopted by the Board. Apart from the 
committee work, no work distribution is applied by the Board.

Risk and Capital Committee
The Risk and Capital Committee of the Board shall support the 
Board in establishing and reviewing the Bank’s organisation so 

Board of Directors as from the 2008 Annual General Meeting  

Name  elected Position

Risk and 
Capital 
Committee

Audit and 
Compliance 
Committee

Remuneration 
and HR 
Committee

Total 
remuneration,

seK

Presence 
board 

Meetings

Presence 
Committee 

Meetings

Marcus Wallenberg 2002 Chairman 2,750,000 100% 100%
Tuve Johannesson   1997 Deputy Chairman 795,000 93% 100%
Jacob Wallenberg 1997 Deputy Chairman 600,000 93% %
Penny Hughes  2000 Director 887,500 100% 100%
Urban Jansson  1996 Director 1,010,000 100% 100%
Hans-Joachim Körber   2000 Director 500,000 87% %
Christine Novakovic 2008 Director 695,000 85% 100%
Jesper Ovesen 2004 Director 825,000 100% 94%
Carl Wilhelm Ros 1999 Director 887,500 93% 100%
Annika Falkengren 2006 Director, President and CeO – 100% 100%
Göran Lilja 2006 Director appointed by the employees – 100% %
Cecilia Mårtensson 2008 Director appointed by the employees – 62% %
Göran Arrius  2002 Deputy Director appointed by the employees – 93% %
Ulf Jensen  1997 Deputy Director appointed by the employees – 87% %

8,950,000

 Chairman  Deputy Chairman  Director
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that it is managed in such a way that all risks inherent in the 
Group’s activities are identified, defined, measured, monitored 
and controlled in accordance with external and internal rules. The 
Committee decides the principles and parameters for measuring 
and allocating risk and capital within the Group. The Committee 
reviews and makes proposals for Group policies and strategies, 
such as Risk Policy and risk strategy, Credit Policy, Capital Policy, 
Liquidity and Pledge Policy as well as Trading and Investment 
Policy, for decision by the Board, and monitors that these policies 
are implemented and follows up the development of the risks of 
the Group. The Committee prepares the Board decisions concern-
ing limits for market and liquidity risks. 

As far as credit matters are concerned, the Committee adopts 
credit policies and instructions that supplement the Credit Policy 
and Credit Instruction of the Group and makes decisions on indi-
vidual credit matters (matters of major importance or of impor-
tance as to principles). In addition, the Committee reviews on a 
regular basis both significant developments in the credit portfolio 
and the credit process within the Bank and the Group. It further-
more examines matters relating to operational risk, market and 
 liquidity risk and insurance risk. 

As far as capital matters are concerned, the Committee regu-
larly reviews essential changes in the overall capital and liquidity 
situation and the capital adequacy situation of the Group, includ-
ing the implementation of Basel II. The Committee prepares 
changes in the Group’s capital goals and asset management mat-
ters, for decision by the Board, such as dividend level and the set-
up and utilisation of repurchase programmes of own shares. The 
Committee consists of four members, including the President, and 
forms a quorum whenever a minimum of three members are pres-
ent, including the Chairman or Deputy Chairman of the Commit-
tee. During 2008 the Committee had the following members: 
 Urban Jansson, Chairman, Marcus Wallenberg, Deputy Chairman, 
Jesper Ovesen and Annika Falkengren. The Group’s Chief Finan-
cial Officer has the overall responsibility for presentations of capi-
tal matters to the Committee, the Group Credit Officer for credit 
matters and the Head of Group Risk Control for risk control mat-
ters. The Committee has held 19 meetings during the year.

Audit and Compliance Committee
The Audit and Compliance Committee of the Board supports the 
work of the Board in terms of quality control of the Bank’s finan-
cial reports and internal control over the financial reporting. When 
required the Committeee also prepares, for decision by the Board, 
a proposal for the appointment or dismissal of the Head of Group 
Internal Audit. The Committee maintains regular contact with the 
external and internal auditors of the Bank and discusses the co-or-
dination of the external and internal audit. During 2008, the Com-
mittee has met with representatives of the external auditors on 
several occasions, without the President or any other member of 
the executive management of the Bank being present. The Com-
mittee deals with the accounts and interim reports as well as with 
audit reports, including any changes in the accounting rules. It en-
sures that any remarks and observations from the auditors are at-
tended to. The Committee furthermore decides on guidelines for 
which services other than auditing services that may be procured 
by the Bank and the Group from the external auditors. It assesses 
the external auditors’ work and independence and prepares pro-
posals for new auditors prior to the AGM’s election of auditor.  
The Committee establishes an annual audit plan for the internal 
audit function co-ordinated with the external audit plan. 

The Committee furthermore approves the President’s propos-

al for the appointment and dismissal of the Head of Group Com-
pliance and the compliance plan. The internal audit and compli-
ance activities are monitored on a continuous basis. 

The Committee consists of three members, none of whom are 
employed by the Group. The committee forms a quorum whenev-
er a minimum of two members are present, including the Chairman 
or Deputy Chairman of the Committee. During 2008, the Audit 
and Compliance Committee had the following members: Carl 
Wilhelm Ros, Chairman, Marcus Wallenberg, Deputy Chairman 
and Christine Novakovic (Steven Kaempfer until the 2008 AGM). 
The Head of Group Internal Audit and the Head of Group Com-
pliance are the presenters of reports in the Committee. The Audit 
and Compliance Committee has held five meetings during the 
year. The external auditors attended all of these meetings.

Remuneration and Human Resources Committee
The Remuneration and Human Resources Committee of the Board pre-
pares, for decision by the AGM and the Board, respectively, a pro-
posal for remuneration principles applicable to the President and 
the members of the Group Executive Committee as well as a pro-
posal for remuneration to the President and the Head of Group In-
ternal Audit. The Committee decides on issues concerning remu-
neration to the members of the Group Executive Committee 
according to the principles established by the AGM. The Commit-
tee furthermore prepares matters regarding incentive programmes 
and pension plans, monitors the pension commitments of the 
Group and monitors, together with the Risk and Capital Commit-
tee of the Board, all measures taken to secure the pension commit-
ments of the Group including the development of the Bank’s pen-
sion foundations. It furthermore discusses personnel matters of 
strategic importance, such as succession planning for strategically 
important positions and other management supply issues. 

The Committee consists of three members, none of whom are 
employed by the Group. The Committee forms a quorum whenev-
er a minimum of two members are present, including the Chair-
man or Deputy Chairman of the Committee. During 2008, the 
Committee had the following members: Penny Hughes, Chairman, 
Marcus Wallenberg, Deputy Chairman and Tuve Johannesson. The 
President presents proposals, reports and information to the Com-
mittee, together with the Head of Group Human Resources & Or-
ganisational Development, with respect to matters where there are 
no conflicts with the interests of the Bank. The Remuneration and 
Human Resources Committee has held nine meetings during 2008.

Evaluation of the Board of Directors, the President and the 
Group Executive Committee
SEB applies an annual self-assessment method, which among other 
things includes a questionnaire, followed by discussions within the 
Board. Through this process the activities and working methods of 
the Board, the Chairman of the Board and each respective commit-
tee are evaluated. Among the issues examined are the following: 
how to improve the work of the Board further, whether or not each 
individual Board member takes an active part in the discussions of 
the Board and the committees; whether they contribute indepen-
dent opinions and whether the meeting atmosphere facilitates open 
discussions. The outcome of the evaluation has been presented to, 
and discussed by, the Board and the Nomination Committee. 

The Chairman of the Board evaluates each individual member’s 
work, formally once a year. Marcus Wallenberg did not partici-
pate in the evaluation of the Chairman’s work, which evaluation 
was conducted by Tuve Johannesson.

The Board evaluates the work of the President and the Group 
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Executive Committee on a continuous basis, without attendance 
by the President or any other member of the Group Executive 
Committee.

The President and Chief Executive Offi cer
The Board of Directors has adopted an instruction for the Presi-
dent’s and Chief Executive Offi cer’s work and role. The President 
is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s ac-
tivities in accordance with the guidelines and established policies 
and instructions of the Board. The President reports to the Board 
of Directors and submits a separate CEO report on among other 
things the development of the business in relation to resolutions 
taken by the Board at each Board meeting.

The President appoints the Chief Financial Offi cer of the Group, 
the Heads of divisions, the Head of Business Support and Group 
Staff, the Head of HR & Organisational Development and the 
Head of Group Strategy & Business Planning. The President fur-
ther appoints Head of Group Compliance, Head of Group Risk 
Control, Head of Group IT, Heads of branches and Heads of the 
individual staff and support functions. The Chief Financial Offi -
cer of the Group is appointed in consultation with the Chairman 
of the Board and the Head of Group Compliance in consultation 
with the Audit and Compliance Committee of the Board.

President and Chief Executive Offi cer is Annika Falkengren. 
More information about the President is found on page 136. Dep-
uty President and Chief Executive Offi cer is Bo Magnusson.

The President has three different committees at her disposal 
for the purpose of managing the operations: the Group Executive 
Committee, the Group Credit Committee (page 57) and the Asset 
and Liability Committee (page 57).

In order to protect the interests of the whole Group, the Presi-
dent consults with the Group Executive Committee (GEC), its IT-
Committee and its New Product Approval Committee (NPAC) on 
matters of major importance or of importance as to principles. 
The GEC deals with, among other things, matters of common 
concern to several divisions, strategic issues, business plans, 
 fi nancial forecasts and reports. The GEC has held 25 meetings 
during 2008. During 2008, Annika Falkengren, Jan Erik Back 
(from 15 August), Per-Arne Blomquist (up to 14 August), Fredrik 
Boheman, Magnus Carlsson, Ingrid Engström, Hans Larsson, 
Bo  Magnusson and Anders Mossberg were members of the Group 
Executive Committee. As from 1 January also Mats Torstendahl is 
a member of the GEC.

There is a special forum for information exchange at Group 
level, the Management Advisory Group (MAG), which consists of 

senior offi cers representing the whole Group. The members of 
MAG are appointed by the President in consultation with the GEC.

Divisions, business areas and business units
The Board of Directors has regulated the activities of the Group in 
an instruction concerning the Group’s operations and established 
how the divisions of the Group, including the international activi-
ties through branches and subsidiaries, shall be managed and or-
ganised.

SEB’s activities are organised in four divisions:
  Merchant Banking, with Magnus Carlsson as Head, for SEB’s 
relations with large and medium-sized companies, fi nancial 
institutions and real estate companies,

  Retail Banking, for SEB’s retail operations and card activities, 
with Bo Magnusson as Head up to 31 December 2008 and Mats 
Torstendahl as from 1 January 2009

  Wealth Management, with Fredrik Boheman as Head, for SEB’s 
mutual fund and asset management activities and private 
banking and

  Life, with Anders Mossberg as Head, for SEB’s life insurance 
activities.

All Heads of division are members of the Group Executive 
 Committee.

Each division’s operations are divided into business areas 
which, in turn, are divided into business units. The Head of divi-
sion has the overall responsibility for the activities of the division 
and appoints, after consultations with the President, heads of 
business areas within the division and of those subsidiaries for 
which the division is responsible. Within each division there is a 
management group, which includes the Head of division and a 
number of heads of business areas and subsidiaries pertaining to 
the division. There are also management groups within the busi-
ness areas and business units.

A Country Manager has been appointed for the co-ordination 
of activities within some of those countries outside Sweden in 
which several divisions carry out activities, such as Denmark, Nor-
way and Finland. The Country Manager reports to a member of the 
Group Executive Committee, specially appointed for the purpose.

Staff and support functions
SEB’s staff and support functions are divided into three cross-divi-
sional support functions in order to streamline operations and 
front offi ce support: Group Operations, Group IT and Group 
Staff. SEB has a number of staff and support functions such as 

SEBś organisation

Group Operations / Group IT / Group Staff

Board of 
Directors

Merchant Banking Retail Banking Wealth Management Life

Group Credits 

Group Compliance

 Group Risk Control

Chief Financial Officer

Internal Audit

President and 
Chief Executive Officer
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CEO Office, Finance, Treasury, Human Resources & Organisational 
Development, Marketing & Communication, Legal, Security and 
Procurement & Real Estate. In general the staff functions within 
SEB have a global functional accountability and own and manage 
the SEB Group’s common instructions and policies, processes and 
procedures for the purpose of proactively supporting the President, 
the Group Executive Committee, managers and staff as well as all 
business units of the Group. 

SEB’s organisation appears from the chart on page 56.

Risk organisation and responsibility
The Board of Directors has the ultimate responsibility for the risk 
organisation of the Group and for the maintenance of satisfactory 
internal control. The Risk and Capital Committee of the Board 
shall support the Board in this work, e.g. by reviewing the Group’s 
risk, capital and liquidity policies for yearly updates. The Board 
receives a report on the development of the Group’s exposure 
with respect to risks at least once per quarter. 

The President and CEO has the overall responsibility for man-
aging SEB’s risks in accordance with the policies and intentions of 
the Board. The President and CEO shall ensure that the organisation 
and administration of SEB are appropriate and that activities under-
taken are in compliance with law. In particular, the President and 
CEO shall particular present any essential risk information regard-
ing SEB to the Board, including the utilisation of limits.

The primary responsibility for ensuring that the Board’s intent 
regarding risk management and risk control is practically applied in 
SEB lies with the Group Asset and Liability Committee and the Group 
Credit Committee. The Group Asset and Liability Committee, chaired by 
the President and CEO, deals with issues relating to the overall risk 
level of the Group and the various divisions and decides on, among 
other things, risk limits, risk-measuring methods and capital alloca-
tion. Within the framework of the Group Capital Policy and the 
Group Risk Policy of the Board of Directors, the Group Asset and Lia-
bility Committee has established policy documents for the responsi-
bility and management of the risk types of the Group and for the 
 relationship between risk and capital. The Group Asset and Liability 
Committee held ten meetings during 2008.

The Group Credit Committee (GCC) is the highest credit-grant-
ing body of the Bank, with the exception of a few matters that are 
reserved for the Risk and Capital Committee of the Board of 
 Directors. GCC is furthermore responsible for reviewing the cred-
it-granting rules on a regular basis and for presenting proposals 
for changes to the Risk and Capital Committee of the Board, if 
necessary. The President is the chairman of the Committee and 
the Group Credit Officer is its deputy chairman. GCC held 61 
meetings during 2008. 

The credit organisation is independent from the business 
 activities. Group Credits is responsible for the administration and 
management of the credit approval process and for important in-
dividual credit decisions and furthermore for analysis and follow-
up of the composition of the credit portfolio as well as for the ad-
herence to policies established by the Risk and Capital Committee 
and the Board of Directors. Its activities are regulated in the 
Group’s Credit Instruction, adopted by the Board of Directors. 

The Group Credit Officer is appointed by the Board and reports 
to the President. The Group Credit Officer presents credit matters 
to the Risk and Capital Committee of the Board. The Board receives 
information on the composition of the credit portfolio, including 
large exposures and credit losses, at least once a quarter. The 
chairman of each credit committee has the right to veto credit de-
cisions. The credit organisation is kept separate from the business 

units and handles credit matters exclusively. Significant exceptions 
to the credit policy of the Group must be referred to a higher level 
in the decision-making hierarchy.

Responsibility for day-to-day risk management in the Group 
rests with the divisions (and similarly with Group Treasury). 
Thus, each division and Head of division is responsible for ensur-
ing that the risks are managed and controlled in a satisfactory 
way on a daily basis, within established Group guidelines. It is a 
fundamental principle that all control functions shall be indepen-
dent of the business operations.

Internal audit, compliance and risk control
The Group has three control functions, which are independent 
from the business operations: Internal Audit, Compliance and 
Risk Control. 

Group Internal Audit is an independent group-wide function, 
directly subordinated to the Board of Directors. The main responsi-
bility of Group Internal Audit is to provide reliable and objective 
assurance to the Board and the President over the effectiveness of 
controls, risk management and governance processes, mitigating 
current and evolving high risks and in so doing enhancing the con-
trol culture within the Group. The Head of Group Internal Audit 
reports regularly to the Audit and Compliance Committee of the 
Board and keeps the President and the Group Executive Commit-
tee regularly informed. The Audit and Compliance Committee 
adopts an annual plan for the work of Internal Audit.

A new Group Compliance organisation (Group Compliance) was 
launched in January 2008, with considerably more resources. The 
Group Compliance function is fully independent from the busi-
ness operations, although it serves as a support function for the 
business operations. It is also separated from the legal functions of 
the Group. Compliance shall act proactively for Compliance quali-
ty in the Group through information, advice, control and follow-
up within the Compliance areas, thereby supporting business and 
management. Areas of responsibility are Customer Protection, 
Market Conduct, Prevention of Money Laundering and Financing 
of Terrorism and Regulatory Systems and Control. Duties of the 
Compliance function are risk management, monitoring, reporting, 
development of internal rules within the compliance area, investi-
gation of incidents, advising, training and communication as well 
as relations with regulators. The task of the Head of Group Com-
pliance is to assist the Board and the President on compliance mat-
ters and to co-ordinate the handling of such matters within the 
Group. The Head of Group Compliance reports regularly to the 
President and the Group Executive Committee and informs the 
Audit and Compliance Committee of the Board about compliance 
issues. Following a Group-wide Compliance Risk Assessment and 
approval from the Audit and Compliance Committee, the President 
adopts an annual Compliance Plan. 

The Group’s risk control function (Group Risk Control) carries out 
the Group risk control and monitors the risks of the Group, primar-
ily credit risk, market risk, insurance risk, operational risk and li-
quidity risk (see further on pp 36–51). Group Risk Control is segre-
gated from the business units. Thus, although the Head of Group 
Risk Control is appointed by the President, he reports to the Group 
Credit Officer. The Group’s ALCO is regularly informed. The Head 
of Group Risk Control is the presenter of reports on risk control 
matters in the Risk and Capital Committee of the Board. 

The Board of Directors has adopted instructions for the inter-
nal audit and compliance activities of the Group. The President 
has adopted an instruction for the Group Risk Control activities.
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Information about the auditor
According to its Articles of Association, the Bank shall have at 
least one and not more than two auditors with at the most an 
equal number of deputies. A registered accounting fi rm may be 
appointed auditor. The auditors are, under Swedish law, appoint-
ed for a period of four years.
 PricewaterhouseCoopers AB has been the Bank’s auditor since 
2000 and was re-elected in 2008 for the period up to and including 
the 2012 AGM. Chief responsible has been Peter Clemedtson, 
 Authorised Public Accountant, as from the 2006 AGM. Peter 
Clemedtson has auditing assignments also in the following major 
companies: Electrolux and Ericsson. 

The fees charged by the auditors for the auditing of the Bank’s 
annual accounts for the fi nancial year ending 31 December 2008 
and for 2007, respectively, and for other assignments invoiced 
during said periods appear from the table set out below: 

Board of Directors´ Report on Internal Control over the 
Financial Reporting for 2008
The Board of Directors´ report on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting for the year 2008 has been prepared in accordance with 
the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance. This report is part of 
the Corporate Governance Report and describes how the internal 
control over fi nancial reporting is organised within SEB. The report 
has not been reviewed by the company’s auditors.

Internal control over fi nancial reporting is defi ned as the pro-
cess, affected by the Board, management and other personnel, de-
signed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of fi nancial reporting. The work with internal control over fi nan-
cial reporting in SEB is based upon the framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO). The COSO 
framework is the most commonly used framework and is struc-
tured around fi ve internal control components further described 
below; Control Environment, Risk Assessment, Control Activities, 
Information & Communications and Monitoring. The framework 
also consists of three internal control areas; Operations,  Financial 
Reporting and Compliance. This report covers the  Financial 
 Reporting area only.

  
Control environment
The control environment establishes the foundation for internal 
control by shaping the culture and values that guide how SEB 
 operates. This component includes management’s operating style 
and the ethical values of the organisation, but also how authority 
and responsibility are communicated and documented in govern-
ing documents such as internal policies and instructions.

The Board of Directors and the CEO of SEB have adopted 
Group-wide SEB internal rules (policies and instructions) to be 
implemented by each organisational unit. The CEO has, support-
ed by the Board, decided on the SEB Code of Business Conduct. 
These governing documents form the basic framework for the 
control environment within SEB.

Examples of specifi c parts of the control environment framework 
essential for the internal control of fi nancial reporting are:

  Instruction for the Audit and Compliance Committee of the 
Board of Directors.

  Instruction for the Chief Financial Offi cer, Group Treasury, 
Group Finance, the Accounting Standard Committee and the 
Tax Committee.

  SEB Group Operational Risk policy.
  SEB Group Accounting Principles.

Risk assessment
SEB´s risk assessment regarding fi nancial reporting, meaning the 
identifi cation and valuation of the most signifi cant risks concern-
ing fi nancial reporting, is performed annually. The assessment is 
focused on business and process complexity, the related transac-
tion values and level of systme support. The assessment is docu-
mented and forms the basis for measures to improve the internal 
control as well as direct follow-up routines.

At board level, it is the Audit and Compliance Committee 
who is responsible for quality assurance of the fi nancial report-
ing. To ensure that all risks for material fi nancial reporting mis-
statements are identifi ed and managed properly, the Committee 
maintains regular contact with responsible managers within SEB 
and also with the internal and external auditors.

Control activities
The signifi cant risks regarding fi nancial reporting, identifi ed in 
the risk assessment, are managed through a control structure 
which in accordance with the COSO framework is divided into 
three different control categories:

  Entity wide controls.
  Transaction level controls.
  General IT controls.

Entity wide controls: The main purpose of entity-wide controls is to 
establish the expectations of the organisation’s control environment 
and to monitor that these expectations are fulfi lled. Examples of 
entity-wide controls within SEB directly related to the internal 
control of fi nancial reporting are; Questionnaires & Assertions, 
Policy Compliance Checklist, New Product Approval Committee 
and Business Performance Reviews.

Transaction level controls: Transaction level controls are imple-
mented at process level and include a range of activities such as 
authorisations, reconciliations, reviews etc. 

General IT controls: General IT controls include controls over the 
information technology (IT) environment, computer operations, 
access to programmes and data, programme development and 
programme changes. SEB is continuously working with these 
controls to ensure adequate system access rights and suffi cient 
segregation of duties.

Information and communication
General internal control awareness in SEB has been addressed 
during the year through a group wide e-learning programme 
about operational risk. The internal control awareness regarding 
fi nancial reporting and specifi c process and control training is 
 being rolled out continuously to concerned parties. 

SEB´s CFO reports the status of the work related to Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting to the Audit & Compliance 
Committee quarterly. 

Fees to the auditors
seKm 2008 2007

Audit assignments 62 48
Other assignments 52 19

Total 114 67
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Monitoring
Monitoring activities to ensure the effectiveness of Internal Control 
of Financial Reporting is conducted by the Board of Directors, the 
President and the Group Executive Committee each month. The 
Board receives monthly financial reports and the financial situation 
of the Group is presented and discussed at each Board meeting. 

SEB follows up compliance with policies, guidelines and man-
uals on a continuous basis as well as the effectiveness of the control 
structure and the accuracy of the financial reporting. In addition, 
Group Risk Control, Group Compliance and Internal Audit are 
continuously engaged in follow-up routines. The Group Internal 
Audit function reviews the internal control over the financial re-
porting according to a plan established by the Audit and Compli-
ance Committee. The result of Internal Audit’s reviews as well as 
all measures taken and their current status are regularly reported to 
the Audit and Compliance Committee. 

Remuneration to the Board of Directors, the President and 
other members of the Group Executive Committee
The Board of Directors
SEB’s 2008 AGM fixed a total remuneration amount of SEK 
8,950,000 for the members of the Board to be distributed as fol-
lows: SEK 2,750,000 to the Chairman of the Board, SEK 4,200,000 
to the other Directors elected by the AGM who are not employed 
in the Bank to be distributed as follows: SEK 600,000 each to the 
Vice Chairmen and SEK 500,000 to the other Directors, and SEK 
2,000,000 for committee work to be distributed as follows: 

Risk and Capital Committee: Chairman SEK 510,000, other 
member SEK 325,000, Audit and Compliance Committee: Chair-
man SEK 387,500, other member SEK 195,000 and Remuneration 
and Human Resources Committee: Chairman SEK 387,500, other 
member SEK 195,000. No fee for Committee work is distributed 
either to the Chairman of the Board or the employees of the Bank. 
Information on each director’s assignment on Board committees 
and the distribution of the directors’ remuneration for 2008 appears 
from the table on page 54. The remuneration is paid out on a run-
ning basis during the mandate period.

Following a recommendation by SEB’s Nomination Commit-
tee, the Board of Directors has adopted a Share Ownership Policy 
for the Board. The policy recommendation is that each Board mem-
ber shall use 25 per cent net after tax of the annual remuneration 
(excluding remuneration for committee work) distributed to said 
Board member to acquire shares in SEB.

Following an initiative from the Board of Directors, the Nomi-
nation Committee will propose the 2009 Annual General Meeting 
a reduction of their base remuneration by 25 per cent. The remu-
neration for Committee work is proposed unchanged. 

The President and the Group Executive Committee
SEB’s Board of Directors has prepared proposals as to principles 
for the salary and other remuneration to the President and the 
Group Executive Committee, which were approved by the 2008 
AGM. According to these principles, the Board has decided on the 
actual remuneration to the President following a proposal from 
the Remuneration and Human Resources Committee. The remu-
neration of the President has been benchmarked against the Swed-
ish and international market. The Remuneration and Human Re-
sources Committee has decided on the remuneration of the other 
members of the Group Executive Committee according to the 
principles established by the 2008 AGM. To the 2008 AGM the ex-
ternal auditors gave a report that the Board and the President dur-
ing 2007 have complied with the principles for compensation to 
members of senior management as adopted by the 2007 AGM.

The general principle for the remuneration structure for the Presi-
dent and other members of the Group Executive Committee has 
during 2008 been the same as for the Bank as a whole, i.e. based 
upon four main components: base salary, short-term incentive 
compensation, long-term incentive compensation and pension.  
In addition, other benefits such as company car may be offered. 

The short-term incentive compensation is based on the 
achievement of certain predetermined goals, individual and gen-
eral, qualitative and quantitative, agreed in writing with the indi-
vidual. The short-term incentive compensation is set for one year 
at a time. Operating result, costs and customer satisfaction are 
 examples of objectives used. Short-term incentive compensation 
is maximized to a certain percentage of the base salary. 

The Board of Directors proposes that new principles for sala-
ries and other remuneration to the President and the Group Exec-
utive Committee shall be approved by the 2009 AGM. The princi-
ples are proposed to be based on three components; base salary, 
long-term incentive compensation and pension as well as other 
benefits such as company car.

Long-term incentive programmes shall be share-based and, 
except for all-employee programmes, performance-based. The 
purpose of a mix of long-term incentive compensation programmes 
is to create a commitment to SEB, strengthen the overall perspec-
tive on SEB, offer the participants an opportunity to take part in 
SEB’s long-term success and value creation and to create an in-
centive for the employees to become shareholders of SEB as well 
as to create possibilities to attract and retain senior officers and 
other key employees. SEB’s first long-term incentive programme 
was introduced in 1999, after which additional programmes have 
been launched for the years 2000–2008. From 1999 to 2004, the 
long-term incentive programmes were launched in the form of 
employee stock option programmes. For the years 2005–2007, 
performance shares were used. Information about these pro-
grammes has been provided in the annual reports for these years 
and at the AGMs since 2002. The 2008 AGM resolved on three dif-
ferent programmes for 2008; one Share Savings Programme, one 
Performance Share Programme and one Share Matching Pro-
gramme.

The pension plan is defined as benefit-based or contribution-
based and shall be inviolable. SEB aims at increasing the defined 
contribution-based element. The size of the pensionable salary is 
capped. At termination of employment by the Bank, severance 
pay of between 12 and 24 months’ salary will be paid. The Bank 
has the right to make deductions from such severance pay of any 
cash payments that the executive may receive from another em-
ployer or through his/her own business.

The president has unilateraly decided to renounce her pay-out 
of any short-term incentive compensation for 2008.

The base salaries, the incentive compensation and other bene-
fits of the President and the members of the Group Executive 
Committee during 2008 as well as the scope of SEB’s long-term 
incentive programmes are specified in Note 9.

Long-term Incentive Programmes 2008
The proposed share-based long-term incentive programmes for 
2008 approved by the Annual General Meeting of the same year 
consisted of three different programmes with different aims and 
partly overlapping target groups:

  a Share Savings Programme for all employees 
   a Performance Share Programme for senior officers and other 
key employees and

   a Share Matching Programme for a small number of selected 
key employees.
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All three Programmes are share-based and require that the partici-
pants remain with SEB for a specifi ed time. The Performance 
Share Programme and the Share Matching Programme are also 
based on performance. 

However, the Board has decided not to implement the 2008 
Share Matching Programme as the performance criteria for this 
programme were set prior to the major dislocations in the fi nan-
cial markets. The programme would not fulfi l its purpose if exe-
cuted. 

Share Savings Programme
The Share Savings Programme concerns all employees of the 
Group Programme and is designed to support “One SEB” and cre-
ate a long-term commitment to SEB.

The employees have been offered to purchase Class A-shares 
for an amount corresponding to fi ve per cent of their gross base 
salary and for the amount, at current stock exchange rate. Pur-
chases are made during four periods, following the publication 
of the Bank’s quarterly reports. If the shares are retained by the 
employee for three years from the investment date and the partici-
pant remains with SEB during this time, the Bank will give the 
employee one SEB share (Class A-share) for each retained share. 

The Programme is proposed to comprise an obligation for the 
Bank to deliver a maximum of 1,864,000 such shares. 

One third of SEB’s employees joined the Programme in 2008. 

Performance Share Programme
This Programme is based on performance shares with the aim 
to retain and attract senior offi cers and other key employees, to 
create a long-term commitment to SEB, to strengthen the overall 
perspective on SEB and to create an incentive for the participants 
to become shareholders in SEB. 

A performance share under the Programme is a conditional 
right to acquire one Class A-share in the Bank at a future date. The 
outcome of the Programme, i.e. the number of allotted performance 
shares that can be fi nally utilised, is dependent on how certain 
pre-determined performance criteria are fulfi lled. The perfor-
mance criteria are measured during an initial three-year period. 
A further  requirement is that the participant remains within SEB. 
The Programme has a duration of seven years including the per-
formance period and comprises a maximum of 1,500,000 perfor-
mance shares allotted to approx. 480 senior offi cers and other key 
employees. 

Performance criteria for the 2008 programme
To reach full outcome of the performance shares under the Programme, 
profi t must increase during the three years and the total shareholder 
return must develop better than for seb’s competitors. 

The measures have been chosen in order to balance between abso-
lute and relative performance. 

  Absolute performance in terms of annual increase in earnings per 
share. The measure annual increase in earnings per share implies a 
fi nal outcome of performance shares if the increase in real terms 
reaches 2 per cent for the 2006 and 2007 programmes and in 
nominal terms 4 per cent for the 2008 programme. The outcome 
is then set at 10 per cent of the maximum allotment. Maximum out-
come (i.e. 50 per cent of total maximum allotment) is achieved if 
the annual increase in real terms reaches 10 per cent for the 2006 
and 2007 programmes and in nominal terms 12 per cent or more 
for the 2008 programme. The measure is transparent and easy to 
follow in seb’s quarterly reports.

  Relative performance in terms of total shareholder return (the seb 
share price development including dividends) compared to seb’s 
competitors. If the total shareholder return equals the development 

in a weighted banking Index, the outcome is 10 per cent of the 
maximum allotment. Above that level, the number of performance 
shares that can be utilised increases until a ceiling of 8 percentage 
points average per annum above the banking Index is reached. At 
that level the maximum outcome according to the total shareholder 
return measure is reached (i.e. 50 per cent of total maximum allot-
ment). The measure motivates the participant to build long term 
shareholder value as the number of performance shares that can 
be fi nally utilised is dependent on the total shareholder return devel-
oping equally or better than that of other banks. Thus this is an in-
centive to outperform the competitors.

If one of the performance criteria is completely fulfi lled, only half of the 
total number of performance shares can be utilised. For full utilisation 
both performance criteria have to be completely fulfi lled. based on the 
chosen two performance criteria and statistics, the expected outcome 
for the Programme is approximately 40 per cent.

Calculated Performance Criteria Outcome December 31, 2008

TSR = Total shareholder Return – seb vs. Comparator Index (Annualised)
EPS growth = Infl ation adjusted growth in earnings Per share 

Outperformance vs target/index
TsR
(annualised)

% of TsR 
condition

ePs
growth p.a.

% of ePs 
condition Total vesting Dilution

Criteria for full allocation Index +8%  EPS growth1)  

2006 programme Index –2.9 % 0 % 7.6 % 76 % 38 % 0.07 %

2007 programme Index –7.1 % 0 % Negative 0 % 0 % 0.00 %

2008 programme Index –5.6 % 0 % Negative 0 %  0 % 0.00 %

1) 2006 – 2007 programme 10 % p.a. 2008 programme 12 % p.a.



SEB annual rEport 2008  61

Financial statements – Contents
SEB Group

Income statements 62

Balance sheets 63

Statements of changes in equity 64

Cash flow statements 65

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken

Income statements 66

Balance sheets 67

Statements of changes in equity 68

Cash flow statements 69

notes to the financial statements
Corporate information 70

1 accounting policies 70

2 Segment reporting 77

Notes to the income statements

3 net interest income 79

4 net fee and commission income 79

5 net financial income 80

6 net life insurance income 80

7 net other income 81

8 administrative expenses 82

9 Staff costs 82

9 a Salaries and other remunerations per category 82

9 b retirement benefit obligations 84

9 c  Compensation to the top management  
and the Group Executive Committee 86

9 d Share-based payments 87

9 e Sick leave rate 88

9 f number of employees 89

10 other expenses 90

11  Depreciation, amortisation and impairments  
of tangible and intangible assets 90

12 Gains less losses from tangible and intangible assets 90

13 net credit losses incl. changes in value of seized assets  91

14 appropriations 91

15 Income tax expense 92

16 Earnings per share 92

Notes to the balance sheets

17 risk disclosure 93

18  Fair value measurement of  
financial assets and liabilities 95

19 Cash and cash balances with central banks 95

20 loans to credit institutions 95

21 loans to the public 96

22 Financial assets at fair value 96

23 available-for-sale financial assets 97

24 Held-to-maturity investments 97

25 Investments in associates 98

26 Shares in subsidiaries 99

27 tangible and intangible assets 100

28 other assets 103

29 Deposits by credit institutions 103

30 Deposits and borrowing from the public 104

31 liabilities to policyholders 104

32 Debt securities 105

33 Financial liabilities at fair value 105

34 other liabilities 106

35 provisions 106

36 Subordinated liabilities 107

37 untaxed reserves 108

Additional information

38 Memorandum items 108

39 Current and non-current assets and liabilities 109

40 Financial assets and liabilities by class 110

41 Debt instruments by maturities 112

42 Debt instruments by issuers 113

43 repricing periods 114

44 loans and loan loss provisions 115

45 Derivative instruments 119

46 Fair value information 121

47 related party disclosures 122

48  Future minimum lease payments for operational leases 122

49 Capital adequacy 123

50 assets and liabilities distributed by main currencies 125

51 Income statements – life insurance operations 127

52 assets in unit-link operations 128

53 assets held for sale 128

54 Subsequent events 128

Five-year summary
the SEB Group 129

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken 130



62  SEB annual rEport 2008

Financial statements

Income statements
SEB Group

SEK m note 2008 2007 Change, %

   Interest income 97,281 86,035 13
   Interest expense –78,571 –70,037 12
net interest income 3 18,710 15,998 17
   Fee and commission income 19,877 21,400 –7
   Fee and commission expense –4,623 –4,349 6
net fee and commission income 4 15,254 17,051 –11
   Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net 3,665 3,256 13
   Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value, net –221 –17
   Impairments on available-for-sale financial assets –474
net financial income 5 2,970 3,239 –8
   Premium income, net 7,126 5,961 20
   Income investment contracts 983 1,067 –8
   Investment income net –2,519 981
   Other insurance income 397 471 –16
   Net insurance expenses –3,612 –5,547 –35
net life insurance income 6 2,375 2,933 –19
   Dividends 122 79 54
   Profit and loss from investments in associates 77 128 –40
   Gains less losses from investment securities 1,236 653 89
   Other operating income 396 359 10
net other income 7 1,831 1,219 50

Total operating income 41,140 40,440 2

Staff costs 9 –16,241 –14,921 9
other expenses 10 –7,642 –6,919 10
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments of tangible and intangible assets 11 –1,524 –1,354 13

Total operating expenses –25,407 –23,194 10

Gains less losses from tangible and intangible assets 12 6 788 –99
net credit losses incl. changes in value of seized assets 13 –3,268 –1,016

Operating profit 12,471 17,018 –27

Income tax expense 15 –2,421 –3,376 –28

Net profit 10,050 13,642 –26

attributable to minority interests 9 24 –63
attributable to equity holders 10,041 13,618 –26

Net profit 10,050 13,642 –26

Basic earnings per share, SEK 16 14.66 19.97
Diluted earnings per share, SEK 16 14.65 19.88
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SEB Group

31, December, SEK m note 2008 2007 Change, %

Cash and cash balances with central banks 19 44,852 96,871 –54 
loans to credit institutions 20 266,363 263,012 1 
loans to the public 21 1,296,777 1,067,341 21 
   Securities held for trading 161,596 348,888 –54 
   Derivatives held for trading 248,426 85,395 191 
   Derivatives used for hedging 11,155 2,777  
   Fair value changes of hedged items in a portfolio hedge 3,503 –641  
   Financial assets – policyholders bearing the risk 114,425 135,485 –16 
   Other financial assets designated at fair value 96,349 89,319 8 
Financial assets at fair value 22 635,454 661,223 –4 
available-for-sale financial assets 23 163,115 170,137 –4 
Held-to-maturity investments 24 1,997 1,798 11 
assets held for sale 53 852  
Investments in associates 25 1,129 1,257 –10 
   Intangible assets 19,395 16,894 15 
   Property and equipment 2,626 2,564 2 
   Investment properties 7,490 5,239 43 
tangible and intagible assets 27 29,511 24,697 19 
   Current tax assets 3,998 3,766 6 
   Deferred tax assets 2,836 845  
   Trade and client receivables 13,402 25,377 –47 
   Other assets 50,416 28,138 79 
other assets 28 70,652 58,126 22 

Total assets 2,510,702 2,344,462 7 

Deposits by credit institutions 29 429,425 421,348 2 
Deposits and borrowing from the public 30 841,034 750,481 12 
   Liabilities to policyholders – investment contracts 115,110 135,937 –15 
   Liabilities to policyholders – insurance contracts 95,960 89,979 7 
liabilities to policyholders 31 211,070 225,916 –7 
Debt securities 32 525,219 510,564 3 
   Trading derivatives 231,341 79,211 192 
   Derivatives used for hedging 8,168 2,169  
   Trading liabilities 54,411 135,421 –60 
   Fair value changes of hedged items in portfolio hedge 1,613 –411  
Financial liabilities at fair value 33 295,533 216,390 37 
   Current tax liabilities 1,148 1,101 4 
   Deferred tax liabilities 9,810 9,403 4 
   Trade and client payables 9,498 33,940 –72 
   Other liabilities 51,109 53,075 –4 
other liabilities 34 71,565 97,519 –27 
provisions 35 1,897 1,536 24 
Subordinated liabilities 36 51,230 43,989 16 

Total liabilities 2,426,973 2,267,743 7 

Minority interests 192 191 1 
   Revaluation reserves –1,295 –278  
   Share capital 6,872 6,872  
   Other reserves 32,857  29,757 10 
   Retained earnings 45,103  40,177 12 
Shareholders’ equity 83,537 76,528 9 

Total equity 83,729 76,719 9 

Total liabilities and equity 2,510,702 2,344,462 7 
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Statements of changes in equity
SEB Group

31, December, SEK m 2008 2007 Change, %

Minority interests 192 191 1
Shareholders’ equity 83,537 76,528 9
Total equity 83,729 76,719 9

Shareholders' equity
reserve for cash flow hedges 1,767 160
reserve for available-for-sale financial assets –3,062 –438
Revaluation reserves –1,295 –278

Share capital (663,004,123 Series a shares; 24,152,508 Series C shares) 6,872 6,872
Fund for cancelled shares 174 174
Equity fund 5 71 –93
translation difference –225 –377 –40
other restricted reserves 32,903 29,889 10
Equity, restricted 39,729 36,629 8

Swap hedging of employee stock option programme –371 –398 –7
Eliminations of repurchased shares for employee stock option programme –1,926 –2,109 –9
profit brought forward 37,359 29,066 29
net profit attibutable to equity holders 10,041 13,618 –26
Equity, non-restricted 45,103 40,177 12
Total 83,537 76,528 9

Changes in equity

2008
Minority 

interests

reserve for 
cash flow 

hedges

reserve for  
afs financial 

assets
Share 

 capital
restricted 

reserves
retained 
earnings Total

opening balance 191 160 –438 6,872 29,757 40,177 76,719
   Change in market value 1,623 –2,573 –950
   recognised in income statement –16 –51 –67
   translation difference 151 151
   net income recognised directly in equity 1,607 –2,624 151 –866
   net profit 9 10,041 10,050
total recognised income 9 1,607 –2,624 151 10,041 9,184
Dividend to shareholders1) –4,451 –4,451
Swap hedging of employee stock option programme 27 27
Eliminations of repurchased shares for employee stock option programme2) 183 183
other changes –8 2,949 –874 2,067
Closing balance 192 1,767 –3,062 6,872 32,857 45,103 83,729

2007
opening balance 130 380 392 6,872 30,203  29,290  67,267
   Change in market value –206 –614 –820
   recognised in income statement –14 –216 –230
   translation difference 98 98
   net income recognised directly in equity –220 –830 98 –952
   net profit 24  13,618  13,642
total recognised income 24 –220 –830 98 13,618 12,690
Dividend to shareholders1) –4,079 –4,079
Swap hedging of employee stock option programme –428 –428
Eliminations of repurchased shares for employee stock option programme2) 897 897
other changes 37 –544 879 372
Closing balance 191 160 –438  6,872  29,757  40,177  76,719

1)    Dividend per a-share SEK 0.00 (6.50) and per C-share SEK 0.00 (6.50). Further information can be found in the SEB share on page 20–21.   
2)  SEB has repurchased 19.4 million Series a shares for the long-term incentive programmes as decided at the annual General Meetings in 2002, 2003 and 2004. the acquisition cost for these shares is 

deducted from shareholders’ equity. In 2005 1.0 million shares were transferred from the capital structure programme to the incentive programmes and in 2006 3.1 million shares were sold in accord-
ance with a decision at the aGM. as stock options have been exercised during 2005, 2006, 2007 13.7 million shares have been sold and another 1.5 million shares in 2008. thus, as of 31 December 
2008 SEB owned 2.2 million Class a-shares with a market value of SEK 133m.  
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SEB Group

SEK m 2008 2007 Change, %

Interest received 98,300 83,430 18 
Interest paid –77,218 –66,407 16 
Commission received 19,877 21,400 –7 
Commission paid –4,623 –4,349 6 
net received from financial transactions 2,483 3,337 –26 
other income 4,187 6,770 –38 
paid expenses –28,380 –22,921 24 
taxes paid –2,421 –3,370 –28 

Cash flow from the profit and loss statement 12,205 17,890 –32 

Increase (–)/decrease (+) in trading portfolios –12,646 –32,503 –61 
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in issued short-term securities 13,276 72,454 –82 
Increase (–)/decrease (+) in lending to credit institutions 38,890 –45,995 –185 
Increase (–)/decrease (+) in lending to the public –162,529 –116,298 40 
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in liabilities to credit institutions 9,208 52,274 –82 
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in deposits and borrowings from the public 87,815 104,715 –16 
Increase (–)/decrease (+) in insurance portfolios 234 22,302 –99 
Change in other balance sheet items –2,894 10,348 –128 

Cash flow from operating activities –16,441 85,187 –119 

Sales of shares and bonds 1,236 224  
Sales of intangible and tangible fixed assets 6 1,431 –100 
Dividends 122 57 114 
Investments in subsidiaries2) –1,040 –657 58 
Investments in shares and bonds –534 –375   42
Investments in intangible and tangible assets –5,840 –3,030 93 

Cash flow from investing activities –6,050 –2,350 157 

Issue of securities and new borrowings 107,349  128,791 –17 
repayment of securities –100,230 –86,315 16 
Dividend paid –4,466 –4,079 9 

Cash flow from financing activities 2,653 38,397 –93 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents –19,838 121,234 –116 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 194,985 73,751 164 
net increase in cash and cash equivalents –19,838 121,234 –116 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period1) 175,147 194,985 –10 

1) Cash and cash equivalents at end of period is defined as Cash and cash balances with central banks (note 19) and loans to credit institutions – payable on demand (note 20).

 
2) Investments in subsidiaries

Cash 102
loans from customers  1,749  1,352
other assets 353 248
Due to customers –1,754 –1,439
other liabilities –155 –84
Goodwill 847 580

Total purchase consideration paid  1,040 759

 
Cost of acquisition –1,040 –759
less cash acquired 102

Cash flow outflow on acquisition –1,040 –657
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Income statements
In accordance with the Swedish Financial Supervisory authority regulations

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken

SEK m note 2008 2007 Change, %

Interest income 3 59,786 43,913 36 
leasing income 3 6,372 6,154 4 
Interest expense 3 –52,987 –38,464 38 
Dividends 7 2,715 3,925 –31 
Fee and commission income 4 7,473 8,455 –12 
Fee and commission expense 4 –1,479 –1,331 11 
net financial income 5 3,236 2,490 30 
other income 7 2,934 658  

Total operating income 28,050 25,800 9 

administrative expenses 8 –13,738 –12,589 9 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments of tangible and intangible assets 11 –4,820 –4,847 –1 

Total operating expenses –18,558 –17,436 6 

Profit before credit losses 9,492 8,364 13 

net credit losses 13 –773 –24  
Impairment of financial assets 7 –121 –106 14 

Operating profit 8,598 8,234 4 
 

appropriations 14 –1,683 –158  
tax for the year 15 –4 –546 –99 
other taxes 15 1,304 –45  

Net profit 8,215 7,485 10 
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31, December, SEK m note 2008 2007 Change, %

Cash and cash balances with central banks 19 10,670 1,758
loans and receivables to credit institutions 20 349,073 357,482 –2 
loans and receivables to the public 21 768,737 637,138 21 
   Securities held for trading 131,253 285,036 –54 
   Derivatives held for trading 242,882 80,966 200 
   Derivatives used for hedging 12,576 1,871
   Other financial assets designated at fair value 91 112 –19 
Financial assets at fair value 22 386,802 367,985 5 
available-for-sale financial assets 23 26,897 62,085 –57 
Held-to-maturity investments 24 3,263 3,348 –3 
Investments in associates 25 1,011 1,063 –5 
Shares in subsidiaries 26 60,063 51,936 16 
   Intangible assets 1,335 892 50 
   Property and equipment 40,077 34,605 16 
tangible and intagible assets 27 41,412 35,497 17 
   Current tax assets 1,072 1,813 –41 
   Deferred tax assets 1,338
   Trade and client receivables 12,317 23,625 –48 
   Other assets 45,845 15,589 194 
other assets 28 60,572 41,027 48 

Total assets 1,708,500 1,559,319 10 

Deposits by credit institutions 29 410,105 367,699 12 
Deposits and borrowing from the public 30 453,697 412,499 10 
Debt securities 32 394,246 408,002 –3 
   Trading derivatives 225,829 78,408 188 
   Derivatives used for hedging 4,254 1,666 155 
   Trading liabilities 49,429 121,687 –59 
Financial liabilities at fair value 33 279,512 201,761 39 
   Current tax liabilities 94 46 104 
   Trade and client payables 8,001 32,369 –75 
   Other liabilities 47,562 34,678 37 
other liabilities 34 55,657 67,093 –17 
provisions 35 789 271 191 
Subordinated liabilities 36 50,199 43,046 17 

Total liabilities 1,644,205 1,500,371 10 

Untaxed reserves 37 21,136 19,016 11 

   Revaluation reserves –848 –218
   Share capital 6,872 6,872
   Other reserves 12,260 12,260
   Retained earnings 24,875 21,018 18 
Shareholders’ equity 43,159 39,932 8 

Total liabilities, untaxed reserves and shareholders’ equity 1,708,500 1,559,319 10 
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Statements of changes in equity
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken

31, December, SEK m 2008 2007 Change, %

reserve for cash flow hedges 1,737 190
reserve for available-for-sale financial assets –2,585 –408
Revaluation reserves –848 –218

Share capital (663,004,123 Series a shares; 24,152,508 Series C shares) 6,872 6,872
reserve fund and other restricted reserves 12,086 12,086
Fund for cancelled shares 174 174
Equity, restricted 19,132 19,132

Group contributions 694 1,119 –38
tax on Group contributions –194 –313 –38
Swap hedging of employee stock option programme –371 –398 –7
Eliminations of repurchased shares for employee stock option programme –1,926 –2,109 –9
translation differencies –268 –71
profit brought forward 18,725 15,305 22
net profit for the year 8,215 7,485 10
Equity, non-restricted 24,875 21,018 18
Total 43,159 39,932 8

Changes in equity

2008
reserve for cash 

flow hedges
reserve for afs 
financial assets

Share 
 capital

restricted 
reserves

retained 
earnings Total

opening balance 190 –408 6,872 12,260 21,018 39,932
   Change in market value 1,563 –2,242 –679
   recognised in income statement –16 65 49
   translation difference –195 –195
   net income recognised directly in equity 1,547 –2,177 –195 –825
   net profit 8,215 8,215
total recognised income 1,547 –2,177 8,020 7,390
Dividend to shareholders1) –4,451 –4,451
Group contributions net after tax2) 500 500
Swap hedging of employee stock option programme 27 27
Eliminations of repurchased shares for employee stock option programme3) 183 183
other changes –422 –422
Closing balance 1,737 –2,585 6,872 12,260 24,875 43,159

2007
opening balance 367 212 6,872 12,804 15,558 35,813
   Change in market value –163 –653 –816
   recognised in income statement –14 33 19
   translation difference –36 –36
   net income recognised directly in equity –177 –620 –36 –833
   net profit 7,485 7,485
total recognised income –177 –620 7,449 6,652
Effect of merger of SEB Bolån and SEB Finans 399 399
Dividend to shareholders1) –4,079 –4,079
Group contributions net after tax2)   806   806
Swap hedging of employee stock option programme –428 –428
Eliminations of repurchased shares for employee stock option programme3)   897   897
other changes –544   416 –128
Closing balance 190 –408 6,872 12,260 21,018 39,932

1)  Dividend per a-share SEK 0.00 (6.50) and per C-share SEK 0.00 (6.50). Further information can be found in the SEB share on page 20–21.  
2)  Group contributions are reported in the parent company directly under Shareholders’ equity.
3)  SEB has repurchased 19.4 million Series a shares for the long-term incentive programmes as decided at the annual General Meetings in 2002, 2003 and 2004. the acquisition cost for 

these shares is deducted from shareholders’ equity. In 2005 1.0 million shares were transferred from the capital structure programme to the incentive programmes and in 2006 3.1 million 
shares were sold in accordance with a decision at the aGM. as stock options have been exercised during 2005, 2006, 2007 13.7 million shares have been sold and another 1.5 million 
shares in 2008. thus, as of 31 December 2008 SEB owned 2.2 million Class a-shares with a market value of SEK 133m.  
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Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken

SEK m 2008 2007 Change, %

Interest received 66,599 56,602 18
Interest paid –53,129 –43,397 22
Commission received 7,414 8,285 –11
Commission paid –1,162 –1,538 –24
net received from financial transactions –2,647 2,451
other income 1,887 2,411 –22
paid expenses –11,387 –12,568 –9
taxes paid –356 –2,401 –85

Cash flow from the profit and loss statement 7,219 9,845 –27

Increase (–)/decrease (+) in trading portfolios 13,209 2,338
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in issued short-term securities –31,863 84,144 –138
Increase (–)/decrease (+) in lending to credit institutions 42,460 –87,515 –149
Increase (–)/decrease (+) in lending to the public –72,892 –56,939 28
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in liabilities to credit institutions 42,893 35,327 21
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in deposits and borrowings from the public 41,382 23,373 77
Change in other balance sheet items –53,432 6,627

Cash flow from operating activities –11,024 17,200 –164

Sales of shares and bonds 221 –100
Dividends and Group contributions 3,391 5,018 –32
Investments in subsidiaries/Merger of subsidiaries –1,648 3,264 –150
Investments/divestments in shares and bonds 85 472 –82
Investments in intangible and tangible assets –10,709 –24,946 –57

Cash flow from investment activities –8,881 –15,971 –44

Issue of securities and new borrowings 106,626 68,425 56
repayment of securities –81,895 –15,007
Dividend paid –4,452 –4,078 9

Cash flow from financing activities 20,279 49,340 –59

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 374 50,569 –99

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 139,767 89,198 57
net increase in cash and cash equivalents 374 50,569 –99

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period1) 140,141 139,767

1) Cash and cash equivalents at end of period is defined as Cash and cash balances with central banks (note 19) and loans to credit institutions – payable on demand (note 20).
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Notes to the financial statements

1  Accounting policies

SIGnIFICant aCCountInG polICIES For tHE Group

Basis of presentation 
the Group’s consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial reporting Standards IFrS/IaS endorsed by the European 
Commission. In addition, provided in the act (1995:1559) on annual accounts of 
credit institutions and securities companies (aaCS), the accounting regulations 
of the Financial Supervisory Board (“FSa 2008:25”) and recommendation rFr 
2.1 of the Swedish Financial reporting Board (SFrB), have been applied.

the consolidated accounts are based on amortised cost, except for the fair 
value valuation of available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabili-
ties valued at fair value through profit or loss including derivatives.  

The following new standards, amendments and interpretations are 
 mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008
IAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement”, amendment on 
 reclassification of financial assets permits reclassification of certain financial 
 assets out of the held for trading and the available for sale categories under 
 certain circumstances. the amendment to IFrS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclo-
sures” introduces related disclosure requirements for such reclassified assets. 
the amendments which the Group has adopted are prospectively effective from  
1 July 2008. 
IFRIC 11 “Group and treasury share transactions” (effective for annual periods 
 beginning after 1 March 2007). IFrIC 11 provides guidance whether share-based 
payments involving treasury shares or involving group entities should be treated 
as equity-settled or cash-settled share-based payment transactions in the stand-
alone accounts of the parent and group entities. this interpretation does not 
have an impact on the Group’s financial statements.
IFRIC 14 “IAS 19 – the limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding require-
ments and their interaction” (effective January 2008). IFrIC 14 provides guidance 
on assessing the limit in IaS 19 on the amount of the surplus that can be recog-
nised as an asset. It also explains how the pension asset or liability may be af-
fected by a minimum funding requirement. the interpretation is not expected  
to have any impact on the Group accounts.

Interpretation effective 2008 but not relevant to the Group
IFRIC 12 “Service concession” (effective January 2008). applies to contractual 
 arrangements whereby a private entity participates in the development, financ-
ing, operation and maintenance of infrastructure for public sector services.  
IFrIC 12 is not relevant to the Group’s operations.

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective  
and have not been early adopted by the Group
IAS 1 (Amendment) “Presentation of financial statements” (effective January 2009). 
the changes apply particularly to the presentation and names of the financial 

statements. Consequently the Group’s financial statements will change by the 
 introduction of this standard.
IAS 23 (Amendment) “Borrowing costs” (effective 1 January 2009). the amend-
ment requires capitalisation of borrowing costs for qualifying assets and will be 
applied to significant investments.
IAS 27 (Amendment) “Consolidated and separate financial statements” (effective 
for annual periods beginning after July 2009 but still subject to endorsement by 
the European union). the amendment states that total comprehensive income 
shall be attributed to non-controlling interests (minority) even if it results in the 
non-controlling interest having a deficit balance. Changes in the parent’s owner-
ship interest that do not result in the loss of control shall be reported in equity.  
If the parent company loses control the remaining interest shall be recorded at 
fair value on the date of the transaction. the amendment will influence future 
transactions only.
IAS 32 (Amendment) “Financial instruments: Presentation”-puttable financial In-
struments and obligations arising on liquidation. the amendment specifies the 
conditions for determining whether a puttable financial Instrument is an equity 
i nstrument or a financial liability. the amendment is not expected to have an im-
pact on the Group.
IFRS 2 (Amendment) “Share-based payments – vesting conditions and cancella-
tions” (effective January 2009 but still subject to endorsement by the European 
union). the amendment effects the definition of vesting conditions and introduc-
es a new concept of “non-vesting” conditions. the standard states that non-vest-
ing conditions should be taken into account in the estimate of the fair value of the 
equity instrument. the amendment has no material impact on the Group.
IFRS 3 (Amendment) “Business combinations” (effective for annual periods begin-
ning after July 2009 but still subject to endorsement by the European union). the 
amendment will change how future business combinations are accounted for in 
respect of transaction costs, possible contingent considerations and business 
combinations achieved in stages. the standard will not have an impact on previ-
ous business combinations but will be applied by the Group to business combina-
tions for which acquisition date is on or after 1 January 2010.
IFRS 8 “Operating segments” (effective and will be applied by the Group from  
1 January 2009). IFrS 8 replaces IaS 14 and aligns segment reporting with the 
uS standard SFaS 131. the standard requires a management approach where 
segments are presented according to internal reporting. the standard is not 
 expected to have a material impact on the Group’s segment reporting. 
IFRIC 13 “Customer loyalty program” (effective for annual periods beginning after 
1 July 2008) clarifies that when goods or services are sold together with a cus-
tomer loyalty incentive the consideration received is to be allocated between  
 the components using fair values. IFrIC 13 will not have a material effect on the 
Group’s financial statements
IFRIC 16 “Hedges of net investments in a Foreign Operation” the interpretation 
provides guidance on how to identify the foreign currency risk that qualify as a 
hedged item in the hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation. the interpre-

SEK m, unless otherwise stated.

Corporate information

the SEB Group provides corporate, retail, investment and private banking ser-
vices. the Group also provides asset management and life insurance services.

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken aB (publ.) is the parent company of the Group. 
the parent company is a Swedish limited liability company with its registered 
 offices in Stockholm, Sweden.

the parent company is included in the large Cap segment of the Stockholm 
Stock Exchange.

the consolidated accounts for the financial year 2008 were approved for publi-
cations by the Board of Directors on 18 February and will be presented for adop-
tion at the 2009 annual General Meeting.

Currency codes

Brl Brazilian reales Eur Euro ISK Icelandic kronor noK norwegian kroner tHB thai baht

CHF Swiss francs GBp British pounds JpY Japanese yen pln polish zloty uSD u.S. dollars

DKK Danish kroner HKD Hong Kong dollar ltl lithuanian litas SEK Swedish kronor

EEK Estonian kroon Inr Indian rupees lVl latvian lats SGD Singapore dollars
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tation also provides guidance on how to determine the amount to be reclassified 
from equity to profit or loss for both hedge instrument and hedged item when the 
parent disposes of the foreign operation. 

Standard and interpretation issued that are neither effective nor 
 relevant to the Group
IFRIC 15 “Real estate sales” (effective January 2009) stipulates when revenue 
should be recognised from the construction of real estate. this interpretation 
has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Consolidation
the consolidated accounts comprise the parent company and its subsidiaries 
 including Special purpose Entities (“SpE”). Subsidiaries are companies, over 
which the parent company has control and consequently the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of the subsidiary so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. Such influence is deemed to exist when, amongst other circumstanc-
es, the parent company holds, directly or indirectly, more than 50 per cent of the 
voting power of an entity. For SpE’s, consolidation also takes place if the parent 
company or subsidiary does not have more than 50 percent of the votes but 
bears the economic risks and receives the economic benefits in another manner. 
Companies in which the parent company or its subsidiary hold more than 50 per-
cent of the votes, but are unable to exercise control due to contractual and legal 
reasons, are not included in the consolidated accounts.
 the financial statements of the parent company and the consolidated subsidi-
aries refer to the same period and have been drawn up according to the account-
ing policies applicable to the Group. a subsidiary is included in the consolidated 
accounts from the time of acquisition, being the date when the parent company 
gains control over the subsidiary. the subsidiary is included in the consolidated 
accounts until the date when control over the company ceases to exist.
 the consolidated accounts are prepared in accordance with the acquisition 
method. the cost of an acquisition, including directly attributable costs, is 
 measured as the fair value of:
– the assets provided as compensation
– any equity instruments issued
– liabilities incurred or assumed

the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities as-
sumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values on ac-
quisition date, irrespective of any minority interest. the excess of the cost of the 
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable acquired net 
assets is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of the acquisition is less than the fair 
value of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary, the difference is recognised 
 directly against profit or loss.
 Goodwill is allocated between the cash-generating units or groups of units 
which are expected to gain benefits from an acquisition through synergies. the 
cash-generating units to which goodwill is allocated correspond to the lowest 
 level within the Group in which goodwill is monitored for internal management 
purposes. these units may not be larger than the equivalent of one segment,  
that is, one business segment or one geographical segment, as determined in 
the segment reporting of the Group. 
 the useful life of each individual intangible asset is determined though the 
 useful life of goodwill is indefinite. For information regarding amortisation and   
impairment, see further comments under intangible assets.
 Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on trans-
actions between Group companies are eliminated. the minority share of the re-
sults in subsidiaries is included in the reported results in the consolidated profit 
and loss account, while the minority share of net assets is included in equity.
 the consolidated accounts also include associated companies, which are 
companies over which the Group has a significant influence. Significant influence 
means that the Group can participate in the financial and operating policy deci-
sions of the company, whilst not determining or controlling such financial and 
 operating policies. a significant influence is deemed to exist if the Group, directly 
or indirectly, holds between 20 and 50 per cent of the voting rights of an entity.  
a company in which the Group holds fewer than 20 percent of voting rights can 
also be classified as an associated company if the Group is represented in the 
Board of Directors and participates in work related to the company’s strategic 
 issues and issues affecting guidelines.
 according to the main principle, associated companies are consolidated in 
 accordance with the equity method. However, the Group has chosen to designate 
investments in associates held by the Group’s venture capital organisation at fair 
value through profit or loss. 
 the equity method implies that participations in associated companies are 

 initially reported at acquisition cost. the carrying amount of the participations  
is thereafter adjusted to the Group’s share of the change in the value of the net 
assets of the associated companies. the Group’s share of the results of the 
 associated companies is included in profit or loss.
 Dilution of gains and losses in associates are recognised in the income  statement.

Segment reporting
a segment is a business segment or a geographical segment. a business segment 
is a distinguishable component, in terms of accounting, of an entity engaged in 
providing an individual product or service or a group of related products or serv-
ices, and that is subject to risks and returns differing from those of other busi-
ness segments. a geographical segment from a reporting point of view is a dis-
tinguishable component of an entity engaged in providing products or services  
in a particular economic environment and that is subject to risks and returns 
 differing from those applicable to other economic environments. the Group has 
defined business segments as primary segments and geographical segments  
as secondary segments.

Foreign currency translation 
the consolidated financial statements are presented in Swedish kronor (SEK), 
which is the presentation currency of the Group.
 When a foreign currency transaction is initially recognised, the amount is 
translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate on the date of 
the transaction. on subsequent balance sheet dates monetary items in foreign 
currency are translated using the closing rate. non-monetary items, which are 
measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency, are translated using  
the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. non-monetary items, which  
are measured at fair value in a foreign currency, are translated applying the 
 exchange rate on the date on which the fair value is determined.
 Gains and losses arising as a result of exchange rate differences on settle-
ment or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss. transla-
tion differences on non-monetary items, classified as financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are included in the change in fair val-
ue of those items. translation differences from non-monetary items, classified  
as available for sale financial assets, are recognised directly in equity.
 the income statements and balance sheets of Group entities, with a functional 
currency other than the Group’s presentation currency, are translated to Swedish 
kronor (SEK) in the consolidated accounts. assets and liabilities in foreign Group 
entities are translated at closing rate and income and expenses in the income 
statement are translated at the average exchange rate for the year. resulting 
 exchange rate differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.
 Hedge accounting is applied to net investments in foreign subsidiaries. Foreign 
currency loans constitute the major portion of hedging instruments in these 
hedging transactions. the translation differences arising when the hedging in-
struments are translated to the presentation currency are also recognised as 
translation differences in equity. When a foreign operation is partially disposed  
of or sold, exchange differences recorded in equity are recognised in the income 
statement as part of the gain or loss on the sale.
 Goodwill arising in conjunction with acquisitions of foreign Group entities, as 
well as adjustments to the fair value of assets and liabilities made in conjunction 
with acquisitions is included in assets and liabilities in the foreign entity in ques-
tion and is translated to the presentation currency at closing rate.

Financial assets
Classification
Financial assets are classified in the following four categories at initial recognition:
– Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
– loans and receivables
– Held-to-maturity investments
– available-for-sale financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consist of financial assets 
classified as held for trading and financial assets which, upon initial recognition, 
have been designated at fair value through profit or loss (Fair Value option). Fi-
nancial assets are classified as held for trading if they are held with the intention 
to be sold in the short-term and for the purpose of generating profits. Derivatives 
are classified as held for trading unless designated as hedging instruments.
 the Fair Value option can be applied to contracts including one or more em-
bedded derivatives, investments that are managed and evaluated on a fair value 
basis and situations in which such designation reduces measurement inconsist-
encies. the nature of the financial assets and financial liabilities which have been 
designated at fair value through profit or loss and the criteria for such designa-
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tion are described in the relevant notes to the financial statements.
 loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or deter-
minable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
 Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets designated 
with the intention and ability to hold until maturity. this category consists of 
 financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity. Equity 
 instruments cannot be classified as held to maturity as their life is indefinite.
 Financial assets are designated in the available for sale category when intend-
ed to be held for an indefinite time and may be sold in response to specific needs 
for liquidity or anticipation of changes in equity price or those financial assets 
that have not been classified as financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, as loans and receivables or as investments held to maturity.

Reclassification
non-derivative trading financial assets no longer held for the purpose of selling  
it in the near term may be reclassified out of the fair value through profit or loss 
category in rare circumstances. Financial assets held in the available for sale 
 category may be reclassified to loans and receivables or held to maturity if SEB 
has the intention and ability to hold the financial asset for the foreseeable future 
or until maturity. the reclassified assets must meet the definition of the category 
to which it is reclassified at the reclassification date. the prerequisite to reclassi-
fy to held to maturity is changed intent and ability to hold to maturity. 
 reclassifications are made at fair value as of the reclassification date. Fair 
 value becomes the new amortised cost. Effective interest rates for financial 
 assets reclassified to loans and receivables and held to maturity categories are 
determined at the reclassification date. Increases in estimates of cash flows of 
reclassified financial assets adjust effective interest rates prospectively, whereas 
decreases in the estimated cash flows are charged to the profit or loss.

Measurement
Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when the Group becomes  
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument and are measured at fair 
value on initial recognition. transaction costs are included in the fair value on ini-
tial recognition except for financial assets designated at fair value through profit 
or loss where transaction costs are expensed in the profit and loss statement. 
 Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have 
 expired or the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards. trans-
fers of financial assets with retention of all or substantially all risks and rewards 
include for example repurchase transactions and securities lending transactions.
 trade date accounting is applied to financial assets classified in the catego-
ries, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available for sale 
 financial assets. Settlement date accounting is applied to the other categories  
of financial assets. 
 the valuation of financial assets after initial recognition is governed by their 
classification.
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. 
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are reported in the income state-
ment on an ongoing basis under the item net income from financial trans actions.
 loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are measured at 
 amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
 available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value are reported directly in the fair value revalua-
tion reserve in equity until the financial asset is sold or impaired. In the case of 
sale or impairment of an available for sale financial asset, the accumulated gains 
or losses previously reported in equity are recognised in profit or loss. Interest 
on interest-bearing available for sale financial assets is recognised in profit or loss, 
applying the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains or losses on 
monetary items classified as available for sale is recognised in the income state-
ment. Dividends on equity instruments, classified as available for sale, are also 
recognised in profit or loss.
 Investments in equity instruments without a quoted market price in an active 
market are measured, if possible, at fair value on the basis of a recognised valuation 
method. Investments in equity instruments without a quoted market price in an ac-
tive market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost.

Financial liabilities 
Classification
Financial liabilities are classified in two categories:
– Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
– other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are either classified as held 
for trading or designated as fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition 
(Fair Value option). the criteria for classification of financial liabilities under the 
Fair Value option are the same as for financial assets.

Financial liabilities held for trading are primarily short positions in interest-
bearing securities and equities and negative replacement value of derivatives.

the category other financial liabilities primarily include the Group’s short-term 
and long-term borrowings.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when extinguished, that is, when the obli-
gation is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Measurement
Financial liabilities are measured at fair value on initial recognition. In the case of 
financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition or the issuance of the financial liability are 
recognised in profit or loss. For other financial liabilities direct transaction cost 
are recognised as a deduction from the fair value.
 after initial recognition, financial liabilities measured at fair value through prof-
it or loss, are measured and reported in a manner equivalent to the measurement 
and reporting of financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
other financial liabilities are, after initial recognition, measured on an ongoing 
 basis at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. 

Offsetting financial transactions
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the bal-
ance sheet when there is a legal right to offset transactions and an intention to 
settle net or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Fair value measurement
the fair value of financial instruments quoted in an active market, for example 
quoted derivatives, financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading, and 
available for sale financial assets, is based on quoted market prices. the current 
bid price is used for financial assets and the current offer price for financial liabil-
ities considering offsetting positions.
 the fair value of financial instruments that are not quoted in an active market 
is determined by applying various valuation techniques with maximum use of 
 observable market inputs. the valuation techniques used are discounted cash 
flows, option pricing models, valuations with reference to recent transactions in 
the same instrument and valuations with reference to other financial instruments 
that are substantially the same.
 the difference between the transaction price and the fair value of the instru-
ment calculated using a valuation technique is amortised over the life of the 
transaction, unless the calculation of the fair value is entirely based on observa-
ble market data. If the valuation is entirely based on market data a day 1 gain  
is recognised in profit or loss. 

Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on trade date and subsequently 
measured at fair value. Derivatives are recognised as assets when replacement 
value is positive and as liabilities when replacement value is negative.

Embedded derivatives
Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for 
as derivatives. Embedded derivatives are not separated when their economic 
characteristics and risks are closely related to those of the host contract or the 
host contract is carried at fair value.
 Certain combined instruments, i.e. contracts that contain one or more embed-
ded derivatives, are classified as financial asset or financial liability at fair value 
through profit or loss. the designation implies that the entire combined instru-
ment is valued at fair value and that changes in fair value are recognised on an 
ongoing basis in profit or loss.

Hedge accounting
Hedge accounting is applied to derivatives used to reduce risks such as interest 
rate risks and currency risks in financial instruments and net investments in subsid-
iaries. the Group documents and designates at inception the relationship between 
hedged item and hedging instrument as well as the risk objective and hedge strate-
gy. the Group also documents its assessment both at inception and on an ongo-
ing basis whether prospectively the derivatives used are expected to be, and are 
highly effective when assessed retrospectively, in offsetting changes in fair val-
ues or cash flows of hedged item. the Group also assesses and documents that 
the likelihood of forecasted transactions to take place is highly probable.

the Group designates derivatives as either:
–  hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities of firm commitments 

(fair value hedge)
– hedges of the fair value of the interest risk of a portfolio (macro hedging) 
–  hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable to recognised assets 

or liabilities or a forecasted transaction (cash flow hedge)
– hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge).

Fair value hedge
Fair value hedge is the hedging of exposure to changes in the fair value of an 
 asset or a liability, or an identifiable component of such asset or liability, which  
is attributable to a certain risk that could affect the profit or loss. Changes in the 
fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are 
recorded in the income statement together with changes in the fair value of the 
hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk. 
 Where the Group hedges the fair value of interest rate exposure in a portfolio 
including financial assets or financial liabilities, so called portfolio hedging of in-
terest rate risk, the gains or losses attributable to the hedged item are reported 
as a separate item under assets or as a separate item under liabilities in the bal-
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ance sheet. the group applies the Eu carve out version of IaS 39 for portfolio 
hedges of both assets and liabilities.

Fair value hedges are discontinued in the following situations:
– the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised
– the hedging relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting 
– the hedging relationship is discontinued.

When hedge relationships are discontinued, any adjustment to the carrying amount 
of the hedged item is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity of the 
hedged item.

Cash flow hedge
Cash flow hedging is applied for the hedging of exposure to variations in future 
 interest payments on assets or liabilities with variable interest rates. the portion 
of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effec-
tive hedge is recognised directly against equity. the ineffective portion of the 
gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in profit or loss. 
 Gains or losses on hedging instruments reported directly against equity are 
recognised in profit or loss in the same period as interest income and interest 
 expense from the hedged asset or liability.
 Cash flow hedges are discontinued in the same situations as listed above re-
garding the termination of fair value hedges. When cash flow hedges are discontin-
ued but future cash-flows still are expected to occur, accumulated gains or losses 
from the hedging instrument will remain as a separate item in equity. accumulated 
gains or losses are subsequently reported in profit or loss in the same period in 
which the previously hedged interest flows are recognised in profit or loss.

Net investment hedge
the hedging of a net investment in a foreign operation refers to the hedge of 
 equity in a foreign subsidiary against foreign exchange fluctuations. this type  
of hedge is accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the 
hedging instrument attributable to the effective portion of the hedge are recog-
nised in equity whilst the ineffective portion is recognised directly in profit or 
loss. Gains or losses accumulated in equity are included in profit or loss at the 
disposal of the foreign operation.

Interest income and interest expenses
the effective interest rate method is applied to recognise interest income and 
 interest expenses in profit or loss for financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost.
 the effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating interest income 
and interest expenses. the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly dis-
counts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life  
of the financial instrument. When calculating future payments, all payments in-
cluded in the terms and conditions of the contracts, such as advance payments, 
are taken into consideration. However, future credit losses are not taken into 
 account. the calculation of effective interest rate includes fees and points to  
be received and paid that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
 transaction costs and other premiums and discounts.
 once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written 
down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is subsequently recog-
nised applying the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the 
purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

Commission income and fees
Commission income and income in the form of fees on financial instruments are 
accounted for differently, depending upon the financial instrument from which 
the income is derived. When commission income and fees are included in the cal-
culation of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument measured at amor-
tised cost, such interest and fees are usually allocated over the expected tenor 
of the instrument applying the effective interest rate method.
 Commission income and fees from asset management and advisory services 
are reported in accordance with the economic substance of each agreement. 
this income is usually recognised during the period in which the service is provid-
ed. Commission and fees from negotiating a transaction for a third party, such as 
arrangement of acquisitions or purchase or sale of a business, is recognised on 
completion of the transaction. performance-based fees are reported when the 
 income can be reliably calculated.
 Fees from loan syndications in which SEB acts as arranger are reported as in-
come when the syndication is completed and the Group has retained no part of the 
loan or retained a part at the same effective interest rate as other participants.

Dividend income
Dividends are recognised when the entity’s right to receive payment is established.

Repurchase agreements
repurchase agreements are generally treated as collateralised financing trans-
actions. Market values of the securities received or delivered are monitored on a 
daily basis to require or deliver additional collateral. In repurchase transactions, 

the asset continues to be reported on the selling party’s balance sheet and the 
payment received is reported as a deposit or borrowing. the sold instrument is 
reported as pledged assets. the buying party reports the payment as an out-
standing loan to the selling party. the difference in amounts between the spot 
and the forward payments is allocated as interest over the life of the instrument.

Securities borrowing and lending
Securities borrowing and lending transactions are entered into on a collateralised 
basis. Fair values of securities received or delivered are monitored on a daily basis 
to require or provide additional collateral. Cash collateral delivered is derecognised 
with a corresponding receivable and cash collateral received is recognised with a 
corresponding obligation to return it. Securities lent remain on the balance sheet 
and are reported as pledged assets. Borrowed securities are not recognised as 
 assets. When borrowed securities are sold (short position), an amount correspond-
ing to the fair value of the securities is entered as a liability. Securities received in  
a borrowing or lending transaction are disclosed as off-balance sheet items.

Impairment of financial assets
all financial assets, except those classified at fair value through profit or loss,  
are tested for impairment.
 on each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether there is objective 
 evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are in-
curred if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
events occurring after the initial recognition of the asset, and if that loss event 
will have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or 
group of financial assets that can be reliably measured. 

Examples of objective evidence that one or more events have occurred which 
may affect estimated future cash flows include:
–  significant financial difficulty pertaining the issuer or obligor, 
–  concession granted to the borrower as a consequence of financial difficulty, 

the nature of which normally would not have been granted to the borrower,
–  a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in the payment of inter-

est or principal,
–  the probability that the borrower will go bankrupt or undergo some other kind 

of financial reconstruction
–  deterioration in the value of collateral and
–  a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an equity instrument below 

its cost.

an impairment loss is reported as a write off, if it is deemed impossible to collect 
the contractual amounts due that have not been paid and/or are expected to re-
main unpaid, or if it is deemed impossible to recover the acquisition cost by sell-
ing any collateral provided. In other cases, a specific provision is recorded in an 
allowance account. as soon as the non-collectible amount can be determined 
and the asset is written off, the amount reported in the allowance account is dis-
solved. Similarly, the provision in the allowance account is reversed if the esti-
mated recovery value exceeds the carrying amount.

Appraisal of impairment
Individual appraisal of impairment
the following events are applied to establish objective evidence of impairment of 
individually appraised assets. Material breach of contract occurs when scheduled 
payments are past due by 60 days or more. the debt instrument is impaired if the 
cash flow or liquidity projections including the value of the collateral do not cover 
outstanding exposure. Quoted debt instruments are in addition subject to apprais-
al for impairment if there is a significant decline in fair value or rating to establish 
that no change is expected in cash flows. Equity instruments are considered im-
paired when a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value is recognised.

Collective appraisal of impairment when assets are not individually impaired
assets appraised for impairment on an individual basis and found not impaired 
are included in an incurred but not identified collective appraisal. the collective 
appraisal of incurred but not identified credit losses is based on the SEB counter-
part rating scale.

Homogeneous group appraisal for impairment
Financial assets with limited value and similar risk, homogeneous groups, are 
 appraised for impairment on a portfolio basis. the appraisal of homogeneous 
groups are based on historical lending losses and an assessment of factors, 
based on an expert judgement, which could have an impact on the level of losses.

Recognition of impairment loss on assets carried at amortised cost
an impairment of a financial asset in the category loans and receivables or in the 
category held to maturity investments carried at amortised cost is calculated on 
the basis of the original effective interest rate of the financial instrument. the 
amount of the impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying 
amount of the asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows (recov-
erable amount). If the terms of an asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified 
due to financial difficulties on behalf of the borrower or issuer, impairment is 



74  SEB annual rEport 2008

measured using the original effective interest rate before modification of the 
terms and conditions. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not dis-
counted if the effect of the discounting is immaterial. the entire, outstanding 
amount of each loan for which a specific provision has been established is includ-
ed in impaired loans, i.e. including the portion covered by collateral. 

Impairment loss on Available for sale financial assets 
When a decline in the fair value is recognised and there is objective evidence of 
impairment in an available for sale financial instrument, the accumulated loss 
shall be reclassified from equity (other comprehensive income) to profit or loss. 
the amount of the accumulated loss that is transferred from equity and recog-
nised in profit or loss is equal to the difference between the acquisition cost and 
the current fair value, with a deduction of any impairment losses on that financial 
asset which had been previously recognised in profit or loss.
 the incurred impairment of unquoted equities, measured at acquisition cost,  
is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for 
similar equities.
 Impairment losses on bonds or other interest-bearing instruments classified as 
available-for-sale are reversed via profit or loss if the increase in fair value can be 
objectively attributed to an event taking place subsequent to the write down. Impair-
ment losses for equity instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed 
through profit or loss following an increase in fair value but recognised in equity.

Renegotiated loans
renegotiated loans are no longer considered to be past due unless the loan is 
past due according to the renegotiated terms.

Seized assets
Seized assets are seized as part of an impairment procedure to compensate for 
losses in an asset. Seized asset are valued at fair value at inception and the inten-
tion is to dispose of the asset at the earliest convenience.

Tangible fixed assets
tangible fixed assets, with the exception of investment properties held in insur-
ance operations, are reported at historical cost and are depreciated according 
to plan on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. the 
maximum depreciation period for buildings is 50 years. the depreciation period 
for other tangible fixed assets is between 3 and 5 years. 
 tangible fixed assets are tested for impairment whenever there is indication  
of impairment. 

Leasing
leasing contracts are specified as finance or operating leases.
 a finance lease is a lease that transfers, from the lessor to the lessee, sub-
stantially the entire risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an asset. 
 operational leasing contracts are those leases which are not regarded as finance 
leases. In the Group, essentially all leasing contracts in which the Group is the 
lessor are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are reported as lending, 
which implies that the leasing income is reported as interest income. 

Investment properties
Investments in properties held in order to receive rental income and/or for capital 
appreciation are reported as investment properties. the recognition and meas-
urement of such properties differs, depending upon the entity owning the proper-
ty. Investment properties held in the insurance operations, used to match liabili-
ties providing a yield directly associated with the fair values of specified assets, 
including the investment properties themselves, are accounted for using the fair 
value model. Holdings of investment properties in the banking operations are val-
ued at depreciated cost. 

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are identifiable, non-monetary assets without physical substance. 
For an intangible asset to be recognised an entity must be able to demonstrate 
control of the intangible asset, which implies that the entity has the ability to en-
sure that the future economic benefits flowing from the underlying resource will 
accrue to the company. Intangible assets, other than goodwill, are only recog-
nised in the balance sheet if it is probable that the future economic benefits at-
tributable to the asset will accrue to the Group and if the acquisition cost of the 
asset can be measured in a reliable manner. 
 Intangible assets are measured initially at acquisition cost, and thereafter at 
cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
 Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a straight line basis 
over their useful lives and tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
 circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Customer 
lists are amortised over 20 years and internally generated intangible assets, such 
as software development, are amortised over a period of between 3 and 5 years. 
 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, such as goodwill, are not amor-
tised but tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that 
the intangible asset may be impaired. as regards goodwill, an impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss whenever the carrying amount, with respect to a 

cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units to which the goodwill is 
attributed, exceeds the recoverable amount. Impairment losses attributable to 
goodwill are not reversed, regardless of whether the cause of the impairment 
has ceased to exist.
 the recoverable amount of an intangible asset is determined if there is indica-
tion of a reduction in the value of the asset. an impairment loss is recognised if 
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset. 

Provisions
a provision is established when the Group has a present obligation as a result of 
past events. Conditions for the establishment of a provision are that the amount 
can be estimated in a reliable manner and that it is more likely than not that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. provisions are eval-
uated at each balance sheet date and are adjusted as necessary.
 provisions are valued at the present value of the amount expected to be re-
quired in order to settle the obligation. the applied discount rate before tax re-
flects the current market assessment of the time-dependent value of the funds  
or the risks to which the provision refers. the increase of the provision over the 
course of time is recorded as an interest expense.

Employee benefits
Pension obligations
Depending upon local conditions, there are both defined benefit and defined con-
tribution pension plans within the Group. a defined benefit plan is a pension plan 
that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will get on retirement 
depending on factors as age, years of service and compensation. a defined con-
tribution pension is a pension plan where the Group pays a contribution to a sepa-
rate entity and has no further obligation once the contribution is paid.
 the pension commitments of the Group with respect to defined benefit plans 
are covered by the pension funds of the Group, through insurance solutions or 
through provisions in the balance sheet. pensions are recognised and measured 
in accordance with IaS 19, Employee Benefits. Defined benefit pension plans are 
calculated at present value according to the actuarial method called the project-
ed unit Credit Method. the assumptions upon which the calculations are based 
are found in the note addressing staff costs. actuarial gains and losses are rec-
ognised in profit or loss to the extent they exceed the greatest of 10 per cent of 
pension commitments and plan assets at the beginning of the reporting period. 
amounts outside this corridor are reported in profit or loss over the employees’ 
expected average remaining working lives. pension commitments and any spe-
cial plan assets are consolidated on a net basis per unit in the balance sheet. 
 pension costs for defined contribution pension plans are carried as an expense on 
a continuous basis in line with the pension rights earned by the individual concerned.

Share-based payments
Group company employees receive compensation through share-based incentive 
programmes. the compensation consists of employee stock options (equity in-
struments), entitling the holder to subscribe for shares in the parent company at 
a future date and at a predetermined price.
 the total value of issued stock options is amortised over the vesting period. 
the vesting period is comprised of the period from the date on which the options 
are issued until the stipulated vesting conditions are satisfied. the total value of 
issued stock options equals the fair value per option, multiplied by the number of 
options that are expected to become exercisable, taking the vesting conditions 
into consideration. the allocation of this amount implies that profit and loss are 
impacted at the same time as the corresponding increase in equity is recog-
nised. at each balance sheet date an assessment is made to determine if the 
vesting conditions will be fulfilled and the extent to which they will be fulfilled. If 
the conclusion of this assessment is that a lower number of options are expected 
to be vested during the vesting period, then the previously expensed amounts 
are reversed through profit or loss. this implies that in cases in which the vesting 
conditions are not fulfilled, no costs will be reported in profit or loss, seen over 
the entire vesting period.
 the employee stock option programme are hedged through the repurchase of 
own equity instruments (treasury shares) or through contracts to buy own equity 
instruments (total return swaps). However, hedge accounting is not applied, as it 
is deemed that such hedges do not qualify for hedge accounting under IaS 39. 
 treasury shares are eliminated against equity. no gains or losses on the sale 
of treasury shares are recognised in profit or loss but are, instead, recognised  
as changes in equity.
 total return swap contracts entered into with third parties represent an obliga-
tion for the parent company to purchase its own equity instruments (own shares) 
at a predetermined price. Consequently, the swap contracts are classified as eq-
uity instruments. Contracts with an obligation to purchase own equity instruments 
give rise to a financial liability for the present value of the redemption amount,  
and an amount equivalent to this liability is reported as a decrease in equity.
 Interest paid under the swap contracts is recognised in profit or loss and divi-
dends received are regarded as dividends on own shares and are recognised in 
equity.

Taxes
the Group’s tax for the period consists of current and deferred tax. Current tax 
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assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 
expected to be paid to or from tax authorities using the tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Cur-
rent tax is calculated based on the taxable results for the period. Deferred tax 
arises due to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabili-
ties and their carrying amounts. 
 Current tax and deferred tax are generally recognised in profit or loss. However, 
tax that relates to items recognised directly in equity is also reported directly in 
equity. Examples of such items are changes in the fair value of available-for-sale 
 financial assets and gains or losses on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges.
 Deferred tax assets are recognised in the balance sheet to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be uti-
lized. the Group’s deferred tax assets and tax liabilities have been calculated at 
the tax rate of 26,3 per cent in Sweden and at each respective country’s tax rate 
for foreign companies.

Insurance and investment contracts
Insurance contracts are contracts under which the Group accepts significant in-
surance risk – defined as a transfer of an absolute risk of minimum 5 percent of 
the underlying value – from the policyholder by agreeing to compensate the poli-
cyholder or other beneficiaries on the occurrence of a defined insured event. In-
vestment contracts are financial instruments that do not meet the definition of  
an insurance contract, as they do not transfer significant insurance risk from the 
policyholder to the Group.

Insurance contracts
Insurance contracts are classified as Short-term (non-life) or long-term (life). 
Short-term insurance comprise sickness, disability, health-care, and rehabilita-
tion insurance. long-term insurance comprise mainly traditional life insurance 
within the Danish subsidiary, SEB pension. In the Group accounts Short-term and 
long-term insurance are presented aggregated as Insurance contracts. Some 
95 per cent of the insurance liability is related to long-term insurance contracts.

Measurement of Short-term insurance contracts (non-life)
the provision for unearned premiums is intended to cover the anticipated cost of 
claims and operating expenses arising during the remaining policy period of the 
insurance contracts in force. the provision for unearned premiums is usually 
strictly proportional over the period of the insurance contracts. If premiums are 
judged to be insufficient to cover the anticipated cost for claims and operating 
expenses, the provision for unearned premiums is strengthened with a provision 
for unexpired risks.
 For anticipated future claims that have been incurred but not yet paid, provi-
sion for claims outstanding is recognised. the provision is intended to cover the 
anticipated future payment of all claims incurred, including claims incurred but 
not reported (IBnr provisions). this provision should also cover all costs for 
claims settlement. the provision for claims outstanding is not discounted, with 
the exception of provisions for sickness annuities, which are discounted using 
standard actuarial methods.

Measurement of Long-term insurance contracts (life)
For long-term life insurance contracts, a liability for contractual benefits that are 
expected to be incurred in the future is recorded when the premiums are recog-
nised. the liability equals the sum of the discounted value of expected benefit 
payments and future administration expenses, less any outstanding future con-
tractual premium payments. liabilities for long-term life insurance are discount-
ed using standard actuarial methods.

Liability adequacy test
Swedish actuarial procedures involve performing liability adequacy tests on in-
surance liabilities. this is to ensure that the carrying amount of the liabilities is 
sufficient in the light of estimated future cash flows. the carrying amount of a 
 liability is the value of the liability less any related intangible asset or asset for 
deferred acquisition costs. In performing these tests the current best estimates 
of future contractual cash flows, as well as claims handling and administration 
costs, are used in performing these liability adequacy tests. these cash flows 
are discounted and compared to the carrying amount of the liability. any deficit  
is immediately reported in profit or loss. 

Revenue recognition
premiums for insurance contracts are recognised as revenue when they are paid 
by the policyholders. For contracts where insurance risk premiums received during 
a period are intended to cover insurance claims arising in that period those premi-
ums are recognised as revenue proportionally during the period of coverage.

Recognition of expenses
Costs for insurance contracts are recognised as an expense when incurred, with 
the exception of commissions and other variable acquisition costs that vary with 
and are directly related to securing new contracts and the renewal of existing con-
tracts. these costs are capitalised as deferred acquisition costs. these costs are 
mainly incremental acquisition costs paid to sales personnel, brokers and other 
distribution channels. Deferred acquisition costs are amortised as the related rev-

enue is recognised. the asset is tested for impairment every accounting period, 
ensuring that the economic future benefits expected to arise from the contracts 
exceed its face amount. all other costs, such as non-incremental acquisition 
costs or maintenance costs, are recognised in the accounting period in which 
they arise. Insurance compensation is recorded as an expense when incurred.

Reinsurance
Contracts with re-insurers, whereby compensation for losses is received by the 
Group, are classified as ceded reinsurance. For ceded reinsurance, the benefits to 
which the Group is entitled under the terms of the reinsurance contract are  reported 
as the re-insurers’ share of insurance provisions. amounts recoverable from re-in-
surers are measured consistently with the amounts associated with the reinsurance 
contracts and in accordance with the terms of each reinsurance contract.

Investment contracts
the majority of the Group’s unit linked insurance is classified as investment con-
tracts. no significant insurance risk is transferred from the policyholder to the 
Group. a minor part of the Group’s unit linked insurance business, the portion re-
ferring to the lithuanian insurance subsidiary, is classified as insurance contracts.

Measurement
Investment contracts are financial commitments whose fair value is dependent 
on the fair value of the underlying financial assets. the underlying assets and re-
lated liabilities are measured at fair value through profit or loss. the fair value of 
the unit linked financial liabilities is determined using the fair value of the financial 
assets linked the financial liabilities attributed to the policyholder on the balance 
sheet date. However, if the liability is subject to a surrender option, the fair value 
of the financial liability is never less than the amount payable on surrender.

Revenue recognition
amounts received from and paid to policyholders are reported in the balance 
sheet as deposits or withdrawals. Fees charged for managing investment con-
tracts are recognised as revenue. the revenue for these management services  
is evenly distributed over the tenor of the contracts.

Recognition of expenses
Variable expenses directly attributable to securing a new investment contract 
are deferred. these costs are primarily variable acquisition costs paid to sales 
personnel, brokers and other distribution channels. Deferred acquisition costs 
are reported in profit or loss as the related revenue is recognised. the asset is 
tested for impairment during each accounting period to ensure that the future 
economic benefits expected to arise from the contract exceed the carrying 
amount of the asset. all other costs, such as fixed acquisition costs or ongoing 
administration costs, are recognised in the accounting period in which they arise.

Contracts with discretionary participation features (DPF)
traditional saving contracts include a discretionary participation feature. this 
feature entitles the policyholder to receive, as a supplement to guaranteed bene-
fits, additional benefits or bonuses. all contracts that include a discretionary 
 participation feature are reported as insurance contracts the amounts referring 
to the guaranteed element and to the discretionary participation feature are 
 reported as liabilities to policyholders.

SIGnIFICant aCCountInG polICIES oF tHE parEnt CoMpanY

the annual report of the parent company has been prepared in accordance with 
the act (1995:1559) on annual accounts of credit institutions and securities com-
panies (“aaCS”), the accounting regulations of the Financial Supervisory Board 
(“FSa 2008:25”) and recommendation rFr 2.1 of the Swedish Financial report-
ing Board (SFrB).
 the parent company applies “IFrS as restricted by the law”, which means that 
international accounting standards are applied to the extent permitted under 
Swedish accounting legislation. as the Swedish standards have not been fully ad-
justed to IFrS, the accounting principles of the parent company differ, in certain 
aspects, from the accounting principles applied by the SEB Group. the essential 
differences are described below.

Presentation format
the presentation format for the balance sheet and the profit and loss account 
 according to the aaCS are not in conformity with IFrS. Credit institutions and 
 securities companies applying international accounting standards (IFrS/IaS) en-
dorsed by the European Commission in their consolidated accounts are provided 
the option to deviate from the presentation format for the balance sheet as stipu-
lated in aaCS, but may not deviate from the aaCS stipulated profit and loss ac-
count. the parent company has chosen to utilize this option, implying that the 
presentation format of the balance sheet is, in all material aspects, the same in 
both the Group and the parent company.

Definition of the Group
the aaCS and IaS 27 have different definitions of a group. according to the aaCS, 
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companies are not reported as parent companies and subsidiaries if there is no 
ownership interest. according to IaS 27, it is sufficient that there is controlling 
 influence. In other words, no share in the ownership of the company is required. 
there is a definition in aaCS which determines when a company is the parent 
 company of a group and is; therefore, liable to prepare consolidated accounts, 
but it is IaS 27 which stipulates the companies to be included in the consolidated 
accounts. For SEB, this means that the consolidated accounts comprise a differ-
ent group of companies than those constituting a group according to aaCS.

Holdings in subsidiaries and associated companies
participations in subsidiaries and associated companies shall be reported in accord-
ance with the cost method. Dividends received are reported as income to the extent 
that they emanate from profits earned after the acquisition. Dividends in excess of 
such profits reduce the reported value of the participation. If the value of the partici-
pations is lower than their acquisition cost on balance sheet date, a write-down to 
the lower value will be made if such decrease in value is deemed permanent.
 the parent company has chosen to apply hedge accounting to the foreign ex-
change risk in participations held in foreign subsidiaries and to the exchange risk 
in accrued profits in these subsidiaries. For this purpose hedging of the fair values 
is applied, which means that the value of the participations and the loans serving 
as hedge instruments are translated taking into consideration the hedged risk. 
participations in subsidiaries subject to hedge accounting are, consequently, 
 reported at a value differing from their acquisition cost.

Segment reporting
the parent company need not present segment information. However, information 
shall be disclosed regarding income per business area and geographical market.

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss (Fair Value Option)
It is only possible to designate financial assets and financial liabilities as meas-
ured at fair value through profit or loss in those cases permitted by aaCS. there-
fore, it is not possible for the parent company to fully apply the Fair Value option. 
For example, it is not possible to designate liabilities as measured at fair value 
through profit or loss, except for those held for trading purposes or which consti-
tute derivatives.

Leasing
according to rFr 2.1, leasing contracts which are classified as finance leases in 
the consolidated accounts may be accounted for as operating leases in legal en-
tities. the parent company has chosen to utilize this option.

Pensions
the act on safeguarding of pension commitments and the guidance from the FSa 
include regulations the application of which results in accounting treatment as re-
gards defined benefit plans differing from the treatment stipulated in IaS 19. Com-
pliance with the act on safeguarding of pension commitments is a condition for 
fiscal deductibility. In view of this, rFr 2.1 states that it is not mandatory that the 
regulations in IaS 19 regarding defined benefit pension plans be applied in the le-
gal entity. the parent company, whose obligations are covered by pension funds, 
has chosen to utilize this possibility. Imputed pension costs are, therefore, report-
ed as personnel costs in the profit and loss account and reversed in appropria-
tions. the parent company compensates itself for pensions paid from the pension 
funds, provided the financial position of the funds so permits. paid pensions and 
compensation from the pension funds are recorded among appropriations.

Group contributions
Group contributions paid or received for the purpose of minimising the Group’s 
taxes are reported in the parent company as a decrease/increase in non-restrict-
ed equity, after adjustment for estimated tax.

CrItICal JuDGMEntS In applYInG tHE Group’S aCCountInG polICIES

applying the Group’s accounting policies require in some cases the use of esti-
mates and assumptions that have a material impact on the amounts reported in 
the financial statements. the estimates are based on expert judgements and 
 assumptions that management believes are true and fair. the most significant 
 assumptions and estimates are associated with:
–  the consolidation of mutual life insurance companies and unit-linked funds 
–  the fair value measurement of certain financial instruments
–  the impairment testing of financial assets and goodwill
–  the calculation of insurance liabilities 
–  the market valuation of real estate property
–  the reporting of tax assets
–  the actuarial calculations of pension liabilities

Consolidation of mututal life insurance companies and unit-linked funds 
Within the life insurance operations of the SEB Group Gamla livförsäkrings aB SEB 
trygg liv operates as a mutual life insurance company. the entity is not consolidat-
ed, as the judgment of the Group is that it does not have control of the entity. Con-
trol is seen to imply the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity in order to obtain benefits from its activities. life insurance entities operated 
as mutual life insurance companies cannot pay dividends why the Group deems 
that it cannot obtain benefits. In Gamla livförsäkrings aB SEB trygg liv there are 
specific policies specifying the composition of the board, which implies that the 
SEB Group is not able to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity.
 the policyholders in SEB’s unit-linked company choose to invest in a variety of 
funds. the insurance company providing unit-linked products invests in the funds 
chosen by the customers. By doing so SEB might, in some cases, hold more than 
50 per cent of the funds, which it holds on behalf of the customers for whom it 
acts as investment manager. Due to the legislation regarding fund operations, 
SEB considers that it does not have the power to govern the financial and operat-
ing policies of such investment funds to obtain benefits. this applies irrespective 
of whether the funds held on behalf of customers are greater or less than 50 per-
cent of a fund. It is the policyholders who carry the investment risk, not SEB. 
Consequently, the policyholders are entitled to all of the returns generated by  
the funds. SEB only charges fees, on market conditions, for managing the funds. 
SEB has come to the conclusion that the funds which it manages should not be 
consolidated. However, the shares that the Group holds in such funds on behalf 
of its customers are recognised in the balance sheet.

Fair value measurement of certain financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are primarily measured at fair value by utilising 
quoted prices on active markets. In the absence of quoted prices, generally ac-
cepted and well established valuation techniques based on maximum use of ob-
servable market information is used. Valuation techniques applied are discounted 
cash flows, third party indicative quotes, benchmarking to instrument with simi-
lar characteristics and option pricing models. Valuation techniques are subject  
to regular reviews by the group risk control organisation to ensure reliability.

Impairment testing of financial assets and goodwill
Financial assets
testing financial assets individually for impairment requires judgement to establish 
the counterparty’s repayment capacity and the realisable value of any collateral. 
the most important aspect when testing a group of financial assets collectively for 
impairment is to identify the events that indicate incurred losses. adjusting models 
for collective impairment testing to current market situation also require a high de-
gree of expert judgement to ensure a reliable estimate. the assessment and as-
sumptions are regularly reviewed by the group credit organisation.

Goodwill
the annual impairment test of goodwill is based on the value in use with forecasted 
cash flows for five years. the cash flows beyond five years are determined based 
on historical performance and market trends for key assumptions such as growth, 
revenue and costs for cash generating units to which goodwill is allocated.

Calculation of insurance liabilities 
Calculation of the Group’s insurance liabilities is based on a number of assump-
tions such as interest rates, mortality, health, expenses, persistency, inflation 
and taxes. 

assumption on interest rates is based on regulations from each local Financial 
Supervisory authority (FSa). all other assumptions are based on internally ac-
quired experience.

Market valuation of real estate property
real estate properties in the insurance operations have been fair valued with the 
assistance of external expertise. the valuation method applied means that the 
related expected cash flows are discounted to present value. the assumptions 
concerning expected cash flows are based on assumptions on future rents, va-
cancy levels, operating and maintenance costs, yield requirement and market 
 interest. assumptions are in line with the assessments that the market can be 
 expected to make under current market conditions. the yield requirement is 
based on local analyses of comparable property purchases.

Reporting of tax assets
the expected outcome of uncertain tax positions is determined as the single 
most likely outcome.

Actuarial calculations of pension liabilities
Valuation of the Group’s pension liabilities is based on actuarial, demographic 
and financial assumptions. note 9 b contains a list of the most critical assump-
tions used when calculating the provision.



SEB annual rEport 2008  77

Notes to the financial statements

2  Segment reporting

BuSInESS SEGMEntS In SEB Group

Income statement, 2008
Merchant  

Banking
retail 

Banking
Wealth 

Management life1)
other incl.

eliminations2) Group

   Interest income 67,684 46,440 4,011 –20,854 97,281
   Interest expense –60,270 –35,690 –3,120 –36 20,545 –78,571
net interest income 7,414 10,750 891 –36 –309 18,710
   Fee and commission income 6,573 8,137 5,264 –97 19,877
   Fee and commission expense –1,325 –2,496 –1,583 781 –4,623
net fee and commission income 5,248 5,641 3,681 684 15,254
net financial income 3,625 397 67 –1,119 2,970
net life insurance income 3,296 –921 2,375
net other income 541 244 48 998 1,831

Total operating income 16,828 17,032 4,687 3,260 –667 41,140
   of which internally generated –10,550 1,700 –67 1,005 7,912

Staff costs –3,890 –4,632 –1,427 –1,105 –5,187 –16,241
other expenses –3,594 –5,449 –1,132 –523 3,056 –7,642
Depreciation, amortisation and  impairments of  
tangible and  intangible assets –95 –311 –100 –569 –449 –1,524

Total operating expenses –7,579 –10,392 –2,659 –2,197 –2,580 –25,407

Gains less losses from tangible and intangible assets 5 2 –1 6
net credit losses incl. changes in value of seized assets –904 –2,380 –17 33 –3,268

Operating profit 8,350 4,262 2,011 1,063 –3,215 12,471

Income statement, 2007
   Interest income 59,858 34,924 3,609 –12,356 86,035
   Interest expense –54,248 –25,226 –2,766 –28 12,231 –70,037
net interest income 5,610 9,698 843 –28 –125 15,998
   Fee and commission income 7,256 8,410 5,767 –33 21,400
   Fee and commission expense –1,311 –2,191 –1,690 843 –4,349
net fee and commission income 5,945 6,219 4,077 810 17,051
net financial income 2,613 482 79 65 3,239
net life insurance income 3,958 –1,025 2,933
net other income 839 159 86 135 1,219

Total operating income 15,007 16,558 5,085 3,930 –140 40,440
   of which internally generated –6,350 –2,027 –864 1,113 8,128

Staff costs –4,246 –4,235 –1,340 –1,050 –4,050 –14,921
other expenses –3,489 –5,285 –1,040 –530 3,425 –6,919
Depreciation, amortisation and  impairments of  
tangible and  intangible assets –85 –318 –60 –548 –343 –1,354

Total operating expenses –7,820 –9,838 –2,440 –2,128 –968 –23,194

Gains less losses from tangible and intangible assets 2 4 –1 783 788
net credit losses incl. changes in value of seized assets –326 –715 –7 32 –1,016

Operating profit 6,863 6,009 2,637 1,802 –293 17,018

1) Business result in life amounted to SEK 2,052m (3,075), of which change in surplus values was net SEK 989m (1,273).
2) profit and losses from associated companies accounted for under the equity method are recognised in net other income by SEK 77m (128). the aggregated investments are SEK 99m (424).

Balance sheet, 2008-12-31

assets 1,434,495 728,433 78,772 230,836 38,166 2,510,702
liabilities 1,394,392 666,214 70,258 222,232 73,877 2,426,973
Investments 455 783 1,051 2,126 523 4,938

Balance sheet, 2007-12-31

assets 1,381,938 725,782 86,938 244,497 –94,693 2,344,462
liabilities 1,340,919 672,802 78,983 236,112 –61,073 2,267,743
Investments 364 539 62 1,042 841 2,848
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GEoGrapHICal SEGMEntS In SEB Group

2008 2007

Gross Income* assets Investments Gross Income* assets Investments

Sweden 75,927 1,686,933 1,257 65,900 1,512,209 1,164
norway 11,757 149,637 33 10,474 145,624 28
Denmark 11,151 206,720 1,392 10,209 280,562 478
Finland 3,077 27,289 15 2,782 20,815 24
Estonia 3,694 57,311 34 3,336 52,023 61
latvia 3,488 50,796 58 3,124 47,356 92
lithuania 5,523 91,718 357 4,308 77,220 151
Germany 28,206 651,615 252 25,801 575,581 227
other countries 12,540 257,999 1,538 22,948 369,283 623
Group eliminations –31,028 –669,316 2 –34,056 –736,211

Total 124,335 2,510,702 4,938 114,826 2,344,462 2,848

*Gross income in the Group is defined as the sum of Interest income, Fee and commission income, net financial income, net life insurance income and net other income according to IFrS.

BuSInESS SEGMEntS In parEnt CoMpanY

2008
Merchant 

Banking
retail 

Banking
Wealth 

 Management life
other incl.

eliminations
parent

 company

Gross income* 31,196 5,346 1,373 94 44,507 82,516
assets 776,790 156,186 19,658 493 755,373 1,708,500
Investments 297 59 6 201 563

2007

Gross income* 32,162 10,608 1,723 106 20,996 65,595
assets 970,143 314,625 11,056 2 263,493 1,559,319
Investments 141 73 14 58 286

GEoGrapHICal SEGMEntS In parEnt CoMpanY

2008 2007

Gross Income* assets Investments Gross Income* assets Investments

Sweden 65,218 1,522,815 431 43,360 1,248,095 286
norway 4,618 77,926 3,796 61,879
Denmark 5,449 71,799 5,147 167,731
Finland 1,348 3,357 946 3,692
other countries 5,883 32,603 132 12,346 77,922

Total 82,516 1,708,500 563 65,595 1,559,319 286

* Gross income in the parent company is defined as the sum of Interest income, leasing income, Dividends, Fee and commission income, net Financial income and other income according to 
SFSa accounting regulations.

Primary segment – Business segment
the Business segments are presented on a management reporting basis. the 
different divisions assist different groups of customers. the customers’ de-
mands decide the type of products that are offered. Merchant Banking offers 
wholesale and investment banking services to large corporations, institutions 
and real estate companies. retail Banking offers products mainly to retail cus-
tomers (private customers and small corporates). Wealth Management performs 
asset management and private banking activities and life offers life, care and 
pension insurance. Some supportfunctions have been moved from the divisions 
to Group operations and Group Staff, 2007 years figures have been restated 
 accordingly.

Secondary segment – Geographical segment
the split is based on the location of the entity.

Transfer pricing
the internal transfer pricing objective in the SEB Group is to measure net interest 
income, to transfer interest risk and to manage liquidity. the internal price is set 
according to the market price, which is the price paid at the interbank market for 
a specific interest and liquidity term. the business units do not pay or receive 
any margins on funds transferred to and from the treasury unit. transactions 
 between Business segments are conducted at arm’s length.
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3  Net interest income

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 20073)

loans to credit institutions 11,873 10,865 14,329 4,963
loans to the public 64,612 53,770 33,940 25,521
Interest-bearing securities1) 18,706 18,127 11,408 11,686
other interest income 2,090 3,273 109 1,743

Interest income2) 97,281 86,035 59,786 43,913

Deposits by credit institutions –19,485 –17,287 –17,470 –5,174
Deposits and borrowing from the public –31,292 –26,760 –13,618 –9,639
Interest-bearing securities –21,593 –20,668 –16,602 –19,289
Subordinated liabilities –2,336 –2,075 –2,280 –2,011
other interest costs –3,865 –3,247 –3,017 –2,351

Interest expense –78,571 –70,037 –52,987 –38,464

Total 18,710 15,998 6,799 5,449
1) of which, measured at fair value. 18,706 18,007 11,094 11,427

2) Including interest on impaired loans. 101 107

3) In the parent company a productnetting was made 2007 between loans and deposits to credit institutions.

Net income from leases1)

Income from leases 6,372 6,154
Depreciation of leased equipment –4,604 –4,735

Total 1,768 1,419

1)  In the Group net income from leases is reclassified to interest income. In the parent company depreciation of leased equipment is reported as Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of 
tangible and intangible assets.

Net interest income 

Interest income  59,786  43,913
Income from leases  6,372  6,154
Interest expense –52,987 –38,464
Depreciation of leased equipment –4,604 –4,735

Total  8,567  6,868

4  Net fee and commission income
Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Issue of securities 172 335 959 1,192
Secondary market 2,769 3,751 608 1,141
Custody and mutual funds 7,022 7,165 2,369 2,454

Securities commissions 9,963 11,251 3,936 4,787

payments 1,844 1,808 1,134 1,116
Card fees 4,300 4,093 173 163

payment commissions 6,144 5,901 1,307 1,279

lending 1,004 1,055 678 718
Deposits 98 89 68 67
advisory 1,118 1,473 297 378
Guarantees 301 264 171 152
Derivatives 601 363 516 305
other 648 1,004 500 769

other commissions 3,770 4,248 2,230 2,389

Fee and commission income 19,877 21,400 7,473 8,455

Securities commissions –970 –902 –267 –260
payment commissions –2,450 –2,373 –526 –520
other commissions –1,203 –1,074 –686 –551

Fee and commission expense –4,623 –4,349 –1,479 –1,331

Total 15,254 17,051 5,994 7,124
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5  Net financial income

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities 
held for trading, net 3,665  3,256 3,236  2,490
Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities 
designated at fair value, net –221 –17
Impairments on available-for-sale financial assets –474

Total 2,970  3,239 3,236  2,490

Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities  
held for trading, net

Equity instruments and related derivatives 1,483   569 1,002   587
Debt instruments and related derivatives –936 –100 –176 –104
Currency related 3,106 2,787 2,410 2,007
other financial instruments 12

Total1) 3,665  3,256 3,236  2,490

Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities  
designated at fair value, net

Equity instruments and related derivatives –68 –49
Debt instruments and related derivatives –123 –1
Currency related –30   33

Total –221 –17

1) Includes ineffectiveness for net investment hedges in foreign operations of SEK –85m (0).

Fair value changes in financial assets and financial liabilities within the unit linked insurance business,  
designated as at fair value through profit or loss offset each other in full.  

6  Net life insurance income
Group

2008 2007

premium income, net 7,126  5,961
Income investment contracts 983  1,067
Investment income net –2,519   981
other insurance income 397   471
net insurance expenses –3,612 –5,547

Total 2,375  2,933

Investment income, net

Direct yield1) 4,230  4,427
Change in value on investments at fair value, net –7,069 –2,813
Foreign exchange gains (losses) 39 –419

–2,800 1,195

Expenses for asset management services –119 –108
policyholders tax 400 –106

  Total –2,519 981

1) net interest income, dividends received and operating surplus from properties.

Net insurance expenses

Claims paid, net –9,330 –7,918
Change in insurance contract provisions  5,718  2,371

Total –3,612 –5,547
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7  Net other income

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Dividends 122 79  2,715 3,925

Impairment of financial assets –121 –106

Investments in associates 77 128
Gains less losses from investment securities  1,236 653  2,004   377
Gains less losses from tangible assets1) 6 –939
other income 396 359 924  1,220

Total  1,831  1,219  2,934   658

1) See note 13 for the Group.

Dividends

available-for-sale investments 122 79 18 26
Investments in associates 57
Shares in subsidiaries 2,697 3,842

Total 122 79 2,715 3,925

Impairment of financial assets

Impairments –121 –106

Total –121 –106

Investments in associates1)

nCSD Holding (former VpC) 60 89
BGC Holding 13 26
other 4 13

Total 77 128

1) recognised through the equity method.

Gains less losses from investment securities

available for sale financial assets – Equity instruments 1,232 638 2,004 377
available for sale financial assets – Debt instruments 85 791
loans 9 1

Capital gains 1,326 1,430 2,004 377

available for sale financial assets – Equity instruments –18 –45
available for sale financial assets – Debt instuments –55 –641
loans –17 –91

Capital losses –90 –777

Total 1,236 653 2,004 377

Other income

Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting –46 –132 –87 –26
operating result from non-life insurance, run off –12 –12
other income 454 503 1,011  1,246

Total 396 359 924  1,220

Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting

Fair value changes of the hedged items attributable to the hedged risk –5,374 –1,363 –4,519 –854
Fair value changes of the hedging derivatives 4,831 907 4,417 842

Fair value hedges – ineffective portion –543 –456 –102 –12

Fair value changes of the hedging derivatives 15 –14 15 –14

Cash-flow hedges – ineffective portion 15 –14 15 –14

Fair value changes of the hedged items 2,404 –691
Fair value changes of the hedging derivatives –1,922 1,029

Fair value portfolio hedge of interest rate risk – ineffective portion 482 338

Total –46 –132 –87 –26
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Fair value hedges and fair value portfolio hedges
the Group hedges a proportion of its existing interest rate risk, in financial assets 
payments and financial liabilities with fixed interest rates, against changes in fair 
value due to changes in the interest rates. For this purpose the Group uses interest 
rate swaps, cross-currency interest rate swaps and in some situations also options. 
the hedges are done either on an item by item or grouped by maturity basis.

Cash flow hedges
the Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge future cash flows from deposits and 
lending with floating interest rates. Interest flows from deposits and lending with 

floating interest rates are expected to be amortised in profit or loss during the 
period 2009 to 2037.

Net investment hedges
the Group hedges the currency translation risk of net investments in foreign 
 operations through currency borrowings and currency forwards. Borrowing in 
 foreign currency to an amount of SEK 55,899m (53,260) and currency forwards 
to an amount of SEK 4,486m (349) was designated as hedges of net investments 
in foreign operations. Ineffectiveness has been recognised with SEK –85m reported 
in net financial income (note 5).

8  Administrative expenses

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Staff costs –16,241 –14,921 –9,274 –8,611
other expenses –7,642 –6,919 –4,464 –3,978

Total –23,883 –21,840 –13,738 –12,589

9  Staff costs

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Salaries and remuneration –11,088 –10,808 –5,653 –5,576
payroll overhead –2,618 –2,615 –1,785 –1,646
Employee stock option programme 67 –71 67 –71

Payroll related costs –13,639 –13,494 –7,371 –7,293

Imputed pension costs –434 –362
pension premiums paid –441 –447
Benefit retirement plans –7 369
Contribution retirement plans –732 –733

Pension related costs1) –739 –364 –875 –809

Other staff costs2) –1,863 –1,063 –1,028 –509

Total –16,241 –14,921 –9,274 –8,611

1)  pension costs in the Group are accounted for according to IaS 19, Employee benefits. pension costs in Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken have been calculated in accordance with the 
 directives of the Financial Supervisory authority, implying an actuarial calculation of imputed pension costs. non-recurring costs of SEK 213m (393) for early retirement have been charged 
to the pension funds of the Bank.

2)  Includes costs for redundancies with SEK 1,050m (281) for the Group and SEK 778m (115) for the parent company. 

 

9 a  Salaries and other remunerations per category

Group parent company

2008 Executives1) other Total Executives1) other Total

Sweden –32 –4,839 –4,871 –18 –4,172 –4,190
norway –24 –749 –773 –247 –247
Denmark –14 –669 –683 –203 –203
Finland –34 –303 –337 –198 –198
Estonia –20 –272 –292
latvia –11 –280 –291 –25 –25
lithuania –34 –356 –390 –3 –3
Germany –277 –1,984 –2,261 –93 –93
poland –4 –50 –54 –22 –22
ukraine –12 –87 –99
China –6 –6 –6 –6
Great Britain –3 –515 –518 –487 –487
France –13 –13 –13 –13
Ireland –2 –14 –16
luxembourg –2 –209 –211
russia –3 –25 –28
Singapore –118 –118 –110 –110
united States –9 –105 –114 –56 –56
other2) –13 –13

Total –481 –10,607 –11,088 –18 –5,635 –5,653
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Group parent company

2007 Executives1) other Total Executives1) other Total

Sweden –34 –5,038 –5,072 –19 –4,300 –4,319
norway –33 –827 –860 –190 –190
Denmark –14 –756 –770 –321 –321
Finland –24 –257 –281 –158 –158
Estonia –7 –273 –280
latvia –13 –244 –257 –19 –19
lithuania –30 –311 –341
Germany –267 –1,842 –2,109 –98 –98
poland –6 –27 –33 –15 –15
ukraine –3 –26 –29
China –5 –5 –5 –5
Great Britain –337 –337 –337 –337
France –11 –11 –11 –11
Ireland –2 –10 –12
luxembourg –12 –182 –194
russia –3 –21 –24
Singapore –58 –58 –50 –50
united States –11 –113 –124 –53 –53
other2) –11 –11

Total –459 –10,349 –10,808 –19 –5,557 –5,576

1)  Comprises current Board members and their substitutes in the parent company and subsidiaries, president and Deputy president in parent company and Managing Directors and Deputy 
Managing Directors in subsidiaries. total number of presidents, Managing Directors and Deputy presidents and Managing Directors was 96 (101) of which 14 (19) female. total number of 
Board members and their substitutes was 241 (207) of which 55 (47) female. these Board members do not, with the exception of the Board members elected at the aGM in the parent 
 company, receive board remuneration.

2) Switzerland, British Virgin Island and Brazil.

Loans to Executives

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Managing Directors and Deputy Managing Directors1)   153   134   18   2
Boards of Directors2)   251   208   34   47

Total   404   342   52   49

1)  Comprises current president in the parent company and Managing Directors and Deputy Managing Directors in subsidiaries. total number of executives was 96 (101) of which female 14 (19).
2) Comprises current Board members and their substitutes in the parent company and subsidiaries. total number of persons was 241 (207) of which female 55 (47).  

Pension commitments to Executives

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

pension disbursements made   83   53   36   16
Change in commitments   52   58   11   7
Commitments at year-end  1,608  1,678   728   775

the above commitments are covered by the Bank’s pension funds or through Bank-owned endowment assurance schemes. Includes active and retired presidents 
and Deputy presidents in the parent company and Managing Directors and Deputy Managing Directors in subsidiaries, in total 110 (115) persons.

Notes to the financial statements
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9 b  Retirement benefit obligations

DEFInED BEnEFIt planS In SEB Group

Net amount recognised  
in the Balance sheet

2008 2007

Sweden1) Foreign1) Group1) Sweden1) Foreign1) Group1)

Defined benefit obligation at  
the beginning of the year 16,479 4,760 21,239 14,312 5,016 19,328
acquisitions and reclassification –43 –43 –55 –55
Service costs 454 93 547 347 99 446
Interest costs 604 255 859 523 222 745
Benefits paid –805 –285 –1,090 –779 –242 –1,021
Exchange differences 764 764 228 228
unrecognised actuarial gains/losses 91 –186 –95 2,076 –508 1,568

Defined benefit obligation  
at the end of the year 16,823 5,358 22,181 16,479 4,760 21,239

Fair value of plan assets  
at the beginning of the year 16,991 4,528 21,519 17,579 4,472 22,051
acquisitions and reclassification –77 –77
Calculated return on plan assets 1,275 265 1,540 1,317 260 1,577
Benefits paid/contributions –691 –253 –944 –782 –216 –998
Exchange differences 731 731 205 205
unrecognised actuarial gains/losses –4,511 –688 –5,199 –1,123 –116 –1,239

Fair value of plan assets  
at the end of the year 13,064 4,583 17,647 16,991 4,528 21,519

Funded status –3,759 –775 –4,534 512 –232 280
unrecognised actuarial gains/losses  
on liabilities 5,941 160 6,101 5,989 348 6,337
unrecognised actuarial gains/losses  
on assets 2,349 690 3,039 –2,162 2 –2,160
Exchange differences 69 69 11 11

Net amount recognised  
in the Balance sheet 4,531 144 4,675 4,339 129 4,468
   of which recognised as assets 4,486 217 4,703 4,373 192 4,565
   of which recognised as liabilities –45 73 28 34 63 97

Movements in the net assets  
or net liabilities

Defined benefit obligation  
at the beginning of the year 4,339 129 4,468 3,896 192 4,088
acquisitions and reclassification 43 43 –24 –24
total expense as below 78 –85 –7 446 –77 369
pension paid 805 285 1,090 779 242 1,021
pension compensation –691 –253 –944 –782 –216 –998
Exchange differences 25 25 12 12

Amounts recognised in Balance sheet 4,531 144 4,675 4,339 129 4,468

the actual return on plan assets was SEK –3,928m (175) in Sweden and SEK –297m (113) in foreign plans. the allocation of total plan assets in Sweden is 78 per cent 
(78) shares and 22 (22) interest-bearing, in foreign plans 14 (24) shares and 86 (76) interest-bearing.

the pension plan assets include SEB shares with a fair value of SEK 417m (903) and buildings occupied by the company with a value of SEK 792m (792).

Amounts recognised in the Profit and loss

Service costs –454 –93 –547 –347 –99 –446
Interest costs –604 –255 –859 –523 –222 –745
return on plan assets 1,275 265 1,540 1,317 260 1,577
actuarial gains/losses –139 –2 –141 –1 –16 –17

Total included in staff costs 78 –85 –7 446 –77 369

Principal actuarial assumptions used, %

Discount rate 3.8% 6.0% 3.8% 5.5%
Inflation rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%
Expected rate of salary increase 3.5% 3.0% 3.5% 3.0%
Expected rate of increase  
in the income basis amount 3.0% 3.0%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 7.5% 5.0% 7.5% 6.0%

1)  Defined benefit obligations and plan assets are disclosed gross in the table. there exist no legal right to offset obligations and assets between entities in the group but in the balance sheet 
the net amount is recognised for each entity either as an asset or liability. 

DEFInED ContrIButIon planS In SEB Group

Net amount recognised  
in the Profit and loss

2008 2007

Sweden Foreign Group Sweden Foreign Group

Expense in Staff costs –463 –269 –732 –487 –246 –733

Notes to the financial statements
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DEFInED BEnEFIt planS In SKanDInaVISKa EnSKIlDa BanKEn

parent company
Net amount recognised in the Balance sheet 2008 2007

Defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the year 11,877 11,204
Imputed pensions costs 434 362
Interest costs and other changes –47 700
Early retirement 213 393
pension disbursements –803 –782

Defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 11,674 11,877

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year 16,732 17,343
return in pension foundations –3,136 171
Benefits paid –803 –782

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 12,793 16,732

the above defined benefit obligation is calculated according to tryggandelagen. the obligation is fully covered by assets in pension foundations and is not included in 
the balance sheet.

the assets in the foundations are mainly equity related SEK 9,955m (13,125) and to a smaller extent interest related SEK 2,838m (2,593). the assets include  
SEB shares of SEK 408m (890) and buildings occupied by the company of SEK 792m (792). the return on assets was –19 per cent (11) before pension compensation.

Amounts recognised in the Profit and loss

Imputed pension costs –434 –362

Total included in staff costs –434 –362

recovery of imputed pension costs 434 362
pension disbursements –803 –782
Compensation from pension foundations 803 782

Total included in appropriations 434 362

Net pension costs for defined benefit plans 0 0

Principal actuarial assumptions used, %

Gross interest rate 4.2% 3.5%
Interest rate after tax 3.6% 3.0%

the actuarial calculations are based on salaries and pensions on the balance sheet date.

DEFInED ContrIButIon planS In SKanDInaVISKa EnSKIlDa BanKEn

parent company
Net amount recognised in the Profit and loss 2008 2007

Expense in Staff costs –441 –447

Pension foundations

pension commitments Market value of asset

2008 2007 2008 2007

SEB-Stiftelsen, Skandinaviska Enskilda Bankens pensionsstiftelse  11,674 11,877  12,793 16,732
SEB Kort aB:s pensionsstiftelse   271 260   271 260

Total  11,945 12,137  13,064 16,992

SEB Kort aB:s pensionstiftelse merged its assets with SEB-Stiftelsen, Skandinaviska Enskilda Bankens pensionstiftelse during 2007 but kept its dedicated share  
of the assets.

Retirement benefit obligations
the Group has established pension schemes in the countries where business is 
performed. there are both defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans. 
the major pension schemes are final salary defined benefit plans and are funded. 
the defined contribution plans follow the local regulations in each country.

Defined benefit plans 
the major defined benefit plans exist in Sweden and Germany and covers sub-
stantially all employees in these countries. Independent actuarial calculations 
 according to the projected Credit unit Method (puCM) are performed each  
year as per 31 December to decide the value of the defined benefit obligation. 
the benefits covered include retirement benefits, disability, death and survivor 
 pensions according to the respective countries collective agreements.
 the plan assets are kept separate in specific pension foundations.  

the assets are market valued each year at the same date as the obligation. the 
asset allocation is determined to meet the various risk in the pension obligations 
and are decided by the board/trustees in the pension foundations. the pension 
costs and the return on plan assets are accounted for among Staff costs.

Defined contribution plans
Defined contribution plans exist both in Sweden and abroad. In Sweden a smaller 
part of the retirement collective agreement is defined contribution plans. over a 
certain salary level the employees can also choose to leave the defined benefit 
plan and replace it by a defined contribution plan. Most other countries have full 
defined contribution plans except for the Baltic countries where the company to 
a limited extent contribute to the employees retirement. the defined contribution 
plans are accounted for as an expense among Staff costs.

Notes to the financial statements
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9 c  Compensation to the top management and the Group Executive Committee

Compensation to the top mangement, SEK

2008 Base salary
Variable 

salaries1) remunerations2)
Benefits  

and other3)   Total

Chairman of the Board, Marcus Wallenberg 2,750,000 2,750,000
other members of the Board 6,200,000 6,200,000
president and CEo, annika Falkengren1) 7,000,000 1,341,351 8,341,351

Total 7,000,000 8,950,000 1,341,351 17,291,351

2007

Chairman of the Board, Marcus Wallenberg 2,600,000 2,600,000
other members of the Board 5,470,000 5,470,000
president and CEo, annika Falkengren 7,000,000 4,000,000 1,106,016 12,106,016

Total 7,000,000 4,000,000 8,070,000 1,106,016 20,176,016

1) the president has unilateraly decided to renounce her pay-out of any short-term incentive compensation for 2008.
2) as decided at aGM. 
3) Includes benefits for homeservice, company car and vacation compensation.  

the principles for compensation of the president and the other members of the 
Group Executive Committee were prepared by the Board and the remuneration 
and Human resources Committee of the Board and approved by the annual 
 General Meeting 2008. For more information, see page 59–60.

Short-term Incentive 
Short-term incentives for the Group Executive Committee are based on Group  
and divisional financial criteria, such as operating result, costs and other varying 
quantitative criteria. In addition to that there are individual qualitative criteria 
measured discretionary. all short-term incentives to the Group Executive Commit-
tee members are maximised to a percentage of base salary.

Long-term Incentive programme
From 1999 to 2004, employee stock options have been used as the vehicle for 
SEB’s long-term incentive programmes. For 2005, the annual General Meeting 
decided on a programme with a new performance based structure in the form  
of performance shares. For more information, see note 9 d.
 performance shares and employee stock options cannot be sold nor pledged, 
which means that they do not have any market value. However, the calculated value 
for the 2008 programme at the time of the allotment was SEK 55 per perform-
ance share. the calculated value for allotted performance shares to the president 
is SEK 2,750,000 (3,499,942), 1,375,000 to the deputy president and to the GEC 
excluding the president and her deputy SEK 6,541,315 (10,800,052). the allotted 
performance shares that can be exercised will depend on the development of two 
predetermined performance criteria of equal importance, the real increase in 

earnings per share, 50 per cent, and the total shareholder return compared to 
SEB´s competitors, 50 per cent.

Pension and severance pay
under the pension agreement of the president, Mrs Falkengren, pension is pay-
able from the age of 60. the pension plan is defined benefit-based and inviolable. 
pension is paid at the rate of 65 per cent of the pensionable income. pensionable 
income consists of base salary plus 50 per cent of the average variable salary 
during the last three years, however limited to a maximum amount. termination 
of employment by the Bank is subject to a 12-month period of notice and entitles 
to a severance pay of 12 months’ salary.
 as regards pension benefits and severance pay the following is applicable to 
the members of the Group Executive Committee excluding the president. the 
pension plans are inviolable and defined benefit-based except for three that are 
defined contribution-based. pension is payable from the age of 60 at the rate of 
maximum 70 per cent of pensionable income up to the age of 65 and at maximum 
65 per cent thereafter. pensionable income for defined benefit plans consists of 
base salary plus 50 per cent of the average variable salary during the last three 
years. Defined contribution-based pensionable income consists of base salary.
 termination of employment by the Bank is subject to a maximum 12-month 
 period of notice and entitles to a severance pay of maximum 24 months’ salary. 
the Bank has the right to make deductions from such severance pay of any cash 
payments that the Executive may receive from another employer or through his/
her own business.

Notes to the financial statements
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Compensation to the Group Executive Committee, SEK1)

2008 Base salary
Variable
salaries Benefits Total

Deputy president and CEo, Bo Magnusson2) 2,525,139 800,000 204,834 3,529,973
other members of the Group Executive Committee 21,417,793 5,450,000 1,402,423 28,270,216

Total 23,942,932 6,250,000 1,607,257 31,800,189

2007

other members of the Group Executive Committee 24,322,542 11,812,813 1,456,857 37,592,212

Total 24,322,542 11,812,813 1,456,857 37,592,212

1)  Group Executive Committee excluding the president and CEo and Deputy president and CEo. the persons partly differ between the years but in average seven (seven) persons are included.  
2) Bo Magnusson was appointed Deputy president and CEo in May 2008.

Pension costs (service costs and interest costs)

president and CEo, 
annika Falkengren

Deputy president and 
CEo, Bo Magnusson2) GEC1) Total

2008 7,367,039 1,810,196 12,535,958 21,713,193
2007 6,608,517 14,058,447 20,666,964

1) Group Executive Committee excluding the president and CEo and Deputy president and CEo. the persons partly differ between the years but in average seven (seven) persons are included.  
2) Bo Magnusson was appointed Deputy president and CEo in May 2008.

Outstanding number of Employee stock options/Performance shares to the President and the Group Executive Committee

2008 2007

president  
and CEo

Deputy president 
and CEo GEC1) Total

president  
and CEo GEC1) Total

2001: Employee stock options 79,412 91,177 170,589
2002: Employee stock options 191,177 98,544 289,721 191,177 127,661 318,838
2003: Employee stock options 132,353 143,794 276,147 132,353 172,911 305,264
2005: performance shares 458 59,581 60,039 62,000 107,200 169,200
2006: performance shares 43,846 109,177 153,023 43,846 134,562 178,408
2007: performance shares 40,697 106,396 147,093 40,697 125,582 166,279
2008: performance shares 50,000 25,000 118,933 193,933

Total 458,531 25,000 636,425 1,119,956 549,485 759,093 1,308,578

1) Group Executive Committee excluding the president and CEo and Deputy president and CEo. the persons partly differ between the years but in average seven (seven) persons are included. 

Related party disclosures*

Group

Loans to conditions on the market 2008 2007

top management and the Group Executive Committee 60,937,605 84,806,739
other related parties 8,752,920 8,600,000

Total 69,690,525 93,406,739

* For information about related parties such as Group companies and associated companies see note 47.

9 d  Share-based payments

2008 2007

Long-term incentive programmes
performance 

shares
Employee  

stock options
performance 

shares
Employee  

stock options

outstanding at the beginning of the year 4,133,205 4,682,772 3,117,679 12,819,189
Granted 1,459,283 1,264,040
Forfeited –738,485 –103,7661) –248,514 –120,6751)

Exercised –383,770 –1,231,9222) –8,015,7422)

Outstanding at the end of the year 4,470,233 3,347,084 4,133,205 4,682,772
   of which exercisable 593,981 3,347,084 4,682,772

1) Weighted average exercise price SEK 21.37 (45.30). 
2) Weighted average exercise price SEK 89.08 (113.70) and weighted average share price at exercise SEK 149.89 (221.30).

Notes to the financial statements
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Total Long-term incentive programmes

original no of 
holders2) no of issued

no of 
out standing 

2008

no of 
out standing 

2007
a-share per 

option/share
Exercise 

price Validity
First date of 

exercise

2001: Employee stock options 874 6,613,791 1,045,790 1 118 2001–2008 04-03-05
2002: Employee stock options 1,029 6,790,613 1,575,888 1,725,769 1 106.2 2002–2009 05-03-07
2003: Employee stock options 792 6,200,000 1,771,196 1,911,213 1 81.3 2003–2010 06-02-27
2004: Employee stock options 799 6,200,000 1 120 2004–2011 07-04-02
2005: performance shares 537 1,789,100 593,981 1,556,762 1 10 2005–2012 08-02-14
2006: performance shares 513 1,477,327 1,272,414 1,360,636 1 10 2006–2013 20091)

2007: performance shares 509 1,264,040 1,150,305 1,215,807 1 10 2007–2014 20101)

2008: performance shares 482 1,459,283 1,453,533 1 10 2008–2015 20111)

Total 31,794,154 7,817,317 8,815,977

1) the fifth banking day falling after the annual accounts for the financial year 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011 respectively are made public.
2) In total 1,800 individuals have participated in all programmes.

Long-term incentive programmes
the first long-term incentive programme was installed in 1999 in the form of an 
employee stock option programme. Further employee stock option programmes 
have been issued for 2000–2004. all programmes have a maximum term of 
 seven years, a vesting period of three years and an exercise period of four years, 
and are settled with SEB Class a-shares. the 2001 programme matured in 2008.
 the long-term Incentive programmes issued during 2005–2008 have a new 
structure compared with the programmes from 1999–2004. these programmes 
are based on performance shares. the maximum term, vesting and exercise 
 periods are the same but the allotted performance shares that can be exercised 
will depend on the development of two predetermined performance criteria of 
equal importance, the real increase in earnings per share and the total shareholder 
return compared to SEB’s competitors. the expected vesting is approximately  
40 per cent at time of grant of the preliminary allotted performance shares. During 
the exercise period and unless the performance shares have been exercised, the 
performance share holder is compensated for the dividend decided by the annual 
General Meeting (“aGM”), by recalculating the number of Class a-shares that the 
performance share holder is entitled to. performance shares are not securities 
that can be sold, pledged or transferred to another party. However, an estimated 
value per performance share has been calculated for 2008 to SEK 55 (86) (based 
upon an average closing price of one SEB Series a share during the period 7 Febru-
ary – 20 February, 2008, SEK 147.00 (233.20)) which is also an approximation of 
the closing price at grant. other inputs to the options pricing model are; exercise 
price SEK 10 (10); volatility 26 (31) (based on historical values); expected dividend 
approximately 2.95 (2.6) per cent; risk free interest rate 3.68 (3.81) and expected 
early exercise of 3 (3) per cent. In the value of the option the expected outcome of 
earnings per share and total shareholders return compared to SEB’s competitors 
are taken into account. Since earnings per share is a non-market condition, changes 
to the expected outcome under the vesting period, if any, influence the costs 

accounted for under that period. Further details of the outstanding programmes 
are found in the table above.
 the 2005 programme vested in 2008 with a final outcome of 62 per cent  
i.e. 62 per cent of the initially allotted performance shares can be exercised. 
 at the aGM 2008 two further programmes were decided, a share savings 
 programme for all employees and a share matching programme for a small 
number of selected top performers. 
 In the share savings programme the participants can save a maximum of five 
per cent of their gross base salary during a twelve months period. For the savings 
amount, Class a- shares are purchased at current stock exchange rate four times  
a year following the publication of the Bank’s quarterly reports. If the shares are 
 retained by the employee for three years and the employee remains with SEB,  
SEB will give the employee one Class a-share for each retained share free of 
charge. the first purchase was performed after the publication of the annual 
 accounts in February 2009. ten countries are included in the 2008 programme.
 the share matching programme is based on performance, has a vesting period 
of three years and is settled with SEB Class a-shares. the programme contains  
a mandatory deferral for three years of 25 per cent of the outcome of the short-
term incentive compensation. the deferred amounts are allocated to a deferral 
 incentive pool and a determined number of deferral rights is registered for each 
participant in the pool. one deferral right corresponds to the value of one SEB 
Class a-share at the time for allocation. three years from allocation the partici-
pant receives one SEB Class a-share for each deferral right and not more than 
four matching shares. the number of matching shares will depend on the develop-
ment of one predetermined performance criterion measured as average annual 
nominal increase in earnings per share. the expected vesting is approximately  
37 per cent. In 2008 there are no participants in this programme. Deferral rights 
are not securities that can be sold, pledged or transferred to another party. 

9 e  Sick leave rate

Sick leave rate by gender and age group in parent company, %

long-term sick leave total sick leave

2008 Men Women total Men Women total

–29 years 0.1 0.8 0.5 1.7 3.3 2.5
30–49 years 0.6 2.4 1.5 1.8 4.3 3.1
50–years 1.2 4.4 2.9 2.6 6.8 4.7

Total 0.7 2.8 1.8 2.0 4.9 3.5

2007

–29 years 0.2 1.4 0.9 1.8 3.8 2.9
30–49 years 0.7 2.7 1.7 1.9 4.6 3.3
50–years 1.6 5.3 3.5 3.1 7.5 5.3

Total 0.9 3.4 2.2 2.2 5.4 3.9

Notes to the financial statements
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9 f   Number of employees

Average number of full time equivalents

Group parent company

Division/supportfunction 2008 2007 2008 2007

Merchant Banking 2,721 2,566 1,632 1,457
retail Banking 9,084 8,802 2,762 2,735
Wealth Management 1,133 1,074 457 420
life 1,233 1,201 4 4
new Markets 1,534 458 1 3
Group operations 1,917 1,850 1,304 1,215
Group It 1,958 1,850 1,402 1,331
Group Staff and Group treasury 1,711 1,705 859 806

Total 21,291 19,506 8,421 7,971

number of hours worked 14,590,444 13,917,681
 

Average number of employees

Group parent company

2008 Men Women Total Men Women Total

Sweden 4,186 4,698 8,884 3,661 4,037 7,698
norway 304 260 564 103 62 165
Denmark 424 349 773 133 81 214
Finland 160 183 343 90 88 178
Estonia 384 1,395 1,779
latvia 436 1,341 1,777 43 102 145
lithuania 627 1,581 2,208 9 28 37
Germany 1,818 1,805 3,623 93 15 108
poland 46 38 84 18 16 34
ukraine 450 985 1,435
China 8 10 18 8 10 18
Great Britain 124 72 196 124 72 196
France 3 17 20 3 17 20
Ireland 8 18 26
luxembourg 110 116 226
russia 53 122 175
Singapore 38 54 92 31 53 84
united States 42 19 61
other1) 18 9 27 2 2

Total 9,239 13,072 22,311 4,318 4,581 8,899

2007

Sweden 4,168 4,781 8,949 3,579 4,054 7,633
norway 290 279 569 91 55 146
Denmark 426 367 793 125 75 200
Finland 153 174 327 80 75 155
Estonia 387 1,369 1,756
latvia 447 1,309 1,756 38 76 114
lithuania 554 1,375 1,929
Germany 1,853 1,830 3,683 108 19 127
poland 38 22 60 16 13 29
ukraine 308 596 904
China 8 8 16 8 8 16
Great Britain 125 79 204 124 78 202
France 4 17 21 3 16 19
Ireland 7 14 21
luxembourg 105 110 215
russia 45 116 161 1 1
Singapore 35 52 87 28 50 78
united States 42 18 60
other1) 9 3 12 2 2

Total 9,004 12,519 21,523 4,203 4,519 8,722

1) Switzerland, British Virgin Island and Brazil.

Notes to the financial statements
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10  Other expenses

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Costs for premises1) –1,880 –1,532 –883 –740
Data costs –2,866 –2,321 –1,447 –1,234
Stationery –194 –183 –78 –52
travel and entertainment –527 –526 –302 –292
postage –250 –256 –227 –248
Consultants –995 –797 –696 –477
Marketing –720 –783 –285 –259
Information services –388 –362 –286 –264
other operating costs2) 178 –159 –260 –412

Total –7,642 –6,919 –4,464 –3,978

1) of which rental costs.
2) net after deduction for capitalised costs, see also note 27.

–1,339 –1,026 –655 –490

Fees and expense allowances to appointed auditors and audit firms 1) 2)

pricewaterhouseCoopers –60 –46 –10 –9
other audit firms –2 –2 –1

Audit assignments –62 –48 –10 –10

pricewaterhouseCoopers –49 –18 –15 –6
other audit firms –3 –1

Other assignments –52 –19 –15 –6

Total –114 –67 –25 –16

1) the audit has been performed in a mutual process with the internal audit team of SEB. the cost for internal audit is SEK 127m (117).
2) the parent company includes the foreign branches.

11  Depreciation, amortisation and impairments of tangible and intangible assets

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Depreciation tangible assets –641 –628 –4,703 –4,819
amortisation intangible assets –351 –223 –117 –28
amortisation of deferred acquisition costs –519 –494
Impairment tangible assets –13 –9

Total –1,524 –1,354 –4,820 –4,847

office equipment is depreciated according to plan, which specifies that personal computers and similar equipment are depreciated over three years and other office 
equipment over five years. properties are depreciated according to plan.

12  Gains less losses from tangible and intangible assets

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

properties1)   2 791 3
other tangible assets   62 5   6 3

Capital gains   64 796   6 6

other tangible assets –58 –8 –945

Capital losses –58 –8 –945

Total   6 788   6 –939

1) Includes gain of SEK 785m on sale of properties in the Baltics in 2007.

Notes to the financial statements
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13  Net credit losses incl. changes in value of seized assets 

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

net credit losses –3,231 –1,021 –773 –24
Change in value of seized assets –37 5

Total –3,268 –1,016 –773 –24

Net credit losses (Impairments) 

provisions:
net collective provisions –1,303 –390 –393 38
Specific provisions –1,718 –653 –347 –51
reversal of specific provisions no longer required 336 405 39 25
net provisions for contingent liabilities –56 8

Net provisions –2,741 –630 –701 12

Write-offs:
total write-offs –1,428 –1,395 –192 –160
reversal of specific provisions utilized for write-offs 699 711 70 53

Write-offs not previously provided for –729 –684 –122 –107
recovered from previous write-offs 239 293 50 71

Net write-offs –490 –391 –72 –36

Total –3,231 –1,021 –773 –24

Change in value of seized assets

properties taken over –1
other assets taken over –6 5

Realised change in value –7 5

properties taken over –24 4
other assets taken over –6 –4

Unrealised change in value –30

Total –37 5

14  Appropriations

parent company

2008 2007

recovery of imputed pension premiums   434 362
Compensation from pension funds, pension disbursements   803 782
pension disbursements –803 –782

Pension compensation   434 362

appropriations to/utilisation of untaxed reserves
accelerated tax depreciation –2,117 –520

Appropriations –2,117 –520

Total –1,683 –158

Notes to the financial statements
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15  Income tax expense

Group parent company

Major components of tax expense 2008 2007 2008 2007

Current tax –2,907 –2,491 –4 –755
Deferred tax 500 –804 1,338 209

tax for current year –2,407 –3,295 1,334 –546
Current tax for previous years –14 –81 –34 –45

Income tax expense –2,421 –3,376 1,300 –591

Relationship between tax expenses and accounting profit

net profit 10,050 13,642 8,215 7,485
Income tax expense 2,421 3,376 –1,300 591

Accounting profit before tax 12,471 17,018 6,915 8,076

Current tax at Swedish statutory rate of 28 per cent –3,492 –4,765 –1,936 –2,261
tax effect relating to other tax rates in other jurisdictions 91 196
tax effect relating to not tax deductible expenses –614 –474 –155 –285
tax effect relating to non taxable income 1,131 1,593 2,087 1,791
tax effect relating to a previously recognised tax loss,  
tax credit or temporary difference –76 830
tax effect relating to a previously unrecognised tax loss,  
tax credit or temporary difference 53 129

Current tax –2,907 –2,491 –4 –755

tax effect relating to origin and reversal of tax losses,  
tax credits and temporary differences 76 –830 1,424 209
tax effect relating to changes in tax rates or  
the imposition of new taxes 357 –161 –86
tax effect relating to a previously unrecognised tax loss,  
tax credit or temporary difference 68 224
tax effect relating to impairment or reversal of previous  
impairments of a deferred tax asset –1 –37

Deferred tax 500 –804 1,338 209

Current tax for previous years –14 –81 –34 –45

Income tax expense –2,421 –3,376 1,300 –591

In Sweden the income tax rate was reduced from 28 per cent to 26.3 per cent. the decision was taken in the fourth quarter with efffect from January 2009.  
In Germany the tax rate was reduced in beginning of 2008 from approximately 40 per cent to approximately 32 per cent. 

Deferred tax income and expense recognised in income statement

accelerated tax depreciation –534 –351
pension plan assets, net   143 –146
tax losses carry forwards  1,472 68  1,338
other temporary differences –581 –375 209

Total   500 –804  1,338 209

Deferred tax assets and liabilites where the change during 2008 is not reported as change in deferred tax amounts to SEK 1,293m and is explained by deferred tax 
related to divestures SEK 261m, deferred tax for life insurance investments SEK 880m, and currency translatation effect of SEK 152m.

16  Earnings per share

Group

2008 2007

net profit attributable to equity holders, SEK m  10,041  13,618
Weighted average number of shares, millions 685 682
Basic earnings per share, SEK 14.66 19.97

net profit attributable to equity holders, SEK m  10,041  13,618
Weighted average number of diluted shares, millions 685 685
Diluted earnings per share, SEK 14.65 19.88

Notes to the financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements

17  Risk disclosure

Disclosures about credit risk, market risk, insurance risk, operational risk, busi-
ness and strategic risk together with liquidity risk and financing and the manage-
ment of those risks are found under the section risk and Capital Management 
(page 36–51) of the report of the directors), which also forms part of the finan-
cial statements. the Group manages the liquidity risk and financing based on the 
possibility of a negative deviation from an expected financial outcome.

17a Liquidity risk
liquidity risk is defined as the risk for a loss or substantially higher costs than cal-
culated due to inability of the Group to meet its payment commitments on time. 

the table below presents cash flows by remaining contractual maturities at the 
balance sheet date and applies the earliest date which the Group can be required 
to pay regardless of probability assumptions. the amounts disclosed in maturities 
are un-discounted cash flows. trading positions, excluding derivative fair values 

based on discounted cash flows, are reported within < 3 months, though contrac-
tual maturity may extend over longer periods, which reflects the short-term nature 
of the trading activities. off-balance sheet items such as loan commitments are 
reported within < 3 months to reflect the on demand character of the instruments. 
the following liabilities recognized on the balance sheet are excluded as the bank 
does not consider them to be contractual; provisions, deferred tax and  liabilities 
to employees for share-based incentive programmes. Derivative contracts that 
settle on a gross basis are part of the Group’s liquidity management and the table 
below include separately the gross cash flows from those contracts.    

the Group’s derivatives that will be settled on a gross basis include:
– Foreign exchange derivatives: currency forward deals, currency swaps and
– Interest rate derivatives: cross currency interest rate swaps.

Group’S CaSH lIQuIDItY 2008

Financial liabilities (contractual maturity dates) < 3 months 3 < 12 months 1 < 5 years 5 years < Total

Deposits by credit institutions 329,204 46,529 55,023 5,648 436,404
Deposits and borrowing from the public 613,082 61,112 49,717 134,688 858,599
liabilities to policyholders – investment contracts 25,924 4,230 19,407 65,549 115,110
Debt securities 148,035 91,207 313,556 11,512 564,310
trading liabilities 54,411 54,411
trade and client payables 9,424 50 24 9,498
Subordinated liabilities 5,336 40 11,786 46,446 63,608

Total 1,185,416 203,168 449,513 263,843 2,101,940

Other liabilities (non-financial) 130,678 1,843 3,158 10,085 145,764

Off-balance sheet items

loan commitments 152,960 4,867 5,752 6,763 170,342
acceptances and other financial facilitites 8,400 2,636 1,404 8,184 20,624
operating lease commitments 291 1,051 441 313 2,096

Total 161,651 8,554 7,597 15,260 193,062

Total liabilities and off-balance sheet items 1,477,745 213,565 460,268 289,188 2,440,766

Total financial assets (contractual maturity dates)1) 1,417,768 147,620 485,285 466,118 2,516,791

Derivatives

Currency-related 799,777 40,685 38,325 12,665 891,452
Interest-related 36,474 12,975 37,510 22,191 109,150

Total derivative outflows 836,251 53,660 75,835 34,856 1,000,602

Total derivative inflows 838,117 59,956 76,250 41,112 1,015,435

Group’S CaSH lIQuIDItY 2007

Financial liabilities (contractual maturity dates) < 3 months 3 < 12 months 1 < 5 years 5 years < Total

Deposits by credit institutions 379,588 16,778 7,466 17,516 421,348
Deposits and borrowing from the public 638,359 30,897 24,929 56,296 750,481
liabilities to policyholders – investment contracts 135,937 135,937
Debt securities 136,173 166,214 200,781 7,396 510,564
trading liabilities 135,421  135,421
trade and client payables 33,940 33,940
Subordinated liabilities 288 1,273 42,428 43,989

Total 1,323,769 213,889 234,449 259,573 2,031,680

Other liabilities (non-financial) 5,567 1,101 89,979 96,647

Off-balance sheet items

loan commitments 295,590 295,590
acceptances and other financial facilitites 66,984 66,984
operating lease commitments 1,261 3,584 2,067 6,912

Total 362,574 1,261 3,584 2,067 369,486

Total liabilities and off-balance sheet items 1,691,910 216,251 238,033 351,619 2,497,813

Total financial assets (contractual maturity dates)1) 1,042,451 139,317 404,026 560,684 2,146,478

Derivatives

Currency-related  696,561  174,008  34,215   113  904,897
Interest-related  18,895  32,405  92,645  14,545  158,490

Total derivative outflows  715,456  206,413  126,860  14,658 1,063,387

Total derivative inflows  715,007  206,057  125,249  14,558 1,060,871
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note 17 ctd. risk disclosure

parEnt CoMpanY’S CaSH lIQuIDItY 2008

Financial liabilities (contractual maturity dates) < 3 months 3 < 12 months 1 < 5 years 5 years < Total

Deposits by credit institutions 384,970 25,835 2,216 94 413,115
Deposits and borrowing from the public 429,555 10,375 3,951 12,905 456,786
Debt securities 136,321 65,253 212,640 6,814 421,028
trading liabilities 49,429 49,429
trade and client payables 8,001 8,001
Subordinated liabilities 5,205 10,919 46,337 62,461

Total 1,013,481 101,463 229,726 66,150 1,410,820

Other liabilities (non-financial) 40,284 9 7 1 40,301

Off-balance sheet items

loan commitments 146,230 146,230
acceptances and other financial facilitites 6,684 6,684
operating lease commitments

Total 152,914 152,914

Total liabilities and off-balance sheet items 1,206,679 101,472 229,733 66,151 1,604,035

Total financial assets (contractual maturity dates)1) 1,068,897 68,897 195,149 124,872 1,457,815

Derivatives

Currency-related 750,607 8,518 29,905 12,719 801,749
Interest-related 36,474 12,433 37,325 18,953 105,185

Total derivative outflows 787,081 20,951 67,230 31,672 906,934

Total derivative inflows 784,234 22,898 65,858 37,548 910,538

parEnt CoMpanY’S CaSH lIQuIDItY 2007

Financial liabilities (contractual maturity dates) < 3 months 3 < 12 months 1 < 5 years 5 years < Total

Deposits by credit institutions 344,805 18,483 902 3,509  367,699
Deposits and borrowing from the public 384,956 6,777 2,709 18,057  412,499
Debt securities 129,144 152,881 123,235 2,742  408,002
trading liabilities 121,687  121,687
trade and client payables 32,369  32,369
Subordinated liabilities 300 1,273 41,473  43,046

Total 1,013,261 178,141 128,119 65,781 1,385,302

Other liabilities (non-financial) 128 46   174

Off-balance sheet items

loan commitments 186,479  186,479
acceptances and other financial facilitites 50,909  50,909
operating lease commitments 535 1,516 1,693  3,744

Total 237,388 535 1,516 1,693  241,132

Total liabilities and off-balance sheet items 1,250,777 178,722 129,635 67,474 1,626,608

Total financial assets (contractual maturity dates)1) 785,606 74,700 350,309 80,875 1,291,490

Derivatives

Currency-related  624,825  113,641  22,373   108  760,947
Interest-related  12,840  30,412  91,899  12,840  147,991

Total derivative outflows  637,665  144,053  114,272  12,948  908,938

Total derivative inflows  637,148  144,065  112,389  13,129  906,731

1)  Financial assets available to meet liabilities and outstanding commitments include cash, central banks balances, eligible debt instruments and loans and advances to banks and customers. 
trading assets are reported within < 3 months, though contractual maturity may extend over longer periods, and insurance contracts as 5 years < reflecting the nature of trading and 
 insurance activities.
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18  Fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities

Group parent company

Financial assets at fair value 2008 2007 2008 2007

Financial assets at fair value1) 521,029 525,738 386,802 367,985
available-for-sale financial assets 163,115 170,137 26,897 62,085
Investments in associates2) 1,030 833 986 815

Total 685,174 696,708 414,685 430,885

Financial liabilities at fair value

Financial lialibilities at fair value 295,533 216,390 279,512 201,761
Debt securities3) 28,527 26,512 20,447 20,145

Total 324,060 242,902 299,959 221,906

1) policyholders bearing the risk excluded from financial assets at fair value.
2) Venture capital activities designated at fair value through profit and loss.
3) Index linked bonds designated at fair value through profit and loss. 

Fair value measurement – assets

Quoted market prices 166,166 114,965  30,098 72,563
Valuation techniques – market observable input 518,352 581,393  382,945 358,021
Equities carried at cost 656 350  1,642 301

Total 685,174 696,708 414,685 430,885

Fair value measurement – liabilities

Quoted market prices 30,604 53,270 17,294 51,366
Valuation techniques – market observable input 293,456 189,632 282,665 170,540

Total 324,060 242,902 299,959 221,906

19  Cash and cash balances with central banks

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Cash  5,300 5,020  1,331 1,550
Balances with foreign central banks  39,552 91,851  9,339 208

Total  44,852 96,871  10,670 1,758

20  Loans to credit institutions

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

remaining maturity
 – payable on demand 130,295 98,114 129,471 138,009
 – maximum 3 months 62,513 130,843 42,372 103,601
 – more than 3 months but maximum 1 year 7,711 11,246 58,530 9,825
 – more than 1 year but maximum 5 years 13,662 11,836 69,769 93,709
 – more than 5 years 8,588 9,619 4,569 10,564
accrued interest 908 1,354 1,676 1,774

loans 223,677 263,012 306,387  357,482

other debt instruments1) 42,427 42,427
accrued interest 259 259

Debt instruments 42,686 42,686

Total 266,363 263,012 349,073  357,482
   of which repos 42,201 97,213 32,847  82,249

average remaining maturity for loans (years) 0.63 0.58 0.97 1.14

1) See note 41 for maturity and note 42 for issuers.

Quoted market prices
For financial instruments traded in active markets fair values are based on quoted 
market prices or dealer price quotations. 

Valuation techniques with market observable input
Valuation techniques are used to estimate fair values incorporating discounted 
cash flows, option pricing models, valuations with reference to recent transac-
tions in the same instrument and valuations with reference to other financial in-
struments that are substantially the same. 
Fixed income securities portfolios: as a consequense of increased credit spreads 
in the fixed income securities portfolio and the subsequent decrease in market 
 activity the Group has identified additional external sources for market quotes 
and continued to fair value the portfolio using market observable input. to a limit-
ed extent reference instruments with substantially the same underlying risk and 
structure are used to estimate fair value. the valuation technique together with 
the judgement involved in evaluating and reviewing third party quotes and estab-
lishing reference instruments are developed to ensure that the fair values recog-

nised on the balance sheet and the changes in fair values recorded in the income 
statement and in equity reflect the underlying economics. Credit spread risk is the 
risk that the credit spread premium embedded in the price of a security changes 
and thus impacts the price of the instrument independently of changes in the so 
called risk free interest rate. the fixed income securities portfolio has an inherent 
credit spread sensitivity of SEK 2.6m (25.6) that will affect the operating profit 
and SEK 9.8m (13.3) that will affect equity if the credit spreads change one basis 
point 0.01%. the fixed income portfolio reclassified to loans has an inherent credit 
spread sensitivity of SEK 26.0m.
Derivatives: SEB uses widely recognised valuation techniques demonstrated to 
provide reliable fair values of financial derivative instruments, such as forwards, 
options and swaps, with use of market observable inputs.

Valuation techniques with non-market observable input
the Group has no assets nor liabilities where the bank applies a valuation tech-
nique without incorporating market input.
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21  Loans to the public

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

remaining maturity
 – payable on demand 158,386 133,161 99,321 111,480
 – maximum 3 months 168,575 191,477 108,564 139,903
 – more than 3 months but maximum 1 year 141,935 111,056 98,935 63,062
 – more than 1 year but maximum 5 years 444,164 345,684 320,707 256,600
 – more than 5 years 313,547 280,951 78,012 62,531
accrued interest 4,664 5,012 3,238 3,562

loans 1,231,271 1,067,341 708,777 637,138

Eligible debt instruments1) 5,410
other debt instruments1) 59,508 59,508
accrued interest 588 452

Debt instruments 65,506 59,960

Total 1,296,777 1,067,341 768,737 637,138
   of which repos 60,246 130,363 57,078 120,744

average remaining maturity for loans (years) 3.71 3.71 2.56 2.28

1) See note 41 for maturity and note 42 for issuers.

Financial leases

Book value 84,669  73,104
Gross investment 101,875  89,151
present value of minimum lease payment receivables 81,167  74,075
unearned finance income 17,869  16,047
reserve for impaired uncollectable minimum lease payments –618 –50

Group 2008 Group 2007

Book value
Gross 

investment present value Book value
Gross 

investment present value

remaining maturity
 – maximum 1 year 11,189 13,739 11,000  5,668 5,342 5,903
 – more than 1 year but maximum 5 years 36,531 43,079 35,741  35,274 43,861 38,153
 – more than 5 years 36,949 45,057 34,495  32,162 39,948 30,019

Total 84,669 101,875 81,236  73,104  89,151  74,075

the largest lease engagement amounts to SEK 5.3 billion (5.4). 

22  Financial assets at fair value

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Securities held for trading 161,596 348,888 131,253 285,036
Derivatives held for trading 248,426 85,395 242,882 80,966
Derivatives used for hedging 11,155 2,777 12,576 1,871
Fair value changes of hedged items in a portfolio hedge 3,503 –641
Financial assets – policyholders bearing the risk 114,425 135,485
Insurance assets designated at fair value 94,818 88,020
other financial assets designated at fair value 1,531 1,299 91 112

Financial assets at fair value 635,454 661,223 386,802 367,985

the category Financial assets at fair value comprises of financial instruments either classified as held for trading or financial assets designated to this category upon 
initial recognition. these financial assets are recognised at fair value and the value change is recognised through profit and loss.

the Group has reclassified interest-bearing securities from securiries held for trading to loans. See further page 25 in the report of the directors, which also 
forms part of the financial statements.

Securities held for trading

Equity instruments 33,949 55,843 26,084  43,472
Eligible debt instruments1) 42,832 84,888 19,387  33,641
other debt instruments1) 82,509 205,002 83,868  205,538
accrued interest 2,306 3,155 1,914  2,385

Total 161,596 348,888 131,253  285,036

1) See note 41 for maturity and note 42 for issuers.
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note 22 ctd. Financial assets at fair value

Group parent company

Derivatives held for trading 2008 2007 2008 2007

positive replacement values of interest-related derivatives 122,066 41,259 122,839 39,302
positive replacement values of currency-related derivatives 114,373 30,085 108,258 29,189
positive replacement values of equity-related derivatives 3,247 10,722 3,087 9,329
positive replacement values of other derivatives 8,740 3,329 8,698 3,146

Total 248,426 85,395 242,882 80,966

Derivatives used for hedging

Fair value hedges 4,091 1,036 6,197 947
Cash flow hedges 6,379 893 6,379 924
portfolio hedges for interest rate risk 685 848

Total 11,155 2,777 12,576 1,871

Insurance assets designated at fair value

Equity instruments 17,331 20,889
other debt instruments1) 76,341 66,315
accrued interest 1,146 816

Total 94,818 88,020

1) See note 41 for maturity and note 42 for issuers.

Other financial assets designated at fair value

Equity instruments 1,062 997 91 112
Eligible debt instruments1) 24 20
other debt instruments1) 445 282

Total 1,531 1,299 91 112

1) See note 41 for maturity and note 42 for issuers.

to significantly eliminate inconsistency in measurement and accounting the Group has chosen to designate financial assets and financial liabilities, which the unit linked 
insurance business give rise to, at fair value through profit or loss. this implies that changes in fair value on those investment assets (preferably funds), where the policy-
holder bear the risk and the corresponding liabilities, are recognised in profit or loss. Fair value on those assets and liabilities are set by quoted market price in an active 
market. the fair values on those liabilities, designated at fair value to profit or loss, have not been affected by changes in credit risk. See also note 31.

23  Available-for-sale financial assets

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Equity instruments at cost 656 289 655 289
Equity instruments at fair value 1,405 1,484 862 853
Eligible debt instruments1) 126,217 113,230 674 7,780
other debt instruments1) 32,917 53,732 24,324 52,779
Seized shares 50 39 11 13
accrued interest 1,870 1,363 371 371

Total 163,115 170,137 26,897 62,085

1) See note 41 for maturity and note 42 for issuers.

Equity instruments measured at cost do not have a quoted market price in an active market. Further, it has not been possible to reliably measure the fair values of 
those equity instruments. Most of these investments are held for strategic reasons and are not intended to be sold in the near future.

the Group has reclassified interest-bearing securities from securiries held for trading to loans. See further page 25 in the report of the directors, which also forms 
part of the financial statements.

24  Held-to-maturity investments

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Eligible debt instruments1) 1
other debt instruments1) 1,958 1,770 3,237 3,322
accrued interest 39 27 26 26

Total 1,997 1,798 3,263 3,348

1) See note 41 for maturity and note 42 for issuers.
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25  Investments in associates

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Strategic investments 99 424 25 248
Venture capital holdings 1,030 833 986 815

Total  1,129  1,257  1,011  1,063

Strategic investments assets1) liabilities1) revenues1) profit or loss1) Book value ownership, %

Bankomatcentralen aB, Stockholm 1 0   22
Bankpension aB, Stockholm 30 3 11 1 10   40
BDB Bankernas Depå aB, Stockholm 1,107 1,093 4 –10 7   20
BGC Holding aB, Stockholm 290 137 836 53 4   33
Föreningen Bankhälsan i Stockholm, Stockholm 9 8 39 4   33
privatgirot aB, Stockholm 45 27 126 2 0   24
upplysningscentralen uC aB, Stockholm 153 78 356 17 0   27

Parent company holdings 25

Holdings of subsidiaries 10
Group adjustments 64

Group holdings 99

1) retrieved from respective annual report 2007.

2008 2007

Venture capital holdings Book value ownership, % Book value ownership, %

3nine aB, Stockholm 20 27 20 27
airsonett aB, Ängelholm 22 20 15 16
ascade Holding aB, Stockholm 58 43 51 42
askembla Growth Fund KB, Stockholm 136 25 140 25
Capres a/S, Copenhagen 35 23 26 23
Cobolt aB, Stockholm 37 40 37 40
Crossroad loyalty Solutions aB, Gothenburg 13 30 13 30
Datainnovation i lund aB, lund 26 43 23 42
Emers Holdings aB, Huddinge 40 23
Exdex Förvaltning aB, Stockholm (former InDex Diagnostics aB) 13 25
Exitram aB, Stockholm 23 44
Fält Communications aB, umeå 25 47 23 46
InDex pharmaceuticals aB, Stockholm 52 49 15 45
KMW Energi aB, norrtälje 37 37 28 27
Matrix aB, Stockholm 21 48
neoventa Holding aB, Gothenburg 59 30 51 30
nomad Holdings ltd, newcastle 36 13
nuEvolution a/S, Copenhagen 49 47 29 40
phaseIn aB, Stockholm 64 44 44 43
prodacapo aB, Örnsköldsvik 6 16 16 16
prostalund aB, lund 32 30
Quickcool aB, lund 8 18 5 9
Sanos Bioscience a/S, Herlev 48 30 41 30
Scandinova Systems aB, uppsala 22 29 22 29
Scibase aB, Stockholm 40 28 40 28
ShoZu ltd, abingdon 39 17
Signal processing Devices Sweden aB, linköping 29 43 16 34
tail-f Systems aB, Stockholm 32 43 27 39
time Care aB, Stockholm 24 43 23 42
Xylophane aB, Gothenburg 15 23
Zealcore Embedded Solutions, Västerås 4 16
Zinwave Holdings limited, Cambridge 31 29

Parent company holdings 986 815

Group adjustments 44 18

Group holdings 1,030 833

Information about the corporate registration numbers and numbers of shares  
of the associates is available upon request.
 Strategic investments in associates are in the Group accounted for using  
the equity method.
 Investments in associates held by the venture capital organisation of the 
Group have in accordance with IaS 28 been designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss. therefore, are these holdings accounted for under IaS 39.
 Some entities where the bank has an ownership of less than 20 per cent,  
has been classified as investments in associates. the reason is that the bank  
is represented in the board of directors and participating in the policy making 

processes of those entities.
 all financial assets within the Group’s venture capital business are managed 
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with docu-
mented risk management and investment strategies.
 Fair values for investments listed in an active market are based on quoted 
market prices. If the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is 
established by using valuation techniques based on discounted cash flow analy-
sis, valuation with reference to financial instruments that is substantially the 
same, and valuation with reference to observable market transactions in the 
same financial instrument.



SEB annual rEport 2008  99

Notes to the financial statements

26  Shares in subsidiaries

parent company

2008 2007

Swedish subsidiaries  15,801  15,670
Foreign subsidiaries  44,262  36,266

Total  60,063  51,936

   of which holdings in credit institutions  44,008 37,167

2008 2007

Swedish subsidiaries Book value Dividend ownership, % Book value Dividend ownership, %

aktiv placering aB, Stockholm 38 100 38
Enskilda Kapitalförvaltning SEB aB, Stockholm 0 100 0 100
Försäkringsaktiebolaget Skandinaviska Enskilda Captive, Stockholm 100 100 100 100
Key asset Management (Sverige) aB, Stockholm 1 100
parkeringshuset lasarettet HGB KB, Stockholm 0 99 0 99
pM leasing aB, Stockholm 0 100
repono Holding aB, Stockholm 5,406 100 5,406 100
SEB aB, Stockholm 6,076  1,775 100 6,076 1,050 100
SEB Baltic Holding aB, Stockholm 13 13 100
SEB Fonder aB, Stockholm 642 100 642 100
SEB Fondinvest aB, Stockholm 69 100
SEB Förvaltnings aB, Stockholm 5 100 5 100
SEB Internal Supplier aB, Stockholm 12 100 12 100
SEB Investment Management aB, Stockholm 51 100
SEB Kort aB, Stockholm 2,260 –24 100 2,260 787 100
SEB portföljförvaltning aB, Stockholm 1,115 125 100 1,115 60 100
SEB Strategic Investments aB, Stockholm 24 100 1 100
Skandic projektor aB, Stockholm 1 100 1 100
Skandinaviska Kreditaktiebolaget, Stockholm 0 100 0 100
team SEB aB, Stockholm 1 100 1 100

Total 15,801 1,889 15,670 1,897

Foreign subsidiaries

Interscan Servicos de Consultoria ltda., São paulo 0 100 0 100
Key asset Management (Switzerland) Sarl, Geneve 0 100
Key asset Management (uK) limited, london 573 100
Key asset Management norge aSa, oslo 1 100
Key Capital Management Inc., tortola 378 100
Möller Bilfinans aS, oslo 50 51 57 51
njord aS, oslo 0 100 0 100
oJSB Factorial Bank, Kharkiv 785 98 760 98
oJSC SEB Bank, Kiev 318 100 318 100
SEB aG, Frankfurt am Main 23,524 100 20,007 425 100
SEB asset Management america Inc., Stamford 29 100 20 100
SEB asset Management Fondmæglerselskab a/S, Copenhagen 115
SEB asset Management norge aS, oslo 17 100 12 100
SEB asset Management S.a., luxembourg 6 –12 100 5 52 100
SEB Bank JSC, St petersburg (former petroEnergobank) 178 100 123 100
SEB Banka, aS, riga 699 100 697 100
SEB bankas, aB, Vilnius1) 3,056 100 2,003 100
SEB Enskilda aSa, oslo 704   206 100 687   447 100
SEB Enskilda Inc., new York 35   70 100 13 100
SEB Ensklida Corporate Finance oy ab, Helsinki 5 65 5 65
SEB Fund Services S.a., luxembourg 111 100 49 100
SEB Gyllenberg asset Management ab, Helsinki (former SEB Gyllenberg ab) 595   133 100 514   84 100
SEB Gyllenberg Fondbolag ab, Helsinki 21   23 100 18 100
SEB Gyllenberg private Bank ab, Helsinki 76 100 66 100
SEB Hong Kong trade Services ltd., Hong Kong 0 100 0 100
SEB It partner Estonia oÜ, tallinn 0 65 0 65
SEB leasing oy, Helsinki 4,723 100 4,019 100
SEB leasing, CJSC, St petersburg 71 100
SEB nEt S.l., Barcelona 0 100 0 100
SEB pank, aS, tallinn 2,407 100 1,540 100
SEB privatbanken aSa, oslo2) 1,296 100 1,383 70 100
SEB tFI Sa (towarzystwo Funduszy Inwestycyjnych), Warsaw2) 39 24 100 36 58 100
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken a/S, Copenhagen 2,351 317 100 1,913 94 100
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken Corporation, new York 138 100 113 100
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken S.a., luxembourg 1,599 19 100 1,299 160 100
Skandinaviska Enskilda ltd., london 477 28 100 609 64 100

Total 44,262 808 36,266 1,569

Information about the corporate registration numbers and numbers of shares of the subsidiaries is available upon request.

1) In 2006 SEB initiated a compulsory redemption process for the remaining shares. 
2) antecipated dividend for 2007 updated with received dividend.
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27  Tangible and intangible assets

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Goodwill  13,692 12,419   523 523
Deferred acquisition costs 3,351 3,027
other Intangible assets  2,352 1,448   812 369

Intangible assets  19,395 16,894  1,335 892

office, It and other tangible assets  1,383 1,398   254 278
Equipment leased to clients1)  39,821 34,325
properties for own operations  1,137 1,143   2 2
properties taken over for protection of claims   106 23

Property and equipment  2,626 2,564  40,077 34,605

Investment properties recognised at cost   218 201
Investment properties recognised at fair value  
through profit and loss  7,272 5,038

Investment properties  7,490 5,239

Total  29,511 24,697  41,412 35,497

1) Equipment leased to clients are recognised as financial leases and presented as loans in the Group.

Goodwill

opening balance  12,419  11,668 523 523
acquisitions during the year   971 538
reclassifications –55
Sales during the year –179
Exchange rate differences   481 268

Total  13,692  12,419   523 523

Deferred acquisition costs

opening balance  3,027 2,845
Capitalisation of acquisition costs   807   683
amortisation of acquisition costs –519 –494
reclassifications –15
Exchange rate differences   36   8

Total  3,351  3,027

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives
Cash generating units with significant carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible 
assets with indefinite lives are SEB Kort and Merchant Banking. In SEB Kort the 
value of goodwill amounts to SEK 1,187m (1,202) and intangible assets with in-
definite lives to SEK 139m (120). the goodwill in Merchant Banking originates 
from the acquisition of Enskilda Securities, SEK 844m (865). Goodwill in connec-
tion with the trygg Hansa acquisition, SEK 5,721m (5,721), generates cash flows 
in retail Banking Sweden, SEB asset Management Sweden and SEB trygg liv 
Sweden. the goodwill has been allocated to these units for impairment testing. 
the carrying amounts of goodwill for retail Banking Sweden is SEK 775m, SEB 
asset Management Sweden SEK 2,769m and SEB trygg liv Sweden SEK 2,021m. 

the impairment tests for the entities specified above have been based on their 
value in use with forecasted cash flows for a period of five years. the cash flows 
are determined based on historical performance and market trends for key as-
sumptions such as growth and cost/income ratio. the growth rates used after 
five years are principally the expected long-term inflation rate adjusted for indus-
try specific expectations, SEB Kort 2 per cent and Enskilda Securities 4.5 per 

cent and for the trygg Hansa goodwill 3.5 per cent in average. the discount rate 
used for SEB Kort is 9 per cent, Enskilda Securites 8.5 per cent and the trygg 
Hansa goodwill 10 per cent. the assumptions here specified are for impairment 
test purposes only. a sensitivity analysis where the discount rate and growth 
rate, respectively, were changed with one percentage point did not result in calcu-
lated recoverable amounts below the carrying amounts for any of the above men-
tioned goodwill. 

Acquisitions 2008
During 2008 two minor acquisitions were made, Key asset Management,  
Great Britain and Commercial Finance, poland. the total purchase price was  
SEK 990m, goodwill amounts to SEK 798m and intangible assets SEK 161m. 

Acquisitions 2007
During 2007 one minor acquisition was made, Factorial Bank, ukraine.

the purchase price was SEK 759m and goodwill was SEK 531m.
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note 27 ctd. tangible and intangible assets

Group parent company

Other intangible assets 2008 2007 2008 2007

opening balance  3,546 2,906 503 217
acquisitions during the year 1,227 561 563 286
Group adjustment 14
reclassifications –5
Sales during the year –131 –45
Exchange rate differences 428 115

Acquisition value  5,070  3,546 1,066 503

opening balance –2,098 –1,847 –134 –106
Current year’s depreciations –351 –223 –106 –28
Current year’s impairments –10 –11
Group adjustment –2
reclassifications 5
accumulated depreciations on current year’s sales 28 43
Exchange rate differences –287 –74 –3

Accumulated depreciations –2,718 –2,098 –254 –134

Total  2,352  1,448 812 369

Office, IT and other tangible assets

opening balance  7,367 7,116  2,643 2,467
acquisitions during the year 508 591 75 179
Group acquisitions/Merger 8 48 17
reclassifications 2 –4
Sales during the year –159 –540
Exchange rate differences 569 156 –20

Acquisition value  8,295  7,367  2,718  2,643

opening balance –5,969 –5,705 –2,365 –2,265
Current year’s depreciations –576 –577 –99 –85
Current year’s impairments –1 –1
Group acquisitions/Merger –5 –18 –15
reclassifications 3
accumulated depreciations on current year’s sales 133 464
Exchange rate differences –494 –135

Accumulated depreciations –6,912 –5,969 –2,464 –2,365

Total  1,383  1,398 254 278

Equipment leased to clients1)

opening balance 46,101  16,459
acquisitions during the year 12,189  8,967
Merger of SEB Finans 28,354
Sales during the year –7,813 –7,679

Acquisition value 50,477  46,101

opening balance –11,776 –1,907
Current year’s depreciations –4,604 –4,734
Merger of SEB Finans –9,661
accumulated depreciations on current year’s sales 5,724 4,526

Accumulated depreciations –10,656 –11,776

Total 39,821  34,325

1)  Equipment leased to clients is depreciated in annuities, based on a conservatively estimated residual value at the end of the contract period. For leased equipment that cannot be sold in a 
functioning market, the scheduled residual value is zero at the end of the contract period. any surplus resulting from the sale of leased equipment is reported under other income.

Notes to the financial statements
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note 27 ctd. tangible and intangible assets

Group parent company

Properties for own operations 2008 2007 2008 2007

opening balance 1,653 1,248 3 10
acquisitions during the year 57 115
appreciations during the year 42 79
Group adjustment 225
reclassifications 75
Sales during the year –141 –40 –7
Exchange rate differences 46 26
Acquisition value 1,732  1,653 3 3

opening balance –510 –443 –1 –1
Current year’s depreciations –48 –35
Current year’s impairments –10
Group adjustment –8
reclassifications –16 –5
accumulated depreciations on current year’s sales 35 10
Exchange rate differences –56 –19
Accumulated depreciations –595 –510 –1 –1

Total 1,137  1,143 2 2
tax value, real properties 2 2 2 2
   of which, buildings 1 1 1 1

tax value refers only to properties in Sweden.

Properties taken over for protection of claims

opening balance 23 86
acquisitions during the year 82 4
Sales during the year –12 –69
Exchange rate differences 13 2
Total 106 23

Net operating earnings from properties taken over for protection of claims

External income 3 3
operating costs –2
Total 3 1

Investment properties recognised at cost

opening balance 401 871
acquisitions during the year 4 2
reclassifications –4
Sales during the year –497
Exchange rate differences 63 29
Acquisition value 468 401

opening balance –200 –242
Current year’s depreciations –17 –16
reclassifications 1
accumulated depreciations on current year’s sales 67
Exchange rate differences –33 –10
Accumulated depreciations –250 –200

Total 218 201

Investment properties recognised at fair value through profit and loss

opening balance  5,038 4,411
acquisitions during the year  1,266 354
Current year’s impairments –2
reclassifications 3
revaluation at fair value 97
Sales during the year –36
Exchange rate differences 970 209
Total  7,272 5,038

Net operating earnings from investment properties

External income 344 317
operating costs1) –114 –97
Total 230 220

1) Direct operating expenses arising from investment property that did not generate rental income amounts to SEK 10m (5). 

Notes to the financial statements
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28  Other assets

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Current tax assets  3,998  3,766 1,072 1,813
Deferred tax assets  2,836   845 1,338
trade and client receivables  13,402  25,377  12,317  23,625
other assets  50,416  28,138  45,845  15,589

Other assets  70,652  58,126  60,572  41,027

Current tax assets

other  3,998  3,766 1,072 1,813

Recognised in profit and loss  3,998  3,766  1,072  1,813

Total  3,998  3,766  1,072  1,813

Deferred tax assets

tax losses carry forwards  2,084   612  1,338
other temporary differences1)   797   54

Recognised in profit and loss  2,881   666  1,338

unrealised losses in available-for-sale financial assets –45   179

Recognised in Shareholders’ equity –45   179

Total  2,836   845  1,338

1)  temporary differences are differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax base. taxable temporary differences give rise to deferred tax 
 assets and liabilities.

tax losses carried forward in the SEB Group for which the tax asset are not recognized in the balance sheet amounts gross to SEK 5,422m (4,895). these are  
not recognized due to the uncertainty of possibility to use them. this includes losses where the amount only can be used for trade tax. the potential tax asset  
not recognized is SEK 1,120 m (993).

Trade and client receivables

trade receivables 498 535
Client receivables  12,904  24,842  12,317  23,625

Total  13,402  25,377  12,317  23,625

Other assets

pension plan assets, net  4,703  4,565
reinsurers share of insurance provisions 535 565
accrued interest income   48   104
other accrued income  1,025  1,722  1,659  1,771
prepaid expenses   604   592
other1)  43,501  20,590  44,186  13,818

Total  50,416  28,138  45,845  15,589

1)  Including margin of safety for security loans of SEK 30.361m (3.223).

29  Deposits by credit institutions

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

remaining maturity
 – payable on demand  143,224  114,001  161,754  103,644
 – maximum 3 months  216,714  262,593  184,423  238,867
 – more than 3 months but maximum 1 year  46,534  16,778  45,220  18,483
 – more than 1 year but maximum 5 years  6,688  7,466  12,918 902
 – more than 5 years  14,402  17,516  3,983  3,509
accrued interest  1,863  2,994  1,807  2,294

Total  429,425  421,348  410,105  367,699
   of which repos  23,575  70,988  23,573  68,371

average remaining maturity (years) 0.52 0.58 0.32 0.22
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30  Deposits and borrowing from the public

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Deposits  730,295  647,075  406,100  318,171
Borrowing  107,086  100,737  46,513  93,060
accrued interest  3,653  2,669  1,084  1,268

Total  841,034  750,481  453,697  412,499

Deposits1)

remaining maturity
 – payable on demand  440,527  410,695  406,100  318,171
 – maximum 3 months  169,887  147,447
 – more than 3 months but maximum 1 year  53,700  25,375
 – more than 1 year but maximum 5 years  21,234  21,330
 – more than 5 years  44,947  42,228

Total  730,295  647,075  406,100  318,171

1)  only account balances covered by the Deposit Guarantee are reported as deposits. the amount refers to the total account balance without considering the limitation in terms of amount that 
is applicable to the Deposit Guarantee and fee bases.

average remaining maturity (years) 0.78 0.80

Borrowing

remaining maturity
 – payable on demand  21,919  28,812  7,215  15,859
 – maximum 3 months  57,815  48,736  26,476  49,658
 – more than 3 months but maximum 1 year  9,921  5,522  1,753  6,777
 – more than 1 year but maximum 5 years  4,511  3,599   519  2,709
 – more than 5 years  12,920  14,068  10,550  18,057

Total  107,086  100,737  46,513  93,060
   of which repos  36,304  38,680  15,437  36,076

average remaining maturity (years) 1.46 1.60 2.40 2.14

31  Liabilities to policyholders

Group

2008 2007

liabilities to policyholders – investment contracts1)  115,110  135,937
liabilities to policyholders – insurance contracts  95,960  89,979

Total  211,070  225,916

1) Designated at fair value through profit and loss.

Liabilities to policyholders – investment contracts*

opening balance  135,937 120,127
reclassification to/from insurance contracts –57  1,913
Change in investment contract provisions1) –21,924  13,343
Exchange rate differences  1,154 554

Total  115,110  135,937

1)  the net of premiums received during the year, return on investment funds less  
payments to the policyholders and deduction of fees and policyholders tax.

* Insurance provisions where the policyholders are carrying the risk.

Liabilities to policyholders – insurance contracts

opening balance  89,979 83,592
transfer of portfolios through acquisitions/divestments 7,474
reclassification from/to investment contracts   57 –1,913
Change in collective bonus provisions –7,339 –326
Change in other insurance contract provisions1)  1,716 –2,364
Exchange rate differences  11,547 3,516

Total  95,960 89,979

1)  the net of premiums received during the year, allocated guaranteed interest less  
payments to the policyholders and deduction of fees and policyholders tax.
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32  Debt securities

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Bond loans  367,357  301,414  239,245  200,880
other issued securities  149,418  202,085  149,355  201,950
accrued interest  8,444  7,065  5,646  5,172

Total  525,219  510,564  394,246  408,002

the Group issues equity index linked bonds, which contains both a liability and  
an equity component. the Group has chosen to designate issued equity index 
linked bonds, with fair values amounting to SEK 28,527m (26,512), as at fair 
 value through profit or loss, since they contain embedded derivatives. the corre-
sponding amounts for the parent company are SEK 20,629m (20,145). this 
choice implies that the entire hybrid contract is measured at fair value in profit  

or loss. Fair value for those financial instruments is calculated using a valuation 
technique, exclusively based on quoted market prices. Fair value on these finan-
cial liabilities has not been affected by changes in credit risk. this has been 
 concluded by evaluating the bank’s rating which has been stable. the Group’s 
contractual liability is SEK 29,261m (24,863) and for the parent company  
SEK 21,092m (18,729).

Bond loans

remaining maturity
 – maximum 1 year  82,637  100,230  46,811 81,895
 – more than 1 years but maximum 5 years  276,046  194,643  187,294  117,097
 – more than 5 years but maximum 10 years  4,253  6,035  2,492  1,342
 – more than 10 years  4,421 506  2,648 546

Total  367,357  301,414  239,245 200,880

average remaining maturity (years) 2.67 2.38 2.69 2.00

Other issued securities

remaining maturity
 – payable on demand  4,749  4,416  4,442  4,483
 – maximum 3 months  117,397  124,692  117,397  124,661
 – more than 3 months but maximum 1 year  27,271  65,984  27,516  65,814
 – more than 1 year but maximum 5 years   1  6,138  6,138
 – more than 5 years 855 854

Total  149,418  202,085  149,355  201,950

average remaining maturity (years) 0.21 0.41 0.21 0.41

33  Financial liabilities at fair value

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

trading derivatives  231,341  79,211  225,829  78,408
Derivatives used for hedging  8,168  2,169  4,254  1,666
trading liabilities  54,411  135,421  49,429  121,687
Fair value changes of hedged items in portfolio hedge  1,613 –411

Total  295,533  216,390  279,512  201,761

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss is specified in note 31 and 32.

Trading derivatives

negative replacement values of interest-related derivatives  115,462  39,359  117,514  38,343
negative replacement values of currency-related derivatives  112,195  34,382  105,470  32,926
negative replacement values of equity-related derivatives  2,858  5,390  2,088  7,061
negative replacement values of other derivatives   826 80   757 78

Total  231,341  79,211  225,829  78,408

Derivatives used for hedging

Fair value hedges   733 952   805 950
Cash flow hedges  3,447 716  3,449 716
portfolio hedges for interest rate risk  3,988 501

Total  8,168 2,169  4,254 1,666

Trading liabilities

Short positions in equity instruments  15,387  18,845  15,387  18,461
Short positions in debt instruments  38,571  116,346  33,589  103,003
accrued interest   453 230   453 223

Total  54,411  135,421  49,429  121,687
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34  Other liabilities

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Current tax liabilities 1,148  1,101 94 46
Deferred tax liabilities 9,810  9,403
trade and client payables 9,498  33,940  8,001  32,369
other liabilities 51,109  53,075  47,562  34,678

Total 71,565  97,519  55,657  67,093

Current tax liabilities

other 1,148 1,101 145 –267

Recognised in profit and loss 1,148  1,101 145 –267

Group contributions 194
other –245 313

Recognised in Shareholders’ equity –51 313

Total 1,148 1,101 94 46

Deferred tax liabilities

accelerated tax depreciation 7,715  7,182
unrealised profits in financial assets at fair value 130 82
pension plan assets, net 1,150  1,257
other temporary differences 674 726

Recognised in profit and loss 9,669  9,247

unrealised profits in cash flow hedges 45 46
unrealised profits in available-for-sale financial assets 96 110

Recognised in Shareholders’ equity 141 156

Total 9,810  9,403

temporary differences are differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax base. taxable temporary differences  
give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities.

In Estonia no income tax is paid unless profit is distributed as dividend. no deferred tax liability is recognised related to possible future tax costs on dividends from 
Estonia. tax rate applicable to dividends are 21 per cent (21).

Trade and client payables

trade payables   464  330
Client payables  9,034   33,610  8,001  32,369

Total  9,498  33,940  8,001  32,369

Other liabilities

accrued interest expense   51   124
other accrued expense  4,535  5,443  2,330   128
prepaid income  1,722  1,942
other  44,801  45,566  45,232  34,550

Total  51,109  53,075  47,562  34,678

35  Provisions

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

restructuring reserve   793   132   600   4
reserve for off-balance-sheet items   251   209   3
pensions and other post retirement benefit obligations (note 9b)   28   97
other provisions   825  1,098   189   264

Total  1,897  1,536   789   271

Restructuring reserve

opening balance 132 143 4 7
additions 640 600
amounts used –3 –17 –4 –3
Exchange differences 24 6

Total   793   132   600   4

the restructuring reserve mainly regards redundancy in Sweden for a net decrease of 500 employees and is expected to be used within one to two years.
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note 35 ctd. provisions

Group parent company

Reserve for off-balance-sheet items 2008 2007 2008 2007

opening balance 209 215 3 4
additions 67 4
amounts used –63 –16 –3 –1
Exchange differences 38 6

Total   251   209 0   3

the reserve for off-balance sheet items is mainly referring to the German market and its corporate sector. a minor part is expected to be used during 2009 while  
the remaining part has a substantially longer life.

Other provisions

opening balance 1 098 1,650 264 405
additions 23 14
amounts used –358 –483 –75 –141
unused amounts reversed –87
Exchange differences 62 4

Total   825  1,098   189   264

the other provisions consists of three main parts, unutilised premises in connection with the integration of SEB’s different business units in the nordic countries, 
 Germany and u.K. expected to be used in 5 years, unsettled claims in the u.K. market to be settled within 7 years and provisions linked to property funds and 
 guarantees given in Germany for less than 5 years.

36  Subordinated liabilities

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Debenture loans  21,640  18,763  20,666  17,808
Debenture loans, perpetual  26,792  25,166  26,792  25,166
Debenture loans, hedged positions  2,388 –228  2,388 –228
accrued interest   410   288   353   300

Total  51,230  43,989  50,199  43,046

Debenture loans

Currency
original nom. 

amount Book value
rate of 

interest, %

1994/2009 uSD 200 1,531 6.875
2003/2015 Eur 500 5,483 4.125
2004/2014 Eur 750 8,187 1)

2006/2017 Eur 500 5,465 1)

Total parent company 20,666

Debenture loans issued by SEB aG 887
Debenture loans issued by other subsidiaries 87

Total Group 21,640

Debenture loans, perpetual

1995 JpY 10,000 857 4.400
1997 JpY 15,000 1,286 5.000
1997 uSD 150 860 7.500
2000 uSD 100 15 1)

2004 uSD 500 3,866 4.958
2005 uSD 600 4,640 1)

2005 GBp 500 5,600 5.000
2006 GBp 375 4,200 5.500
2007 Eur 500 5,468 7.092

Total 26,792

1) Frn, Floating rate note.
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37  Untaxed reserves1)

parent company

2008 2007

Excess depreciation of office equipment/leased assets 21,131  19,012
other untaxed reserves 5 4

Total 21,136  19,016

1) In the balance sheet of the Group untaxed reserves are reclassified partly as deferred tax liability and partly as restricted equity.  

Parent company

Excess 
depreciation

other untaxed 
reserves Total

opening balance 12,085 4 12,089
appropriations 520 520
Merger of SEB Finans 6,410 6,410
Exchange rate differencies –3 –3

Closing balance 2007 19,012 4 19,016

appropriations 2,117 2,117
Exchange rate differencies 2 1 3

Closing balance 2008 21,131 5 21,136

38  Memorandum items

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Collateral and comparable security pledged for own liabilities  375,227  308,342  242,395  146,563
other pledged assets and comparable collateral  152,142  207,363  37,737  73,510
Contingent liabilities  86,675  66,984  62,260  50,909
Commitments  416,533  394,128  261,252  259,024

Collateral and comparable security pledged for own liabilities*

lending1)   70 66   47   66
Bonds  237,851  121,286  202,697  68,301
repos  39,651  95,234  39,651  78,196
assets in insurance business  97,655  91,756

Total  375,227  308,342  242,395  146,563

1) of which SEK 47m (66) refers to the parent company’s pledging of promissory notes for the benefit of the Swedish Export Credit Corporation.

* transfers that do not qualify for derecognition.

Other pledged assets and comparable collateral

Shares in insurance premium funds  114,405  134,818
Securities loans lending  37,737  72,545  37,737  73,510

Total  152,142  207,363  37,737  73,510

Contingent liabilities

Guarantee commitments, credits  12,309  7,188  8,314  4,602
Guarantee commitments, other  61,334  48,694  46,434  38,346
own acceptances   836   799   823   776

Total  74,479  56,681  55,571  43,724

approved, but unutilised letters of credit  12,196  10,303  6,689  7,185

Total  86,675  66,984  62,260  50,909

Other contingent liabilities
the parent company has undertaken to the Monetary authority of Singapore to 
ensure that its subsidiary in luxembourg’s branch in Singapore is able to fulfil  
its commitments. 

the parent company has issued a deposit guarantee for SEB aG in Germany to 
the Bundesverband deutscher Banken e.V.

Commitments

Granted undrawn credit  191,899  165,467  146,405  121,259
unutilised part of approved overdraft facilities  161,641  130,119  74,760  65,220
Securities loans borrowing  62,008  92,327  40,087  72,545
other commmitments   985  6,215

Total  416,533  394,128  261,252  259,024
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39  Current and non-current assets and liabilities

2008 2007

Group, Assets Current assets
non-current 

assets total Current assets
non-current 

assets total

Cash and cash balances with central banks 44,852 44,852 96,871 96,871
loans to credit institutions 201,427 64,936 266,363 241,557 21,455 263,012
loans to the public 473,560 823,217 1,296,777 440,706 626,635 1,067,341
   Securities held for trading 76,579 85,017 161,596 97,083 251,805 348,888
   Derivatives held for trading 248,426 248,426 85,395 85,395
   Derivatives used for hedging 11,155 11,155 2,777 2,777
    Fair value changes of hedged items in a portfolio hedge 3,503 3,503 –641 –641
   Financial assets – policyholders bearing the risk 114,425 114,425 135,485 135,485
    Other financial assets designated at fair value 24,071 72,278 96,349 24,860 64,459 89,319
Financial assets at fair value 478,159 157,295 635,454 344,959 316,264 661,223
available-for-sale financial assets 32,448 130,667 163,115 25,989 144,148 170,137
Held-to-maturity investments 1,507 490 1,997 639 1,159 1,798
assets held for sale 852 852
Investments in associates 1,129 1,129 1,257 1,257
   Intangible assets 870 18,525 19,395 717 16,177 16,894
   Property and equipment 641 1,985 2,626 612 1,952 2,564
   Investment properties 7,490 7,490 5,239 5,239
tangible and intagible assets 1,511 28,000 29,511 1,329 23,368 24,697
   Current tax assets 3,998 3,998 3,766 3,766
   Deferred tax assets 2,836 2,836 845 845
   Trade and client receivables 13,402 13,402 25,377 25,377
   Other assets 50,416 50,416 28,138 28,138
other assets 67,816 2,836 70,652 57,281 845 58,126

Total 1,302,132 1,208,570 2,510,702 1,209,331 1,135,131 2,344,462

2008 2007

Liabilities Current  liabilities
non-current

liabilities total Current  liabilities
non-current

liabilities total

Deposits by credit institutions 408,335 21,090 429,425 396,366 24,982 421,348
Deposits and borrowing from the public 757,422 83,612 841,034 669,256 81,225 750,481
    Liabilities to policyholders – investment contracts 7,137 107,973 115,110 11,419 124,518 135,937
    Liabilities to policyholders – insurance  contracts 11,831 84,129 95,960 8,548 81,431 89,979
liabilities to policyholders 18,968 192,102 211,070 19,967 205,949 225,916
Debt securities 240,498 284,721 525,219 302,387 208,177 510,564
   Trading derivatives 231,341 231,341 79,211 79,211
   Derivatives used for hedging 8,168 8,168 2,169 2,169
   Trading liabilities 54,411 54,411 135,421 135,421
    Fair value changes of hedged items in  portfolio hedge 1,613 1,613 –411 –411
Financial liabilities at fair value 295,533 295,533 216,390 216,390
   Current tax liabilities 1,148 1,148 1,101 1,101
   Deferred tax liabilities 9,810 9,810 9,403 9,403
   Trade and client payables 9,498 9,498 33,940 33,940
   Other liabilities 51,109 51,109 53,075 53,075
other liabilities 61,755 9,810 71,565 88,116 9,403 97,519
provisions 1,897 1,897 1,536 1,536
Subordinated liabilities 1,531 49,699 51,230 43,989 43,989

Total 1,784,042  642,931 2,426,973 1,692,482  575,261 2,267,743
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40  Financial assets and liabilities by class

Group 2008

Classes of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets
loans and 

deposits
Equity 

 instruments
Debt 

 instruments
Derivative 

instruments
Investment 

 contracts
Insurance 
contracts other Total

Cash and cash balances with central banks (note 19) 44,852 44,852
loans to credit institutions (note 20) 223,677 42,686 266,363
loans to the public (note 21) 1,231,271 65,506 1,296,777
Financial assets at fair value (note 22)1) 35,011 128,116 259,581 114,425 3,503 540,636
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 2,111 161,004 163,115
Held-to-maturity financial assets (note 24) 1,997 1,997
Investments in associates (note 25) 1,129 1,129
trade and client receivables (note 28) 13,402 13,402

Financial assets 1,454,948 38,251 399,309 259,581 114,425 61,757 2,328,271
other assets (non-financial) 94,818 87,613 182,431

Total 1,454,948 38,251 399,309 259,581 114,425 94,818 149,370 2,510,702

Financial liabilities

Deposits by credit institutions (note 29) 429,425 429,425
Deposits and borrowing from the public (note 30) 841,034 841,034
liabilities to policyholders (note 31)1) 115,110 115,110
Debt securities (note 32) 525,219 525,219
Financial liabilities at fair value (note 33) 15,387 39,024 239,509 1,613 295,533
trade and client payables (note 34) 9,498 9,498
Subordinated liabilities (note 36) 51,230 51,230

Financial liabilities 1,270,459 15,387 615,473 239,509 115,110 11,111 2,267,049
other liabilities (non-financial) 95,960 63,964 159,924
total equity 83,729 83,729

Total 1,270,459 15,387 615,473 239,509 115,110 95,960 158,804 2,510,702

Group 2007

Classes of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets
loans and 

deposits
Equity 

 instruments
Debt 

 instruments
Derivative 

instruments
Investment 

 contracts
Insurance 
contracts other Total

Cash and cash balances with central banks (note 19) 96,871 96,871
loans to credit institutions (note 20) 263,012 263,012
loans to the public (note 21) 1,067,341 1,067,341
Financial assets at fair value (note 22)1)  56,840  293,347 88,172 135,485 –641 573,203
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 1,812 168,325 170,137
Held-to-maturity financial assets (note 24) 1,798 1,798
Investments in associates (note 25) 1,257 1,257
trade and client receivables (note 28) 25,377 25,377

Financial assets 1,330,353 59,909 463,470 88,172 135,485 121,607 2,198,996
other assets 88,020 57,446 145,466

Total 1,330,353  59,909  463,470 88,172 135,485 88,020 179,053 2,344,462

Financial liabilities

Deposits by credit institutions (note 29) 421,348 421,348
Deposits and borrowing from the public (note 30) 750,481 750,481
liabilities to policyholders (note 31)1) 135,937 135,937
Debt securities (note 32) 510,564 510,564
Financial liabilities at fair value (note 33)  18,845  116,576 81,380 –411 216,390
trade and client payables (note 34) 33,940 33,940
Subordinated liabilities (note 36)  43,989 43,989

Financial liabilities 1,171,829 18,845 671,129 81,380 135,937 33,529 2,112,649
other liabilities (non-financial) 89,979 65,115 155,094
total equity 76,719 76,719

Total 1,171,829  18,845  671,129 81,380 135,937 89,979 175,363 2,344,462

1) Insurance contracts are not classified as financial assets and liabilities.

SEB has grouped its financial instruments by class taking into account the characteristics of the instruments:
loans and deposits includes financial assets and liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. these are further specified in 
note 43 and 44.
Equity intruments includes shares, rights issues and similar contractual rights of other entities.
Debt instruments includes contractual rights to receive or obligations to deliver cash on a predetermined date. these are further specified in note 41, 42 and 43.
Derivative instruments includes options, futures, swaps and other derived products held for trading and hedging purposes. these are further specified in note 45. 
Investment contracts includes those assets and liabilities in the life insurance operations where the policyholder is carrying the risk of the contractual agreement  
(is not qualified as an insurance contract under IFrS 4). the life insurance operations are further specified in note 51.
Insurance contracts includes those assets and liabilities in the life insurance operations where SEB is carrying the insurance risk of a contractual agreement  
(is qualified as an insurance contract under IFrS 4). the life insurance operations are further specified in note 51.
other includes other financial asset and liabilities recognised in accordance with IaS 39.
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note 40 ctd. Financial assets and liabilities by class

Parent company 2008

Classes of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets
loans and 

deposits
Equity   

instrumens
Debt       

instruments
Derivative 

instruments other Total

Cash and cash balances with central banks (note 19) 10,670 10,670
loans to credit institutions (note 20) 306,387 42,686 349,073
loans to the public (note 21) 708,777 59,960 768,737
Financial assets at fair value (note 22) 26,175 105,169 255,458 386,802
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 1,528 25,369 26,897
Held-to-maturity financial assets (note 24) 3,263 3,263
Investments in associates (note 25) 1,011 1,011
Shares in subsidiaries (note 26) 60,063 60,063
trade and client receivables (note 28) 12,317 12,317

Financial assets 1,015,164 88,777 236,447 255,458 22,987 1,618,833
other assets (non-financial) 89,667 89,667

Total 1,015,164 88,777 236,447 255,458 112,654 1,708,500

Financial liabilities

Deposits by credit institutions (note 29) 410,105 410,105
Deposits and borrowing from the public (note 30) 453,697 453,697
Debt securities (note 32) 394,246 394,246
Financial liabilities at fair value (note 33) 15,387 34,042 230,083 279,512
trade and client payables (note 34) 8,001 8,001
Subordinated liabilities (note 36) 50,199 50,199

Financial liabilities 863,802 15,387 478,487 230,083 8,001 1,595,760
other liabilities (non-financial) 48,445 48,445
total equity and untaxed reserves 64,295 64,295

Total 863,802 15,387 478,487 230,083 120,741 1,708,500

Parent company 2007

Classes of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets
loans and 

deposits
Equity   

instruments
Debt      

 instruments
Derivative 

instruments other Total

Cash and cash balances with central banks (note 19) 1,758 1,758
loans to credit institutions (note 20) 357,482 357,482
loans to the public (note 21) 637,138 637,138
Financial assets at fair value (note 22) 43,584 241,564 82,837 367,985
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 1,155 60,930 62,085
Held-to-maturity financial assets (note 24) 3,348 3,348
Investments in associates (note 25) 1,063 1,063
Shares in subsidiaries (note 26) 51,936 51,936
trade and client receivables (note 28) 23,625 23,625

Financial assets 994,620 97,738 305,842 82,837 25,383 1,506,420
other assets 52,899 52,899

Total 994,620 97,738 305,842 82,837 78,282 1,559,319

Financial liabilities

Deposits by credit institutions (note 29) 367,699 367,699
Deposits and borrowing from the public (note 30) 412,499 412,499
Debt securities (note 32) 408,002 408,002
Financial liabilities at fair value (note 33) 18,461 103,226 80,074 201,761
trade and client payables (note 34) 32,369 32,369
Subordinated liabilities (note 36) 43,046 43,046

Financial liabilities 780,198 18,461 554,274 80,074 32,369 1,465,376
other liabilities (non-financial) 34,995  34,995
total equity and untaxed reserves 58,948  58,948

Total 780,198 18,461 554,274 80,074 126,312 1,559,319
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41  Debt instruments by maturities

Eligible debt instruments*

Group 2008 < 1 month
1 < 3  

months
3 months  
< 1 year

1 < 5  
years

5 < 10  
years 10 years < Total

loans to the public (note 21) 4,761 649 5,410
Securities held for trading (note 22) 63 5,224 4,577 17,806 9,014 6,148 42,832
other financial assets at fair value (note 22) 11 13 24
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 2,973 2,510 10,668 71,396 31,131 7,539 126,217

Total 3,036 7,734 15,256 93,976 40,794 13,687 174,483

Group 2007

Securities held for trading (note 22) 3,808 1,332 13,303 35,119 15,477 15,849 84,888
other financial assets at fair value (note 22) 20 20
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 4,869 3,296 13,249 46,506 36,741 8,569 113,230
Held-to-maturity financial assets (note 24) 1 1

Total 8,677 4,649 26,552 81,625 52,218 24,418 198,139

Parent company 2008

Securities held for trading (note 22) 13  4,721  2,308  2,021  4,601  5 723  19,387
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23)   674   674

Total   13  4,721  2,308  2,021  4,601  6,397  20,061

Parent company 2007

Securities held for trading (note 22) 740 9,613 8,962 4,636 9,690 33,641
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 119 7,661 7,780

Total 740 9,613 8,962 4,755 17,351 41,421

Other debt instruments*

Group 2008 < 1 month
1 < 3  

months
3 months  
< 1 year

1 < 5  
years

5 < 10  
years 10 years < Total

loans to credit institutions (note 20) 139 41,182 945 161  42,427
loans to the public (note 21) 4,701 8,238 46,569  59,508
Securities held for trading (note 22) 225  11,358  18,877  45,070  3,584  3,395  82,509
Insurance assets (note 22) 863 806  2,682  13,423  16,482  42,085  76,341
other financial assets at fair value (note 22) 14 92 64 133 56 86 445
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 6,771  1,122  4,423  4,695  3,111  12,795  32,917
Held-to-maturity financial assets (note 24)  1,468 385 105  1,958

Total  8,012  13,378  27,514  109,589  32,416  105,196  296,105

Group 2007

Securities held for trading (note 22) 1,358 9,190 9,094 74,572 18,648 92,140 205,002
Insurance assets (note 22) 32 461 1,593 8,382 49,329 6,518 66,315
other financial assets at fair value (note 22) 2 10 40 160 18 52 282
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 634 254 512 26,935 5,810 19,587 53,732
Held-to-maturity financial assets (note 24) 612 1,068 90 1,770

Total 2,026 9,915 11,851 111,117 73,805 118,387 327,101

Parent company 2008

loans to credit institutions (note 20) 139 41,182 945 161  42,427
loans to the public (note 21) 4,701 8,238 46,569  59,508
Securities held for trading (note 22) 117  11,376  19,152  47,341  3,437  2,445  83,868
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23)  1,044  3,731  2,852  3,902  12,795  24,324
Held-to-maturity financial assets (note 24) 91 253  2,789 104  3,237

Total 347  12,420  22,883  96,329  19,311  62,074  213,364

Parent company 2007

Securities held for trading (note 22) 701 9,019 8,978 76,880 18,521 91,439 205,538
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 9 280 26,604 6,340 19,546 52,779
Held-to-maturity financial assets (note 24) 97 100 3,035 90 3,322

Total 807 9,019 9,258 103,584 27,896 111,075 261,639

* accrued interest excluded. 
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42  Debt instruments by issuers

Eligible debt instruments*

Group 2008 Swedish State
Swedish 

 municipalities

 other Swedish 
issuers – non- 

financial 
 companies

Foreign 
States

other 
foreign 
issuers Total

loans to the public (note 21) 5,410 5,410
Securities held for trading (note 22) 15,010 294 2,628 24,864 36 42,832
other financial assets at fair value (note 22) 24 24
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 75 1,523 920 123,699 126,217

Total 15,109 294 4,151 31,194 123,735 174,483

Group 2007

Securities held for trading (note 22) 20,985 153 12,437 51,313 84,888
other financial assets at fair value (note 22) 20 20
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 50 13,426 99,754 113,230
Held-to-maturity financial assets (note 24) 1 1

Total 21,035 153 25,864 151,087 198,139

Parent company 2008

Securities held for trading (note 22) 15,010 294 3,473 610 19,387
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 674 674

Total 15,010 294 3,473 1,284 20,061

Parent company 2007

Securities held for trading (note 22) 20,985 153 12,025 478 33,641
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 7,581 199 7,780

Total 20,985 153 19,606 677 41,421
 
 

Other debt instruments*

Group 2008

Swedish 
State and 

 municipalities

Swedish 
 mortgage 

 institutions

other Swedish 
issuers – non- 

financial 
 companies

other Swedish 
issuers – other 

financial 
 companies

Foreign 
States

other 
foreign 
issuers Total

loans to credit institutions (note 20) 1,516 40,911 42,427
loans to the public (note 21) 469 59,039 59,508
Securities held for trading (note 22) 150 31,839 7,094 2,486 1,187 39,753 82,509
Insurance assets (note 22) 8,087 463 1,423 1,562 788 64,018 76,341
other financial assets at fair value (note 22) 90 355 445
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 2,656 30,261 32,917
Held-to-maturity financial assets (note 24) 902 1,056 1,958

Total 8,237 33,204 8,986 5,564 4,721 235,393 296,105

Group 2007

Securities held for trading (note 22) 25,085 6,176 788 2,173 170,780 205,002
Insurance assets (note 22) 9,096 995 929 932 5,578 48,785 66,315
other financial assets at fair value (note 22) 25 142 115 282
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 200 1,556 1,009 50,967 53,732
Held-to-maturity financial assets (note 24) 827 91 852 1,770

Total 9,096 26,907 7,396 3,301 8,902 271,499 327,101

Parent company 2008

loans to credit institutions (note 20) 1,516 40,911 42,427
loans to the public (note 21) 469 59,039 59,508
Securities held for trading (note 22) 31,840 6,989 2,486 42,553 83,868
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 24,324 24,324
Held-to-maturity financial assets (note 24) 100 3,137 3,237

Total 31,840 7,558 4,002 169,964 213,364

Parent company 2007

Securities held for trading (note 22) 25,085 6,175 788 173,490 205,538
available-for-sale financial assets (note 23) 200 1,464 51,115 52,779
Held-to-maturity financial assets (note 24) 100 3,222 3,322

Total 25,085 6,475 2,252 227,827 261,639

* accrued interest excluded.  
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43  Repricing periods

Group 2008

Assets < 1 month
1 < 3 

months
3 < 6 

months
6 < 12 

months
1 < 3  
years

3 < 5  
years 5 years < non rate Insurance Total

loans to credit institutions 175,533 16,628 5,409 2,296 32,261 22,856 9,704 –96 1,772 266,363
loans to the public 611,287 149,510 74,071 81,761 134,674 107,965 129,460 8,049 1,296,777
Financial assets 219,112 97,634 44,161 23,365 100,175 9,395 59,583 97,610 208,914 859,949
other assets 924 95 87 183 3 68,577 17,744 87,613

Total 1,006,856 263,867 123,728 107,605 267,113 140,216 198,747 174,140 228,430 2,510,702

Liabilities and equity

Deposits by credit institutions 292,851 69,424 21,989 24,619 1,093 5,384 14,065 429,425
Deposits and borrowing  
from  the public 644,226 47,848 48,759 17,672 5,455 17,848 56,111 3,115 841,034
Issued securities 57,542 93,721 61,152 27,297 213,495 78,766 44,414 62 576,449
other liabilities 128,343 3,272 5,790 8,189 41,503 21,120 59,760 98,443 213,645 580,065
total equity 6,760 331 336 67,060 9,242 83,729

Total 1,129,722 214,596 137,690 78,113 261,546 123,118 174,350 168,680 222,887 2,510,702

Interest rate sensitive, net –122,866 49,271 –13,962 29,492 5,567 17,098 24,397 5,460 5,543
Cumulative sensitive –122,866 –73,595 –87,557 –58,065 –52,498 –35,400 –11,003 –5,543

Group 2007

Assets < 1 month
1 < 3 

months
3 < 6 

months
6 < 12 

months
1 < 3  
years

3 < 5  
years 5 years < non rate Insurance Total

loans to credit institutions 223,594 14,569 2,229 6,444 3,485 3,304 4,506 3,738 1,143 263,012
loans to the public 542,449 160,272 75,905 39,267 95,829 65,324 89,598 –1,303 1,067,341
Financial assets 284,949 109,782 55,809 14,878 59,660 7,958 47,439 151,558 224,630 956,663
other assets 41,623 15,823 57,446

Total 1,050,992 284,623 133,943 60,589 158,974 76,586 141,543 195,616 241,596 2,344,462

Liabilities and equity

Deposits by credit institutions 349,850 49,944 18,988 1,370 502 516 770 –592 421,348
Deposits and borrowing  
from  the public 608,373 45,416 15,121 11,222 12,714 7,474 47,492 2,669 750,481
Issued securities 129,041 138,201 59,089 21,484 127,711 56,712 14,911 7,404 554,553
other liabilities 15,296 7,967 5,567 3,313 8,322 18,268 51,983 196,465 234,180 541,361
total equity 76,719 76,719

Total 1,102,560 241,528 98,765 37,389 149,249 82,970 115,156 282,665 234,180 2,344,462

Interest rate sensitive, net –51,568 43,095 35,178 23,200 9,725 –6,384 26,387 –87,049 7,416
Cumulative sensitive –51,568 –8,473 26,705 49,905 59,630 53,246 79,633 –7,416



SEB annual rEport 2008  115

Notes to the financial statements

44  Loans and loan loss provisions

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

loans to credit institutions1) 266,363 263,012 349,073 357,482
loans to the public1) 1,296,777 1,067,341 768,737 637,138

Total 1,563,140 1,330,353 1,117,810 994,620

1) Including debt instruments classified as loans.

Loans

performing loans not impaired 1,558,448 1,328,351 1,117,558 994,469
non-performing impaired loans 12,963 7,619 1,921 1,150
performing impaired loans 948 772 32 41
Loans prior to reserves 1,572,359 1,336,742 1,119,511 995,660

Specific reserves –5,022 –3,787 –903 –645
Collective reserves –4,197 –2,602 –798 –395

Reserves –9,219 –6,389 –1,701 –1,040

Total 1,563,140 1,330,353 1,117,810 994,620

Loans by category of borrower

Group 2008
Credit-

institutions Corporates
property 

 Management
public 

 administration Households Total

performing loans not impaired 266,193 561,553 222,916 100,418 407,368 1,558,448
non-performing impaired loans 320 5,166 4,235 3,242 12,963
performing impaired loans 6 269 659 14 948
Loans prior to reserves 266,519 566,988 227,810 100,418 410,624 1,572,359

Specific reserves –156 –2,698 –1,811 –357 –5,022

Collective reserves –4,197
Reserves –156 –2,698 –1,811 –357 –9,219

Total 266,363 564,290 225,999 100,418 410,267 1,563,140

Group 2007

performing loans not impaired 262,998 443,338 182,164 73,754 366,097 1,328,351
non-performing impaired loans 46 2,947 2,863 1,763 7,619
performing impaired loans 289 320 163 772
Loans prior to reserves 263,044 446,574 185,347 73,754 368,023 1,336,742

Specific reserves –32 –1,893 –1,471 –391 –3,787

Collective reserves –2,602
Reserves –32 –1,893 –1,471 –391 –6,389

Total 263,012 444,681 183,876 73,754 367,632 1,330,353

Parent company 2008

performing loans not impaired 348,904 407,935 106,869 18,401 235,449 1,117,558
non-performing impaired loans 320 1,054 231 316 1,921
performing impaired loans 17 12 3 32

Loans prior to reserves 349,224 409,006 107,112 18,401 235,768 1,119,511

Specific reserves –151 –577 –172 –3 –903
Collective reserves –798

Reserves –151 –577 –172 –3 –1,701

Total 349,073 408,429 106,940 18,401 235,765 1,117,810

Parent company 2007

performing loans not impaired 357,482 324,328 84,581 9,605 218,473 994,469
non-performing impaired loans 21 700 255 174 1,150
performing impaired loans 10 28 3 41

Loans prior to reserves 357,503 325,038 84,864 9,605 218,650 995,660

Specific reserves –21 –432 –189 –3 –645
Collective reserves –395

Reserves –21 –432 –189 –3 –1,040

Total 357,482 324,606 84,675 9,605 218,647 994,620



116  SEB annual rEport 2008

Notes to the financial statements

note 44 ctd. loans and loan loss provisions

Loans by geographical region1) 

Group 2008
the nordic 

region Germany
the Baltic 

region other Total

performing loans not impaired 971,314 373,608 172,368 41,158 1,558,448
non-performing impaired loans 2,420 4,913 5,374 256 12,963
performing impaired loans 31 792 125 948

Loans prior to reserves 973,765 379,313 177,867 41,414 1,572,359

Specific reserves –852 –2,675 –1,345 –150 –5,022
Collective reserves –4,197

Reserves –852 –2,675 –1,345 –150 –9,219

Total 972,913 376,638 176,522 41,264 1,563,140

Group 2007

performing loans not impaired  847,945  296,263  140,042  44,101 1,328,351
non-performing impaired loans 1,397 5,050 959 213 7,619
performing impaired loans 14 726 18 14 772

Loans prior to reserves  849,356  302,039  141,019  44,328 1,336,742

Specific reserves –396 –2,780 –378 –233 –3,787
Collective reserves –2,602

Reserves –396 –2,780 –378 –233 –6,389

Total  848,960  299,259  140,641  44,095 1,330,353

Parent company 2008

performing loans not impaired 1,067,270 50,288 1,117,558
non-performing impaired loans 1,580 341 1,921
performing impaired loans 31 1 32

Loans prior to reserves 1,068,881 50,630 1,119,511

Specific reserves –719 –184 –903
Collective reserves –798

Reserves –719 –184 –1,701

Total 1,068,162 50,446 1,117,810

Parent company 2007

performing loans not impaired  955,906 38,563  994,469
non-performing impaired loans 818 332 1,150
performing impaired loans 27 14 41

Loans prior to reserves  956,751 38,909 995,660

Specific reserves –444 –201 –645
Collective reserves –395

Reserves –444 –201 –1,040

Total  956,307 38,708  994,620

1) Breakdown based on where the business is carried out.
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Group parent company
Loans against collateral 2008 2007 2008 2007

Mortgage, real property 630,639  518,765 349,283  297,668
Securities and deposits 22,068  17,313 18,386  13,744
public administration 100,418  73,353 18,402  9,606
Banks 177,766  163,583 283,281  250,219
unsecured loans 296,944  263,760 170,611  196,089
other1) 133,886  72,392 86,977  33,043

Loans 1,361,721 1,109,166 926,940  800,369
repos 102,446  227,576 89,925  195,291
Debt instruments classified as loans 108,192 102,646
reserves –9,219 –6,389 –1,701 –1,040

Total 1,563,140 1,330,353 1,117,810  994,620

1) Including floating charges, factoring, leasing, guarantees etc.

Loans restructured current year

Book value of loans prior to restructuring 3 10 3 10
Book value of loans after restructuring 3 10 3 10

Loans reclassified current year

Book value of impaired loans which have regained normal status 370 136 19

Impaired loans

non-performing impaired loans1) 12,963 7,619 1,921 1,150
performing loans 948 772 32 41

Impaired loans gross 13,911 8,391 1,953 1,191

Specific reserves –5,022 –3,787 –903 –645
   of which reserves for non-performing loans –4,679 –3,456 –875 –632
   of which reserves for performing loans –343 –331 –28 –13
Collective reserves –4,197 –2,602 –798 –395

Impaired loans net 4,692 2,002 252 151

reserves not included in the above:
   reserves for off-balance sheet items –251 –209 –3

Total reserves –9,470 –6,598 –1,701 –1,043

1) loans past due by more than 60 days and with insufficient collateral.

level of impaired loans 0.35% 0.18% 0.05% 0.03%

reserve ratio for impaired loans 66.3 76.1 87.1 87.3

non-performing loans not determined to be impaired  
(sufficient collateral) 353 237 353 237

loans past due but not determined to be impaired amounted to SEK 13,203m (past due up to 30 days) and SEK 4,495m (between 31 and 60 days).  
these loans represented 1.13 per cent of the total lending volume.
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Provision and reversals of reserves

Group parent company
Specific loan loss reserves1) 2008 2007 2008 2007

opening balance –3,787 –4,234 –645 –678
reversals for utilisation 800 818 70 53
provisions –1,718 –653 –347 –51
reversals 336 405 39 25
Exchange rate differences –653 –123 –20 6

Closing balance –5,022 –3,787 –903 –645

1) Specific reserves for individually appraised loans.

Collective loan loss reserves2)

opening balance –2,602 –2,170 –395 –422
net provisions –1,303 –390 –393 38
Exchange rate differences –292 –42 –10 –11

Closing balance –4,197 –2,602 –798 –395

2) Collective reserves for individually appraised loans, reserves for loans assessed on a portfolio basis and country risk reserves.

Contingent liabilities reserves

opening balance –209 –215 –3 –5
net provisions –56 8 3 2
Exchange rate differences 14 –2

Closing balance –251 –209 –3

Total –9,470 –6,598 –1,701 –1,043

Credit exposure by industry*

loans Contingent liabilities Derivative instruments1) Total

Group 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Banks 177,766 163,852 38,238 31,207 69,592 52,477 285,596 247,536

Finance and insurance 38,230 19,584 34,993 21,793 19,943 7,349 93,166 48,726
Wholesale and retail 54,951 43,995 30,815 26,311 933 263 86,699 70,569
transportation 33,950 25,288 8,167 6,195 650 407 42,767 31,890
Shipping 27,829 14,184 9,559 7,237 824 122 38,212 21,543
Business and household services 94,199 69,074 48,050 45,771 6,373 2,130 148,622 116,975
Construction 12,337 10,097 9,740 9,567 315 30 22,392 19,694
Manufacturing 103,002 70,517 105,752 82,785 12,157 4,177 220,911 157,479
agriculture, forestry and fishing 7,882 6,777 1,655 1,404 146 26 9,683 8,207
Mining and quarrying 9,966 4,837 8,295 5,243 1,701 391 19,962 10,471
Electricity, gas and water suppply 25,179 16,274 18,477 15,539 5,177 876 48,833 32,689
other 37,554 39,033 11,654 11,125 1,223 2,136 50,431 52,294

Corporates 445,079 319,660 287,157 232,970 49,442 17,907 781,678 570,537

Commercial  143,303  115,655  22,454  20,470  3,617 719  169,375  136,844
Multi-family  84,507  71,610  6,320  3,184  2,136 378  92,962  75,172

Property Management 227,810 187,265 28,774 23,654 5,753 1,097 262,337 212,016

Public Administration 100,418 73,754 12,980 10,673 5,544 3,127 118,942 87,554

Household mortgage 349,885 310,301 20,763 20,189 370,648 330,490
other 60,738 57,722 54,274 45,813 36 28 115,048 103,563

Households 410,623 368,023 75,037 66,002 36 28 485,696 434,053

Credit portfolio 1,361,696 1,112,554 442,186 364,506 130,367 74,636 1,934,249 1,551,696

Credit institutions 42,201 97,213
General public 60,245 130,363

Repos 102,446 227,576

Debt instruments 446,654 530,602

Total 2,483,349 2,309,874

1)  Derivatives are reported after netting agreements have been taken into account. the exposure is calculated according to the market value method, i.e. positive market value and estimated  
   amount for possible change in risk.

* Before provisions for credit losses.
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Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Interest-related  133,221 44,162  135,415  41,173
Currency-related  114,373 30,320  108,258  29,189
Equity-related  3,247 10,544  3,087  9,329
other  8,740 3,146  8,698 3,146

Positive closing values or nil value  259,581 88,172  255,458 82,837

Interest-related  123,630 41,528  121,768  40,009
Currency-related  112,195 34,382  105,470  32,926
Equity-related  2,858 5,390  2,088  7,061
other 826 80 757 78

Negative closing values  239,509 81,380  230,083 80,074

positive closing values or nil value negative closing values

Group, 2008 nom. amount Book value nom. amount Book value

options  122,949  4,580  103,309  4,760
Futures 1,634,813  16,529 1,483,235  15,935
Swaps 3,375,754  112,112 3,395,567  102,935

Interest-related 5,133,516  133,221 4,982,111  123,630
   of which, cleared  11,037 25  3,304 9

options  175,588  4,373  178,114  4,419
Futures  385,795  18,779  381,687  15,741
Swaps 3,256,885  91,221 3,255,529  92,035

Currency-related 3,818,268  114,373 3,815,330  112,195
   of which, cleared  29,150  3,135  30,933  2,506

options  12,479  2,819  6,539  2,511
Futures  3,797 131  2,564 156
Swaps 297  11,387 191

Equity-related  16,276  3,247  20,490  2,858
   of which, cleared  3,758  1,109  2,564 977

options  1,699 32  1,798 59
Futures 266 10 266 10
Swaps  37,314  8,698  38,714 757

Other  39,279  8,740  40,778 826

   of which, cleared  1,966 42  1,966 42

Total 9,007,339  259,581 8,858,709  239,509
   of which, cleared  45,911  4,311  38,767  3,534

Group, 2007

options 372,906 3,556 330,804 2,523
Futures 1,094,557 1,284 1,125,054 1,079
Swaps 2,186,047 39,322 2,190,038 37,926

Interest-related 3,653,510 44,162 3,645,896 41,528
   of which, cleared 3,383 12 176 1

options 162,692 1,234 165,173 935
Futures 272,095 3,681 286,519 4,322
Swaps 2,982,614 25,405 2,988,163 29,125

Currency-related 3,417,401 30,320 3,439,855 34,382
   of which, cleared 14,486 260 14,100 226

options 7,099 7,959 14,769 4,533
Futures 5,119 794 121
Swaps 17,286 1,791 17,286 736

Equity-related 29,504 10,544 32,055 5,390
   of which, cleared 5,119 1,166 388

options 2,849 2
Swaps 44,280 3,146 44,280 78

Other 44,280 3,146 47,129 80

Total 7,144,695 88,172 7,164,935 81,380
   of which, cleared 22,988 1,438 14,276 615
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positive closing values or nil value negative closing values

Parent company 2008 nom. amount Book value nom. amount Book value

options 96,081 5,033 92,810 5,297
Futures 1,623,777 17,078 1,479,869 16,223
Swaps 3,208,935 113,304 3,207,514 100,248

Interest-related 4,928,793 135,415 4,780,193 121,768

options 187,936 4,063 188,334 3,540
Futures 357,244 16,405 353,319 13,005
Swaps 3,341,814 87,790 3,343,694 88,925

Currency-related 3,886,994 108,258 3,885,347 105,470

options 2,684 1,851
Futures 106 46
Swaps 11,446 297 11,446 191

Equity-related 11,446 3,087 11,446 2,088
   of which, cleared 1,084 1,049

Swaps 37,423 8,698 38,823 757

Other 37,423 8,698 38,823 757

Total 8,864,656 255,458 8,715,809 230,083
   of which, cleared 1,084 1,049

Parent company 2007

options 357,293  3,000 317,808  4,026
Futures 1,088,485  1,148 1,121,992  1,071
Swaps 2,008,496  37,025 2,007,093  34,912

Interest-related 3,454,274  41,173 3,446,893  40,009
   of which, cleared

options 167,382 1,246 167,491 1,091
Futures 248,233 2,909 248,803 3,390
Swaps 3,045,820  25,034 3,049,559  28,445

Currency-related 3,461,435  29,189 3,465,853  32,926
   of which, cleared

options  7,511  6,203
Futures 130 121
Swaps 17,311  1,688 17,311 737

Equity-related 17,311  9,329 17,311  7,061
   of which, cleared

Swaps 44,299 3,146 44,299 78

Other 44,299 3,146 44,299 78
   of which, cleared

Total 6,977,319 82,837 6,974,356 80,074
   of which, cleared
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Group 2008 Group 2007

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

Cash and cash balances with central banks 44,852 44,852 96,871 96,871
loans to credit institutions 266,363 267,222 263,012 262,368
loans to the public 1,296,777 1,296,765 1,067,341 1,068,151
   Securities held for trading 161,596 161,596 348,888 348,888
   Derivatives held for trading 248,426 248,426 85,395 85,395
   Derivatives used for hedging 11,155 11,155 2,777 2,777
   Fair value changes of hedged items in a portfolio hedge 3,503 3,503 –641 –641
   Financial assets – policyholders bearing the risk 114,425 114,425 135,485 135,485
   Other financial assets designated at fair value 96,349 96,349 89,319 89,319
Financial assets at fair value 635,454 635,454 661,223 661,223
available-for-sale financial assets 163,115 163,115 170,137 170,137
Held-to-maturity investments 1,997 1,997 1,798 1,823
assets held for sale 852 852
Investments in associates 1,129 1,129 1,257 1,257
   Intangible assets 19,395 19,395 16,894 16,894
   Property and equipment 2,626 2,634 2,564 2,564
   Investment properties 7,490 7,490 5,239 5,239
tangible and intagible assets 29,511 29,519 24,697 24,697
   Current tax assets 3,998 3,998 3,766 3,766
   Deferred tax assets 2,836 2,836 845 845
   Trade and client receivables 13,402 13,402 25,377 25,377
   Other assets 50,416 50,416 28,138 28,138
other assets 70,652 70,652 58,126 58,126

Total assets 2,510,702 2,511,557 2,344,462 2,344,653

Deposits by credit institutions 429,425 430,091 421,348 421,361
Deposits and borrowing from the public 841,034 841,290 750,481 751,411
   Liabilities to policyholders – investment contracts 115,110 115,106 135,937 135,937
   Liabilities to policyholders – insurance contracts 95,960 95,960 89,979 89,979
liabilities to policyholders 211,070 211,066 225,916 225,916
Debt securities 525,219 527,742 510,564 507,342
   Trading derivatives 231,341 231,341 79,211 79,211
   Derivatives used for hedging 8,168 8,168 2,169 2,169
   Trading liabilities 54,411 54,411 135,421 135,421
   Fair value changes of hedged items in portfolio hedge 1,613 1,613 –411 –411
Financial liabilities at fair value 295,533 295,533 216,390 216,390
   Current tax liabilities 1,148 1,148 1,101 1,101
   Deferred tax liabilities 9,810 9,810 9,403 9,403
   Trade and client payables 9,498 9,498 33,940 33,940
   Other liabilities 51,109 51,109 53,075 53,075
other liabilities 71,565 71,565 97,519 97,519
provisions 1,897 1,897 1,536 1,536
Subordinated liabilities 51,230 40,264 43,989 43,819

Total liabilities 2,426,973 2,419,448 2,267,743 2,265,294

the above calculation comprises balance sheet items at fixed rates of interest during fixed periods. this means that all items subject to variable rates of interest,  
i.e. deposit/lending volumes for which interest terms are market-related, have not been recalculated; the nominal amount is considered to equal a fair value.
   When calculating fair values for fixed-interest rate lending, future interest income is discounted with the help of a market interest curve, which has been adjusted 
for applicable margins on new lending. Correspondingly, fixed-interest rate-related deposits/lending are discounted with the help of the market interest curve, 
 adjusted for relevant margins.
   In addition to fixed-rate deposits/lending, adjustments have also been made for surplus values in properties and certain shareholdings.
   one effect of this calculation method is that the fair values arrived at in times of falling margins on new lending will be higher than book values, while the opposite  
is true in times of rising margins. It should furthermore be noted that this calculation does not represent a market valuation of the Group as a company.
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47  Related party disclosures*

Group companies associated companies total

Parent company 2008
assets/ 

liabilities Interest
assets/ 

 liabilities Interest
assets/ 

 liabilities Interest

loans to credit institutions  148,449  5,988  148,449  5,988
loans to the public  58,075  2,286 9  58,084  2,286
Bonds and other interest-bearing securities  7,599 299  7,599 299
other assets  25,023 26  25,023 26

Total  239,146  8,599 9  239,155  8,599

Deposits by credit institutions  85,036 –3,173  85,036 –3,173
Deposits and borrowings from the public  11,647 –350 122  11,769 –350
Issued securities 979 –27 979 –27
other liabilities  20,362  20,362

Total  118,024 –3,550 122  118,146 –3,550

Parent company 2007

loans to credit institutions 166,009 5,852 166,009 5,852
loans to the public 38,017 1,693   207  38,224 1,693
Bonds and other interest-bearing securities 7,605 446 7,605 446
other assets 5,390 7 5,390 7

Total 217,021 7,998   207 217,228 7,998

Deposits by credit institutions 63,803 –2,788 63,803 –2,788
Deposits and borrowings from the public 7,701 –402 36 7,737 –402
Issued securities 578 –4 578 –4
other liabilities 4,318 4,318

Total 76,400 –3,194 36 76,436 –3,194

* For information about top management, the Group Executive Committee and other related parties see note 9c.

the parent company has sold four Strategic investments to SEB Stiftelsen, Skandinaviska Enskilda Bankens pensionsstiftelse, in 2007 for SEK 224m  
and made a capital gain of SEK 21m.

the Group has administrative and capital management agreements with Gamla livförsäkrings aB SEB trygg liv to conditions on the market.

48  Future minimum lease payments for operational leases*

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

Year 2008 1,261 535
Year 2009 1,659 1,090 564 444
Year 2010 1,399 930 438 358
Year 2011 979 782 357 357
Year 2012 835 669 327 372
Year 2013 and later 2,855 2,180 1,681 1,678

Total 7,727 6,912 3,367 3,744

* leases for premises and other operational leases.
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49  Capital adequacy

Financial group of undertakings1) parent company

Calculation of capital base 2008 2007 2008 2007

total equity according to balance sheet 83,729 76,719 43,159 39,932
proposed dividend (excl repurchased shares) –4,442 –4,442
Deductions for investments outside the financial group  
of undertakings –76 –81
other deductions outside the financial group of undertakings 2) –2,878 –2,975

Total equity in the capital adequacy 80,775 69,221 43,159 35,490

untaxed reserves 15,577 13,692
tier I capital contribution 12,371 10,907 10,005 8,562
adjustment for hedge contracts –1,395 237 –1,365 442
net provisioning amount for IrB-reported credit exposures –1,133 –235 –599 –476
unrealised value changes on available-for-sale financial assets 3,062 572 2,585 258
Goodwill 3) –7,305 –6,079 –524 –523
other intangible assets –2,090 –1,135 –812 –370
Deferred tax assets –1,822 –786 –1,338

Tier I capital 82,463 72,702 66,688 57,075

Dated subordinated debt 21,552 18,670 20,665 17,808
Deduction for remaining maturity –2,242 –1,414 –1,530 –1,018
perpetual subordinated debt 14,421 14,256 16,787 16,601
net provisioning amount for IrB-reported credit exposures –1,133 –235 –599 –476
unrealised gains on available-for-sale financial assets 1,221 451 1,022 140
Deduction for investments outside the financial group of 
 undertakings –76 –81

Tier II capital 33,743 31,647 36,345 33,055

Deduction for investments in insurance companies 4) –10,620 –10,592
Deduction for pension assets in excess of related liabilities –863 –784

Capital base 104,723 92,973 103,033 90,130

Notes to the financial statements
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Financial group of undertakings1) parent company

Calculation of capital requirements 2008 2007 2008 2007

Credit risk, IRB reported capital requirements
Institutions 4,472 4,506 2,776 2,936
Corporates 37,158 21,420 23,410 16,472
Securitisations 572 174 568 170
retail mortgages 4,627 3,409 1,342 1,501
other exposure classes 559

Total for credit risk, IRB approach 47,388 29,509 28,096 21,079

Other Basel II reported capital requirements
Credit risk, Standardised approach 11,610 6,227 21,229 16,897
operational risk, Basic Indicator approach 3,723 2,358
operational risk, advanced Measurement approach 3,080 1,545
Foreign exchange rate risk 570 580 567 543
trading book risks 2,775 4,010 2,538 3,721

Total, reporting according to Basel II 65,423 44,049 53,975 44,598

Reporting according to Basel I 5)

Credit risk 14,859
Foreign exchange rate risk
trading book risks 41

Total, reporting according to Basel I 14,900

Summary
Credit risk 58,998 50,595 49,325 37,976
operational risk 3,080 3,723 1,545 2,358
Market risk 3,345 4,631 3,105 4,264

Total before flooring rules 65,423 58,949 53,975 44,598

Adjustment for flooring rules
additional requirement according to transitional flooring6) 13,460 8,409

Total reported capital requirements 78,883 67,358 53,975 44,598

Expressed as Risk weighted assets 986,034 841,974 674,683 557,471

Calculation of capital ratios

tier I capital  82,463 72,702  66,688 57,075
Capital base  104,723 92,973  103,033 90,130
total risk weighted amount for credit, market  
and operational risks  986,034 841,974  674,683 557,471
Tier I capital ratio, % 8.36 8.63 9.88 10.24
Total capital ratio, % 10.62 11.04 15.27 16.17
Capital adequacy quotient (capital base/capital requirement) 1.33 1.38 1.91 2.02

1) the capital adequacy reporting comprises the financial group of undertakings which includes non-consolidated associated companies and excludes insurance companies.
2)  the deduction from total equity in the consolidated balance sheet consists of retained earnings in subsidiaries outside the financial group of undertakings.
3)  the goodwill that is included in the capital base differs from the amounts stated in the balance sheet due to the inclusion of companies in the capital adequacy calculation that are not 

 consolidated in the Group’s balance sheet.
4)  Goodwill from acquisitions of insurance companies is included in the deduction for insurance investments.
5) In 2007 only Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken aB, SEB aG and SEB Gyllenberg ab reported according to Basel II regulation. From 2008 the whole SEB Group reports according to Basel II. 
6) addition for transition rule according to the Swedish law (2006:1372) for implementation of the new capital requirement from Basel I to Basel II.

Notes to the financial statements
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50  Assets and liabilities distributed by main currencies

Group parent company

2008 2007 2008 2007

SEK 95,228 74,863 97,509 80,116
Eur 73,946 89,097 160,924 169,024
uSD 58,845 56,607 43,959 58,433
GBp 12,595 1,480 13,843 2,097
DKK 20,321 32,747 18,056 32,678
noK 1,995 1,503 7,311 7,539
other currencies 3,433 6,715 7,471 7,595

loans to credit institutions 266,363 263,012 349,073 357,482

SEK 497,655 506,232 467,353 469,018
Eur 576,714 381,721 153,187 63,198
uSD 94,259 42,755 82,380 35,756
GBp 14,074 10,614 11,485 8,393
DKK 19,601 30,218 24,377 29,297
noK 36,081 41,543 21,600 24,597
other currencies 58,393 54,258 8,355 6,879

loans to the public 1,296,777 1,067,341 768,737 637,138

SEK 306,266 242,930 266,482 132,636
Eur 268,787 281,411 94,426 142,348
uSD 41,111 70,952 39,550 70,713
GBp 3,688 26,455 2,972 27,016
DKK 118,565 165,195 28,875 91,527
noK 50,136 36,597 59,075 39,037
other currencies 13,142 10,875 9,643 8,523

Financial assets 801,695 834,415 501,023 511,800

SEK 40,889 25,688 46,430 37,610
Eur 44,816 87,008 26,573 7,016
uSD 10,355 6,945 9,324 3,844
GBp 744 680 460 159
DKK 18,544 16,849 2,609 798
noK 11,768 15,372 3,699 860
other currencies 18,751 27,152 572 2,612

other assets 145,867 179,694 89,667 52,899

Total assets 2,510,702 2,344,462 1,708,500 1,559,319

SEK 940,038 849,713 877,774 719,380
Eur 964,263 839,237 435,110 381,586
uSD 204,570 177,259 175,213 168,746
GBp 31,101 39,229 28,760 37,665
DKK 177,031 245,009 73,917 154,300
noK 99,980 95,015 91,685 72,033
other currencies 93,719 99,000 26,041 25,609

Total assets 2,510,702 2,344,462 1,708,500 1,559,319

Notes to the financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements

note 50 ctd. assets and liabilities distributed by main currencies

Group parent company

Liabilities, provisions and shareholders’ equity 2008 2007 2008 2007

SEK 72,119 84,572 79,889 92,510
Eur 124,924 126,792 97,031 62,184
uSD 148,466 92,219 148,397 95,788
GBp 8,718 8,481 9,118 8,995
DKK 33,026 54,410 33,820 55,676
noK 24,249 31,824 24,815 33,084
other currencies 17,923 23,050 17,035 19,462

Deposits by credit institutions 429,425 421,348 410,105 367,699

SEK 297,598 292,463 293,308 288,838
Eur 378,330 295,172 67,323 36,810
uSD 63,214 49,925 55,957 41,616
GBp 11,110 13,684 10,237 12,639
DKK 11,202 16,119 7,086 10,379
noK 19,327 26,310 13,407 17,243
other currencies 60,253 56,808 6,379 4,974

Deposits and borrowing from the public 841,034 750,481 453,697 412,499

SEK 459,348 365,440 368,095 255,036
Eur 303,988 180,957 142,481 60,565
uSD 104,709 209,008 103,472 208,745
GBp 7,909 19,449 1,907 3,841
DKK 106,544 143,119 19,191 76,577
noK 39,661 28,381 40,070 28,845
other currencies 9,663 6,516 6,543 8,523

Financial liabilities 1,031,822 952,870 681,759 642,132

SEK 15,957 24,393 9,023 6,646
Eur 17,687 28,772 17,539 6,384
uSD 18,861 3,231 17,090 4,717
GBp 413 3,772 335 4,031
DKK 7,575 26,449 464 4,914
noK 3,073 5,787 8 2,424
other currencies 9,896 6,651 3,986 5,879

other liabilities 73,462 99,055 48,445 34,995

Eur 26,290 22,180 25,352 21,364
uSD 12,240 9,086 12,240 9,086
GBp 10,301 11,124 10,301 11,124
noK 110 93 23
other currencies 2,289 1,506 2,283 1,472

Subordinated liabilities 51,230 43,989 50,199 43,046

SEK 87,004 76,555 66,899 58,441
Eur –2,509 –390 –1,992 8
uSD –2,309 47 –2,309 47
GBp 373 373
DKK 145 119 3
noK 1,118 452 1,118 452
other currencies –93 –64 203

Shareholders’ equity and untaxed reserves 83,729 76,719 64,295 58,948

Total liabilities and equity 2,510,702 2,344,462 1,708,500 1,559,319

SEK 932,026 843,423 817,214 701,471
Eur 848,710 653,483 347,734 187,315
uSD 345,181 363,516 334,847 359,999
GBp 38,824 56,510 32,271 40,630
DKK 158,492 240,216 60,564 147,546
noK 87,538 92,847 79,441 82,048
other currencies 99,931 94,467 36,429 40,310

Total liabilities and equity 2,510,702 2,344,462 1,708,500 1,559,319
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51  Income statements – Life insurance operations

Group
2008 2007

premium income, net 7,126 5,961
Income investment contracts
   own fees including risk gain/loss 951 1,029
   Commissions from fund companies 952 1,113

1,903 2,142

net investment income –2,566 889
other operating income 409 485

Total income, gross 6,872 9,477

Claims paid, net –9,330 –7,918
Change in insurance contract provisions 5,718 2,371

Total income, net 3,260 3,930
Of which from other units within the SEB group 885 997

Expenses for acquisition of investment and insurance contracts
   acquisition costs –1,504 –1,391
   Change in deferred acquisition costs 288 190

–1,216 –1,201
administrative expenses –957 –915
other operating expenses –24 –12

Total expenses –2,197 –2,128

Operating profit 1,063 1,802

Change in surplus values in life insurance operations  
Traditional insurance in SEB Pension Denmark is not included

present value of new sales1) 1,588 1,773
return on existing policies 1,465 1,327
realised surplus value in existing policies –1,768 –1,662
actual outcome compared to assumptions2) –8 25

Change in surplus values from ongoing business, gross 1,277 1,463

Capitalisation of acquisition costs –807 –683
amortisation of capitalised acquisition costs 519 493

Change in surplus values from ongoing business, net3) 989 1,273

Change in assumptions4) –139 53
Financial effects due to short-term market fluctuations5) –3,826 –62

Total change in surplus values6) –2,976 1,264

 the calculation of surplus values in life insurance operations is based upon assumptions concerning the future development  
of written insurance contracts and a risk-adjusted discount rate. the most important assumptions (Swedish customer base  
– which represent 94 per cent of the surplus value):

2008 2007

Discount rate 7.5% 8.0%
Surrender of endowment insurance contracts:  
signed within 1 year / 2-4 years / 5 years / thereafter 1% / 10% / 20% / 11% 1% / 10% / 10% / 12%
lapse rate of regular premiums, unit-linked 11% 10%
Growth in fund units 5.5% 6.0%
Inflation CpI / Inflation expenses 2% / 3% 2% / 3%
Expected return on solvency margin 4% 4%
right to transfer policy, unit-linked 1% 1%

Mortality
according to the  

Group’s experience
according to the  

Group’s experience

1) Sales defined as new contracts and extra premiums in existing contracts.
2)  the reported actual outcome of contracts signed can be placed in relation to the operative assumptions that were made. 

thus, the value of the deviations can be estimated. the most important components consist of extensions of contracts as  
well as cancellations. However, the actual income and administrative expenses are included in full in the operating result. 

3)  Deferred acquisition costs are capitalised in the accounts and amortised according to plan. the reported change in surplus 
values is therefore adjusted by the net result of the capitalisation and amortisation during the period.

4)  During 2008 the major negative net effect was due to adjustments of the surrender rate and the lapse rate. the lower assumed 
growth in fund assets had a negative effect which was more than offset by a positive effect from a lower discount rate. In 2007 
the major positive effect was caused by adjustments of the administrative costs per policy.

5)  assumed unit growth is 5.5 per cent gross (before fees and taxes). actual growth results in positive or negative financial effects.
6) Calculated surplus values are not included in the SEB Group’s consolidated accounts.

Notes to the financial statements
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52  Assets in unit-link operations

Within the unit-linked business SEB holds, for its customer’s account, a share of more than 50 per cent in 41 (34) funds, where it is the investment manager.  
the total value of those funds amounted to SEK 78,082m (83,368) of which SEB, for its customer’s account, holds SEK 55,555m (59,695).

53  Assets held for sale

Group

Balance sheet 2008 2007

Investment properties 846
other 6

Total 852

the investment properties held for sale belongs to SEB aG in Germany and are planned to be sold mid-year 2009.

54  Subsequent events

the Board proposes to strengthen the capital base by SEK 15bn and not to pay any dividend for the financial year 2008. these measures will have a combined 
 positive effect on the Group’s capital base of SEK 19.5bn.

SEB has decided to reclassify Sek 52bn of its fixed-income securities as loans and receivables as of 1 January 2009. the reclassification includes SEK 3bn  
of assets held-for-trading and SEK 49bn of assets in the available-for-sale category.

Notes to the financial statements
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Five-year summary

The SEB Group

profit and loss accounts
SEK m 2008 2007 2006 2005 20041)

net interest income 18,710 15,998 14,281 14,282 13,551
net fee and commission income 15,254 17,051 16,146 13,559 11,704
net financial income 2,970 3,239 4,036 3,392 2,176
net life insurance income 2,375 2,933 2,661 2,352 1,401
net other income 1,831 1,219 1,623 642 1,163

Total operating income 41,140 40,440 38,747 34,227 29,995

Staff costs –16,241 –14,921 –14,363 –13,342 –11,579
other expenses –7,642 –6,919 –6,887 –7,574 –6,631
Depreciation, amortisastion and impairment –1,524 –1,354 –1,287 –1,233 –1,175

Total operating expenses –25,407 –23,194 –22,537 –22,149 –19,385

Gains less losses from tangible and intangible assets 6 788 70 59 100
net credit losses –3,268 –1,016 –718 –914 –701

Operating profit 12,471 17,018 15,562 11,223 10,009

Income tax expense –2,421 –3,376 –2,939 –2,770 –2,662

Net profit from continued operations 10,050 13,642 12,623 8,453 7,347

Discontinued operations –32 35

Net profit 10,050 13,642 12,623 8,421 7,382

attributable to minority interests 9 24 18 20 17
attributable to equity holders 10,041 13,618 12,605 8,401 7,365

Net profit 10,050 13,642 12,623 8,421 7,382

1) restated to IFrS except for IaS 32 and IaS 39.

Balance sheets
SEK m 2008 2007 2006 2005 20041)

loans to credit institutions 266,363 263,012 179,339 177,592 208,226
loans to the public 1,296,777 1,067,341 946,643 901,261 783,355
Financial assets 765,131 868,643 672,369 665,335 532,401
other assets 182,431 145,466 136,090 145,550 82,569

Total assets 2,510,702 2,344,462 1,934,441 1,889,738 1,606,551

Deposits by credit institutions 429,425 421,348 365,980 399,494 370,483
Deposits and borrowing from the public 841,034 750,481 641,758 570,001 516,513
liabilities to policyholders 211,070 225,916 203,719 185,363 145,730
Financial liabilities 830,250 760,894 552,153 581,099 419,686
other liabilities 63,964 65,115 60,115 52,782 71,572
Subordinated liabilities 51,230 43,989 43,449 44,203 30,804
total equity 83,729 76,719 67,267 56,796 51,763

Total liabilities, provisions and shareholders’ equity 2,510,702 2,344,462 1,934,441 1,889,738 1,606,551

1) restated to IFrS except for IaS 32 and IaS 39.

Key ratios
SEK m 2008 2007 2006 2005 20041)

return on equity, per cent 13.1 19.3 20.8 15.8 14.7
Basic earnings per share, SEK 14.66 19.97 18.72 12.58 10.83
Cost/Income ratio 0.62 0.57 0.58 0.65 0.65
Credit loss level, per cent 0.30 0.11 0.08 0.11 0.10
level of impaired loans, per cent 0.35 0.18 0.22 0.22 0.31
total capital ratio2), per cent 10.6 11.0 11.5 10.8 10.3
tier I capital ratio2), per cent 8.4 8.6 8.2 7.5 7.8

1) restated to IFrS except for IaS 32 and IaS 39.
2) 2008–2007 Basel II (with transitional rules), 2006–2004 Basel I.
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Five-year summary

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken

profit and loss accounts
SEK m 2008 2007 2006 2005 20041)

net interest income 13,171 11,603 4,711 4,885 5,047
net commission income 5,994 7,124 7,163 5,081 4,813
net result of financial transactions 3,236 2,490 3,515 2,558 1,778
other income 5,649 4,583 3,515 2,884 2,235

Total operating income 28,050 25,800 18,904 15,408 13,873

administrative expenses –13,738 –12,589 –13,073 –10,854 –9,791
Depreciation and write-downs –4,820 –4,847 –399 –336 –310

Total operating costs –18,558 –17,436 –13,472 –11,190 –10,101

Profit before credit losses 9,492 8,364 5,432 4,218 3,772

lending losses and changes in value –773 –24 –134 –88 –42
Write-downs of financial fixed assets –121 –106 –100 –220 –392

Operating profit 8,598 8,234 5,198 3,910 3,338

appropriations including pension compensation –1,683 –158 –345 –1,058 3,654
taxes 1,300 –591 –691 –293 –1,978

Net profit for the year 8,215 7,485 4,162 2,559 5,014

1) restated to IFrS except for IaS 32 and IaS 39.

Balance sheets
SEK m 2008 2007 2006 2005 20041)

loans to credit institutions 349,073 357,482 361,615 331,451 290,448
loans to the public 768,737 637,138 336,562 291,861 251,857
Financial assets 501,023 511,800  434,596 473,073 350,434
other assets 89,667 52,899  39,276 35,438 53,466

Total assets 1,708,500 1,559,319 1,172,049 1,131,823 946,205

Deposits by credit institutions 410,105 367,699 334,116 345,510 290,247
Deposits and borrowing from the public 453,697 412,499 390,085 324,719 310,145
Financial liabilities 681,759 642,132  315,765 349,550 225,590
other liabilities 48,445 34,995  41,481 26,756 51,774
Subordinated liabilities 50,199 43,046 42,700 43,049 29,296
Shareholders’ equity and untaxed reserves 64,295 58,948 47,902 42,239 39,153

Total liabilities, provisions and shareholders’ equity 1,708,500 1,559,319 1,172,049 1,131,823 946,205

1) restated to IFrS except for IaS 32 and IaS 39.
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Defi nitions

Definitions
Return on equity
Net profi t attributable to equity holders for the year as a percent-
age of average shareholders equity, defi ned as the average of eq-
uity at the opening of the year and at the close of March, June, 
September and December, respectively, adjusted for dividends 
paid during the year, repurchase of own shares and rights issues.

Return on business equity
Operating profi t reduced by a standard tax per division, divided 
by allocated capital.

Return on total assets
Net profi t as a percentage of average assets, defi ned as the aver-
age of total assets at the opening of the year and at the close of 
March, June, September and December.

Return on risk-weighted assets
Net profi t as a percentage of average risk-weighted assets, defi ned 
as the average of risk-weighted assets at the opening of the year 
and at the close of March, June, September and December.

Cost/Income-ratio
Total operating expenses divided by total operating income.

Earnings per share
Net profi t for the year divided by the average number of shares.

Adjusted shareholders’ equity per share
Shareholders’ equity as per the balance sheet plus the equity 
 portion of any surplus values in the holdings of interest-bearing 
securities and surplus value in life insurance operations divided 
by the number of shares at year-end. 

Risk-weighted asset
The book value of the assets as per the balance sheet and the off 
balance-sheet commitments are valued in accordance with the 
capital adequacy rules. 

Core capital ratio
Core capital as a percentage of the risk-weighted assets. Core 
 capital consists of shareholders’ equity, adjusted according to the 
capital adequacy rules.

Total capital ratio
The capital of the fi nancial group of undertakings adjusted 
 according to the capital adequacy rules as a percentage of the 
risk- weighted assets. Total capital consists of core capital and 
 supplementary capital minus holdings of shares in unconsolidat-
ed companies and proposed dividend as well as deferred tax and 
intangibles. Supplementary capital includes subordinated deben-
ture loans plus reserves and capital contributions, after approval 
by the Financial Supervisory Authority. Supplemen tary capital 
must not exceed the amount of core capital.

Credit loss level
The credit loss level is defi ned as lending losses and value changes 
in assets taken over divided by lending to the general public and 
credit institutions (excluding banks), assets taken over and loan 
guarantees at the opening of the year.

Reserve ratio for impaired loans
Reserve for probable loan losses as a percentage of impaired 
loans, gross.

Level of impaired loans
Impaired loans (net) divided by loans to the general public and 
credit institutions (excluding banks) and equipment leased to 
 clients (net).

Exchange rates
                   Profi t and loss account                  balance sheet
2008 2007 Change, % 2008 2007 Change, %

DKK 1.290 1.242 4 1.468 1.268 16
eeK 0.615 0.591 4 0.699 0.604 16
eUR 9.614 9.252 4 10.937 9.453 16
NOK 1.170 1.155 1 1.111 1.185 –6
LTL 2.785 2.680 4 3.168 2.737 16
LVL 13.682 13.217 4 15.455 13.559 14
seK 1.000 1.000 0 1.000 1.000 0

All fi gures within brackets refer to 2007 unless otherwise stated. Percentage changes 
refer to comparisons with 2007 unless otherwise stated. 



132  seb ANNUAL RePORT 2008

Proposal for the distribution of profit

Proposal for the distribution of profit
Standing at the disposal of the Annual General Meeting in accor-
dance with the balance sheet of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken, 
SEK 24,875,727,831     
  
 SEKm 
Retained profits  16,661,087,850
Result for the year  8,214,639,981

Non-restricted equity  24,875,727,831

The board proposes that, following approval of the balance sheet 
of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken for the financial year 2008, the 
Annual General Meeting should distribute the abovementioned 
unappropriated funds as follows:   

declare a dividend of  SEK
     SEK 0.00 per Series A-share  0
     SEK 0.00 per Series C-share  0
and bring forward to next year  24,875,727,831

The Board of Directors and the President declare that the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 
as adopted by the EU and give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position and results of operations. The financial statements of 
the Parent Company have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Sweden and give a true and 
fair view of the Parent Company’s financial position and results of operations. 

The statutory Administration Report of the Group and the Parent Company provides a fair review of the development of the Group’s 
and the Parent Company’s operations, financial position and results of operations and describes material risks and uncertainties facing 
the Parent Company and the companies included in the Group. 

Stockholm 18 February, 2009

Marcus Wallenberg
Chairman

Carl Wilhelm Ros
Director

Christine Novakovic
Director

Cecilia Mårtensson
Director 

Appointed by the employees

Jacob Wallenberg
Deputy chairman

Tuve Johannesson
Deputy chairman

Hans-Joachim Körber
Director

Penny Hughes
Director

Jesper Ovesen
Director

Göran Lilja
Director 

Appointed by the employees

Annika Falkengren
President and Chief Executive officer

Director

Urban Jansson
Director
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Proposal for the distribution of profit

Auditors’ report
To the annual meeting of the shareholders of skandinaviska enskilda banken Ab (publ); 
Corporate registration number 502032-9081

We have audited the annual accounts, the consolidated accounts, 
the accounting records and the administration of the board of 
 directors and the managing director of Skandinaviska Enskilda 
Banken AB (publ) for the year 2008. The company’s annual accounts 
are included in the printed version of this document on pages 22–
51 and 61–132. The board of directors and the managing director 
are responsible for these accounts and the administration of the 
company as well as for the application of Annual Accounts Act  
for Credit Institutions and Securities Companies when preparing 
the annual accounts and the app lication of international financial 
reporting standards IFRSs as adopted by the EU and Annual 
 Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Securities Companies 
when preparing the  consolidated accounts. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the annual accounts, the consolidated 
accounts and the administration based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the 
annual accounts and the consolidated accounts are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evi-
dence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the accounts. 
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and their application by the board of directors and the managing 
director and significant estimates made by the board of directors 
and the managing director when preparing the annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts as well as evaluating the overall pre-
sentation of information in the annual accounts and the consolidat-
ed accounts. As a basis for our opinion concerning discharge from 

liability, we examined significant decisions, actions taken and 
 circumstances of the company in order to be able to determine the 
liability, if any, to the company of any board member or the man-
aging director. We also examined whether any board member or 
the managing director has, in any other way, acted in contraven-
tion of the Companies Act, Banking and Financing Business Act, 
Annual Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Securities Com-
panies or the Articles of Association. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion set out below.

The annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with 
Annual Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Securities Com-
panies and give a true and fair view of the company’s financial posi-
tion and results of operations in accordance with generally accept-
ed accounting principles in Sweden. The consolidated accounts 
have been prepared in accordance with international financial 
 reporting standards IFRSs as adopted by the EU and Annual 
 Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and  Securities Companies 
and give a true and fair view of the group’s financial position and 
results of operations. The statu tory administration report is con-
sistent with the other parts of the annual accounts and the consol-
idated accounts.

We recommend to the annual meeting of shareholders that the 
income statements and balance sheets of the parent company and 
the group be adopted, that the profit of the parent company be 
dealt with in accordance with the proposal in the administration 
report and that the members of the board of directors and the 
managing director be discharged from liability for the financial 
year.

Stockholm 18 February, 2009 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

 Peter Clemedtson  Peter Nyllinge
 Authorised Public Accountant Authorised Public Accountant

 Partner in charge 
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Board of Directors and Auditors 

Marcus Wallenberg 2) 5) 7)

born 1956; elected 2002, b. sc. of 
 Foreign service. 
Chairman since 2005.
Other assignments: Chairman saab and 
electrolux. Honorary Chairman ICC (Inter-
national Chamber of Commerce). Deputy 
Chairman ericsson. Director AstraZeneca, 
stora enso, Temasek Holding Ltd and the 
Knut and Alice Wallenberg Foundation. 
Background: Marcus Wallenberg joined 
Investor in 1993 as executive Vice Presi-
dent and was appointed President and 
 Group Chief executive 1999. Prior to that he 
worked at stora Feldmühle in Germany for 
three years. Marcus Wallenberg began his 
career at Citibank in New York 1980, fol-
lowed by various positions at Deutsche 
bank in Germany, s G Warburg Co Ltd in 
London and Citicorp in Hong Kong. He 
 joined seb in 1985 and worked there until 
1990. 
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 235,638 A-shares and 1,473  
C-shares. 

Independent in relation to the bank and 
management, non-independent in relation 
to major shareholders.

Tuve Johannesson 8)

born 1943; elected 1997, b. sc., MbA 
and econ.Dr. H.C.
Deputy Chairman since 2007.
Other assignments: Chairman ecolean 
International A/s, IbX Integrated business 
exchange Ab and the Lund University 
school of economics and Management 
Advisory board. Director Incentive Ab, 
 Cardo Ab and Meda Ab. Industrial Advisor 
to eQT and JC bamford excavators Ltd. 
Background: Tuve Johannesson began 
his career at Tetra Pak in 1969 where he 
held various senior positions in south Africa, 
Australia and sweden. In 1983 he was 
 appointed executive Vice President of Tetra 
Pak. He became President of VMe, pres-
ently Volvo Construction equipment, in 

1988. He then became President of Volvo 
Car Corporation in 1995 a position he held 
until 2000. Vice Chairman of the board of 
Volvo Car Corporation 2000–2004.
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 42,700 A-shares. 

Independent in relation to the bank and 
management, non-independent in relation 
to major shareholders.

Jacob Wallenberg
born 1956; elected 1997, b. sc. (econ) 
and MbA. 
Deputy Chairman since 2005 (Chairman 
1998–2005)
Other assignments: Chairman Investor 
and Air Plus TV. Deputy Chairman Atlas 
Copco and sAs.  Director Abb, the Knut 
and Alice Wallenberg Foundation, the 
 CocaCola Company, the Nobel Foundation 
and stockholm school of economics. 
Background: Jacob Wallenberg joined 
seb in London in 1984. Thereafter he held 
various positions in seb in singapore, 
Hong Kong and primarily in sweden. In 
1990 he joined Investor as executive Vice 
President and in 1993 he rejoined seb. In 
1997 he was appointed President and 
Group Chief executive of the seb Group 
and in 1998 Chairman of the board. Jacob 
Wallenberg began his banking career at JP 
Morgan in New York in 1981. 
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 133,960 A-shares and 2,640  
C-shares. 

Independent in relation to the bank and 
 management, non-independent in relation 
to major shareholders (Chairman Investor).

Penny Hughes 6)

born 1959; elected 2000, b. sc (Chemistry)
Other assignments: Director GAP Inc 
and Home Retail Group Plc.
Background: Penny Hughes began her 
career at Procter & Gamble in 1980.  
In 1984 she joined Coca-Cola and was 
 appointed President of Coca Cola UK Ltd 

1992. she left the company in 1994 and 
has since then held several directorships.
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 1,550 A-shares. 

Independent in relation to the bank and 
management, independent in relation to 
major shareholders.

Urban Jansson 1)

born 1945; elected 1996, Higher bank de-
gree (skandinaviska enskilda banken).
Other assignments: Chairman eAb,  
JetPak Group, Global Health Partner, HMs 
Networks, Rezidor Hotel Group and OMX 
Nordic exchange stockholm Ab Listing 
Committee. Director Addtech, W. becker, 
Clas Ohlson, Ferd A/s and Höganäs. 
Background: Urban Jansson joined seb 
in 1966 where he held various management 
positions between 1972 and 1984. In 
1984 he joined HNJ Intressenter (former 
subsidiary of the Incentive Group) as Presi-
dent and CeO. In 1990 Urban Jansson was 
appointed executive Vice President of the 
Incentive Group. In 1992 he was appointed 
President and Group Chief executive of 
 Ratos. He left the company in 1998 and 
has since then held several board director-
ships. 
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 13,000 A-shares. 

Independent in relation to the bank and 
 management, independent in relation to 
major shareholders.

Dr Hans-Joachim Körber
born 1946; elected 2000; Ph.D. 
Other assignments: Director Air berlin 
PLC, bertelsmann AG, esprit Holdings Ltd 
and sysco Corporation. 
Background: Hans-Joachim Körber joined 
Metro in 1985 and was appointed Member 
of the Management board Metro AG in 
1996 and President and Group Chief 
 executive in 1999. He resigned in October 
2007. Körber began his career as senior 
Controller at the Oetker Group in 1975. 

Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 0 

Independent in relation to the bank and 
management, independent in relation to 
major shareholders.

Christine Novakovic 9)

born 1964; elected 2008; b. sc. (econ) 
Other assignments: Director earth Coun-
cil, Genèva and DeAG Deutsche entertain-
ment AG, berlin
Background: Christine Novakovic began 
her career at Dresdner bank in 1990. In 
1992 she joined Ubs AG in Germany and 
was appointed Head of Treasury and Chief 
of staff. she has thereafter held leading 
positions in Citibank AG in Germany (board 
of Managing Directors), Citibank in Hong 
Kong (Global Head of Warrants and Head 
of Corporate Finance Asia), Citibank 
 Privatkunden AG in Germany (CeO and 
 responsible for Consumer business in 
 Germany) and in HypoVereinsbank AG in 
Germany (member of the Group board of 
Directors, Konzernvorstand).
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 0 

Independent in relation to the bank and 
 management, independent in relation to 
major shareholders.

Jesper Ovesen 3)

born 1957, elected 2004, bachelor of 
Commerce Degree (econ) and MbA.
Other assignments: Chief Financial Officer  
TDC A/s. Director FL smidth & Co A/s.
Background: 1 January 2008 Jesper 
Ovesen took office as CFO of TDC A/s 
 coming from a position as Chief executive 
Officer of the Kiirkbi Group which he as-
sumed 1 January 2007. During 2003–
2006 he was CFO at LeGO Holding A/s. 
Prior to that, he held the position as CFO 
of Den Danske bank during five years. 
 between 1994 and 1998 he joined Novo 
Nordisk as Vice President and Head of 
 Finance. Jesper Ovesen began his career 

Marcus Wallenberg Jacob Wallenberg Penny HughesTuve Johannesson

Urban Jansson Christine NovakovicDr Hans-Joachim Körber Jesper Ovesen
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at Price Waterhouse where he worked 
 between 1979 and 1989. Thereafter he 
joined baltica bank as Vice President, later 
on as Group Chief executive. 
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 1,405 A-shares.

Independent in relation to the bank and 
management, independent in relation to 
major shareholders.
 
Carl Wilhelm Ros 4)

born 1941, elected 1999, M.sc. (Pol. and 
econ).
Other assignments: Director Anders 
 Wilhelmsen & Co A/s, bonnier, Camfil, 
 INGKA (Ikea) Holding and bisnode.
Background: Carl Wilhelm Ros worked at 
Astra between 1967 and 1975. In 1975 
he joined Alfa Laval where he was appointed 
Group Controller in 1978. 1985 he joined 
ericsson as senior executive Vice Presi-
dent. He left the company 1999 and has 
since then held several directorships. 
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 5,229 A-shares and 38 C-shares. 

Independent in relation to the bank and 
management, independent in relation to 
major shareholders.

Annika Falkengren 3)

born 1962; elected 2005 (effective as of 
1 January 2006), seb employee since 
1987; b. sc. (econ).
President and Group Chief executive as of 
10 November 2005.
Other assignments: Director securitas, 
Ruter Dam, IMD Foundation and the Mentor 
Foundation.
Background: Annika Falkengren started 
as an seb trainee in 1987 and worked in 
Trading & Capital Markets 1988–2000. 
she was appointed Global Head of Fixed 
Income in 1995, Global Head of Trading in 
1997, Head of Merchant banking in 2000. 
In 2001 she became Head of the Corporate
 & Institutions division and executive Vice 
President of seb. 

Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 114,920 A-shares, 323,530 
 employee stock options and an initial allot-
ment of 107 817 performance shares.

Non-independent in relation to the bank 
and management (President and Group 
Chief Executive SEB), independent in 
 relation to major shareholders.

Directors appointed by the employees

Göran Lilja
born 1963; appointed 2006, Higher bank 
degree.
Chairman Financial sector Union of sweden 
seb Group. Chairman Regional Club Väst 
of the same union. Director of the europe-
an Works Council seb Group in 2006.
Background: Göran Lilja joined seb in 
1984 where he held various positions.  
Vice Chairman of Financial sector Union of 
sweden Group and Chairman Regional 
Club Väst of the same union 2006–2008. 
elected Chairman in 2008. 
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 644 A-shares.

Cecilia Mårtensson
born 1971; appointed 2008
education in economy and labour law, 
 certificate in personnel strategies. Deputy 
Chairman Financial sector Union of swe-
den seb Group. Chairman local Club 
Group Operations of the same union. 
 Director Financial sector Union of sweden.
Background: Cecilia Mårtensson joined 
seb in 1990 and has been a union repre-
sentative since 1995. In 2004 she was 
elected vice Chairman of Financial sector 
Union of sweden seb Group; in 2007 she 
was elected Chairman of local Club Group 
Operations of the same union.
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 1,000 A-shares, 120 C-shares.

Deputy Directors appointed by   
the employees

Göran Arrius
born 1959; appointed 2002, Naval Officer.
Chairman Association of University Gradu-
ates at seb and JUseK.
Background: Göran Arrius began his ca-
reer as a Naval Officer. In 1988 he joined 
Trygg Hansa Liv and has since then held 
various positions in the life insurance busi-
ness. Göran Arrius works today as Product 
specialist for occupational pensions at 
seb Trygg Liv.
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 87 

Ulf Jensen
born 1950; appointed 1997 (1995), uni-
versity studies economics and law. 
Deputy Chairman Financial sector Union of 
sweden seb Group. Director Financial sec-
tor Union of sweden.
Background: Ulf Jensen joined seb in 
1977 where he held various positions.  
He was elected Chairman of Financial 
 sector Union of sweden stockholm City  in 
1989 and Financial sector Union of sweden 
seb Group 1999–2007. 
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 0

1)  Chairman of Risk and Capital Commit-
tee of the board of Directors. 

2)  Deputy Chairman of Risk and Capital 
Committee of the board of Directors.

3)  Member of Risk and Capital Committee 
of the board of Directors. 

4)  Chairman of Audit and Compliance 
 Committee of the board of Directors.

5)  Deputy Chairman of Audit and Compli-
ance Committee of the board of Direc-
tors.

6)  Chairman of Remuneration and HR Com-
mittee of the board of Directors.

7)  Deputy Chairman of Remuneration and 
HR Committee of the board of Directors.

8)  Member of Remuneration and HR 
 Committee of the board of Directors.

9)  Member of the Audit and Compliance 
Committee of the board of Directors.

AUDiTORs

Auditors elected by the  
Annual General Meeting

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Peter Clemedtson
born 1956; signing auditor in seb as  
of 2006.
Authorised Public Accountant.

Peter Nyllinge
born 1966; co-signing auditor in seb as 
of 2006.
Authorised Public Accountant.

Carl Wilhelm Ros Annika Falkengren Göran Lilja

Ulf JensenGöran ArriusCecilia Mårtensson
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Fredrik boheman

Ingrid engström

Jan erik back 

bo MagnussonHans Larsson Anders Mossberg

Magnus Carlsson

Annika Falkengren
born 1962; seb employee since 1987;  
b. sc. (econ).
President and Group Chief executive as of 
10 November 2005.
Other assignments: Director securitas, 
Ruter Dam, IMD Foundation and the Mentor 
Foundation.
Background: started as seb trainee 
1987 and worked in Trading & Capital Mar-
kets 1988–2000. Appointed Global Head 
of Fixed  Income in 1995, Global Head of 
Trading in 1997 and Head of Merchant 
banking in 2000. Head of the Corporate & 
Institutions division and executive Vice 
President 2001–2005. 
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 114,920 A-shares, 323,530 
 employee stock options and an initial allot-
ment of 107,817 performance shares.

Jan Erik Back
born 1961; seb employee since August 
2008; b. sc. (econ).
executive Vice President, Chief Financial 
Officer since 15 August 2008.
Background: back started his career at 
svenska Handelsbanken, where he held 
 various positions within finance between 
1986 and 1998. He then moved to the in-
surance company skandia, where he, after 
four years within various positions, was ap-
pointed Chief Financial Officer. 2007–2008 
Jan erik back was been First senior execu-
tive Vice President and CFO of Vattenfall.

Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 5,915 A-shares, 0 employee 
stock options and an initial allotment of 
8,400 performance shares. 

Fredrik Boheman
born 1956; seb employee since 1985; 
M.A.
executive Vice President, Head of Wealth 
Management since 1 January 2007.
Other assignments: Director Teleopti.
Background: started as seb trainee. 
seb in sao Paulo and branch Manager in 
Hong Kong 1994–1998. Thereafter Head 
of Corporate Clients and Head of Trade 
and Project Finance. 2002–2006 in Ger-
many, first as Head of Merchant banking, 
thereafter as CeO of seb AG. Head of 
 Asset Management October 2006.  
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 13,754 A-shares, 2 C-shares, 0 
employee stock options and an initial allot-
ment of 53,034 performance shares.

Magnus Carlsson
born 1956; seb employee since 1993;  
M. sc. 
executive Vice President, Head of Merchant 
banking since 2005. 
Background: bank of Nova scotia in 
1980–93, holding several leading positions 
in London. Head of Project & structured 
 Finance, seb Merchant banking in 1996, 
Head of Corporate Clients in 1999, later 
on Deputy Head of seb Merchant banking 
and Head of the seb Merchant banking 
 division and executive Vice President of 
seb in 2005. 
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 8,844 A-shares, 12,250 employ-
ee stock options and an initial allotment of 
77,310 performance shares.

ingrid Engström
born 1958; seb employee since 2007;  
M. Psychology. 
executive Vice President, Head of Human 
Resources & Organisational Development 
since 26 March 2007. 

Other assignments: board member 
 Teracom and springtime.
Background: President ComHem 1998–
2000, President and Chief executive Officer 
KnowIT 2000–2003, and executive Vice 
president eniro with responsibility for Op-
erations, Purchase and Human Resources 
2003–2007. 
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 603 A-shares, 0 employee stock 
 options and an initial allotment of 32,392 
performance shares.

Hans Larsson
born 1961; seb employee since 1984;  
b. sc. (econ). 
Head of Group strategy and business 
 Development as from January 2009. 
Background: started in seb within 
 Trading & Capital Markets, Head of Fixed 
Income 1986. TCM in New York 1988–
1992. Head of Debt Capital Markets from 
1994. In 2002 appointed Deputy Global 
Head of Client Relationship Management. 
Head of seb’s business Development and 
the CeO-office 2005–06 and Head of seb 
Group staff October 2006–December 
2008.
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 5,613 A-shares, 17 C-shares, 
20,000 employee stock options and an 
 initial allotment of 39,909 performance 
shares.

Bo Magnusson
born 1962; seb employee since 1982; 
Higher bank degree.
Deputy President and CeO as from July 
2008 and Head of Group staff and busi-
ness support as from January 2009. Head 
of Retail  banking up to year-end 2008. 
Other assignments: Director swedish 
bankers’ Association.
Background: started his career at seb 
Trading & Capital Markets, holding several 
leading positions as Head of Accounting 
and Controller within both Trading & Capital 
Markets, seb Group Finance and enskilda 
securities. Chief Financial Officer of seb 

Merchant banking in 1998, Head of staff 
Functions in 2000. Later on Global Head 
of Cash Management & securities services 
in 2003 and Deputy Head of seb Merchant 
banking in 2005. Head of Nordic Retail & 
Private banking 2005–2006 and Head of 
Retail banking 2007–2008.
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 6,844 A-shares, 25,000 employ-
ee stock options and an initial allotment of 
63,447 performance shares.

Anders Mossberg
born 1952; seb employee since 1985. 
executive Vice President, Head of the Life 
 division since 2007. 
Other assignments: Deputy Chairman 
sveriges Försäkringsförbund. 
Background: Head of the bank’s life in-
surance operations in 1990. Head of seb 
Trygg Liv since 1997. 1998 executive 
Vice President of seb and Head of the 
 Asset Management & Life division. 2001 
General Manager and CeO seb Trygg Liv. 
Anders Mossberg started his career at 
skandia Försäkring Ab in 1981. 
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 7,804 A-shares, 185,088 em-
ployee stock options and an initial allot-
ment of 76,907 performance shares.

Mats Torstendahl
born 1961; seb employee since 1 January 
2009. M.sc. (engineering Physics).
executive Vice President, Head of Retail 
banking since 1 January 2009.
Background: started his career at Abb in 
1985. In 1987 he moved to Östgöta enskil-
da bank, where he was i.a. branch manager 
in stockholm 1996–2000. Appointed exec-
utive Vice President of Danske bank in swe-
den in 2001. senior executive Vice Presi-
dent, Danske bank sweden and member of 
Danske bank Group executive Committee 
since 2004.
Own and closely related persons’ share-
holding: 0 A-shares, 0 employee stock 
options and an initial allotment of 20,000 
performance shares.

Mats Torstendahl

Annika Falkengren



Addresses

Head Office 

Group Executive Committee

Postal Address: SE-106 40 Stockholm

Visiting Address: Kungsträdgårdsgatan 8

Telephone: +46 771 62 10 00

 +46 8 22 19 00 (management)

Divisions

Merchant Banking

Postal Address: SE-106 40 Stockholm

Visiting Address: Kungsträdgårdsgatan 8

Telephone: +46 771 62 10 00

Retail Banking

Postal Address: SE-106 40 Stockholm

Visiting Address: Sergels Torg 2

Telephone: +46 771 62 10 00

Wealth Management

Postal Address: SE-106 40 Stockholm

Visiting Address: Sveavägen 8

Telephone: +46 771 62 10 00

Life

Postal Address: SE-106 40 Stockholm

Visiting Address: Sergels Torg 2

Telephone: +46 771 62 10 00

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB’s 
corporate registration number: 502032-9081
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Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held on Friday 6 March, 
2009 at 3 p.m. (Swedish time) at Cirkus, Stockholm.

Notices convening the General Meeting including an agenda for the Meeting were 
published in the major Swedish daily newspapers and on www.sebgroup.com on Friday 
6 February 2009. 

Shareholders wishing to attend the Annual General Meeting shall
–  both be registered in the shareholders’ register kept by VPC (the Swedish Securities 

Register Centre) on Friday 27 February, 2009, at the latest
–  and notify the Bank in writing under address Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB,  

AGM, Box 7832, SE-103 98 Stockholm, or by telephone 0771-23 18 18 between 
9.00 a.m. and 4.30 p.m. in Sweden or, from abroad, at +46 771 23 18 18 or via 
Internet on the home page of the Bank, www.sebgroup.com, on Monday 2 March, 
2009, at the latest.

Dividend
The Board proposes no dividend for 2008. 

www.seb.se

 


